
City of Mora 
Kanabec County, Minnesota 

Meeting Agenda 
City Council 

 
Mora City Hall 
101 Lake St. S 

Mora, MN 55051 

 
 

 

Tuesday, April 20, 2021 6:30 PM Mora City Hall 
 

1. Call to Order/ Pledge of Allegiance 
2. Roll Call 
3. Adopt Agenda (No item of business shall be considered unless it appears on the agenda for the meeting. Council members may add 

items to the agenda prior to adoption of the agenda.) 
4. Consent Agenda (Those items listed under Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by the City Council and will be acted upon by 

one motion under this agenda item. There will be no separate discussion of these items, unless a Council Member so requests, in which 
event, the item will be removed from the consent agenda and considered immediately after the adoption of the consent agenda.) 

a. Regular Meeting Minutes – March 16, 2021 
b. March 2021 Claims 
c. Gambling Permit – Kanabec County Ag Society 
d. Accept Restricted Donations 
e. Commit Fire Department Revenues and Fund Balance 

 
5. Open Forum (Individuals may address the council about any item not contained on the regular agenda. There is a maximum of fifteen 

(15) minutes set aside for open forum. A maximum of three (3) minutes is allotted per person. The City Council will take no official action on 
items discussed at the forum, with the exception of referral to staff for future report.) 

 
6. Special Business 

a. 2021 Vasaloppet USA Event Debrief 
b. 2020 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
c. “Tootsie Roll Weekend” Proclamation  

 
7. Public Hearings 

None 
 

8. New Business 
a. Conditional Use Permit to Allow a School and School Related Facilities in R-1 District 
b. Council Hearing to Abate a Public Nuisance and Unsafe Structures – 18497 McCarty Ct. 
c. Music In the Park ECRAC Grant 
d. Park Board Resignation and Vacancy 
e. SMMPA Economic Development Credit Program 

 
9. Old Business 

None 
 

10. Communications 
a. MAFD Monthly Report – March 2021 
b. KCSO Monthly Report – March 2021 
c. Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – April 12, 2021 
d. Airport Board Meeting Minutes – April 13, 2021 
e. Park Board Meeting Minutes – April 13, 2021 

 
11. Reports 

a. City Administrator 
b. Councilmember Anderson 
c. Councilmember Broekemeier 
d. Councilmember Mathison 
e. Councilmember Shepard 



f. Mayor Skramstad 
 

12. Adjournment 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
March 16, 2021 

 

Page 1 of 3  

 
 

Pursuant to due call and notice thereof Mayor Alan Skramstad called to order the regular meeting of the 
Mora City Council at 6:30 PM on Tuesday, March 16, 2021 in the city hall council chambers. 

 
2. Roll Call: Present: Mayor Skramstad, Councilmembers Anderson, Broekemeier, Mathison, 

and Shepard 
Absent: none 
Staff Present: City Administrator Crawford, Community Development Director Thorp, Public 
Works Director Kohlgraf, Activities and Recreation Coordinator Krie, City Accountant King, 
and Deputy City Clerk Yoder 

3. Adopt Agenda: MOTION made by Shepard, seconded by Mathison, and unanimously carried 
to approve the agenda as presented. 

4. Consent Agenda: MOTION made by Shepard, seconded by Anderson, and unanimously 
carried to approve the consent agenda as presented. 

a. Regular Meeting Minutes – February 16, 2021 
b. February 2021 Claims 
c. Accept Restricted Donations  - RESOLUTION No. 2021-321 
d. Accept Letter of Resignation – Firefighter 
e. Firefighter Probationary Period Release 
f. Approve Hire of Heavy Equipment Operator 
g. Gambling Permit – Kanabec Area Friends 
h. Airport Taxilane and Windcone Project – Advertisement for Bids 
i. Certification of Unpaid Utility Charges – RESOLUTION No. 2021-322 

5. Open Forum: No one spoke at open forum. 

6. Special Business: 

a. Dog Park Monetary Donation Presentation: Krie announced John and Brianne 
Roycraft, who wished to present a monetary donation on behalf of Bath Fitter in the 
amount of $10,000 towards the construction of a dog park; the donation was formally 
accepted via resolution 2021-321. A photo was taken, and the councilmembers 
expressed gratitude.    

b. Special Event Permit Request – 2021 Snake River Canoe Race: Krie presented a permit 
request from the Snake River Canoe Club for its annual canoe race on May 1, 2021 
which included use of the vacant city land north of the History Center where food and 
alcohol would be catered by the Crystal Bar & Grill. Krie reported the organizers had a 
COVID-19 plan in place that would adhere to the Centers for Disease Control, MN 
Department of Health, and Kanabec County Public Health guidelines. MOTION made by 
Shepard, seconded by Broekemeier, and unanimously carried to approve the Snake 
River Canoe Club request to use the vacant land at the end of Forest Avenue West for a 
food tent and parking on May 1, 2021.         

7. Public Hearings: There were no public hearings. 

8. New Business 

a. Zoning Determination for B-2 General Business District: The council reviewed and 
discussed a proposed use of the property located at 841 Forest Avenue East (the former 
Gorham Oien Mechanical site), for a relocation of the Soderstrom Septic business 
owned by Angela Tvedt. Thorp reported the site was zoned I-1 Limited Industrial 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
March 16, 2021 

 

Page 2 of 3  

District, and that Tvedt wanted to lease excess office space to other business owners 
for commercial purposes, which would require rezoning. Thorp directed the council’s 
attention to the B-2 General Business District permitted uses and the Planning 
Commission’s recommendation to determine whether the proposed use should be 
allowed under the existing categories or another existing permitted or conditional use 
within the B-2 General Business District. MOTION made by Anderson, seconded by 
Shepard, and unanimously carried to determine that the use of the septic service was 
of the same general character as cabinet and carpentry shops, electrical service, 
heating, plumbing, upholstery, and air conditioning service shops or another existing 
permitted or conditional use within the B-2 District.        

b. Amendment to Fox Run Planned Unit Development: The council discussed proposed 
amendments to the Fox Run Planned Unit Development (PUD) which would allow the 
property owner Jake Fedder to final plat 19 single family home lots instead of the 
original PUD approved 30 twin home lots, with six of the proposed 19 lots to have 
reduced frontages of less than 80 feet which, Thorp stated staff opinion was a minor 
change in nature. Thorp reported the property was located in the R-1 Single Family 
District. MOTION made by Mathison, seconded by Broekemeier, and unanimously 
carried to approve the following resolution: 

RESOLUTION No. 2021-323 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MORA, MINNESOTA,  

APPROVING AMENDMENTS TO THE FOX RUN PRELIMINARY PLAT/PLANNED UNIT 
DEVELOPMENT AS REQUESTED BY JAKE FEDDER 

(see attached) 

c. Performance Measurement Program:  The council reviewed the 2020 community 
survey results which included 140 participants. Crawford reported the city received 
$500 in local government aid for participation and even though compiling the results 
took a significant amount of staff time, it provided valuable information. The council 
consensus was to participate in the 2021 performance measurement program if given 
the opportunity, by the Office of the State Auditor. MOTION made by Shepard, 
seconded by Anderson, and unanimously carried to approve the following resolution: 

RESOLUTION No. 2021-324 
RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE PERFORMANCE MEASURES DEVELOPED BY THE COUNCIL 

ON LOCAL RESULTS AND INNOVATION 
(see attached) 

9. Old Business:  

a. Economic Development Authority Appointment: Crawford reported receiving  
applications from Lance Strande, Rose Krie, and Jeremy Voss for the vacant EDA seat 
with a term ending December 31, 2022 and stated there were no residency 
requirements for members. The council reviewed the applications and because some 
councilmembers were unfamiliar of the applicants the council consensus was to direct 
staff to schedule a work session for April 20, 2021 at 5:00PM to interview all three 
candidates.  

10. Communications: The following communications were reviewed. 

a. Quarterly Financial Reports: King reviewed the financial reports and financial policies of 
the city. King reported the general fund was above the required bandwidth and 
attributed that to Petrofund reimbursements received in 2019 and healthy property tax 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
March 16, 2021 

 

Page 3 of 3  

collections. King revealed the liquor store contributed approximately $280,000 annually 
to the general fund which helped to offset property taxes with 2021 slated for 
$285,000. Skramstad pointed to investments on page 14 of the report, which may 
appear as a large number, but the city was required by statute to have a certain 
amount of funds on hand.  

b. MAFD Monthly Report – February 2021 
c. KCSO Monthly Report – February 2021 
d. Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – March 8, 2021: Crawford reported staff and 

commission members tabled discussion with Mora Schools regarding the Conditional 
Use Permit until additional information could be obtained for the April Planning 
Commission meeting. 

e. Airport Board Meeting Minutes – March 9, 2021  
f. Park Board Meeting Minutes – March 9, 2021: Shepard reported good board discussion 

about safety at parks, snow on the trails, the proposed Fox Run park, and the board 
solidifying Music in the Park. Broekemeier and Shepard discussed a miscommunication 
about the council and the dog park which was resolved.  

11. Reports 

a. City Administrator: Crawford reported actively recruiting for the Administrative Services 
Director position and extended the opportunity for a councilmember to be on the 
interview committee along with a PUC member. Anderson agreed to be on the 
interview committee.   

b. Councilmember Anderson: Anderson reported receiving negative feedback about the 
new electric poles in Peterson Park preventing public access to Mora Lake and it was 
explained by Crawford that Peterson Park was not designated as a public access and 
there were no DNR designated public accesses on Mora Lake; if the council wanted a 
public access it would require staff, city council, and the DNR working out a plan with 
the final approval by the MN DNR.   

c. Councilmember Broekemeier: Broekemeier reported being contacted by a resident 
about an issue at a park and was thankful Krie reached out to the resident in a timely 
manner and the resident felt it was resolved. Broekemeier was asked about a crosswalk 
at the Library Park area for the intersection of Maple and Wood Street or Maple and 
Park Street and was informed by staff that Maple Avenue was a county road; Skramstad 
stated it was a possibility that could be looked into. 

d. Councilmember Mathison: Nothing new to report. 
e. Councilmember Shepard: Shepard reported being asked about a crosswalk at the 

intersection of South Grove Street and Maple Avenue and it was explained projects on 
Maple Avenue were at the county’s discretion because it was a county road.  

f. Mayor Skramstad: Nothing new to report. 

12. Adjournment: MOTION made by Mathison, seconded by Anderson, and unanimously carried 
to adjourn at 7:24 PM.  

 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 

Deputy City Clerk 









































Item No. 4d 

1 

 M E M O R A N D U M 
Date: April 20, 2021 
To: Mayor and City Council 
From: Sara B. King, Accountant 
RE: Accept Restricted Donations  

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
The City of Mora has received the following donations: 
 

DONATION RECEIVED FROM: DONATION OF: 
Funeral Directors Life Insurance Company $500.00 
Brianne & John Roycraft $100.00 
Trent or Sarah Terpstra $150.00 
Mainquist Properties, LLC $1,000.00 
Rick’s Home Furnishings $100.00 
Methven Funeral and Cremation Services $500.00 
First Citizens Bank $2,500.00 
  

  
As required by MN State Statute, restricted donations must be officially accepted by the City Council.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
Motion to accept donations by approving Resolution 2021-421. 
 
 
Attachments 
Resolution 2021-421 



Resolution No. 2021-421 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MORA, MINNESOTA 
ACCEPTING RESTRICTED DONATIONS  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Mora is generally authorized to accept donations of real and personal property 
pursuant to Minnesota Statutes Section 465.03 for the benefit of its citizens, and is specifically 
authorized to accept gifts. 
 
WHEREAS, the following persons and entities have offered to contribute the cash amounts set forth 
below to the city, and the terms or conditions of the donations, if any, are as follows: 
  

DONATION RECEIVED FROM: DONATION OF: TERMS AND CONDITIONS OR 
DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY: 

Funeral Directors Life Insurance Co. $500.00 Donation for Dog Park  
Brianne and John Roycraft $100.00 Donation for Dog Park 
Trent and Sarah Terpstra $150.00 Donation for Dog Park 
Mainquist Properties, LLC $1,000.00 Donation for Dog Park 
Rick’s Home Furnishings $100.00 Donation for Dog Park 
Methven Funeral and Cremation Services $500.00 Donation for Dog Park 
First Citizens Bank $2,500.00 Donation for Dog Park 
   

 
WHEREAS, all such donations have been contributed to the city for the benefit of its citizens, as allowed 
by law; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that it is appropriate to accept the donations offered. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the city council of the City of Mora, Kanabec County, Minnesota 
that: 
 

1. The donations described above are accepted and shall be used to establish and/or operate 
services either alone or in cooperation with others, as allowed by law. 

2. The city clerk is hereby directed to issue receipts to each donor acknowledging the city’s 
receipt of the donor’s donation. 

 
The foregoing resolution was introduced and moved for adoption by Council Member __________ and 
seconded by Council Member __________. 

 
Voting for the Resolution: .......................  
Voting Against the Resolution: ...............  
Abstained from Voting: ...........................  
Absent: ....................................................  

 
Motion carried and resolution adopted this 20th day of April 2021. 

 
  ______________________________________  
ATTEST:  Al Skramstad, Mayor  

 ______________________________________  
 Lindy Crawford, City Administrator 



Item No. 4e 

1 

 M E M O R A N D U M 
Date: April 20, 2021 
To: Mayor and City Council 
From: Sara B. King, Accountant 
RE: Commit Fire Department Revenues and Fund Balance 

 
SUMMARY 
The City Council will commit fire department revenues and fund balance in accordance with Government 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 54.  
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
The Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the organization that determines accounting rules for 
governments and their financial data. In 2009, GASB issued Statement 54, which classifies fund balances into 
five categories: nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned. A quick description of each 
category follows:  
 

• Nonspendable Fund Balance – These are amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in 
spendable form, such as inventories and prepaid items.  

• Restricted Fund Balance – These are amounts that are restricted to specific purposes either by: 1) 
constraints placed on the use of resources by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations 
of other governments, or 2) imposed by law through enabling legislation. 

• Committed Fund Balance – These are amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to 
constraints imposed by resolution of the City Council (highest level of decision making authority) and 
that remain committed unless modified or removed by the City Council by subsequent resolution. 

• Assigned Fund Balance – These are amounts that are constrained by the City's intent to be used for 
specific purposes but are neither restricted nor committed and include remaining amounts (except for 
negative balances) that are reported in governmental funds, other than the General Fund, that are 
not classified as nonspendable, restricted or committed. Assignments are made by the City 
Administrator. 

• Unassigned Fund Balance – These are residual amounts in the General Fund not reported in any other 
classification. Note: the General Fund is the only fund that can report a positive unassigned fund 
balance.  

 
During the course of our 2020 audit, auditors at BerganKDV determined that revenues and fund balance for 
the fire department should be considered to be “committed”. Therefore, it is staff’s recommendation that City 
Council pass a resolution to commit the revenues and fund balance of the fire department.  
 
OPTIONS & IMPACTS 

• GASB Statement 54 requirements were effective for financial statements periods beginning after June 
15, 2010.  

• Approving the resolution would affirm the intended use of the fire department revenues and fund 
balance. 



Memorandum 

4/15/2021  2 

• Approving the resolution would have no impact on the operations or management of the fire 
department. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
Motion to adopt Resolution 2021-422, committing the fire department revenues and fund balance. 
 
 
Attachments 
Resolution 2021-422 



Resolution No. 2021-422 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MORA, MINNESOTA 
COMMITTING SPECIFIC REVENUE SOURCES IN SPECIAL REFUND FUNDS 

 
WHEREAS, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board's Statement #54 definition of special revenue 
funds states that special revenue funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of specific 
revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditures for specified purposes other than  
debt service or capital projects; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the term "proceeds of specific revenue sources'' establishes that one or more specific 
restricted or committed revenues should be the foundation for a special revenue fund and comprise a 
substantial portion of the fund's revenues; and, 
  
WHEREAS, investment earnings and transfers from other funds do not meet the definition of a specific 
revenue source; and, 
 
WHEREAS, council action is required to formalize the commitment of the specific revenue sources to 
specified purposes. 
 
WHEREAS, council action is required to formalize the commitment of fund balance. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the city council of the City of Mora, Kanabec County, Minnesota 
that the specific revenue sources of each special revenue fund and the specific purpose for which they 
are restricted or committed are as follows:  
 

FUND SPECIFIC REVENUE SOURCES COMMITTED FOR: 
Fire Department Charges for services & grants Public safety operations 
   

 
 
THEREFORE, be it further resolved that the fund balance of the above scheduled funds be committed by 
the City Council for the specific purpose as stated above. 
 
The foregoing resolution was introduced and moved for adoption by Council Member __________ and 
seconded by Council Member __________. 

 
Voting for the Resolution: .......................  
Voting Against the Resolution: ...............  
Abstained from Voting: ...........................  
Absent: ....................................................  

 
Motion carried and resolution adopted this 20th day of April 2021. 

 
  ______________________________________  
ATTEST:  Al Skramstad, Mayor  

 ______________________________________  
 Lindy Crawford, City Administrator 





Item No. 6a 

1 

 M E M O R A N D U M 
Date: April 20, 2021 
To: Mayor and City Council 
From: Jeff Krie, Activities and Recreation Coordinator 
RE: 2021 Vasaloppet USA Event Debrief 

SUMMARY 
The 2021 Vasaloppet USA event was held in Mora February 20-21. Representatives from the Vasaloppet USA 
will be at the City Council meeting to debrief the 2021 event with staff and the City Council. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
Review and discuss the 2021 Vasaloppet USA event with Vasaloppet representatives.  

Attachments 
None 





Item No. 6b 

1 

 M E M O R A N D U M 
Date: April 20, 2021 
To: Mayor and City Council 
From: Sara King, Accountant 
RE: 2020 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

 
SUMMARY 
Accept the 2020 audit report, also known as the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (Annual Report).  
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
Preparations began for the 2020 audit in January 2021, and the audit field work was completed the last week 
of February 2021. A copy of the Annual Report is enclosed. 
 
BerganKDV will be presenting the Annual Report to the city council virtually. 
 
OPTIONS & IMPACTS 

1. Motion to approve the annual audit for the year ended December 31, 2020. 
2. Motion to deny the annual audit for the year ended December 31, 2020. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
Motion to approve the annual financial audit for the year ended December 31, 2020. 
 
 
Attachments 
2020 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
2020 Communications Report 
2020 Independent Auditor's Reports 





 

 

Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report 
FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 

Prepared by the Finance Department 

 

 

City of Mora, Minnesota 
   Tel: 320.679.1511 
www.ci.mora.mn.us 

 101 Lake Street South 
Mora, MN 55051-1588 

 



 

 

(THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY)



 

 

COMPREHENSIVE 
 
 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
 
 

OF THE 
 
 

CITY OF MORA, 
MINNESOTA 

 
 
 

For Fiscal Year Ended 
 
 

December 31, 2020 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by 
 

THE FINANCE DEPARTMENT  
 
 

Lindy Crawford, City Administrator 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF MORA 
101 Lake Street South 

Mora, Minnesota 55051 
 



 

 

(THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY) 



 

 

City of Mora 
Table of Contents 

 
Page 

Introductory Section 
Elected Officials and Administration 1 
Organizational Chart 3 
Letter of Transmittal 5 

 
Financial Section 

Independent Auditor's Report 9 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 13 
Basic Financial Statements 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 
Statement of Net Position 24 
Statement of Activities 25 

Fund Financial Statements 
Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds 26 
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position –  
  Governmental Funds 27 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances –  
  Governmental Funds 28 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in  
  Fund Balances to the Statement of Activities – Governmental Funds 31 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance –  
  Budget and Actual – General Fund 32 
Statement of Net Position – Proprietary Funds 34 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position –  
  Proprietary Funds 36 
Statement of Cash Flows – Proprietary Funds 38 

Notes to the Financial Statements 41 
Required Supplementary Information Other than Management's Discussion 
  and Analysis 

Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios  76 
Schedule of City's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability –  
  General Employees Retirement Funds  77 
Schedule of City Contributions – General Employees and Retirement Fund 78 
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability, and Related Ratios –  
  Mora Fire Department Relief Association 79 
Schedule of City Contributions – Mora Fire Department Relief Association 80 

Notes to Required Supplementary Information 81 
Supplementary Information 

Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Governmental Funds 88 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund  
  Balances – Nonmajor Governmental Funds 94 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund  
  Balance – Budget and Actual – EDA Special Revenue Fund 99 



 

 

(THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY)



 

 

City of Mora 
Table of Contents 

 
Page 

Financial Section (Continued) 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance –  
  Budget and Actual – Fire Special Revenue Fund 100 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance –  
  Budget and Actual – Cemetery Special Revenue Fund 101 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance –  
  Budget and Actual – EDA Revolving Loan Special Revenue Fund 102 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance –  
  Budget and Actual – MIC Loan Special Revenue Fund 103 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance –  
  Budget and Actual – Future Fire Equipment Capital Projects Fund 104 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance –  
  Budget and Actual – Future Improvements Capital Projects Fund 105 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance –  
  Budget and Actual – 2008-2011 Street Reconstruction Debt Service Fund 106 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance –  
  Budget and Actual – 2015B Wood & Grove Debt Service Fund 107 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance –  
  Budget and Actual – 2015C Refunding Debt Service Fund 108 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance –  
  Budget and Actual – 2017A Refunding Debt Service Fund 109 

 

  Table Page 
Statistical Section 

Net Position by Component 1 114 
Changes in Net Position 2 116 
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 3 120 
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 4 122 
Taxable Assessed Value of Taxable Property 5 124 
Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates as a Percentage of Net Tax Capacity 6 126 
Principal Property Taxpayers 7  128 
Property Tax Levies and Collections 8  130 
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type 9  132 
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding 10 134 
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt 11 136 
Legal Debt Margin Information  12 138 
Pledged Revenue Coverage 13 139 
Demographic and Economic Statistics 14 140 
Principal Employers 15 142 
Full-Time Equivalent Employees by Function/Program 16 144 
Operating Indicators by Function/Program 17 146 
Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program 18 148 



 

 

(THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY)



 

1 

City of Mora 
Elected and Appointed Officials 

December 31, 2020 
 
 

Term Expires
Mayor
     Alan Skramsted December 31, 2022

Council Members
Jody Anderson December 31, 2020
Sam Pioske December 31, 2020
Jake Mathison December 31, 2022
Sara Treiber December 31, 2020

City Administrator
Lindy Crawford Appointed

Public Utilities Commission Chair
Greg Ardner December 31, 2021

Public Utilities Commissioners
Brett Baldwin December 31, 2022
Ryan Christianson December 31, 2020

Public Utilities General Manager
Lindy Crawford Appointed

Public Works Director
Joseph Kohlgraf Appointed

City Attorney (Civil)
Joel Jamnik, Campbell Knutson Appointed

City Attorney (Prosecutions)
Barb McFadden, Kanabec County Appointed  



 

2 

(THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY)



Public Works
Director/ Airport

Manager
(1 FT)

Administrative
Assistant/ Deputy

City Clerk
(1 FT)

Utility Billing
Clerk II
(1 FT)

Swim Instructor
(12 S)

Shift Supervisor
(0)

Administrative
Services Director

(1 FT)

City Administrator/
Public Utilities

General Manager
(1 FT)

Community
Development

Director
(1 FT)

Fire Chief
(1 OC)

Activities and
Recreation
Coordinator

(1 FT)

Liquor Store
Manager

(1 FT)

Human Resources
Coordinator

(0)

Accountant
(1 FT)

Building Official
(1 FT)

Community
Development

Planner
(0)

Building Inspector
(0)

Pool Aid / Front
Desk /

Concessions
(5 S)

Lifeguard
(10 S)

Maintenance
(2 S)

Utility Billing
Clerk I
(1 FT)

Mayor & Council

Number indicates positions authorized
FT = Full-Time
PT = Part-Time
OC = On-Call
S = Seasonal
— = Staff Liaison
-- = Additional StaffLiaison

CITY OF MORA, KANABEC COUNTY, MINNESOTA
Staff Organizational Chart
January 2021
ver. 1.0

Electorate

Public Utilities
Commission

(3)

Housing and
Redevelopment

Authority
(5)

Economic
Development

Authority
(7)

Planning Commission
(5)

Airport Board
(5)

Park Board
(5)

Joint Powers Agencies

Independent BoardsAdvisory Boards

Central Minnesota Service
Cooperative

East Central Cable
Commission

Mora/Kanabec Joint
Airport Zoning Board

Southern Minnesota
Municipal Power Agency

Consultants/Contract Services

Activity Director
(1 PT)

Executive Director
(1 FT)

Maintenance
Supervisor

(1 FT)

Program / Admin.
Supervisor

(1 FT)

Liquor Store
Assistant Manager

(1 FT)

Liquor Store
Clerk II
(10 PT)

Liquor Store
Clerk I
(Lead)

(0)

Attorney-Civil
Attorney-Criminal

Bond Counsel

Emergency Services

Assessor

Auditor

Electric Distribution

Accounting Clerk
(1 FT)

Engineer-Civil
Engineer-Electric
Financial Advisor

Fire Captain
(2 OC)

Firefighters
(29 OC)

Assistant Fire Chief
(1 OC)

Fire Lieutenant
(2 OC)

Fire Secretary
(1 OC)

Plant/ Line
Supervisor

(1 FT)

Summer
Maintenance

Worker
(1 FT-S)

Water/Wastewater
Maintenance

Worker
(1 FT)

Water/Wastewater
Operator III
(Training)

(1 FT)

Water/Wastewater
Operator II

(1 FT)

Water/Wastewater
Operator I (Lead)

(1 FT)

Water/Wastewater
Supervisor

(0)

Summer
Maintenance

Worker
(2 FT-S)

Winter
Maintenance

Worker
(0)

Heavy Equipment
Operator/
Mechanic

(1 FT)

Heavy Equipment
Operator

(3 FT)

Street Supervisor
(0)

Public Works
Assistant

Superintendent
(0)

Public Works
Superintendent

(0)

Janitor
(1 PT)

Aquatic Center
Assistant Manager

(2 S)

Generator
Operator/

Mechanic II
(1 FT)

Generator
Operator/
Electrician

(1 FT)

Generator
Operator/

Mechanic I (Lead)
(1 FT)

Property Manager
(1 FT)

Office Assistant II
(1 PT)

Office Assistant
(1 PT)

Clerical Assistant
(1 PT)

Housekeeping
(2 PT)

Maintenance
Technician

(1 FT)

Law Enforcement

3



 

4 

(THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY)



5



6



7



8



 

9 

Independent Auditor's Report 
 
 
Honorable Mayor and Members 
  of the City Council 
City of Mora  
Mora, Minnesota 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, each major fund, the discretely presented component unit, and the aggregate remaining 
fund information of the City of Mora, Minnesota, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, and 
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial 
statements as listed in the Table of Contents.  
 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The City of Mora's management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.  
 

Auditor's Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not 
audit the financial statements of the Housing and Redevelopment Authority of Mora, discretely 
presented component unit column. These statements were audited by other auditors whose report 
thereon has been furnished to us, and our opinion expressed herein, insofar as it relates to the amounts 
included for the Housing and Redevelopment Authority of Mora, is based solely upon the report of the 
other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether these financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. 
 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the City's 
preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of these 
financial statements. 
 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 



 

10 

Opinions 
In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to in 
the first paragraph present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the 
governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, the discretely presented 
component unit and the aggregate remaining fund Information of the City of Mora, Minnesota, as of 
December 31, 2020, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows 
thereof, and the budgetary comparison for the General Fund for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information  
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management's 
Discussion and Analysis, which follows this report letter, and Required Supplementary information as 
listed in the Table of Contents be presented to supplement the financial statements. Such information, 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB), who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have 
applied certain limited procedures to the Required Supplementary Information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.  
 
Other Information  
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the City of Mora's basic financial statements. The introductory section, 
supplementary information and statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and 
are not a required part of the basic financial statements.  
 
The supplementary information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. Such 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements 
and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated, 
in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
The introductory and statistical sections of this report have not been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or 
provide any assurance on them. 



 

11 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 23, 
2021, on our consideration of the City of Mora's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests 
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part 
of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of 
Mora's internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
 
St. Cloud, Minnesota 
March 23, 2021

sheryl.griffiths
BKDV - Nancy S



 

12 

(THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY) 



City of Mora 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 

13 

 
This section of the annual financial statements of the City of Mora, Minnesota (the "City") presents a 
discussion and analysis of the City's financial performance during the year ending December 31, 2020. 
Please read it in conjunction with the financial statements, which follow this section.  
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
 The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded the liabilities and deferred 

inflows of resources by $39,247,991. Of this amount $15,706,504 may be used to meet the 
government's ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors in accordance with the City's fund 
designation and fiscal policies. 

 The City's total net position increased by $1,612,243. 
 The City's governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $2,918,577. Of this total 

amount, $569,561 is unassigned and available for spending at the City's discretion. 
 At the end of the current year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $1,866,866, or 

70.7%, of total General Fund expenditures. 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The Statement of Net Position and the 
Statement of Activities provide information about the activities of the City as a whole and present a 
longer-term view of the City's finances. Fund financial statements are presented after the Statement of 
Activities. Fund financial statements report the City's operations in more detail than the government-
wide statements by providing information about the City's funds. The Notes to Financial Statements 
provide information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide 
and fund financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to 
the basic financial statements. 
 
Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities 
Our analysis of the City begins with the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities. One 
of the most important questions asked about the City's finances is, "Is the City as a whole better or worse 
off as a result of the year's activities?" The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities both 
report information about the City as a whole and about its activities in a way that helps answer this 
question. These Statements include all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred 
inflows of resources using the accrual basis of accounting, which is similar to the accounting used by 
most private-sector companies. All of the current years' revenues and expenses are taken into account 
regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
 
The government-wide financial statements includes information for not only the City (known as the 
primary government), but also legally separate entities for which the City is financially accountable 
(discretely presented component units). 
 
These two statements report the City's net position and changes in them. You can think of the City's net 
position, the difference between assets and deferred outflows or resources and liabilities and deferred 
inflows of resources, as one way to measure the City's financial health or financial position. Over time, 
increases or decreases in the City's net position are one indicator of whether the City's financial health is 
improving or deteriorating. You will need to consider other nonfinancial factors, however, to assess the 
overall health of the City.  



City of Mora 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 

14 

 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
Our analysis of the City's major funds begins with the fund financial statements and provides detailed 
information about the most significant funds, not the City as a whole. Some funds are required to be 
established by law and by bond covenants. However, the City Council establishes other funds to help it 
control and manage money for particular purposes or to show that it is meeting legal responsibilities for 
using certain taxes, grants, or other money. The City's two kinds of funds, governmental, and 
proprietary, use different approaches. 
 
Governmental Funds – Most of the City's basic services are reported in governmental funds. 
Governmental funds focus on how money flows into and out of those funds and the balances left at  
year-end that are available for spending. These funds are reported using an accounting method called 
modified accrual accounting, which measures cash and all other financial assets that can readily be 
converted to cash. The governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view of the City's 
general government operations and the basic services it provides. Governmental fund information helps 
the reader of the statements determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be 
spent in the near future to finance the City's programs. We describe the relationship (or differences) 
between governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of 
Activities) and governmental funds in reconciliations after the financial statements. 
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 26-31 of this report. 
 
Proprietary Funds – When the City charges customers for the services it provides – whether to outside 
customers or to other units of the City – these services are generally reported in proprietary funds. 
Proprietary funds are reported in the same way that all activities are reported in the Statement of Net 
Position and the Statement of Activities. In fact, the City's enterprise funds are the same as the business-
type activities we report in the government-wide statements but provide more detail and additional 
information, such as cash flows for proprietary funds. 
 
The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 34-39 of this report. 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in 
the government-wide and fund financial statements. The Notes to Financial Statements can be found on 
pages 41-74 of this report. 
 
Comparative Data 
Certain comparative information between the current (2020) and prior year (2019) is required to be 
presented in the Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This section will discuss and analyze 
significant differences between the two years. 
 



City of Mora 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 

15 

 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
The City's net position increased during 2020 by $1,612,243. Our analysis below focuses on the net 
position (Table 1) and changes in net position (Table 2) of the City's governmental and business-type 
activities. 
 

Table 1 
Statement of Net Position 

 
 

Total
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Assets
Current and other assets 5,101,686$    4,278,386$    14,631,151$  13,019,016$  19,732,837$  17,297,402$  
Capital assets 14,589,682    14,904,475    14,837,676    15,463,825    29,427,358    30,368,300    

Total assets 19,691,368    19,182,861    29,468,827    28,482,841    49,160,195    47,665,702    

Deferred Outflows
  of Resources
Related to pensions 136,209         154,825         129,778         108,234         265,987         263,059         
Related to OPEB 6,024             5,342             9,371             9,197             15,395           14,539           

Total deferred outflows
  of resources 142,233         160,167         139,149         117,431         281,382         277,598         
Total assets and deferred
  outflows of resources 19,833,601$  19,343,028$  29,607,976$  28,600,272$  49,441,577$  47,943,300$  

Liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities outstanding 3,199,712$    3,387,264$    4,959,110$    5,161,871$    8,158,822$    8,549,135$    
Other liabilities 880,992         697,302         1,062,067      835,488         1,943,059      1,532,790      

Total liabilities 4,080,704      4,084,566      6,021,177      5,997,359      10,101,881    10,081,925    

Deferred Inflows
  of Resources
Related to pensions 49,021           79,756           42,684           145,871         91,705           225,627         

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 11,678,848    11,730,600    10,527,549    10,855,383    22,206,397    22,585,983    
Restricted 1,335,090      1,456,706      -                    -                    1,335,090      1,456,706      
Unrestricted 2,689,938      1,991,400      13,016,566    11,601,659    15,706,504    13,593,059    

Total net position 15,703,876    15,178,706    23,544,115    22,457,042    39,247,991    37,635,748    

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 
  resources, and net position 19,833,601$  19,343,028$  29,607,976$  28,600,272$  49,441,577$  47,943,300$  

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities
Primary Government

 
Governmental Activities 
Net position of the City's governmental activities increased by $525,170 or 3.46%. The increase was 
mainly due to an increase in unrestricted state aids, an increase in property tax revenue, and an increase 
in tax increments. Unrestricted net position, the part of net position that can be used to finance day-to-
day operations without constraints established by debt covenants, legislation or other legal requirement, 
was $2,689,938 at December 31, 2020.  
 



City of Mora 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 

16 

 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 
 
Governmental Activities (Continued) 
The following table indicates the changes in net position for the City's governmental and business-type 
activities: 
 

Table 2 
Statement of Activities 

 

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Revenues
Program revenues

Charges for services 338,580$      575,998$      11,697,081$ 11,128,425$ 12,035,661$ 11,704,423$ 
Operating grants and contributions 459,922        208,793        78,270          -                    538,192        208,793        
Capital grants and contributions 519,032        1,262,210     53,461          324,452        572,493        1,586,662     

General revenues
Property taxes and tax increments 1,026,650     938,706        -                    -                    1,026,650     938,706        
Unrestricted state aids 994,224        930,998        -                    -                    994,224        930,998        
Unrestricted investment earnings 63,594          79,453          242,902        299,301        306,496        378,754        
Other General Revenue 304,777        308,721        -                    -                    304,777        308,721        
Gain on sale of assets 10,000          6,212            500               911               10,500          7,123            

Total revenues 3,716,779     4,311,091     12,072,214   11,753,089   15,788,993   16,064,180   

Expenses
General government 627,901        474,247        -                    -                    627,901        474,247        
Public safety 1,151,488     1,006,076     -                    -                    1,151,488     1,006,076     
Public works 1,188,951     1,295,146     -                    -                    1,188,951     1,295,146     
Culture and recreation 280,603        407,854        -                    -                    280,603        407,854        
Economic development 162,786        96,951          -                    -                    162,786        96,951          
Cemetery 54,796          27,885          -                    -                    54,796          27,885          
Interest on long-term debt 89,676          98,063          -                    -                    89,676          98,063          
Liquor -                    -                    3,845,195     3,052,355     3,845,195     3,052,355     
Electric -                    -                    4,954,573     5,144,174     4,954,573     5,144,174     
Water -                    -                    712,296        726,154        712,296        726,154        
Wastewater -                    -                    1,056,454     1,145,180     1,056,454     1,145,180     
Storm water -                    -                    52,031          82,242          52,031          82,242          

Total expenses 3,556,201     3,406,222     10,620,549   10,150,105   14,176,750   13,556,327   

Excess of revenues
  over expenses 160,578        904,869        1,451,665     1,602,984     1,612,243     2,507,853     

Transfers 364,592        352,755        (364,592)       (352,755)       -                    -                    
Change in net position 525,170        1,257,624     1,087,073     1,250,229     1,612,243     2,507,853     
Net position - beginning 15,178,706   12,345,885   22,457,042   21,687,212   37,635,748   34,033,097   
Prior period adjustment -                    1,575,197     -                    (480,399)       -                    1,094,798     
Net position - beginning, as restated 15,178,706   13,921,082   22,457,042   21,206,813   37,635,748   35,127,895   

Net position - ending 15,703,876$ 15,178,706$ 23,544,115$ 22,457,042$ 39,247,991$ 37,635,748$ 

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
Primary Government

 
  



City of Mora 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 

17 

 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 
 
Governmental Activities (Continued) 
Revenues – The following chart visually illustrates the City's revenue by source for its governmental 
activities. 
 

Charges for Services
9%

Operating Grants and 
Contributions

12%

Capital Grants and 
Contributions

14%
Taxes
28%

State Aid
27%

Unrestricted 
Investment Earnings

2%

Other General 
Revenues

8%

Gain on Sale of Asset
Less than 1%

 
Revenues by Source – Governmental Activities 

 
Revenues for the City's governmental activities decreased by ($594,312), or (13.79%). The major 
component of this decrease is explained as follows: 
 
 Capital Grants and Contributions decreased ($743,178), or (58.88%), primarily due to fewer funds 

received from the State in 2020 related to the 2013-2014 fuel leak at the municipal airport, and work 
on the airport master plan. 

 
Expenses for the City's governmental activities increased by $149,979, or 4.40%. The major components 
of this increase are explained as follows: 
 
 Public Safety expenses increased by $145,412, or 14.45%, primarily due to mitigating the COVID-

19 pandemic.  
 General Government expenses increased by $153,654, or 32.40%, primarily due to mitigating the 

COVID-19 pandemic. 
 

Business-Type Activities 
The net position of the City's business-type activities increased by $1,087,073, or 4.84%. Unrestricted 
net position increased by $1,414,907 or 12.2%.  
 
Revenues for the City's business-type activities increased by $319,125, or 2.72%, from the prior year. 
The increase was primarily due to an increase in charges for services, somewhat offset by a reduction in 
capital grants and contributions. 
 
Expenses for the City's business-type activities increased by $470,444, or 4.64%, from the prior year. 
The increase was primarily due to larger cost of goods sold expenses in the liquor fund. 



City of Mora 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 

18 

 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY'S FUNDS 
 
Governmental Funds 
The focus of the City of Mora's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, 
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City's 
financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a 
government's net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Mora's governmental funds reported combined ending 
fund balances of $2,918,577. Of this total, $569,561 constitutes unassigned fund balance. The remainder 
of fund balance $2,349,016 is not available for new spending because it is either 1) nonspendable 
$152,798, 2) restricted $933,740, 3) committed $14,296, or 4) assigned $1,248,182. 
 
Activity in the City's major funds is discussed below: 
 
General Fund – The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. As a measure of the General 
Fund's liquidity, it may be useful to compare fund balance to total fund expenditures. Unassigned fund 
balance represents 70.67% of total 2020 expenditures.  
 
Grove and Wood Street Improvements Fund – This fund accounts for all costs related to the Grove and 
Wood street improvement project. In 2020, fund balance increased by $28,960 mainly due to special 
assessment revenue collected.  
 
Parker Capital Project Fund -   This fund accounts for costs related to the Parker capital improvement 
projects. In 2020, fund balance increased by $9,805 due to special assessment revenue collected. 
 
Proprietary Funds 
The City's proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide 
financial statements, but in more detail. At the end of the year, unrestricted net position of the enterprise 
funds amount to $13,016,566. Activity is discussed below: 
 
Liquor Fund – The increase of $307,188 in net position is primarily due to higher than expected sales. 
 
Electric Fund – The increase of $548,093 in net position is primarily due to lower than expected usage. 
 
Water Fund – The increase of $108,364 in net position is primarily due to increased usage and reduced 
overtime costs. 
 
Sewer Fund – The increase in net position of $73,572 is primarily due to a decrease in operating 
expenses.  
 
Storm Water Fund – The increase of $49,856 in net position is primarily due to labor savings.



City of Mora 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 

19 

 
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
 
The City did not amend the General Fund budget in 2020. The City budgeted for an overall decrease in 
fund balance of $88,155. Overall, actual revenues, expenditures, and other financing sources (uses) 
resulted in an increase in fund balance of $370,977. 
 

Variance
Original and Favorable
Final Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

Revenues 2,502,810$ 2,735,682$ 232,872$    
Expenditures (3,004,587) (2,641,681) 362,906
Other financing sources (uses) 413,622 276,976 (136,646)
Net change (88,155)$    370,977      459,132$    

Fund balance
January 1, 2020 1,525,168

December 31, 2020 1,896,145$ 

General Fund Budget Report

 
Significant variances from budget to actual in the year 2020 are described below and on the following 
page. 
 
Revenues 
 

 Licenses and permits revenues were down about $30,000 from the expected amount, due to 
fewer than expected building permits issued for new single family home construction.  

 Intergovernmental revenues came in approximately $396,000 over budget, due to Coronavirus 
Relief Aid recevied and grant reimbursement received. 

 Charges for services revenues were down approximately $148,000 from the expected amount, 
due to the closure of the aquatic center in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.  

 Investment income revenues were almost $17,000 over budget, due to the market position as of 
December 31, 2020.  

 
Expenditures 
 

 Culture and recreation expenditures were almost $226,000 under budget, due to the closure of 
the aquatic center for the 2020 season and fewer park rentals, both in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic. 

 Public works expenditures were approximately $127,000 less than expected, due in part because 
of fewer airport engineering costs.  

 Public works capital outlay expenditures were approximately $62,000 under budget, due mainly 
to cost savings on a new skid loader and fewer expenses relating to the fuel remediation project.  

 Public safety capital outlay expenditures were almost $43,000 more than expected, due to the 
purchase of a new wireless extraction tool made possible by various grants.  



City of Mora 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 

20 

 
CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
At the end of 2020, the City had $29,427,358 invested in a broad range of capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation. Refer to Note 4, Capital Assets, of the basic financial statements for a 
schedule showing the City's capital asset activity. This amount represents a net decrease (including 
additions and deductions) of approximately $940,944.  
 
Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following: 
 

 Aquatic Center slides recoated 
 Electric Lines underbuild project near Mora Lake along Highway 65 
 Purchase of a 2013 Ford F-750 Water Tank Truck for the water and wastewater departments 

 
City of Mora's Capital Assets 

(Net of Depreciation) 
 

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

Land 1,455,973$        356,036$           1,812,009$        
Construction in progress -                        25,222 25,222
Land improvements 3,796,353 6,251,062 10,047,415
Buildings 2,021,095 7,434,632 9,455,727
Infrastructure 6,858,381 289,858 7,148,239
Machinery, Equipment, Vehicles 457,880 480,866 938,746

Total 14,589,682$      14,837,676$      29,427,358$      

 
Long-Term Debt  
At year-end the City had $7,164,000 in bonds outstanding.  
 
During 2020, only $9,458 in debt was added, and $566,416 in debt was retired. Refer to Note 6 of the 
basic financial statements for a schedule showing the City's long-term debt activity. 
 
The City maintains a G.O. bond rating of "A3" from Moody's Investor's Service and an "A+/Stable" 
rating from Standard and Poor's (S&P), which are considered to be good ratings in the market. 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGET 
 
The City's elected officials considered many factors when adopting the 2020 budget and when setting 
the 2020 rates and fees that will be charged for the business-type activities. The major factors accounted 
for when adopting the General Fund budget were: 
 
 A 3.0% contractual cost-of-living (COLA) increase for employees, based on a previously approved 

collective bargaining agreement. 



City of Mora 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 

21 

 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGET (CONTINUED) 
 

 The 2020 budget includes a property tax levy of $889,442 which is 10.0% greater than the 2019 
levy. 

 The final city tax rate for taxes payable in 2020 is 39.3%. 
 Kanabec County has an unemployment rate as of December 2020 of 7.6%. This compares with 

unemployment rates of 4.9% for the State of Minnesota and 6.5% for the United States. 
 
FACTORS BEARING ON THE CITY'S FUTURE  
 
City Council 
 

 Longtime liquor store manager, Dan Greene, retired and Julie Krone was hired to be the new liquor 
store manager. Danielle Kieser was hired to fill the vacated Assistant Manager position. 

 On March 26, 2020, Mayor Alan Skramstad declared a local emergency in response to the COVID-
19 pandemic. In response to COVID-19, many adjustments were made to operations, including 
staggered work schedules for most employees and temporarily closing city facilities to the public. 

 The water slides at the Mora Aquatic Center (MAC) were recoated in 2020, during the time the 
MAC was closed due to the pandemic. The work will extend the useful lives of the slides, and was 
able to be completed without direct disruption to the season. 

 The Mora Area Fire Department was granted funds for the purchase of new wireless extrication 
equipment.  

 City Council approved an application for a MnDOT grant to install a walking trail along the 
Highway 65 Snake River Bridge.  

 For the second consecutive year, the Housing and Redevelopment Authority of Mora (HRA) asked 
the City for a cash-infusion loan. It was approved with strict conditions.  

 During the November 2020 general election, three (3) council members were elected: Incumbent 
member Jody Anderson, Sadie Broekemeier, and Kyle Shepard.  

 City Council approved the creation of the Administrative Services Director position, with the intent 
this position will serve as the clerk/treasurer in the future. The preliminary hire date is April 2021.  

 Significant progress was made on updating the City's Comprehensive Plan.  
 In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the City was granted funding from the federal government 

through the Coronavirus Relief Act (CRF). Funds were appropriated to items to respond to the 
pandemic.  

 
FACTORS BEARING ON THE CITY'S FUTURE (CONTINUED) 
 
Public Utility Commission 
 

 Through a partnership with Southern Minnesota Municipal Power Association (SMMPA), the 
installation of three (3) electric vehicle charging stations were installed.  

 A large generator was installed at Well # 5 to improve the resiliency of the City's water supply. 
 The overhead electric lines across Mora Lake, along Highway 65, were converted to underground 

lines to improve reliability of service for the future. 
 Work continues to establish the reeds in the reed beds at the 2015 Wastewater Treatment Plant. 
 A new policy was considered and approved to regulate the specifications of the construction of both 

overhead and underground electric lines. 



City of Mora 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 

22 

 
FACTORS BEARING ON THE CITY'S FUTURE (CONTINUED) 
 
Economic Development Authority 
 
• The EDA learned in June 2020 that rehabilitation grant funds through the Small Cities Development 

Program were awarded in the amount of $393,300. The project will include the rehabilitation of 
owner-occupied single family homes and rental housing, and has been generating much interest.  

• In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the EDA created a new COVID-19 Emergency Assistance 
Program to assist local business owners. The program consisted of a mix of both loans and grants.  

• The EDA amended its bylaws to clarify the roll of a PUC commissioner on its governing board, and 
to clean up other minor issues.  

 
CONTACT INFORMATION 
 
This annual report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Mora, Minnesota finances for 
citizens, customers and others. Questions concerning any of the information contained in this report and 
requests for additional information should be addressed to Lindy Crawford, City Administrator, City of 
Mora, 101 Lake Street South, Mora, Minnesota 55051, or by phone at (320) 679-1511. 



 

23 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



Component Unit

Governmental 
Activities

Business-Type 
Activities Total

Housing and 
Redevelopment 

Authority
Assets

Cash and investments
  (including cash equivalents) 4,384,308$       11,719,712$     16,104,020$     240,645$          
Restricted cash 250,000            -                       250,000            301,130            
Receivables

Taxes receivable 33,961              -                       33,961              -                       
Accounts receivable 52,534              755,595            808,129            153,962            
Interest receivable 7,666                54,057              61,723              -                       
Special assessments receivable 1,180,539         57,300              1,237,839         -                       

Due from other governments 83,371              895                   84,266              -                       
Advance to component unit 125,569            -                       125,569            
Internal balances (1,453,577)        1,453,577         -                       -                       
Inventory -                       590,015            590,015            -                       
Prepaid items 29,279              -                       29,279              15,157              
Other assets -                       -                       -                       92,641              
Net pension asset - fire relief association 408,036            -                       408,036            -                       

Capital assets not being depreciated
Land 1,455,973         356,036            1,812,009         292,829            
Construction in progress -                       25,222              25,222              -                       

Capital assets being depreciated
Improvements other than buildings 12,460,296       14,964,729       27,425,025       -                       
Buildings and improvements 3,396,815         11,198,824       14,595,639       7,203,900         
Land improvements 7,478,724         -                       7,478,724         -                       
Infrastructure -                       631,959            631,959            -                       
Machinery and equipment 3,730,418         3,087,077         6,817,495         445,393            

Less accumulated depreciation (13,932,544)      (15,426,171)      (29,358,715)      (4,382,958)        
Total assets 19,691,368       29,468,827       49,160,195       4,362,699         

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 136,209            129,778            265,987            -                       
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB 6,024                9,371                15,395              -                       

Total deferred outflows of resources 142,233            139,149            281,382            -                       

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 19,833,601$     29,607,976$     49,441,577$     4,362,699$       

Liabilities 
Accounts payable 512,125$          518,818$          1,030,943$       84,580$            
Contracts payable -                       25,222              25,222              -                       
Due to other governments -                       67,387              67,387              -                       
Salaries and benefits payable 26,789              15,342              42,131              121,865            
Deposits payable 21,659              63,240              84,899              -                       
Interest payable 35,445              28,875              64,320              -                       
Bond principal payable, net of premiums

Payable within one year 264,046            308,953            572,999            139,641            
Payable after one year 2,646,788         4,001,174         6,647,962         4,038,303         

Compensated absences payable
Payable within one year 20,928              34,230              55,158              38,378              
Payable after one year 23,524              38,477 62,001              -                       

Total OPEB liability
Payable after one year 53,160              82,694 135,854            -                       

Net pension liability
Payable after one year 476,240            836,765            1,313,005         -                       

Total liabilities 4,080,704         6,021,177         10,101,881       4,422,767         

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 49,021              42,684              91,705              -                       

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 11,678,848       10,527,549       22,206,397       (378,229)           
Restricted for

Debt service 1,061,623         -                       1,061,623         282,178            
Tax increment 9,733                -                       9,733                -                       
Economic Development 150,046            -                       150,046            
Housing assistance -                       -                       -                       18,952              
Other purposes 113,688            -                       113,688            -                       

Unrestricted 2,689,938         13,016,566       15,706,504       17,031              
Total net position 15,703,876       23,544,115       39,247,991       (60,068)             

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net position 19,833,601$     29,607,976$     49,441,577$     4,362,699$       

See notes to financial statements 24

Primary Government

City of Mora
Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2020



Program Revenues

Component Unit

Functions/Programs Expenses
Charges for 

Services

Operating 
Grants and 

Contributions

Capital Grants 
and 

Contributions
Governmental 

Activities
Business-Type 

Activities Total

Housing and 
Redevelopment 

Authority
Primary Government
Governmental activities

General government 627,901$        29,695$          134,700$        -$                    (463,506)$       -$                    (463,506)$       -$                      
Public safety 1,151,488       189,778          289,546          -                      (672,164)         -                      (672,164)         -                        
Public works 1,188,951       61,936            810                  489,764          (636,441)         -                      (636,441)         -                        
Culture and recreation 280,603          1,277              16,000            11,170            (252,156)         -                      (252,156)         -                        
Economic development 162,786          1,144              18,866            18,098            (124,678)         -                      (124,678)         -                        
Cemetery 54,796            54,750            -                      -                      (46)                  -                      (46)                  -                        
Interest on long-term debt 89,676            -                      -                      -                      (89,676)           -                      (89,676)           -                        

Total governmental activities 3,556,201       338,580          459,922          519,032          (2,238,667)      -                      (2,238,667)      -                        

Business-type activities
Liquor 3,845,195       4,446,608       2,949              -                      -                      604,362          604,362          -                        
Electric 4,954,573       5,333,279       43,300            -                      -                      422,006          422,006          -                        
Water 712,296          782,430          10,666            16,500            -                      97,300            97,300            -                        
Wastewater 1,056,454       1,032,854       20,161            36,961            -                      33,522            33,522            -                        
Storm water 52,031            101,910          1,194              -                      -                      51,073            51,073            -                        

Total business-type activities 10,620,549     11,697,081     78,270            53,461            -                      1,208,263       1,208,263       -                        

Total primary government 14,176,750$   12,035,661$   538,192$        572,493$        (2,238,667)      1,208,263       (1,030,404)      -                        

Component Unit
Housing and Redevelopment Authority 2,702,684$     1,520,803$     612,646$        25,898$          -                      -                      -                      (543,337)           

General revenues
Property taxes 892,255          -                      892,255          -                        
Tax increment 134,395          -                      134,395          -                        
Unrestricted state aids 994,224          -                      994,224          -                        
Unrestricted investment earnings 63,594            242,902          306,496          2,482                
Other general revenue 304,777          -                      304,777          363,586            
Gain on sale of asset 10,000            500                  10,500            -                        

Transfers 364,592          (364,592)         -                      -                        
Total general revenues and transfers 2,763,837       (121,190)         2,642,647       366,068            

Change in net position 525,170          1,087,073       1,612,243       (177,269)           

Net position - beginning 15,178,706     22,457,042     37,635,748     117,201            

Net position - ending 15,703,876$   23,544,115$   39,247,991$   (60,068)$           

See notes to financial statements. 25

Primary Government

 and Changes in Net Position
Net (Expense) Revenue

City of Mora
Statement of Activities

Year Ended December 31, 2020



General Fund 
(101)

Grove and Wood 
Street 

Improvements 
(453)

Parker Capital 
Project (446)

Nonmajor 
Governmental 

Funds Total 
Assets

Cash and investments 1,782,511$     142,626$           -$                      2,459,171$     4,384,308$     
Restricted cash -                      -                        -                        250,000          250,000          
Taxes receivable 21,037            -                        -                        12,924            33,961            
Special assessments receivable 9,007              276,254             336,348             558,930          1,180,539       
Accounts receivable 21,382            539                    -                        30,613            52,534            
Interest receivable 7,666              -                        -                        -                      7,666              
Due from other governments 83,371            -                        -                        -                      83,371            
Advance to component unit 125,569          -                        -                        -                      125,569          
Advance to other funds 64,426            -                        -                        -                      64,426            
Prepaid items 29,279            -                        -                        -                      29,279            

Total assets 2,144,248$     419,419$           336,348$           3,311,638$     6,211,653$     

Liabilities
Accounts payable 170,922$        -$                      -$                      341,203$        512,125$        
Escrows payable 20,659            -                        -                        1,000              21,659            
Due to other funds -                      -                        269,398             491,180          760,578          
Salaries and benefits payable 26,478            -                        -                        311                 26,789            
Advances from other funds -                      493,895             -                        263,530          757,425          

Total liabilities 218,059          493,895             269,398             1,097,224       2,078,576       

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue - taxes 21,037            -                        -                        12,924            33,961            
Unavailable revenue 
  - special assessments 9,007              276,254             336,348             558,930          1,180,539       

Total deferred inflows 
  of resources 30,044            276,254             336,348             571,854          1,214,500       

Fund Balances
Nonspendable 29,279            -                        -                        123,519          152,798          
Restricted -                      -                        -                        933,740          933,740          
Committed -                      -                        -                        14,296            14,296            
Assigned -                      -                        -                        1,248,182       1,248,182       
Unassigned 1,866,866       (350,730)           (269,398)           (677,177)         569,561          

Total fund balances 1,896,145       (350,730)           (269,398)           1,642,560       2,918,577       

Total liabilities, deferred 
  inflows of resources, and 
  fund balances 2,144,248$     419,419$           336,348$           3,311,638$     6,211,653$     

See notes to financial statements. 26            

City of Mora
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds

December 31, 2020



City of Mora
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet to

the Statement of Net Position - Governmental Funds
December 31, 2020

Total fund balances - governmental funds 2,918,577$     

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resources and, therefore,  
are not reported as assets in governmental funds.

Capital assets 28,522,226     
Less accumulated depreciation (13,932,544)    

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and, 
therefore, are not reported as liabilities in the funds.
Long-term liabilities at year-end consist of:

Bond principal payable, net of premiums (2,910,834)      
Compensated absences payable (44,452)           
Total OPEB liability (53,160)           
Net pension liability (476,240)         

Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources are created as a result of 

various differences related to pensions and OPEB that are not recognized in the governmental 

funds. 
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 136,209          
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions (49,021)           
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB 6,024              

Net pension assets created through non-employer contributions to defined benefit pension plans 
are not recognized in the governmental funds. 408,036          

Delinquent receivables will be collected in subsequent years, but are not available soon enough to 
pay for the current period's expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds.

Property taxes 33,961            

Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial resources are not 
reported as revenues in the funds.

Deferred special assessments 1,180,539       

Governmental funds do not report a liability for accrued interest until due and payable. (35,445)           

15,703,876$   

See notes to financial statements. 27            

Total net position - governmental activities



General Fund 
(101)

Grove and Wood 
Street 

Improvements 
(453)

Parker Capital 
Project (446)

Revenues
Taxes 589,631$        -$                     -$                     
Tax increments 8,691              -                       -                       
Special assessments 557                 33,672              9,805                
Licenses and permits 60,021            -                       -                       
Intergovernmental 1,617,399       -                       -                       
Charges for services 376,198          -                       -                       
Fines and forfeitures 12,285            -                       -                       
Miscellaneous

Investment income 39,067            464                   -                       
Contributions and donations 16,000            -                       -                       
Other 15,833            -                       -                       

Total revenues 2,735,682       34,136              9,805                

Expenditures
Current

General government 578,190          -                       -                       
Public safety 790,137          -                       -                       
Public works 681,864          -                       -                       
Culture and recreation 218,929          -                       -                       
Housing and economic development -                     -                       -                       
Cemetery -                     -                       -                       

Debt service
Principal -                     -                       -                       
Interest and other charges -                     5,176                -                       

Capital outlay
General government 28,960            -                       -                       
Public safety 90,257            -                       -                       
Public works 115,583          -                       -                       
Culture and recreation 137,761          -                       -                       
Cemetery -                     -                       -                       

Total expenditures 2,641,681       5,176                -                       

 Excess (deficiency) of revenues 94,001            28,960              9,805                
   over expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Proceeds from sale of capital asset -                     -                       -                       
Transfers in 476,402          -                       -                       
Transfers out (241,376)         -                       -                       
Insurance recoveries 41,950            -                       -                       

Total other financing sources (uses) 276,976          -                       -                       

Net change in fund balances 370,977          28,960              9,805                

Fund Balances
Beginning of year 1,525,168       (379,690)           (279,203)           

End of year 1,896,145$     (350,730)$         (269,398)$         

See notes to financial statements. 28           

Capital Project

City of Mora
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2020



Nonmajor 
Governmental 

Funds  Total  

300,706$        890,337$        
125,704          134,395          

71,547            115,581          
-                     60,021            

154,196          1,771,595       
88,408            464,606          

-                     12,285            

24,063            63,594            
125,264          141,264          
137,591          153,424          

1,027,479       3,807,102       

-                     578,190          
175,003          965,140          

-                     681,864          
-                     218,929          

162,319          162,319          
48,794            48,794            

259,525          259,525          
90,823            95,999            

-                     28,960            
73,960            164,217          

124                 115,707          
-                     137,761          

11,070            11,070            
821,618          3,468,475       

205,861          338,627          

10,000            10,000            
301,976          778,378          

(250,680)         (492,056)         
-                     41,950            

61,296            338,272          

267,157          676,899          

1,375,403       2,241,678       

1,642,560$     2,918,577$     

29                                                                                                    



 

30 

(THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INENTIONALLY)



City of Mora
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,  

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances to 
the Statement of Activities - Governmental Funds

Year Ended December 31, 2020

676,899$           

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the Statement of Activities,
the cost of those assets is allocated over the estimated useful lives as depreciation expense.

Capital outlays 451,929             
Depreciation expense (766,722)           

Compensated absences are recognized as paid in the governmental funds, but recognized as the expense 
is incurred in the Statement of Activities. (8,342)               

Net OPEB obligations are recognized as paid in the governmental funds but recognized as the expense is
incurred in the Statement of Activities. (4,209)               

Principal payments on long-term debt are recognized as expenditures in the governmental funds, but as 
an increase in the net position in the Statement of Activities. 259,525             

Interest on long-term debt in the Statement of Activities differs from the amount reported in the 
governmental funds because interest is recognized as an expenditure  in the funds when it is due and, 
thus, requires use of current financial resources. In the Statement of Activities, however, interest 
expense is recognized as the interest accrues,  regardless of when it is due. 2,807                 

Bonds premiums are recognized when the debt is issued in the governmental funds but amortized over 
the life of the debt in the Statement of Activities. 3,516                 

Governmental Funds recognize pension contributions as expenditures at the time of payment in the 
funds whereas the Statement of Activities factors in items related to pensions on a full accrual perspective (24,950)             

Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported 
as revenues in the funds.

Special assessments (67,201)             

Delinquent property taxes receivable will be collected in subsequent years, but are not available soon 
enough to pay for the current period's expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds. 1,918                 

525,170$           

See notes to financial statements. 31

Change in net position - governmental activities

Net change in fund balances - governmental funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different because:



City of Mora
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance - 
Budget and Actual - General Fund

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Original and 
Final

Actual 
Amounts

Revenues
Taxes 589,933$         589,631$        (302)$              
Tax increments 12,000             8,691              (3,309)             
Special assessments -                       557                 557                 
Licenses and permits 90,100             60,021            (30,079)           
Intergovernmental 1,221,182        1,617,399       396,217          
Charges for services 524,233           376,198          (148,035)         
Fines and forfeitures 16,000             12,285            (3,715)             
Miscellaneous revenues

Investment income 34,910             39,067            4,157              
Contributions and donations 652                  16,000            15,348            
Other 13,800             15,833            2,033              

Total revenues 2,502,810        2,735,682       232,872          

Expenditures
Current

General government
General 14,236             17,474            3,238              
Council 32,156             35,873            3,717              
Administration 106,982           109,745          2,763              
Elections 4,300               4,894              594                 
Finance 116,461           117,713          1,252              
Legal 33,246             36,793            3,547              
Personnel 27,555             38,487            10,932            
Planning and zoning 113,437           102,657          (10,780)           
City hall building 69,401             95,287            25,886            
Library building 31,126             19,267            (11,859)           

Total general government 548,900           578,190          29,290            
Public safety

Building inspection 95,592             84,364            (11,228)           
Police protection 667,168           643,427          (23,741)           
Fire protection 55,000             62,346            7,346              

Total public safety 817,760           790,137          (27,623)           
Public works

Street department 494,382           427,208          (67,174)           
Street lighting 31,000             25,945            (5,055)             
Airport 252,175           201,553          (50,622)           
Garage 31,364             27,158            (4,206)             

Total public works 808,921           681,864          (127,057)         
Culture and recreation

Swimming pool 287,178           101,916          (185,262)         
Park areas 157,588           117,013          (40,575)           

Total culture and recreation 444,766           218,929          (225,837)         
Capital outlay

General government 14,050             28,960            14,910            
Public safety 47,700             90,257            42,557            
Public works 177,290           115,583          (61,707)           
Culture and recreation 145,200           137,761          (7,439)             

Total capital outly 384,240           372,561          (11,679)           
Total expenditures 3,004,587        2,641,681       (362,906)         

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures (501,777)          94,001            595,778          

32           

Variance with 
Final Budget - 
Over (Under)

 Budgeted 
Amounts



City of Mora
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance - 
Budget and Actual - General Fund

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Final Actual 
Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers in 511,560           476,402          (35,158)           
Transfers out (97,938)            (241,376)         (143,438)         
Insurance recoveries -                       41,950            41,950            

Total other financing sources (uses) 413,622           276,976          (136,646)         

Net change in fund balance (88,155)$          370,977          459,132$        

Fund Balance
Beginning of year 1,525,168       

End of year 1,896,145$     

See notes to financial statements. 33

Budgeted
Amounts Variance with 

Final Budget - 



Liquor (609) Water (652)
Assets
Current assets

Cash and investments
  (including cash equivalents) 416,394$         7,177,369$      1,139,158$      2,929,324$     
Special assessments receivable -                      -                      57,300             -                      
Accounts receivable 31,685             477,277           127,873           109,036          
Interest receivable -                      37,273             4,765               12,019            
Due from other funds -                      373,879           189,398           197,301          
Due from other governments 895                  -                      -                      -                      
Inventory 447,375           130,106           12,534             -                      

Total current assets 896,349           8,195,904        1,531,028        3,247,680       

Noncurrent assets
Advance to other funds -                      1,870,332        -                      -                      
Capital assets not being depreciated

Land 126,230           61,714             17,580             150,512          
Construction in progress -                      5,222               -                      20,000            

Capital assets being depreciated
Improvements other than buildings 27,280             2,667,754        6,957,543        5,312,152       
Buildings and improvements 1,469,962        1,380,076        693,053           7,655,733       
Machinery and equipment 231,708           2,052,505        159,815           643,049          
Infrastructure -                      -                      -                      -                      

Total capital assets 1,855,180        6,167,271        7,827,991        13,781,446     
Less accumulated depreciation (635,943)         (4,098,652)      (4,290,447)      (6,059,028)      

Net capital assets 1,219,237        2,068,619        3,537,544        7,722,418       
Total noncurrent assets 1,219,237        3,938,951        3,537,544        7,722,418       
Total assets 2,115,586        12,134,855      5,068,572        10,970,098     

Deferred Outflows of Resources 
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 28,321             47,458             21,152             31,989            
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB 1,536 3,417 1,604 2,712

Total deferred outflows of resources 29,857             50,875             22,756             34,701            

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 2,145,443$      12,185,730$    5,091,328$      11,004,799$   

Liabilities 
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 21,953$           471,969$         5,151$             19,722$          
Contracts payable -                      5,222               -                      20,000            
Due to other governments 46,288             20,347             752                  -                      
Salaries and benefits payable 3,130               5,496               2,458               4,233              
Interest payable -                      -                      9,190               12,975            
Compensated absences due within one year 2,753               13,471             7,068               10,337            
Bonds payable due within one year -                      -                      99,182             176,818          

Total current liabilities 74,124             516,505           123,801           244,085          

Noncurrent liabilities
Customer meter deposits -                      63,040             200                  -                      
Compensated absences 5,847 28,614             15,013             21,956            
Less compensated absences due within one year (2,753)             (13,471)           (7,068)             (10,337)           
Advance from other funds 900,000           -                      141,443           135,890          
Net pension liability 182,606           305,991           136,384           206,254          
Revenue bonds payable -                      -                      1,033,198        2,732,608       
Less bonds payable due within one year -                      -                      (99,182)           (176,818)         
Total OPEB liability 13,555             30,157             14,151             23,934            

Total noncurrent liabilities 1,099,255        414,331           1,234,139        2,933,487       
Total liabilities 1,173,379        930,836           1,357,940        3,177,572       

 Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 9,315               15,609             6,957               10,521            

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 1,219,237        2,068,619        2,504,346        4,989,810       
Unrestricted (256,488)         9,170,666        1,222,085        2,826,896       

Total net position 962,749           11,239,285      3,726,431        7,816,706       

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net position 2,145,443$      12,185,730$    5,091,328$      11,004,799$   

See notes to financial statements. 34

Electric Utility 
(651)

Wastewater 
(653)

City of Mora
Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds

December 31, 2020



Total

57,467$          11,719,712$    
-                      57,300             

9,724              755,595           
-                      54,057             
-                      760,578           
-                      895                  
-                      590,015           

67,191            13,938,152      

-                      1,870,332        

-                      356,036           
-                      25,222             

-                      14,964,729      
-                      11,198,824      
-                      3,087,077        

631,959          631,959           
631,959          30,263,847      

(342,101)         (15,426,171)    
289,858          14,837,676      
289,858          16,708,008      
357,049          30,646,160      

858                 129,778           
102 9,371               
960                 139,149           

358,009$        30,785,309$    

23$                 518,818$         
-                      25,222             
-                      67,387             

25                   15,342             
6,710              28,875             

601                 34,230             
32,953            308,953           
40,312            998,827           

-                      63,240             
1,277              72,707             
(601)                (34,230)           

-                      1,177,333        
5,530              836,765           

544,321          4,310,127        
(32,953)           (308,953)         

897                 82,694             
518,471          6,199,683        
558,783          7,198,510        

282                 42,684             

(254,463)         10,527,549      
53,407            13,016,566      

(201,056)         23,544,115      

358,009$        30,785,309$    

35

Storm Water 
Utility (220)



Liquor (609) Water (652)
Sales and Cost of Sales

Sales  4,438,807$     -$                     -$                    -$                    
Cost of sales  3,259,400       -                       -                      -                      

Gross profit 1,179,407       -                       -                      -                      

Operating revenues
User charges -                      4,826,426        760,498          1,007,878       
Other -                      506,853           853                 11,369            

Total operating revenues -                      5,333,279        761,351          1,019,247       

Operating expenses
Employee salaries and benefits 290,975          485,973           214,937          336,676          
Supplies 43,386            19,549             69,565            100,665          
Repairs and maintenance -                      -                       -                      -                      
Professional services -                      19,697             14,168            577                 
Utilities 26,843            14,736             20,203            52,527            
Depreciation 61,685            173,877           325,614          475,454          
Insurance -                      -                       -                      -                      
Purchased power -                      3,790,764        -                      -                      
Miscellaneous 130,406          449,603           43,431            56,406            

Total operating expenses 553,295          4,954,199        687,918          1,022,305       

Operating income (loss) 626,112          379,080           73,433            (3,058)             

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Investment income 1,314              177,452           17,569            46,555            
Availability charges -                      -                       16,500            26,400            
Sale of capital assets -                      -                       250                 250                 
Miscellaneous 7,801              -                       21,079            24,168            
Interest expense (32,500)           (374)                 (24,378)           (34,149)           

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (23,385)           177,078           31,020            63,224            

Income before transfers 602,727          556,158           104,453          60,166            

Transfers in 2,949              51,578             10,666            20,161            
Transfers out (298,488)         (59,643)            (6,755)             (6,755)             

Change in net position 307,188          548,093           108,364          73,572            

Net position
Beginning of year 655,561          10,691,192      3,618,067       7,743,134       

End of year 962,749$        11,239,285$    3,726,431$     7,816,706$     

See notes to financial statements. 36           

Wastewater 
(653)

Electric Utility 
(651)

City of Mora
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes

in Fund Net Position - Proprietary Funds
 Year Ended December 31, 2020



Total

-$                    4,438,807$     
-                      3,259,400       
-                      1,179,407       

101,856          6,696,658       
54                   519,129          

101,910          7,215,787       

7,515              1,336,076       
9,405              242,570          
3,487              3,487              

10                   34,452            
267                 114,576          

13,450            1,050,080       
1,659              1,659              

-                      3,790,764       
33                   679,879          

35,826            7,253,543       

66,084            1,141,651       

12                   242,902          
-                      42,900            
-                      500                 
-                      53,048            

(16,205)           (107,606)         
(16,193)           231,744          

49,891            1,373,395       

1,194              86,548            
(1,229)             (372,870)         

49,856            1,087,073       

(250,912)         22,457,042     

(201,056)$       23,544,115$   

37                                                                                                            

Storm Water 
Utility (220)



Liquor (609) Water (652)
Cash Flows - Operating Activities

Receipts from customers and users 4,432,047$     5,242,250$    749,259$        1,093,546$    
Payments to suppliers (3,364,237)      (4,094,647)    (150,372)         (194,007)        
Payments to employees (312,518)         (501,753)       (227,562)         (346,918)        

Net cash flows - operating activities 755,292          645,850         371,325          552,621         

Cash Flows - Noncapital
  Financing Activities

Payments received for interfund loans -                      267,583         51,522            43,619           
Payments made for interfund loans (100,000)         -                    (9,021)             (8,667)            
Transfer from other funds 2,949              51,578           10,666            20,161           
Transfer to other funds (298,488)         (59,643)         (6,755)             (6,755)            

Net cash flows - noncapital financing activities (395,539)         259,518         46,412            48,358           

Cash Flows - Capital and Related
  Financing Activities

Availability charges -                      -                    16,500            26,400           
Principal paid on long-term debt -                      -                    (98,182)           (166,776)        
Interest and issuance costs paid on long-term debt (32,500)           (374)              (23,825)           (32,954)          
Proceeds from sale of asset -                      -                    250                 250                
Acquisition of capital assets (6,550)             (269,755)       (79,589)           (62,813)          

Net cash flows - capital and related 
  financing activities (39,050)           (270,129)       (184,846)         (235,893)        

Cash Flows - Investing Activities
Interest and dividends received 1,313              164,607         15,927            42,413           

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 322,016          799,846         248,818          407,499         

Cash and Cash Equivalents
January 1 94,378            6,377,523      890,340          2,521,825      

December 31 416,394$        7,177,369$    1,139,158$     2,929,324$    

Reconciliation of Operating Income to
  Net Cash Flows - Operating Activities

Operating income (loss) 626,112$        379,080$       73,433$          (3,058)$          
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to
  net cash flows - operating activities

Miscellaneous income (expense) 7,801              -                    21,079            24,168           
Depreciation expense 61,685            173,877         325,614          475,454         
Accounts receivable (13,788)           (91,029)         (12,275)           50,131           
Special assessments receivable -                      -                    (20,896)           -                     
Due from other governments (773)                -                    -                      -                     
Inventory 63,020            1,880             (8,288)             -                     
Accounts payable 19,105            180,696         5,151              16,168           
Due to other governments 13,673            7,086             82                   -                     
Salaries payable (5,757)             (8,826)           (4,876)             (5,051)            
Deposits payable -                      10,040           50                   -                     
Compensated absences payable (12,305)           2,903             1,736              1,970             
Net pension liability (6,412)             (7,925)           (8,020)             (7,053)            
Net OPEB obligation 2,931              (1,932)           (1,465)             (108)               

Total adjustments 129,180          266,770         297,892          555,679         

Net cash flows - operating activities 755,292$        645,850$       371,325$        552,621$       

See notes to financial statements. 38

Electric Utility 
(651)

Wastewater 
(653)

City of Mora
Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds

Year Ended December 31, 2020



Total

101,352$       11,618,454$   
(14,838)          (7,818,101)      
(9,497)            (1,398,248)      
77,017           2,402,105       

-                     362,724          
-                     (117,688)         

1,194             86,548            
(1,229)            (372,870)         

(35)                 (41,286)           

-                     42,900            
(32,475)          (297,433)         
(16,733)          (106,386)         

-                     500                 
-                     (418,707)         

(49,208)          (779,126)         

12                  224,272          

27,786           1,805,965       

29,681           9,913,747       

57,467$         11,719,712$   

66,084$         1,141,651$     

-                     53,048            
13,450           1,050,080       

(558)               (67,519)           
-                     (20,896)           
-                     (773)                
-                     56,612            

23                  221,143          
-                     20,841            

(91)                 (24,601)           
-                     10,090            

175                (5,521)             
(2,037)            (31,447)           

(29)                 (603)                
10,933           1,260,454       

77,017$         2,402,105$     

39

Storm Water 
Utility (220)



 

40 

 (THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INENTIONALLY)



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

41 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. Reporting Entity 
The City of Mora (the "City") is a statutory city governed by an elected mayor and four council 
members. The accompanying financial statements present the government entities for which the City is 
considered to be financially accountable. 
 
The financial statements present the City and its component units. The City includes all funds, account 
groups, organizations, institutions, agencies, departments, and offices that are not legally separate from 
such. Component units are legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of the City are 
financially accountable and are included within the basic financial statements of the City because of the 
significance of their operational or financial relationships with the City. 
 
The City is considered financially accountable for a component unit if it appoints a voting majority of 
the organization's governing body and it is able to impose its will on the organization by significantly 
influencing the programs, projects, activities, or level of services performed or provided by the 
organization, or there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to or 
impose specific financial burdens on, the City. 
 
As a result of applying the component unit definition criteria above, certain organizations have been 
defined and are presented in this report as follows: 
 

Blended Component Units – Reported as if they were part of the City.  
 
Discretely Presented Component Units – Entails reporting the component unit financial data in a 
column separate from the financial data of the City. 
 

For each of the categories above, the specific entities are identified as follows: 
 

1. Component Units 
The Mora Economic Development Authority (EDA) meets the criteria to be included as a blended 
component unit. The members of the governing board of the Mora EDA are appointed by the City 
Council. Management of the City have operational responsibility for the EDA and a financial 
benefit/burden relationship exists between the City and EDA. The activity of the EDA is shown in 
the EDA Special Revenue Fund. Separate financial statements are not prepared for the Mora EDA.  
 
The Public Utilities Commission provides public utilities services related to the water system, 
electrical power system, sewer system and sewage treatment plant. The Commission consists of 
three members appointed by City Council. The debt of the utilities is to be repaid entirely with 
resources of the utilities. Management of the City have operational responsibility for the Public 
Utilities Commission and a financial benefit/burden relationship exists between the City and the 
Public Utilities Commission. The Public Utilities Commission meets the criteria to be included as a 
blended component unit. The activity of the Public Utilities Commission is shown in the Electric 
Utility Enterprise Fund, Water Enterprise Fund and Wastewater Enterprise Fund. Separate financial 
statements are not prepared for the Public Utilities Commission. 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

42 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
A. Reporting Entity (Continued) 

 
1. Component Units (Continued) 
The Housing and Redevelopment Authority of Mora (HRA) was formed by the City and operates under 
a completely separate Board of Directors appointed by the City. The HRA manages 43 low rent public 
housing units, 78 section 8 housing choice vouchers, 30 assisted living units, and 24 rural rental units of 
which, for financial reporting purposes, includes all the activities relevant to its operations. The HRA 
meets the criteria to be included as a discretely presented component unit. The HRA has a March 31 

reporting date, therefore the information presented within the government-wide statements is from its 
March 31, 2020, separately issued financial statements. These separately issued financial statements can 
be obtained from the City. 

 
B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of 
Activities) report information on all activities of the City. Governmental activities, which normally are 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type 
activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. 
 
The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 
segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function or segment. Interest on general long-term debt is considered an indirect expense and is 
reported separately in the Statement of Activities. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or 
applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given 
function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or 
capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items are not included among 
program revenues; instead, they are properly reported as general revenues. Internally dedicated revenues 
are reported as general revenues rather than program revenues.  
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds. Major 
individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in 
the fund financial statements. 
 
C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements. Revenues are 
recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of 
related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants 
and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the 
provider have been met. 
 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

43 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation (Continued) 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both 
measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City 
considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current period, 
except grant revenue is considered available if it is collected within 1 year of the end of the current 
period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. 
However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims 
and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. 
 
Property taxes, franchise fees, licenses, and interest associated with the current period are all considered 
to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current period. Only the 
portion of special assessments receivable due within the current period is considered to be susceptible to 
accrual as revenue of the current period. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and 
available only when cash is received by the City. 
 
Description of Funds: 
 
Major Governmental Funds: 
 

General Fund – This fund is the City's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of 
the general City, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
Grove & Wood Street Improvements Capital Projects Fund – This fund accounts for the costs related 
to the Grove and Wood street improvement projects. 

 
Parker Capital Projects Fund – This fund accounts for costs related to Parker capital improvement 
projects.  

 
Major Proprietary Funds: 

 
Liquor Enterprise Fund – This fund accounts for the operations of the City liquor store. 
 
Electric Utility Enterprise Fund – This fund accounts for the operation of the City owned electric 
utility system. 
 
Water Enterprise Fund – This fund accounts for the operations of the City's water utility system. 
 
Wastewater Enterprise Fund – This fund accounts for the operations of the City's waste water 
treatment plant. 

 
Storm Water Utility Enterprise Fund – This fund accounts for the operations of the City's storm 
water system. 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

44 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation (Continued) 
 
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide 
financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are interfund services provided and used such as 
utility costs, which are not eliminated in the process of consolidation as elimination of these charges 
would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions concerned. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of 
the City's enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services. Operating expenses for 
enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on 
capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating 
revenues and expenses. 
 
D. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net  
    Position or Fund Balance  
 

1. Deposits and Investments  
Cash and investments include balances from all funds that are combined and invested to the extent 
available in various securities as authorized by state law. Earnings from the pooled investments are 
allocated to the individual funds based on the average of month-end cash and investment balances.  

 
The City's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits and short-
term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 

 
Minnesota Statutes authorize the City to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, agencies, and 
instrumentalities, shares of investment companies whose only investments are in the aforementioned 
securities, obligations of the State of Minnesota or its municipalities, bankers' acceptances, future 
contracts, repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements, and commercial paper of the highest 
quality with a maturity of no longer than 270 days and in the Minnesota Municipal Investment Pool.  

 
Certain investments for the City are reported at fair value as disclosed in Note 3. The City 
categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally 
accepted accounting principles. The Hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the 
fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 
inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.  
 
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 79, the Minnesota Municipal Investment Pool securities 
are valued at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. There are no restrictions or limitations 
on withdrawals from the 4M Liquid Asset Fund.  



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

45 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

D. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net  
    Position or Fund Balance  
 

2. Restricted Cash 
Cash is restricted in accordance with the 2020 HRA bond documents and the Housing Revenue 
Agreement between the City and the Mora HRA. 

 

3. Receivables and Payables  
All trade and property tax receivables are shown at a gross amount since both are assessable to the 
property taxes and are collectible upon the sale of the property. 
 

The City levies its property tax for the subsequent year during the month of December. December 28 
is the last day the City can certify a tax levy to the County Auditor for collection the following year. 
Such taxes become a lien on January 1 and are recorded as receivables by the City at that date. The 
property tax is recorded as revenue when it becomes measurable and available. Kanabec County is 
the collecting agency for the levy and remits the collections to the City three times a year. The tax 
levy notice is mailed in March with the first half of the payment due on May 15 and the second half 
due on October 15. Taxes not collected as of December 31 each year are shown as delinquent taxes 
receivable. 
 

The County Auditor prepares the tax list for all taxable property in the City, applying the applicable 
tax rate to the tax capacity of individual properties, to arrive at the actual tax for each property. The 
County Auditor also collects all special assessments, except for certain prepayments paid directly to 
the City. 

 

The County Auditor submits the list of taxes and special assessments to be collected on each parcel 
of property to the County Treasurer in January of each year. 
 

4. Inventory and Prepaid Items 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as 
prepaid items in the government-wide statements. Prepaid items are recorded as an expenditure at 
the time of consumption. 
 

Inventory is valued at cost using the first in, first out (FIFO) method. Inventories are recorded as 
expenses when consumed rather than when purchased.  

 

5. Capital Assets 
Capital assets, which include land, land improvements, buildings and improvements, equipment, 
improvements other than buildings, infrastructure, and construction in progress are reported in the 
applicable governmental or the business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial 
statements. Capital Assets are defined by the City as real or personal property that has an estimated 
useful life greater than one year and a value equal to or greater than the Cities capitalization 
threshold of $5,000 for machinery and equipment and $25,000 for other assets. Such assets are 
recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital 
assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of donation. Infrastructure assets acquired prior to 
the implementation of GASB Statement No. 34 have been reported at actual or estimated historical 
cost. 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

46 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

D. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net  
    Position or Fund Balance  
 

5. Capital Assets (Continued) 
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially 
extend assets lives are not capitalized.  

 
Property, plant, and equipment of the City are depreciated using the straight line method over the 
following estimated useful lives:  
 

Assets Years

Infrastructure 20-50
Buildings and improvements other than buildings 10-30
Machinery and equipment 5-20

 
6. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents a consumption 
of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of 
resources (expense/expenditure) until that time. The City presents deferred outflows of resources on 
the Statements of Net Position for deferred outflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB for 
various estimate differences that will be amortized and recognized over future years. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position, and fund financial statements will 
sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial 
statement element represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so 
will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The City presents deferred 
inflows of resources on the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet as unavailable revenue. The 
governmental funds report unavailable revenues from two sources:  taxes and special assessments. 
These amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts 
become available. The government-wide Statement of Net Position reports a deferred inflow of 
resources for those inflows that have not met specified timing requirements. The City presents 
deferred inflows of resources on the Statements of Net Position for deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions for various estimate differences that will be amortized and recognized over future 
years.  

 
7. Compensated Absences 
City employees earn vacation time based on years of City service with a maximum accumulation of 
1½ times the applicable vacation leave. The City compensates employees, upon termination or 
retirement, for all unused vacation. 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

47 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
D. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net    
    Position or Fund Balance (Continued) 

 
7. Compensated Absences (Continued) 
 
Sick leave accrues at one day per month up to a maximum of 100 days paid at full pay. Upon 
retirement, full-time employees will be paid severance pay as follows: 
 

 After 10 years of service, 10% of unused sick leave  
 After 15 years of service, 15% of unused sick leave  
 After 20 years of service, 25% of unused sick leave  
 After 25 years of service, 50% of unused sick leave 

 
Vested or accumulated sick leave for governmental funds that is not expected to be liquidated with 
expendable available financial resources is recorded in the governmental activities in the Statement 
of Net Position. Vested or accumulated vacation and sick leave in the proprietary fund is recorded in 
that fund.  
 
8. Other Post-Employment Benefits 
The City will provide insurance coverage in the City's group medical hospitalization insurance plan 
for those municipal employees who terminate employment with the City receiving a retirement or 
disability benefit, or are eligible to receive a benefit from PERA. 
 
9. Pensions  
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows/inflows of resources, and 
pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Public Employees Retirement 
Association (PERA) and the relief association and additions to/deductions from PERA's and the 
relief association's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are 
reported by PERA and the relief association except that PERA's fiscal year end is June 30. For this 
purpose, plan contributions are recognized as of employer payroll paid dates and benefit payments 
and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments 
are reported at fair value. 
 
10. Long-Term Obligations 
In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial 
statements, long-term debt, and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the 
applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type Statement of 
Net Position. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds 
using the straight line method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or 
discount.  



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

48 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
D. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net  
    Position or Fund Balance (Continued) 

 
10. Long-Term Obligations (Continued) 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, 
as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported 
as other financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing 
sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, 
whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service 
expenditures. 
 
11. Fund Balance 

 
a. Classification 
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report fund classifications that comprise a 
hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to honor constraints on the 
specific purpose for which amounts in those funds can be spent.  
 
 Nonspendable Fund Balance – These are amounts that cannot be spent because they are not 

in spendable form, such as inventories and prepaid items.  
 

 Restricted Fund Balance – These are amounts that are restricted to specific purposes either by 
a) constraints placed on the use of resources by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or 
regulations of other governments or b) imposed by law through enabling legislation. 

 
 Committed Fund Balance – These are amounts that can only be used for specific purposes 

pursuant to constraints imposed by resolution of the City Council (highest level of decision 
making authority) and that remain committed unless modified or removed by the City 
Council by subsequent resolution.  

 
 Assigned Fund Balance – These are amounts that are constrained by the City's intent to be 

used for specific purposes but are neither restricted nor committed and include remaining 
amounts (except for negative balances) that are reported in governmental funds, other than 
the General Fund, that are not classified as nonspendable, restricted or committed. 
Assignments are made by the City Administrator.  

 
 Unassigned Fund Balance – These are residual amounts in the General Fund not reported in 

any other classification. The General Fund is the only fund that can report a positive 
unassigned fund balance. Other funds would report a negative unassigned fund balance 
should the total of nonspendable, restricted, and committed fund balances exceed the total net 
resources of that fund. 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

49 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
D. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net  
    Position or Fund Balance (Continued) 

 
11. Fund Balance (Continued) 

 
a. Classification (Continued) 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, the City will use restricted 
resources, and then use unrestricted resources as they are needed. When committed, assigned, 
and unassigned resources are available for use, the City will use resources in the following order:  
committed, assigned, and unassigned. 
 
b. Minimum Fund Balance 
The City's adopted fund balance policy states the City is to maintain a General Fund unassigned 
fund balance of 40% - 50% of the annual operating expenditures, excluding transfers and capital 
outlay, in the General Fund. 
 

12. Net Position 
Net position represents the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources; and 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources in the government-wide financial statements. Net 
investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by 
the outstanding balance of any long-term debt used to build or acquire the capital assets. Net position 
is reported as restricted in the government-wide financial statements when there are limitations on 
their use through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments. 

 
E. Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

F. Budgetary Information 
1. In August of each year, City staff submits to the City Council, a proposed operating budget for 

the year commencing the following January 1. The operating budget includes proposed 
expenditures and the means of financing them for the upcoming year. 

2. Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments. 
3. The budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution after obtaining taxpayer comments. 
4. Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States of America. 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

50 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
F. Budgetary Information (Continued) 

5. Annual appropriated budgets are adopted during the year for the City's General Fund as well as 
the EDA Special Revenue Fund, Fire Special Revenue Fund, Cemetery Special Revenue Fund, 
EDA Revolving Loan Special Revenue Fund, MIC Loan Special Revenue Fund, Perpetual Care 
Permanent Fund, Future Fire Equipment Capital Project Fund, Future Improvements Capital 
Project Fund, 2008-2011 Street Reconstruction Debt Service Fund, 2015B Wood and Grove 
Debt Service Fund, Series 2015C Refunding Debt Service Fund, Series 2017A Refunding Debt 
Service Fund, Liquor Fund, Electric Utility Fund, Water Fund, Wastewater Fund, and Storm 
Water Utility Fund.  

6. Budgeted amounts are as originally adopted or as amended by the City Council. Individual 
amendments were not material in relation to the original amounts budgeted. Budgeted 
expenditure appropriations lapse at year-end. 

 
Encumbrances outstanding at year-end expire and outstanding purchase orders are canceled and not 
reported in the financial statements. 
 
NOTE 2 – STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
A. Deficit Fund Balances 
 
The following funds had deficit fund balances at December 31, 2020: 
 
Grove and Wood Street Improvements Capital Project Fund 350,730$         
Parker Capital Project Fund 269,398           
Cemetary Special Revenue Fund 105                  
TIF No. 1-11 KSB Special Revenue Fund 189,420           
TIF No. 1-15 Mysa Special Revenue Fund 25                    
Howe Avenue Reconstruction Capital Project Fund 26,039             
Downtown Feed Mill Redevelopment Capital Project Fund 30,351             
Airport Kastenbauer House Capital Project Fund 97,389             
Crosswind/Yank Property Capital Project Fund 19,912             
2012 7th and Grove Street Improvements Capital Project Fund 313,936           

NOTE 3 – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
Cash balances of the City's funds are combined (pooled) and invested to the extent available in various 
investments authorized by Minnesota Statutes. Each fund's portion of this pool (or pools) is displayed in 
the financial statements as "cash and cash equivalents" or "investments". For purposes of identifying 
risk of investing public funds, the balances and related restrictions are summarized as follows. 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

51 

NOTE 3 – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
A. Deposits 
Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits:  This is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the City's deposits 
may not be returned to it. The City has a policy that requires the District's deposits be collateralized as 
required by Minnesota Statutes for an amount exceeding FDIC coverage. As of December 31, 2020, the 
City's bank balance of $10,445,973 was not exposed to custodial credit risk because it was insured and 
fully collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution's trust department or agent 
and in the City's name. The book balance as of December 31, 2020, was $10,358,970 for deposits. 
 
B. Investments 

 

Fair Less than Greater than
Investment Type Value One Year 1-2 Years 2-5 Years 5 Years

Brokered Certificates of Deposit 5,573,745$  2,391,909$  1,097,723$  1,340,893$  743,220$   
Government Securities 943              -                  -                  943              -                
Brokered Money Markets 417,525       417,525       -                  -                  -                

Total 5,992,213$  2,809,434$  1,097,723$  1,341,836$  743,220$   

Investment Maturities

Concentration of Credit Risk:  The City's investment policy states the District will diversify its 
investment according to type and maturity. The City will attempt to match its investments with 
anticipated cash flow requirements. No more than 50% of the total investments should extend beyond 
five years and in no circumstance should any extend beyond ten years without the direct approval of the 
City Council.  
 
Credit Risk:  The City's investment policy limits investments to those specified in the above statutes. As 
of December 31, 2020, the government securities, brokered certificates of deposits and money market 
accounts are not rated. 
 
Interest Rate Risk: This is the risk that market values of securities in a portfolio would decrease due to 
changes in market value interest rates. The City's policy indicates they structure their investment 
portfolio so that securities mature to meet cash requirements for ongoing operations, thereby reducing 
the need to sell securities on the open market before maturity. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Investments: For an investment, this is the risk in the event of the failure of the 
counterparty the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that 
are in the possession of an outside party. The City's policy states all investments must be fully insured 
through SIPC insurance.  
 
The City has the following recurring fair value measurements as of December 31, 2020: 
 

 Investments of $5,574,688 are valued using a matrix pricing model (Level 2 inputs) 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

52 

NOTE 3 – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
B. Investments (Continued) 
 
Summary of cash deposits and investments as of December 31, 2020, were as follows: 
 
Petty Cash 2,837$           
Deposits 10,358,970    
Investments 5,992,213      

Total 16,354,020$  

Deposits and investments are presented in the December 31, 2020, basic financial statements as follows: 
 
Statement of Net Position

Cash and investments 16,104,020$  
Restricted cash 250,000         

Total 16,354,020$  

NOTE 4 – CAPITAL ASSETS  
 
Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2020, was as follows: 
 

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Governmental activities
Capital assets not
  being depreciated

Land 1,455,973$      -$                     -$                     1,455,973$      

Capital assets being depreciated
Land improvements 7,364,246        114,478           -                       7,478,724        
Buildings and improverments 3,396,815        -                       -                       3,396,815        
Improvements other than buildings 12,398,447      61,849             -                       12,460,296      
Machinery and equipment 3,580,074        275,602           (125,258)          3,730,418        

Total capital assets
  being depreciated 26,739,582      451,929           (125,258)          27,066,253      

Less accumulated depreciation for
Land Improvements (3,512,135)       (170,236)          -                       (3,682,371)       
Buildings and improverments (1,436,614)       (64,364)            125,258           (1,375,720)       
Improvements other than buildings (5,263,255)       (338,660)          -                       (5,601,915)       
Machinery and equipment (3,079,076)       (193,462)          -                       (3,272,538)       

Total accumulated
  depreciation (13,291,080)     (766,722)          125,258           (13,932,544)     

Total capital assets
  being depreciated, net 13,448,502      (314,793)          -                       13,133,709      

Governmental activities
  capital assets, net 14,904,475$    (314,793)$        -$                     14,589,682$    



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

53 

NOTE 4 – CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Business-type activities
Capital assets not
  being depreciated

Land 356,036$         -$                     -$                     356,036$         
Construction in progress 20,000             5,222               -                       25,222             

Total capital assets
  not being depreciated 376,036           5,222               -                       381,258           

Capital assets being depreciated
Buildings 11,198,824      -                       -                       11,198,824      
Other Improvements 14,725,485      239,244           -                       14,964,729      
Machinery and equipment 2,907,614        179,463           -                       3,087,077        
Infrastructure 631,959           -                       -                       631,959           

Total capital assets
  being depreciated 29,463,882      418,707           -                       29,882,589      

Less accumulated depreciation for
Buildings (3,366,893)       (397,299)          -                       (3,764,192)       
Other Improvements (8,184,559)       (529,108)          -                       (8,713,667)       
Machinery and equipment (2,495,988)       (110,223)          -                       (2,606,211)       
Infrastructure (328,651)          (13,450)            -                       (342,101)          

Total accumulated
  depreciation (14,376,091)     (1,050,080)       -                       (15,426,171)     

Total capital assets being

  depreciated, net 15,087,791      (631,373)          -                       14,456,418      

Business-type activities
  capital assets, net 15,463,827$    (626,151)$        -$                     14,837,676$    

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the City as follows: 
 
Governmental activities

General government 26,965$           
Public safety 159,821           
Public works 501,465           
Culture and recreation 72,562             
Cemetery 5,909               

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities 766,722$         



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

54 

NOTE 4 – CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 
Business-type activities

Water 325,614$         
Wastewater 475,454           
Electric Utility 173,877           
Liquor 61,685             
Storm Water Utility 13,450             

Total depreciation expense - business-type activities 1,050,080$      

NOTE 5 – INTERFUND ACTIVITY 
 
A. Transfers 
 
Transfers during the year ended December 31, 2020, were as follows: 
 

Nonmajor
General Governmental Liquor Electric Water Wastewater Storm Water

Fund Funds Fund Utility Fund Fund Utility Fund Utility Fund Total
Transfers out

General Fund -$              163,106$   2,949$       43,300$     10,666$     20,161$     1,194$       241,376$   
Nonmajor governmental funds 123,532     118,870     -                8,278         -                -                -                250,680     
Liquor Fund 298,488     -                -                -                -                -                -                298,488     
Electric Utility Fund 39,643       20,000       -                -                -                -                -                59,643       
Water Fund 6,755         -                -                -                -                -                -                6,755         
Wastewater Fund 6,755         -                -                -                -                -                -                6,755         
Storm Water Utility Fund 1,229         -                -                -                -                -                -                1,229         

Total 476,402$   301,976$   2,949$       51,578$     10,666$     20,161$     1,194$       864,926$   

Transfers In

Transfers from the General Fund, nonmajor governmental funds, Electric Utility Fund, Water Fund, 
Wastewater Fund, and Storm Water Utility Fund were completed to fund various programs in 
accordance with budgetary authorization. Transfers from the Liquor Fund were completed to reduce 
property tax rates. 
 
B. Due To/From Other Funds 
At December 31, 2020, $269,398, and $491,180, was due from the Grove and Wood Street 
Improvements Capital Project Fund and the nonmajor governmental funds, respectively, to the Electric 
Utility Fund ($373,879), Water Fund ($189,398), and Wastewater Fund ($197,301) to cover temporary 
cash deficits. 
  



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

55 

NOTE 5 – INTERFUND ACTIVITY (CONTINUED) 
 
C. Advance To/From Other Funds and Component Units 
 

Advance to Advance from
Fund Other Funds Other Funds

General 64,426$         -$                   
Grove and Wood Street improvements -                     493,895         
Nonmajor governmental funds -                     263,530         
Electric Utility 1,870,332      -                     
Liquor -                     900,000         
Water -                     141,443         
Wastewater -                     135,890         

Total 1,934,758$    1,934,758$    

The amounts advanced to the Liquor, Water, Wastewater, and nonmajor governmental funds represent 
interfund loans to temporarily fund projects.  
 
On September 17, 2019, the City advanced $157,600 to the HRA for cash flow needs. Monthly 
payments to repay this advance are scheduled through October 2024. The outstanding balance on 
December 31, 2020 was $125,569. The corresponding payable of $147,910 is presented as long term 
obligations in the HRA audit report. Since the HRA discretely presented component unit's reporting year 
end is March 31, 2020, the related payable does not equal the amount reported on the City’s financial 
statements. 
 
NOTE 6 – LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
A. General Obligation Bonds 
The City issues General Obligation (G.O.) bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of 
major capital facilities. General obligation bonds have been issued for both governmental and business-
type activities.  
 
The City has issued bonds where the City pledges income derived from the acquired or constructed 
assets to pay debt service. Revenue bonds have been issued for business-type activities to both expand 
existing facilities and construct additional facilities.  



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

56 

NOTE 6 – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 

B. Components of Long-Term Liabilities 
 

Issued Interest Original Final Principal 
Date Rate Issue Maturity Outstanding

Long- Term Liabilities
Governmental activities

2011A G.O. Street Reconstruction Bonds 05/25/11 1.7%-3.2% 695,000$     02/01/22 155,000$      
2015B G.O. Bonds 08/13/15 1.3%-4.0% 1,385,000    02/01/36 905,000        
2015C G.O. Refunding Bonds 08/13/15 2.5%-3.0% 1,223,909    02/01/28 776,991        
2017A G.O. Bonds 08/24/17 3.0%-3.1% 1,325,000    02/01/38 1,028,244     
Premium on bonds payable 45,599          

Compensated absences 44,452          
Total governmental activities 2,955,286     

Business-Type Activities
2010 G.O. PFA Water Revenue Note
  from direct borrowing 08/01/10 1.90% 1,565,220    08/20/30 851,000        
2015B G.O. Bonds 08/13/15 1.3%-4.0% 1,385,000    02/01/36 265,000        
2015C G.O. Refunding Bonds 08/13/15 2.5%-3.0% 606,091       02/01/28 393,009        
2015 G.O. PFA Sewer Revenue Note
  from direct borrowing 05/21/15 1.90% 3,257,315    08/20/35 2,583,000     
2017A G.O. Bonds 08/24/17 3.0%-3.1% 1,325,000    02/01/38 206,756        
Premium on bonds payable 11,362          

Compensated absences 72,707
Total business-type activities 4,382,834     

Total all long-term liabilities 7,338,120$   

The General Fund typically liquidates the liability related to compensated absences. 
 

C. Minimum Debt Payments 
 

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for long-term debt are as follows: 
 

Year Ending
December 31, Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total

2021 264,046$      81,998$        346,044$      70,953$        24,230$        95,183$        238,000$      41,676$        279,676$      
2022 272,054        74,622          346,676        72,946          22,438          95,384          242,000        38,623          280,623        
2023 196,550        68,240          264,790        73,450          20,578          94,028          245,000        35,514          280,514        
2024 204,530        62,971          267,501        80,470          18,621          99,091          248,000        32,365          280,365        
2025 204,032        57,370          261,402        80,968          16,535          97,503          251,000        29,170          280,170        

2026-2030 801,650        205,153        1,006,803     273,351        52,069          325,420        1,306,000     96,366          1,402,366     
2031-2035 622,322        103,907        726,229        162,678        23,898          186,576        904,000        27,300          931,300        
2036-2038 300,051        12,412          312,463        49,949          1,732            51,681          -               -               -                   

Total 2,865,235$   666,673$      3,531,908$   864,765$      180,101$      1,044,866$   3,434,000$   301,014$      3,735,014$   

Notes from Direct BorrowingG.O. Bonds
Governmental Activities

G.O. Bonds 
Business-Type Activities



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

57 

NOTE 6 – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
D. Changes in Long-Term Liabilities 
 
Long-term liability activity for the year ended December 31, 2020, was as follows: 
 

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Governmental activities
G.O. bonds payable 3,124,760$         -$                  259,525$       2,865,235$     264,046$     
Premium on bonds payable 49,115                -                    3,516             45,599            -                  

Total G.O bonds payable 3,173,875           -                    263,041         2,910,834       264,046       

Compensated absences 36,110                50,426           42,084           44,452            20,928         
Total governmental 
  activities 3,209,985           50,426           305,125         2,955,286       284,974       

Business-type activities
G.O. bonds payable 935,240              -                    70,475           864,765          70,953         
Note from direct borrowing

G.O. PFA revenue notes payable 3,660,958           9,458             236,416         3,434,000       238,000       
Premium on bonds payable 12,244                -                    882                11,362            -                  

Total bonds payable 4,608,442           -                    307,773         4,310,127       308,953       

Compensated absences 78,228                59,599           65,120           72,707            34,230         
Total business-type 
  activities 4,686,670           59,599           372,893         4,382,834       343,183       

Total long-term liabilities 7,896,655$         110,025$       678,018$       7,338,120$     628,157$     

 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

58 

NOTE 7 – FUND BALANCES/NET POSITION 
 
A. Fund Balance Classifications 
Fund balances are classified as shown below to reflect the limitations and restrictions of the respective 
funds.  

Grove and Nonmajor
General Wood Street Parker Capital Governmental

Fund Improvements Project Funds Total
Nonspendable

Perpetual care -$                  -$                  -$                  123,519$       123,519$       
Prepaid items 29,279           -                    -                    -                    29,279           

Total nonspendable 29,279           -                    -                    123,519         152,798         
Restricted

Economic development -                    -                    -                    59,788           59,788           
Economic development revolving loan -                    -                    -                    90,258           90,258           
Debt service -                    -                    -                    660,273         660,273         
MIC loan -                    -                    -                    4,685             4,685             
Tax increment -                    -                    -                    9,733             9,733             
Small cities development program -                    -                    -                    35,771           35,771           
COVID-19 emergency management -                    -                    -                    71,256           71,256           
Perpetual care -                    -                    -                    1,976             1,976             

Total restricted -                    -                    -                    933,740         933,740         
Committed

Fire -                    -                    -                    14,296           14,296           
Assigned

Future fire equipment -                    -                    -                    749,974         749,974         
Future improvements -                    -                    -                    487,965         487,965         
9th and Wood Street Improvements -                    -                    -                    10,243           10,243           

Total assigned -                    -                    -                    1,248,182      1,248,182      

Unassigned 1,866,866      (350,730)       (269,398)       (667,177)       569,561         

Total fund balance 1,896,145$    (350,730)$     (269,398)$     1,652,560$    2,918,577$    

B. Net Position 
Restricted net position is comprised of the total restricted fund balance in the governmental funds plus 
the effects of the conversion to the government-wide net position.  
 
NOTE 8 – RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The City purchases commercial insurance coverage with other cities in the state through the League of 
Minnesota Cities Insurance Trust (LMCIT), which is a public entity risk pool currently operating as a 
common risk management and insurance program. The City pays an annual premium to LMCIT for its 
insurance coverage. LMCIT is self-sustaining through commercial companies for excess claims. The 
City is covered through the pool for any claims incurred but unreported, however, retains risk for the 
deductible portion of its insurance policies. The amount of these deductibles is considered immaterial to 
the financial statements.  
 
There were no significant reductions in insurance from the previous year or settlements in excess of 
insurance coverage for any of the past three years. 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

59 

NOTE 8 – RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
The City's workers' compensation insurance policy is retrospectively rated. With this type of policy, 
final premiums are determined after loss experience is known. The amount of premium adjustment for 
2020 is estimated to be immaterial based on workers' compensation rates and salaries for the year. 
 
At December 31, 2020, there were no other claims liabilities reported based on the requirements of 
GASB Statement No. 10, which requires a liability for claims be reported if information prior to the 
issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable that a liability has been incurred at the 
date of the financial statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. 
 
NOTE 9 – PENSION PLANS  
 
The City participates in various pension plans. Total pension expense for the year ended December 31, 
2020, was $64,794. The components of pension expense are noted in the following plan summaries. 
 
The General Fund, Liquor Fund, Electric Utility Fund, Water Fund, Wastewater Fund, and Storm Water 
Utility Fund typically liquidate the liability related to the pensions.  
 
Public Employees' Retirement Association 
 
A. Plan Description 
The City participates in the following cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plans 
administered by PERA. PERA's defined benefit pension plans are established and administered in 
accordance with Minnesota Statutes, Chapters 353 and 356. PERA's defined benefit pension plans are 
tax qualified plans under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. 
 
General Employees Retirement Plan  
 
All full-time and certain part-time employees of the City are covered by the General Employees Plan. 
General Employees Plan members belong to the Coordinated Plan. Coordinated Plan members are 
covered by Social Security. 
 
B. Benefits Provided 
PERA provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Benefit provisions are established by state 
statute and can only be modified by the state Legislature. Vested, terminated employees who are entitled 
to benefits but are not receiving them yet, are bound by the provisions in effect at the time they last 
terminated their public service. 
 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

60 

NOTE 9 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Public Employees' Retirement Association (Continued) 
 
B. Benefits Provided 
 
General Employees Plan Benefits 
 
General Employees Plan benefits are based on a member's highest average salary for any 5 successive 
years of allowable service, age, and years of credit at termination of service. Two methods are used to 
compute benefits for PERA's Coordinated Plan members. Members hired prior to July 1, 1989, receive 
the higher of Method 1 or Method 2 formulas. Only Method 2 is used for members hired after June 30, 
1989. Under Method 1, the accrual rate for a Coordinated members is 1.2% for each of the first 10 years 
of service and 1.7% for each additional year. Under Method 2, the accrual rate for Coordinated members 
is 1.7% for all years of service. For members hired prior to July 1, 1989, a full annuity is available when 
age plus years of service equal 90 and normal retirement age is 65. For members hired on or after July 1, 
1989, normal retirement age is the age for unreduced Social Security benefits capped at 66. 
 
Benefit increases are provided to benefit recipients each January. Beginning in 2019, the postretirement 
increase is equal to 50% of the cost-of-living adjustment (COLA) announced by the SSA, with a 
minimum increase of at least 1% and a maximum of 1.5%. Recipients that have been receiving the 
annuity or benefit for at least a full year as of the June 30 before the effective date of the increase will 
receive the full increase. For recipients receiving the annuity or benefit for at least one month but less 
than a full year as of the June 30 before the effective date of the increase will receive a reduced prorated 
increase. For members retiring on January 1, 2024, or later, the increase will be delayed until normal 
retirement age (age 65 if hired prior to July 1, 1989, or age 66 for individuals hired on or after July 1, 
1989). Members retiring under Rule of 90 are exempt from the delay to normal retirement. 
 
C. Contributions 
Minnesota Statutes Chapter 353 sets the rates for employer and employee contributions. Contribution 
rates can only be modified by the state Legislature.  
 
General Employees Fund Contributions 
 
Coordinated Plan members were required to contribute 6.5% of their annual covered salary in fiscal year 
2020 and the City was required to contribute 7.5% for Coordinated Plan members. The City's 
contributions to the General Employees Fund for the year ended December 31, 2020, were $118,483. 
The City's contributions were equal to the required contributions as set by state statute. 
 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

61 

NOTE 9 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Public Employees' Retirement Association (Continued) 
 
D. Pension Costs 
 
General Employees Fund Pension Costs 
 
At December 31, 2020, the City reported a liability of $1,313,005 for its proportionate share of the 
General Employees Fund's net pension liability. The City's net pension liability reflected a reduction due 
to the State of Minnesota's contribution of $16 million. The State of Minnesota is considered a non-
employer contributing entity and the State's contribution meets the definition of a special funding 
situation. The State of Minnesota's proportionate share of the net pension liability associated with the 
City totaled $40,533. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2020, and the total pension 
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that 
date. The City's proportionate share of the net pension liability was based on the City's contributions 
received by PERA during the measurement period for employer payroll paid dates from July 1, 2019, 
through June 30, 2020, relative to the total employer contributions received from all of PERA's 
participating employers. The City's proportionate share was 0.0219%, at the end of the measurement 
period and 0.0208% for the beginning of the period. 
 
City's proportionate share of the net pension liability 1,313,005$  

State of Minnesota's proportionate share of the net pension
  liability associated with the City 40,533         

Total 1,353,538$  

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the City recognized pension expense of $90,154 for its 
proportionate share of General Employees Plan's pension expense. Included in the amount, the City 
recognized $3,528 as pension expense (and grant revenue) for its proportionate share of the State of 
Minnesota's contribution of $16 million to the General Employees Fund. 
 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

62 

NOTE 9 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Public Employees' Retirement Association (Continued) 
 
D. Pension Costs (Continued) 
 
General Employees Fund Pension Costs (Continued) 
 
At December 31, 2020, the City reported its proportionate share of General Employees Plan's deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Differences between expected and actual economic experience 11,328$       4,968$         
Changes in actuarial assumptions -                   46,050         
Net collective difference between projected and actual 
  investment earnings 34,757         -                   
Changes in proportion 98,314         15,960         
Contributions paid to PERA subsequent
  to the measurement date 59,242         -                   

Total 203,641$     66,978$       

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

 
The $59,242 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from City 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension 
liability in the year ended December 31, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows 
of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Pension  
Year Ending Expense

December 31, Amount

2021 (38,117)$      
2022 43,746         
2023 40,069         
2024 31,723         

Total 77,421$       

 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

63 

NOTE 9 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Public Employees' Retirement Association (Continued) 
 
E. Actuarial Assumptions 
 
The total pension liability in the June 30, 2020, actuarial valuation was determined using an individual 
entry-age normal actuarial cost method and the following actuarial assumptions: 

Inflation 2.50 % Per year
Active member payroll growth 3.25 % Per year
Investment rate of return 7.50 %

 
Salary increases were based on a service-related table. Mortality rates for active members, retirees, 
survivors, and disabilitants for all plans were based on RP 2014 tables for males or females, as 
appropriate, with slight adjustments to fit PERA's experience. Cost of living benefit increases after 
retirement for retirees are assumed to be 1.25% per year for the General Employees Plan. 
 
Actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2020, valuation were based on the results of actuarial 
experience studies. The most recent four-year experience study in the General Employees Plan was 
completed in 2019. The assumption changes were adopted by the Board and became effective with the 
July 1, 2020, actuarial valuation. 
 
The following changes in actuarial assumptions occurred in 2020: 
 
General Employees Fund 
 
Changes in Actuarial Assumptions: 

 The price inflation assumption was decreased from 2.5% to 2.25%. 
 The payroll growth assumption was decreased from 3.25% to 3.0%. 
 Assumed salary increase rates were changed as recommended in the June 30, 2019, experience 

study. The net effect is assumed rates that average 0.25% less than previous rates. 
 Assumed rates of retirement were changed as recommended in the June 30, 2019, experience 

study. The changes result in more unreduced (normal) retirements and slightly fewer Rule of 90 
and early retirements.  

 Assumed rates of termination were changes as recommended in the June 30, 2019, experience 
study. The new rates are based on service and are generally lower than the previous rates for 
years 2-5 and slightly higher thereafter. 

 Assumed rates of disability were changed as recommended in the June 30, 2019, experience 
study. The change results in fewer predicted disability retirements for males and females. 

 The base mortality table for healthy annuitants and employees was changed from the RP-2014 
table to the Pub-2010 General Mortality table, with adjustments. The base mortality table for 
disabled annuitants was changed from the RP-2014 disabled annuitant mortality table to the  
Pub-2010 General/Teacher disabled annuitant mortality table, with adjustments. 

 The mortality improvement scale was changed from Scale MP-2018 to Scale MP-2019. 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

64 

NOTE 9 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Public Employees' Retirement Association (Continued) 
 
E. Actuarial Assumptions (Continued) 
 
General Employees Fund (Continued) 
 
Changes in Actuarial Assumptions (Continued): 

 The assumed spouse age difference was changed from two years older for females to one year 
older. 

 The assumed number of married male new retirees electing the 100% Joint and Survivor option 
changed from 35% to 45%. The assumed number of married female new retirees electing the 
100% Joint and Survivor option changed from 15% to 30%. The corresponding number of 
married new retirees electing the Life annuity option was adjusted accordingly.  

 
Changes in Plan Provisions: 

 Augmentation for current privatized members was reduced to 2.0% for the period July 1, 2020 
through December 31, 2023, and 0.0% thereafter. Augmentation was eliminated for 
privatizations occurring after June 30, 2020. 

 
The State Board of Investment, which manages the investments of PERA, prepares an analysis of the 
reasonableness on a regular basis of the long-term expected rate of return using a building-block method 
in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return are developed for each major asset class. 
These ranges are combined to produce an expected long-term rate of return by weighting the expected 
future rates of return by the target asset allocation percentages. The target allocation and best estimates 
of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table: 
 

Domestic stocks 35.5 % 5.10 %
International stocks 17.5 5.30
Bonds (fixed income) 20.0 0.75
Alternative assets (private markets) 25.0 5.90
Cash 2.0 0.00

Total 100 %

Asset Class

Long-Term 
Expected Real 
Rate of ReturnTarget Allocation

 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

65 

NOTE 9 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Public Employees' Retirement Association (Continued) 
 
F. Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability in 2020 was 7.5%. The projection of 
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from Plan members and 
employers will be made at rates set in Minnesota Statutes. Based on these assumptions, the fiduciary 
net positions of the General Employees Fund was projected to be available to make all projected 
future benefit payments of current Plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on 
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the 
total pension liability. 

 
G. Pension Liability Sensitivity 
The following presents the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability for all plans it 
participates in, calculated using the discount rate disclosed in the preceding paragraph, as well as what 
the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount 
rate 1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher than the current discount rate: 
 

City's proportionate share of
  the General Employees Fund
  net pension liability 2,104,292$    1,313,005$    660,257$       

(6.5%) (7.5%) (8.5%)

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
Detailed information about each pension plan's fiduciary net position is available in a separately-issued 
PERA financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information. That 
report may be obtained on the Internet at www.mnpera.org. 
 
Defined Benefit Pension Plan – Volunteer Firefighter's Relief Association 
 
A. Plan Description 
The City of Mora's Fire Department Relief Association is the administrator of a single employer defined 
benefit pension plan established to provide benefits for members of the City of Mora Fire Department. 
 
The Association issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and 
required supplementary information. That report may be obtained by writing to Mora Fire Relief 
Association, 101 Lake Street South, Mora, MN 55051. 
 
B. Benefits Provided 
Volunteer firefighters of the City are members of the Mora Fire Department Relief Association. Full 
retirement benefits are payable to members who have reached age 50 and have completed 20 years of 
service in the amount of $2,00 per year of service in a lump sum. Partial benefits are payable to 
members who have reached 50 and have completed ten years of service. Disability benefits and widow 
and children's survivor benefits are also payable to members or their beneficiaries based upon 
requirements set forth in the bylaws. These benefit provisions and all other requirements are consistent 
with enabling state statutes.  



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

66 

NOTE 9 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan – Volunteer Firefighter's Relief Association (Continued) 
 

C. Members Covered by Benefit Terms 
 

As of the December 31, 2018, actuarial valuation date, the following members were covered by the 
benefit terms: 

Inactive members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits  2
Active members 29

Total 31

D. Contributions 
Minnesota Statutes Chapter 424A.092 specifies minimum support rates required on an annual basis. The 
minimum support rates from the municipality and from State aid are determined as the amount required 
to meet the normal cost plus amortizing any existing prior service costs over a ten year period. The City's 
obligation is the financial requirement for the year less state aids. Any additional payments by the City 
shall be used to amortize the unfunded liability of the relief association. The Association is comprised of 
volunteers; therefore, there are no payroll expenditures (i.e., there are no covered payroll percentage 
calculations). During the year ended December 31, 2020, the City recognized as revenue and as an 
expenditure an on behalf payment of $62,346 made by the State of Minnesota for the Relief Association. 
 

E. Net Pension Liability 
The City's net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2019, and the total pension liability 
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 
2018. 
 

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2018, actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

Discount rate 5.25 %
Investment rate of return 5.25 %  Net of pension plan investment expense:

including inflation.
Inflation 2.50 %
Mortality Healthy Pre Retirement - RP-2014 employee generational mortality 

table projected with mortality improvement scale MP-2018, from base 
year 2006
Healthy Post Retirement - RP-2014  annuitant generational mortality 
table projected with mortality improvement scale MP-2018 from base 
year 2006. Male rates are adjusted by a factor of 0.96.  

 
The value of death benefits is similar to the value of the retirement pension. Because of low retirement 
ages, the plan assumes no pre-retirement mortality. Post-retirement mortality does not apply as the 
benefit structure and form of payment do not reflect lifetime benefits. 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

67 

NOTE 9 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Defined Benefit Pension Plan – Volunteer Firefighter's Relief Association (Continued) 
 
E. Net Pension Liability (Continued) 
The long-term return on assets has been set based on the plan's target investment allocation along with 
long-term return expectations by asset class. When there is sufficient historical evidence of market 
outperformance, historical average returns may be considered. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of 
return for each major asset class included in the pension plan's target asset allocation as of the 
measurement date are summarized below. 
 

Asset Class

Domestic equity 40.33 % 4.76 % 7.26
International equity 9.45 5.41 7.91
Fixed income 2.63 2.01 4.51
Real estate and alternatives 0.55 4.53 7.03
Cash and equivalents 47.04 0.74 3.24

Total 100 % 5.73
Investment expense (0.5)

Net assumed investment return 5.25

Allocation at
Measurement Date

Long-Term Expected
Real Rate of Return

Long-Term Expected
Nominal Rate of Return

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 5.25%. Assets were projected using 
expected benefit payments and expected asset returns. Expected benefit payments by year were 
discounted using the expected asset return assumption for years in which the assets were sufficient to 
pay all benefit payments. Any remaining benefit payments after the trust fund is exhausted are 
discounted at the municipal bond rate. The equivalent single rate is the discount rate. 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

68 

NOTE 9 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Defined Benefit Pension Plan – Volunteer Firefighter's Relief Association (Continued) 
 
F. Changes in the Net Pension Liability 
 

Total Plan Fiduciary Net
Pension Net Pension 

Liability Position Liability
(a)  (b) (a) - (b)

Balances at December 31, 2018 428,916$     804,285$       (375,369)$     

Changes for the year
Service cost 26,091         -                    26,091           
Interest cost 23,888         -                    23,888           
State and municipal contributions -                   61,770           (61,770)         
Donations and other income contributions -                   10                  (10)                
Net investment income -                   108,266         (108,266)       
Change in benefit terms 83,266         -                    83,266           
Administrative expense -                   (4,134)           4,134             

Net changes 133,245       165,912         (32,667)         

Balances at December 31, 2019 562,161$     970,197$       (408,036)$     

Increase (Decrease)

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the net 
pension liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 5.25%, as well as what the City's net 
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower 
(4.25%) or 1-percentage-point higher (6.25%) than the current rate: 
 

1% Current 1%
 Decrease Discount Increase

4.25% 5.25% 6.25%

Net pension asset 388,084$           408,036$           427,392$           

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position 
is available in the separately issued relief association financial report.  



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

69 

NOTE 9 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Defined Benefit Pension Plan – Volunteer Firefighter's Relief Association (Continued) 
 
G. Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources  
   Related to Pensions 
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the City recognized pension expense of ($25,360). At  
December 31, 2020, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of 
Resources Resources

Difference between projected and actual investment earnings -$                   24,727$       
Contributions paid to Association subsequent to the
  measurement date 62,346           -                   

  Total 62,346$         24,727$       

The $62,346 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from City 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension 
liability in the year ended December 31, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows 
of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 
Year Ending

2021 (3,877)$        
2022 (3,877)          
2023 (3,877)          
2024 (13,096)        

Total (24,727)$      

 
NOTE 10 – POST EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE PLAN 
 
A. Plan Description 
The City's defined benefit OPEB plan provides a single-employer defined benefit health care plan to 
eligible retirees. The plan offers medical coverage. No assets are acclimated in a trust. A separate report 
is not issued for this plan.  



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

70 

NOTE 10 – POST EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
B. Benefits Provided 
Retirees and their spouses can participate in the health care plan at the same premium rate as City 
employees. Retirees and their spouses are responsible for 100% of these rates. This results in the retirees 
receiving an implicit rate subsidy. 
 
C. Contributions  
Retirees and their spouses contribute to the health care plan at the same rate as City employees. This 
results in the retirees receiving an implicit rate subsidy. Contribution requirements are established by the 
City, based on the contract terms with PEIP. The required contributions are based on projected pay-as-
you-go financing requirements. For 2020, the City contributed $15,395 to the plan. 
 
D. Members 
 
As of the December 31, 2018, valuation date, the following were covered by the benefit terms: 

Total retirees 2
Total active employees 21

Total 23

 
E. Actuarial Assumptions 
 
The total OPEB liability, measured as of December 31, 2019, was determined by an actuarial valuation 
as of December 31, 2018, using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in 
the measurement, unless otherwise specified: 
 

Inflation 2.50%
Healthcare cost trend increases

Mortality assumption From the July 1, 2019 PERA of Minnesota 
General Employees Retirement Plan 
actuarial valuations, mortality rates were 
based on the RP-2014 mortality tables with 
projected mortality improvements based on 
scale MP-2018 and other adjustments.

Key Methods and Assumptions Used in Valuation of Total OPEB Liability

Rate 6.4% for 2019, gradually decreasing 
over several decades to an ultimate rate of 
3.80% in 2075 and later years.

 
 
The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 2.75% based on Fidelity 20-Year 
Municipal GO AA Index.  



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

71 

NOTE 10 – POST EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE PLAN 
 
F. Total OPEB Liability  
The City's total OPEB liability of $135,854 was measured as of December 31, 2019, and was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2018.  

 
Changes in the total OPEB liability are as follows: 
 

Total 
OPEB

Liability 

Balances at January 1, 2020 131,392$     

Changes for the year
Service cost 6,226           
Interest 4,836           
Changes of assumptions 7,939           
Employer contributions (14,539)        

Net changes 4,462           

Balances at December 31, 2020 135,854$     

Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate from 3.17% at the 
December 31, 2018, measurement date to 2.75% at the December 31, 2019, measurement date.  
 
The General Fund and Liquor, Electric Utility, Water, Wastewater, and Storm Water Utility funds 
typically liquidate the Liability related to OPEB. 
 
G. OPEB Liability Sensitivity  
The following presents the City's total OPEB liability calculated using the discount rate of 2.75% as well 
as the liability measured using 1% lower and 1% higher than the current discount rate. 
 

1% decrease Current 1% increase
(1.75%) (2.75%) (3.75%)

144,517$             135,854$             127,594$             

Total OPEB Liability

 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

72 

NOTE 10 – POST EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
G. OPEB Liability Sensitivity (Continued)  
The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City's total OPEB 
liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1% lower and 1% higher 
than the current healthcare cost trend rates.  
 

1% decrease Current 1% increase

122,906$             135,854$             150,977$             

Total OPEB Liability

(5.4% decreasing 
to 2.8%)

(6.4% decreasing 
to 3.8%)

(7.4% decreasing 
to 4.8%)

 
 
H. OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources  
   Related to OPEB 
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the City recognized OPEB expense of $3,606. At  
December 31, 2020, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to OPEB from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of 
Resources Resources

Contributions made subsequent to the measurement date 15,395$         -$                 

The $15,395 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from City 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the total OPEB 
liability in the year ended December 31, 2021.  
 
NOTE 11 – CONTRACT COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

A. Electric Utility Commitment  
The Public Utilities Commission purchases power from Sothern Minnesota Municipal Power 
Agency (SMMPA) under a power sales contract which extends to April 1, 2050. Under the terms of 
the contract, the Commission is obligated to buy all the electrical power and energy needed to 
operate the electric utilities through the term of the contract. In addition, on January 1, 1995, the 
Public Utilities Commission entered into a Capacity Purchase Agreement with SMMPA, whereby 
SMMPA is entitled to the exclusive use of the net electric generating capability of the Diesel 
Generating Facilities and the electric energy associated therewith. The agreement can be cancelled 
by either party upon a five year notice. Under the terms of the agreement, SMMPA is responsible for 
all costs associated with operations, maintenance, repairs, and liabilities of operating Diesel 
Generating Facilities. 



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

73 

NOTE 11 – CONTRACT COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) 
 

B. Contingencies 
On March 13, 2020, a national emergency was declared for the COVID-19 outbreak in the United 
States of America. This event affects the economy and financial markets. The extent of the impact 
on the City may be both direct and indirect and will vary based on the duration of the outbreak and 
various other factors. An estimate of the financial effect on the City's financial statements at 
December 31, 2020, cannot be determined at this time.  

 
NOTE 14 – TAX INCREMENT FINANCING 
 
The City has entered into three Tax Increment Financing agreements which meet the criteria for 
disclosure under Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 77 Tax Abatement 
Disclosures. The City's authority to enter into these agreements comes from Minnesota Statute 469. The 
City entered into these agreements for the purpose of economic development. 
 
Under each agreement, the City and developer agree on an amount of development costs to be 
reimbursed to the developer by the City though tax revenues from the additional taxable value of the 
property generated by the development (tax increment). A "pay-as-you-go" note is established for this 
amount, on which the City makes payments for a fixed period of time with available tax increment 
revenue after deducting for certain administrative costs. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the City generated $125,704 in tax increment revenue and 
made $87,616 in payments to developers. 
 
NOTE 15 – HOUSING REVENUE AGREEMENT 
 
The City entered into a Housing Revenue Agreement with the HRA of the City of Mora on October 15, 
2019. The HRA undertook a housing development project granted under Minnesota Statutes, 469.001 to 
469.047 which was financed by the HRA's issuance of $3,000,000 Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 
2009B. The HRA refunded these bonds with the issuance of $3,095,000 Housing Development 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2019A in November 2019, which was issued with the City's pledge of its full 
faith and credit and taxing power. The revenues of the housing project are pledged to pay this debt and 
the HRA makes payments to the City, which then makes the respective semi-annual bond payments. The 
final payment on the 2019A bond is due on January 1, 2040. 
 
NOTE 16 – NEW STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET IMPLEMENTED 
 
GASB Statement No. 87, Leases establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the 
foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this 
statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and 
a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing 
the relevance and consistency of information about governments' leasing activities. This statement will 
be effective for the year ending December 31, 2022.  



City of Mora 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

74 

NOTE 16 – NEW STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET IMPLEMENTED (CONTINUED) 
 
GASB Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred Before the End of a Construction Period 
enhances the relevance and comparability of information about capital assets and the cost of borrowing 
for a reporting period and simplifies accounting for interest cost incurred before the end of a 
construction period. This statement will be effective for the year ending December 31, 2021.  
 



 

75 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION OTHER 
THAN MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 



December 31, December 31,
2019 2020

Total OPEB Liability 
Service cost 6,280$               6,226$               
Interest 4,531                 4,836                 
Changes of assumptions (3,224)               7,939                 
Benefit payments (13,601)             (14,539)             

Net change in total OPEB liability (6,014)               4,462                 

Beginning of year 137,406             131,392             

End of year 131,392$           135,854$           

1,311,357$        1,742,912$        

10.02% 7.79%

Note: Schedule is intended to show ten year trend. Additional years will be reported as they become available.

See notes to required supplementary information. 76

Covered-employee payroll

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll

City of Mora
Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability 

and Related Ratios



City's Covered 
Payroll 

2015 0.0205% 1,062,416$    -$                  1,062,416$    1,183,280$    89.79% 78.19%
2016 0.0199% 1,615,781     21,145          1,636,926     1,234,320     130.90% 68.91%
2017 0.0199% 1,270,403     15,977          1,286,380     1,282,213     99.08% 75.90%
2018 0.0189% 1,048,495     34,357          1,082,852     1,267,373     82.73% 79.53%
2019 0.0208% 1,149,985     35,665          1,185,650     1,470,187     78.22% 80.23%
2020 0.0219% 1,313,005     40,533          1,353,538     1,564,053     83.95% 79.06%

Note: Schedule is intended to show ten year trend. Additional years will be reported as they become available.

See notes to required supplementary information. 77

City of Mora
Schedule of City's Proportionate Share

of Net Pension Liability
General Employees Retirement Fund

Last Ten Years

Plan Fiduciary 
Net Position 

as a 
Percentage of 

the Total 
Pension 
Liability

For Fiscal 
Year Ended 

June 30,

City's 
Proportionate 

Share 
(Percentage) 

of the Net 
Pension 
Liability 
(Asset)

City's 
Proportionate 

Share 
(Amount) of 

the Net 
Pension 
Liability 
(Asset) 

City's 
Proportionate 
Share of the 
Net Pension 
Liability and 

the State's 
Proportionate 
Share of the 
Net Pension 

Liability 
Associated 

with the City

State's 
Proportionate 

Share 
(Amount) of 

the Net 
Pension 
Liability 

Associated 
with the City

City's 
Proportionate 
Share of the 
Net Pension 

Liability 
(Asset) as a 

Percentage of 
its Covered 

Payroll 



2015 93,262$          93,262$          -$                    1,243,493$     7.50%
2016 93,128            93,128            -                      1,241,707       7.50%
2017 94,439            94,439            -                      1,259,187       7.50%
2018 102,603          102,603          -                      1,368,040       7.50%
2019 114,409          114,409          -                      1,525,453       7.50%
2020 118,483          118,483          -                      1,579,773       7.50%

Note: Schedule is intended to show ten year trend. Additional years will be reported as they become available.

See notes to required supplementary information. 78

Year Ending 
December 31,

Contributions 
as a Percentage 

of Covered 
Payroll

Statutorily 
Required 

Contribution

City of Mora
Schedule of City Contributions

General Employees Retirement Fund

Contribution 
Deficiency 
(Excess)

Contributions 
in Relation to 
the Statutorily 

Required 
Contributions

Last Ten Years

City's Covered 
Payroll



Measurement Date Measurement Date
December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019

Total Pension Liability (TPL)
Service cost 25,455$                   26,091$                  
Interest costs 21,395                     23,888                    
Change of benefit terms -                               83,266                    

Net change in total pension liability 46,850                     133,245                  

Beginning of year 382,066                   428,916                  

End of year 428,916$                 562,161$                

Plan Fiduciary Net Pension (FNP)
State and municipal contributions 57,478$                   61,770$                  
Donations and other income contributions -                               10                           
Net investment income (5,856)                      108,266                  
Administrative expense (3,840)                      (4,134)                     

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 47,782                     165,912                  

Beginning of year 756,503                   804,285                  

End of year 804,285$                 970,197$                

Net Pension Liability (NPL) (375,369)$                (408,036)$               

FNP as a percentage of the TPL 187.52% 172.58%

See notes to required supplementary information. 79

Note: Schedule is intended to show ten year trend. Additional years will be reported as they become available.

City of Mora
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability 

and Related Ratios - Mora Fire Department Relief Association



December 31, December 31, December 31,
2018 2019 2020

City
Statutorily determined contribution (SDC) -$                      -$                      -$                      
Actual contribution -                        -                        -                        

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                      -$                      -$                      

State Pass Through
57,478$             58,770$             62,346$             

80

2% Aid

Note: Schedule is intended to show ten year trend. Additional years will be reported as they become available.

City of Mora
Schedule of City Contributions -

Mora Fire Department Relief Association

See notes to required supplementary information.



City of Mora 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information 

 
 

81 

General Employees Fund 
 
2020 Changes 
Changes in Actuarial Assumptions 

 The price inflation assumption was decreased from 2.5% to 2.25%. 
 The payroll growth assumption was decreased from 3.25% to 3.0%. 
 Assumed salary increase rates were changed as recommended in the June 30, 2019, experience 

study. The net effect is assumed rates that average 0.25% less than previous rates. 
 Assumed rates of retirement were changed as recommended in the June 30, 2019, experience 

study. The changes result in more unreduced (normal) retirements and slightly fewer Rule of 90 
and early retirements.  

 Assumed rates of termination were changes as recommended in the June 30, 2019, experience 
study. The new rates are based on service and are generally lower than the previous rates for 
years 2-5 and slightly higher thereafter. 

 Assumed rates of disability were changed as recommended in the June 30, 2019, experience 
study. The change results in fewer predicted disability retirements for males and females. 

 The base mortality table for healthy annuitants and employees was changed from the RP-2014 
table to the Pub-2010 General Mortality table, with adjustments. The base mortality table for 
disabled annuitants was changed from the RP-2014 disabled annuitant mortality table to the  
Pub-2010 General/Teacher disabled annuitant mortality table, with adjustments. 

 The mortality improvement scale was changed from Scale MP-2018 to Scale MP-2019. 
 The assumed spouse age difference was changed from two years older for females to one year 

older. 
 The assumed number of married male new retirees electing the 100% Joint and Survivor option 

changed from 35% to 45%. The assumed number of married female new retires electing the 
100% Joint and Survivor option changed from 15% to 30%. The corresponding number of 
married new retirees electing the Life annuity option was adjusted accordingly.  

Changes in Plan Provisions 
 Augmentation for current privatized members was reduced to 2.0% for the period July 1, 2020 

through December 31, 2023, and 0.0% thereafter. Augmentation was eliminated for 
privatizations occurring after June 30, 2020. 

 
2019 Changes 
Changes in Actuarial Assumptions 

 The mortality projection scale was changed from MP-2017 to MP-2018. 
Changes in Plan Provisions 

 The employer supplemental contribution was changed prospectively, decreasing from $31.0 
million to $21.0 million per year. The State's special funding contribution was changed 
prospectively, requiring $16.0 million due per year through 2031. 

 
2018 Changes  
Changes in Actuarial Assumptions 

 The mortality projection scale was changed from MP-2015 to MP-2017. 
 The assumed benefit increase was changed from 1.0% per year through 2044 and 2.5% per year 

thereafter to 1.25% per year. 



City of Mora 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information 

 
 

82 

General Employees Fund (Continued) 
 
2018 Changes Continued) 
Changes in Plan Provisions 

 The augmentation adjustment in early retirement factors is eliminated over a five-year period 
starting July 1, 2019, resulting in actuarial equivalence after June 30, 2024.  

 Interest credited on member contributions decreased from 4.00% to 3.00%, beginning July 1, 
2018.  

 Deferred augmentation was changed to 0.00%, effective January 1, 2019. Augmentation that has 
already accrued for deferred members will still apply. 

 Contribution stabilizer provisions were repealed.  
 Postretirement benefit increases were changed from 1.00% per year with a provision to increase 

to 2.50% upon attainment of 90.00% funding ratio to 50.00% of the Social Security Cost of 
Living Adjustment, not less than 1.00% and not more than 1.50%, beginning  
January 1, 2019.  

 For retirements on or after January 1, 2024, the first benefit increase is delayed until the retiree 
reaches normal retirement age; does not apply to Rule of 90 retirees, disability benefit recipients, 
or survivors.  

 Actuarial equivalent factors were updated to reflect revised mortality and interest assumptions. 
 

2017 Changes 
Changes in Actuarial Assumptions 

 The CSA loads were changed from 0.8% for active members and 60% for vested and non-vested 
deferred members. The revised CSA loads are now 0.0% for active member liability, 15% for 
vested deferred member liability and 3% for non-vested deferred member liability. 

 The assumed post-retirement benefit increase rate was changed from 1.0% per year for all years 
to 1.0% per year through 2044 and 2.5% per year thereafter. 

Changes in Plan Provisions 
 The State's contribution for the Minneapolis Employees Retirement Fund equals $16,000,000 in 

2017 and 2018, and $6,000,000 thereafter. 
 The Employer Supplemental Contribution for the Minneapolis Employees Retirement Fund 

changed from $21,000,000 to $31,000,000 in calendar years 2019 to 2031. The State's 
contribution changed from $16,000,000 to $6,000,000 in calendar years 2019 to 2031. 

 
2016 Changes 
Changes in Actuarial Assumptions 

 The assumed post-retirement benefit increase rate was changed from 1.0% per year through 2035 
and 2.5% per year thereafter to 1.0% per year for all future years. 

 The assumed investment return was changed from 7.9% to 7.5%. The single discount rate was 
changed from 7.9% to 7.5%. 

 Other assumptions were changed pursuant to the experience study dated June 30, 2015. The 
assumed future salary increases, payroll growth, the inflation was decreased by 0.25% to 3.25% 
for payroll growth and 2.50% for inflation. 

Changes in Plan Provisions 
 There have been no changes since the prior valuation.  



City of Mora 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information 

 
 

83 

General Employees Fund (Continued) 
 
2015 Changes 
Changes in Actuarial Assumptions 

 The assumed post-retirement benefit increase rate was changed from 1.0% per year through 2030 
and 2.5% per year thereafter to 1.0% per year through 2035 and 2.5% per year thereafter. 

Changes in Plan Provisions 
 On January 1, 2015, the Minneapolis Employees Retirement Fund was merged into the General 

Employees Fund, which increased the total pension liability by $1.1 billion and increased the 
fiduciary plan net position by $892 million. Upon consolidation, state and employer 
contributions were revised; the State's contribution of $6.0 million, which meets the special 
funding situation definition, was due September 2015. 

 
Mora Fire Relief Association  
 
2020 Changes 
Changes in Plan Provisions 

 The lump sum benefit multiplier increased from $2,000 to $2,500 effective January 1, 2020, and 
approved October 2019 

Changes in Economic Assumptions 
 There have been no changes since the prior valuation 

Changes in Demographic and Other Assumptions 
 There have been no changes since the prior valuation 

 
 
Other Post-Employment Benefits 
 
2020 Changes 
Changes in Plan Provisions 

 There have been no changes since the prior valuation.  
Changes in Economic Assumptions 

 The discount rate was changed from 3.71% to 2.75% 
Changes in Demographic and Other Assumptions 

 There have been no changes since the prior valuation 
 



 

84 

(THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY) 



 

85 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 



City of Mora 
Special Revenue Funds 

86 

 
 

Special Revenue Funds 
 

EDA Fund – To account for the EDA blended component unit. 
 
Fire Fund - To account for the revenues and expenditures related to the activities of the Mora Area Fire 
Department. 

 
Cemetery Fund - To account for revenues and expenditures related to the cemetery. 
 
EDA Revolving Loan Fund - To account for funds acquired and loaned to local businesses for economic 
development. 
 
MIC Loan Fund - To account for funds acquired and loaned to local business for economic 
development. 
 
TIF 2-2 Intrepid Fund - To account for revenues and expenditures, including tax increments received 
and distributed for Intrepid's Senior Housing project. 
 
TIF 1-11 KSB Fund - To account for revenues and expenditures, including tax increments received and 
distributed for Kanabec State Bank's building project and for Highway 23 improvements. 
 
Small Cities Development Program - To account for the revenue and expenditures associated with the 
City Development Program. 
 
COVID-19 Emergency Assistance Fund - To account for the revenue and expenditures associated with 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
TIF 1-15 Mysa Fund - To account for revenues and expenditures, including tax increments received and 
distributed for Mysa building project. 
 
Capital Project Funds 

 
Future Fire Equipment Fund - To establish a fund for future purchases of firefighting equipment. 
 
Future Improvements Fund - To establish a fund for future purchases of capital assets. 
 
Howe Avenue Reconstruction Fund - To account for revenues and expenditures related to the 2008 
water and sewer project. 
 
Downtown Feed Mill Redevelopment Fund - To account for revenue and expenditures related to the 
feed mill acquisition and demolition project. 
 
Airport Kastenbauer House Fund - To account for revenue and expenditures related to the purchase of a 
house and 2 acres for future airport expansion. 
 
 



City of Mora 
Special Revenue Funds 

87 

Capital Project Funds (Continued) 
 
Crosswind/Yank Property Fund - To account for revenues and expenditures related to the runway 
project. 
 
2012 7th and Grove Street Improvements Fund - To account for revenues and expenditures related to 
improvements. 
 
9th & Wood Street Improvements Fund - To account for revenues and expenditures related to the 
project. 
 
Debt Service Funds 
 
Fire Station Fund 2003   - To account for revenues and expenditures, including tax collections and bond 
payments for the 2003 Fire Station bonds. 
 
2008-2011 Street Reconstruction Fund - To account for revenues and expenditures, including tax 
collections and bond payments for the 2008-2010 Street Reconstruction bonds. 
 
HRA Eastwood  Fund - To account for revenues and expenditures, including tax collections and bond 
payments for the HRA Eastwood bonds. 
 
2015B Wood and Grove Fund - To account for revenues and expenditures, including tax collections and 
bond payments for Wood & Grove. 
 
2015C Refunding Fund - To account for revenues and expenditures, including tax collections and bond 
payments for the refunding. 
 
2017A Refunding Fund - To account for revenues and expenditures, including tax collections and bond 
payments for the refunding. 
 
Permanent Fund 
 
Perpetual Care Fund – To care for the ongoing operations of the City Cemetery. 
 



EDA (227) Fire  (222) Cemetery (225)
EDA Revolving 

Loan (230)
Assets

Cash and investments 60,187$          -$                    2,072$            90,258$          
Restricted cash -                      -                      -                      -                      
Taxes receivable -                      -                      -                      -                      
Special assessments receivable -                      2,973              -                      -                      
Accounts receivable 3                     25,618            14                   -                      

Total assets 60,190$          28,591$          2,086$            90,258$          

Liabilities 
Accounts payable 137                 7,765              1,174              -                      
Escrows payable -                      -                      1,000              -                      
Due to other funds -                      3,528              -                      -                      
Advances from other funds -                      -                      -                      -                      
Salaries and benefits payable 265                 29                   17                   -                      

Total liabilities 402                 11,322            2,191              -                      

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue - taxes -                      -                      -                      -                      
Unavailable revenue - special assessments -                      2,973              -                      -                      

Total deferred inflows of resources -                      2,973              -                      -                      

Fund Balances
Nonspendable -                      -                      -                      -                      
Restricted 59,788            -                      -                      90,258            
Committed -                      14,296            -                      -                      
Assigned -                      -                      -                      -                      
Unassigned -                      -                      (105)                -                      

Total fund balances 59,788            14,296            (105)                90,258            

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
  resources, and fund balances 60,190$          28,591$          2,086$            90,258$          

88            

City of Mora
Combining Balance Sheet -

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
December 31, 2020

Special Revenue



(Continued)

MIC Loan 
(232)

TIF 2-2 
Intrepid (237)

TIF 1-11 KSB 
(248)

Small Cities 
Development 

Program (270)

COVID-19 
Emergency 
Assistance 

(231)
TIF 1-15 Mysa 

(252)

4,685$            9,733$            74,110$          35,771$          71,256$          -$                    
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

4,685$            9,733$            74,110$          35,771$          71,256$          -$                    

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      25                   
-                      -                      263,530          -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      263,530          -                      -                      25                   

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
4,685              9,733              -                      35,771            71,256            -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      (189,420)         -                      -                      (25)                  

4,685              9,733              (189,420)         35,771            71,256            (25)                  

4,685$            9,733$            74,110$          35,771$          71,256$          -$                    

89                     

Special Revenue



Future Fire 
Equipment 

(407)

Future 
Improvements 

(409)

Howe Avenue 
Reconstruction 

(439)

Downtown Feed 
Mill 

Redevelopment 
(440)

Assets
Cash and investments 749,974$        487,965$         -$                      -$                      
Restricted cash -                      -                       -                        -                        
Taxes receivable -                      -                       -                        -                        
Special assessments receivable -                      -                       132,086            -                        
Accounts receivable -                      -                       -                        -                        

Total assets 749,974$        487,965$         132,086$          -$                      

Liabilities 
Accounts payable -                      -                       -                        -                        
Escrows payable -                      -                       -                        -                        
Due to other funds -                      -                       26,039              30,351               
Advances from other funds -                      -                       -                        -                        
Salaries and benefits payable -                      -                       -                        -                        

Total liabilities -                      -                       26,039              30,351               

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue - taxes -                      -                       -                        -                        
Unavailable revenue - special assessments -                      -                       132,086            -                        

Total deferred inflows of resources -                      -                       132,086            -                        

Fund Balances
Nonspendable -                      -                       -                        -                        
Restricted -                      -                       -                        -                        
Committed -                      -                       -                        -                        
Assigned 749,974          487,965           -                        -                        
Unassigned -                      -                       (26,039)             (30,351)             

Total fund balances 749,974          487,965           (26,039)             (30,351)             

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
  resources, and fund balances 749,974$        487,965$         132,086$          -$                      

90             

City of Mora
Combining Balance Sheet -

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
December 31, 2020

Capital Projects



(Continued)

Airport 
Kastenbauer 
House (442)

Crosswind/ Yank 
Property (444)

2012 7th and 
Grove Street 

Improvements 
(451)

9th and Wood 
Street 

Improvements 
(455)

Fire Station 
2003 (525)

2008-2011 Street 
Reconstruction 

(530)

-$                     -$                       -$                     10,243$           50,985$          166,087$           
-                       -                         -                       -                       -                      -                        
-                       -                         -                       -                       1,426              3,319                 
-                       -                         -                       -                       -                      -                        
-                       -                         -                       -                       156                 1,370                 

-$                     -$                       -$                     10,243$           52,567$          170,776$           

-                       -                         -                       -                       -                      -                        
-                       -                         -                       -                       -                      -                        

97,389             19,912               313,936           -                       -                      -                        
-                       -                         -                       -                       -                      -                        
-                       -                         -                       -                       -                      -                        

97,389             19,912               313,936           -                       -                      -                        

-                       -                         -                       -                       1,426              3,319                 
-                       -                         -                       -                       -                      -                        
-                       -                         -                       -                       1,426              3,319                 

-                       -                         -                       -                       -                      -                        
-                       -                         -                       -                       51,141            167,457             
-                       -                         -                       -                       -                      -                        
-                       -                         -                       10,243             -                      -                        

(97,389)            (19,912)              (313,936)          -                       -                      -                        
(97,389)            (19,912)              (313,936)          10,243             51,141            167,457             

-$                     -$                       -$                     10,243$           52,567$          170,776$           

91                 

Capital Projects Debt Service



HRA Eastwood 
(531)

2015B Wood 
and Grove 

(532)

2015C 
Refunding 

(533)

2017A 
Refunding 

(535)
Assets

Cash and investments 99,688$          55,958$          233,701$        131,003$        
Restricted cash 250,000          -                      -                      -                      
Taxes receivable -                      2,464              4,595              1,120              
Special assessments receivable -                      -                      302,548          121,323          
Accounts receivable -                      1,120              1,630              702                 

Total assets 349,688$        59,542$          542,474$        254,148$        

Liabilities 
Accounts payable 332,127          -                      -                      -                      
Escrows payable -                      -                      -                      -                      
Due to other funds -                      -                      -                      -                      
Advances from other funds -                      -                      -                      -                      
Salaries and benefits payable -                      -                      -                      -                      

Total liabilities 332,127          -                      -                      -                      

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue - taxes -                      2,464              4,595              1,120              
Unavailable revenue - special assessments -                      -                      302,548          121,323          

Total deferred inflows of resources -                      2,464              307,143          122,443          

Fund Balances
Nonspendable -                      -                      -                      -                      
Restricted 17,561            57,078            235,331          131,705          
Committed -                      -                      -                      -                      
Assigned -                      -                      -                      -                      
Unassigned -                      -                      -                      -                      

Total fund balances 17,561            57,078            235,331          131,705          

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
  resources, and fund balances 349,688$        59,542$          542,474$        254,148$        

92            

City of Mora
Combining Balance Sheet -

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
December 31, 2020

Debt Service



(Concluded)

Permenant

Perpetual Care 
(301)

Total Nonmajor 
Governmental 

Funds

125,495$          2,459,171$     
-                       250,000          
-                       12,924            
-                       558,930          
-                       30,613            

125,495$          3,311,638$     

-                       341,203          
-                       1,000              
-                       491,180          
-                       263,530          
-                       311                 
-                       1,097,224       

-                       12,924            
-                       558,930          
-                       571,854          

123,519            123,519          
1,976                933,740          

-                       14,296            
-                       1,248,182       
-                       (677,177)         

125,495            1,642,560       

125,495$          3,311,638$     

93                                                                                                         



EDA (227) Fire  (222) Cemetery (225)
EDA Revolving 

Loan (230)
Revenues

Taxes -$                      -$                      -$                    -$                    
Tax increments -                        -                        -                      -                      
Special assessments -                        550                    -                      -                      
Intergovernmental -                        3,184                 -                      -                      
Charges for services -                        34,288               54,120            -                      
Miscellaneous

Investment income 127                    303                    157                 18,656            
Contributions and donations -                        18,401               -                      -                      
Other 1,144                 106,313             3,780              -                      

Total revenues 1,271                 163,039             58,057            18,656            

Expenditures
Current

Public safety -                        175,003             -                      -                      
Economic development 38,156               -                        -                      -                      
Cemetery -                        -                        48,794            -                      

Debt service
Principal -                        -                        -                      -                      
Interest and other charges -                        -                        -                      -                      

Capital outlay
Public safety -                        73,960               -                      -                      
Public works -                        -                        -                      -                      
Cemetery -                        -                        11,070            -                      

Total expenditures 38,156               248,963             59,864            -                      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
  over (under) expenditures (36,885)             (85,924)             (1,807)             18,656            

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Proceeds from sale of capital asset -                        10,000               -                      -                      
Transfers in 41,110               111,349             11,880            -                      
Transfers out (652)                  (16,808)             (6,418)             -                      

Total other financing sources (uses) 40,458               104,541             5,462              -                      

Net change in fund balances 3,573                 18,617               3,655              18,656            

Fund Balances
Beginning of year 56,215               (4,321)               (3,760)             71,602            

End of year 59,788$             14,296$             (105)$              90,258$          

94

Special Revenue

City of Mora
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes

in Fund Balances - Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2020



(Continued)

Capital Projects

MIC Loan 
(232)

TIF 2-2 
Intrepid (237)

TIF 1-11 KSB 
(248)

Small Cities 
Development 

Program (270)

COVID-19 
Emergency 
Assistance 

(231)
TIF 1-15 Mysa 

(252)

Future Fire 
Equipment 

(407)

-$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    
-                      55,522            49,075            -                      -                      21,107            -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

317                 -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      1,253              
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      106,863          
-                      -                      -                      18,098            8,256              -                      -                      

317                 55,522            49,075            18,098            8,256              21,107            108,116          

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      52,772            15,823            47                   36,500            19,021            -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      52,772            15,823            47                   36,500            19,021            -                      

317                 2,750              33,252            18,051            (28,244)           2,086              108,116          

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      99,500            -                      38,137            

(90,000)           (2,776)             (15,864)           -                      -                      (2,111)             (17,800)           
(90,000)           (2,776)             (15,864)           -                      99,500            (2,111)             20,337            

(89,683)           (26)                  17,388            18,051            71,256            (25)                  128,453          

94,368            9,759              (206,808)         17,720            -                      -                      621,521          

4,685$            9,733$            (189,420)$       35,771$          71,256$          (25)$                749,974$        

95

Special Revenue



Future 
Improvements 

(409)

Howe Avenue 
Reconstruction 

(439)

Downtown Feed 
Mill 

Redevelopment 
(440)

Airport 
Kastenbauer 
House (442)

Revenues
Taxes -$                     -$                         -$                        -$                    
Tax increments -                       -                           -                          -                      
Special assessments -                       15,312                 -                          -                      
Intergovernmental -                       -                           -                          -                      
Charges for services -                       -                           -                          -                      
Miscellaneous

Investment income 1,336               -                           -                          -                      
Contributions and donations -                       -                           -                          -                      
Other -                       -                           -                          -                      

Total revenues 1,336               15,312                 -                          -                      

Expenditures
Current

Public safety -                       -                           -                          -                      
Economic development -                       -                           -                          -                      
Cemetery -                       -                           -                          -                      

Debt service
Principal -                       -                           -                          -                      
Interest and other charges -                       -                           -                          -                      

Capital outlay
Public safety -                       -                           -                          -                      
Public works -                       -                           124                     -                      
Cemetery -                       -                           -                          -                      

Total expenditures -                       -                           124                     -                      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
  over (under) expenditures 1,336               15,312                 (124)                    -                      

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Proceeds from sale of capital asset -                       -                           -                          -                      
Transfers in -                       -                           -                          -                      
Transfers out (98,251)            -                           -                          -                      

Total other financing sources (uses) (98,251)            -                           -                          -                      

Net change in fund balances (96,915)            15,312                 (124)                    -                      

Fund Balances
Beginning of year, as restated 584,880           (41,351)                (30,227)               (97,389)           

End of year 487,965$         (26,039)$              (30,351)$             (97,389)$         

96

Capital Projects

City of Mora
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes

in Fund Balances - Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2020



(Continued)

Crosswind/Yank 
Property (444)

2012 7th and 
Grove Street 

Improvements 
(451)

9th and Wood 
Street 

Improvements 
(455)

Fire Station 
2003 (525)

2008-2011 
Street 

Reconstruction 
(530)

HRA Eastwood 
(531)

2015B Wood 
and Grove 

(532)

-$                        -$                    -$                    253$               83,742$          -$                    77,149$          
-                          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

151,012              -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

-                          -                      34                   -                      -                      1,460              -                      
-                          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

151,012              -                      34                   253                 83,742            1,460              77,149            

-                          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

-                          -                      -                      -                      75,000            -                      45,000            
-                          -                      -                      -                      6,548              -                      29,750            

-                          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                          -                      -                      -                      81,548            -                      74,750            

151,012              -                      34                   253                 2,194              1,460              2,399              

-                          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

151,012              -                      34                   253                 2,194              1,460              2,399              

(170,924)             (313,936)         10,209            50,888            165,263          16,101            54,679            

(19,912)$             (313,936)$       10,243$          51,141$          167,457$        17,561$          57,078$          

97

Capital Projects Debt Service



(Concluded)

Permanent Fund

2015C 
Refunding 

(533)

2017A 
Refunding 

(535)
Perpetual Care 

(301)

Total Nonmajor 
Governmental 

Funds
Revenues

Taxes 89,612$         49,950$          -$                    300,706$        
Tax increments -                     -                      -                      125,704          
Special assessments 39,036           16,649            -                      71,547            
Intergovernmental -                     -                      -                      154,196          
Charges for services -                     -                      -                      88,408            
Miscellaneous

Investment income -                     -                      420                 24,063            
Contributions and donations -                     -                      -                      125,264          
Other -                     -                      -                      137,591          

Total revenues 128,648         66,599            420                 1,027,479       

Expenditures
Current

Public safety -                     -                      -                      175,003          
Economic development -                     -                      -                      162,319          
Cemetery -                     48,794            

Debt service
Principal 93,793           45,732            -                      259,525          
Interest and other charges 22,248           32,277            -                      90,823            

Capital outlay
Public safety -                     -                      -                      73,960            
Public works -                     -                      -                      124                 
Cemetery -                     -                      -                      11,070            

Total expenditures 116,041         78,009            -                      821,618          

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
  over (under) expenditures 12,607           (11,410)           420                 205,861          

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Proceeds from sale of capital asset -                     -                      -                      10,000            
Transfers in -                     -                      -                      301,976          
Transfers out -                     -                      -                      (250,680)         

Total other financing sources (uses) -                     -                      -                      61,296            

Net change in fund balances 12,607           (11,410)           420                 267,157          

Fund Balances
Beginning of year 222,724         143,115          125,075          1,375,403       

End of year 235,331$       131,705$        125,495$        1,642,560$     

98            

City of Mora
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes

in Fund Balances - Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2020

Debt Service



City of Mora
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balance -
Budget and Actual - EDA Special Revenue Fund

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Budgeted
Amounts

Original and 
Final

Actual 
Amounts

Revenues
Miscellaneous

Investment income 190$               127$               (63)$                
Other 1,144              1,144              -                      

Total revenues 1,334              1,271              (63)                  

Expenditures
Current

Economic development 46,191            38,156            (8,035)             

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures (44,857)           (36,885)           7,972              

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In 40,000            41,110            1,110              
Transfers out -                      (652)                (652)                

Total other financing sources (uses) 40,000            40,458            458                 

Net change in fund balance (4,857)$           3,573              8,430$            

Fund Balance
Beginning of year 56,215            

End of year 59,788$          

99            

Variance with 
Final Budget - 
Over (Under)



City of Mora
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance - 
Budget and Actual - Fire Special Revenue Fund

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Original and 
Final 

Actual 
Amounts

Revenues
Special assessments -$                    550$               550$               
Intergovernmental 5,945              3,184              (2,761)             
Charges for services 40,000            34,288            (5,712)             
Miscellaneous

Investment income 370                 303                 (67)                  
Contributions and donations -                      18,401            18,401            

Other 106,308          106,313          5                     
Total revenues 152,623          163,039          10,416            

Expenditures
Current

Public safety 170,247          175,003          4,756              
Capital outlay

Public safety -                      73,960            73,960            
Total expenditures 170,247          248,963          78,716            

Deficiency of revenues (Under) expenditures (17,624)           (85,924)           (68,300)           

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Proceeds from Sale of Capital Asset -                      10,000            10,000            
Transfers in 39,801            111,349          71,548            
Transfers out (15,336)           (16,808)           (1,472)             

Total other financing sources (Uses) 24,465            104,541          80,076            

Net change in fund balance 6,841$            18,617            11,776$          

Fund Balance
Beginning of year (4,321)             

End of year 14,296$          

100          

Variance with 
Final Budget - 
Over (Under)

Budgeted 
Amounts



City of Mora
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance - 
Budget and Actual - Cemetery Special Revenue Fund

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Original and 
Final 

Actual 
Amounts

Revenues
Charges for services 49,400$          54,120$          4,720$            
Miscellaneous

Investment income 140                 157                 17                   
Other 100                 3,780              3,680              

Total revenues 49,640            58,057            8,417              

Expenditures
Current

Cemetery 53,500            48,794            (4,706)             
Capital outlay

Cemetery 17,000            11,070            (5,930)             
Total expenditures 70,500            59,864            (10,636)           

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures (20,860)           (1,807)             19,053            

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In 16,500            11,880            (4,620)             
Transfers out (6,533)             (6,418)             115                 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 9,967              5,462              (4,505)             

Net change in fund balance (10,893)$         3,655              14,548$          

Fund Balance
Beginning of year (3,760)             

End of year (105)$              

101          

Budgeted 
Amounts Variance with 

Final Budget - 
Over (Under)



City of Mora
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance - 
Budget and Actual - Economic Development Revolving Loan Special Revenue Fund

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Budgeted 
Amounts

Original and 
Final 

Actual 
Amounts

Revenues
Miscellaneous

Investment income 18,750$          18,656$          (94)$                

Net change in fund balance 18,750$          18,656            (94)$                

Fund Balance
Beginning of year 71,602            

End of year 90,258$          

102          

Variance with 
Final Budget - 
Over (Under)



City of Mora
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance - 
Budget and Actual - MIC Loan Special Revenue Fund 

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Budgeted 
Amounts

Original and 
Final 

Actual 
Amounts

Revenues
Miscellaneous

Investment income 690$               317$               (373)$              

Other Financing Uses
Transfers out -                      (90,000)           (90,000)           

Net change in fund balance 690$               (89,683)           (90,373)$         

Fund Balance
Beginning of year 94,368            

End of year 4,685$            

103          

Variance with 
Final Budget - 
Over (Under)



City of Mora
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in

Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - 
Future Fire Equipment Capital Project Fund

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Budgeted
Amounts

Original and 
Final 

Revenues
Miscellaneous

Investment income 2,050$            1,253$            (797)$              
Contributions and donations 101,863          106,863          5,000              

Total revenues 103,913          108,116          4,203              

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in 38,137            38,137            -                      
Transfers Out -                      (17,800)           (17,800)           

Total other financing sources (uses) 38,137            20,337            (17,800)           

Net change in fund balance 142,050$        128,453          (13,597)$         

Fund Balance
Beginning of year 621,521          

End of year 749,974$        

104

Variance with 
Final Budget - 
Over (Under)

Actual 
Amounts



City of Mora
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in

Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - 
Future Improvements Capital Project Fund 

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Budgeted
Amounts

Original and 
Final 

Revenues
Miscellaneous

Investment income 2,180$            1,336$            (844)$              

Other Financing Uses
Transfers out (139,200)         (98,251)           40,949            

Net change in fund balance (137,020)$       (96,915)           40,105$          

Fund Balance
Beginning of year 584,880          

End of year 487,965$        

105

Variance with 
Final Budget - 
Over (Under)

Actual 
Amounts



City of Mora
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance - 
Budget and Actual - 2008-2011 Street Reconstruction Debt Service Fund

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Budgeted
Amounts

Original and 
Final 

Actual 
Amounts

Revenues
Taxes 83,958$          83,742$          (216)$              

Expenditures
Debt service

Principal 75,000            75,000            -                      
Interest and other charges 6,600              6,548              (52)                  

Total expenditures 81,600            81,548            (52)                  

Net change in fund balance 2,358$            2,194              (164)$              

Fund Balance
Beginning of year 165,263          

End of year 167,457$        

106          

Variance with 
Final Budget - 
Over (Under)



City of Mora
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance - 
Budget and Actual - Series 2015B Wood and Grove Debt Service Fund

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Original Final 
Actual 

Amounts
Revenues

Taxes 77,543$           77,543$          77,149$          (394)$              

Expenditures
Debt service

Principal 60,000             45,000            45,000            -                      
Interest and other charges 38,420             29,850            29,750            (100)                

Total expenditures 98,420             74,850            74,750            (100)                

Excess revenues over (under) expenditures (20,877)            2,693              2,399              (294)                

Other Financing Sources
Transfers in 23,568             -                      -                      -                      

Net change in fund balance 2,691$             2,693$            2,399              (294)$              

Fund Balance
Beginning of year 54,679            

End of year 57,078$          

107          

Variance with 
Final Budget - 
Over (Under)

Budgeted Amounts



City of Mora
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance - 
Budget and Actual - Series 2015C Refunding Debt Service Fund

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Original Final 
Actual 

Amounts
Revenues

Taxes 89,655$           89,655$          89,612$          (43)$                
Special assessments 37,985             37,985            39,036            1,051              

Total revenues 127,640           127,640          128,648          1,008              

Expenditures
Debt service

Principal 102,000           93,793            93,793            -                      
Interest and other charges 24,140             22,348            22,248            (100)                

Total expenditures 126,140           116,141          116,041          (100)                

Excess revenue over expenditures 1,500               11,499            12,607            1,108              

Other Financing Sources
Transfers in 10,000             -                      -                      -                      

Net change in fund balance 11,500$           11,499$          12,607            1,108$            

Fund Balance
Beginning of year 222,724          

End of year 235,331$        

108          

Variance with 
Final Budget - 
Over (Under)

Budgeted Amounts



City of Mora
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance - 
Budget and Actual - Series 2017A Refunding Debt Service Fund

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Original Final 
Actual 

Amounts
Revenues

Taxes 50,353$           50,353$          49,950$          (403)$              
Special assessments 11,000             11,000            16,649            5,649              

Total revenues 61,353             61,353            66,599            5,246              

Expenditures
Debt service

Principal 55,000             45,732            45,732            -                      
Interest and other charges 38,750             32,377            32,277            (100)                

Total expenditures 93,750             78,109            78,009            (100)                

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures (32,397)            (16,756)           (11,410)           5,346              

Other Financing Sources
Transfers in 15,641             -                      -                      -                      

Net change in fund balance (16,756)$          (16,756)$         (11,410)           5,346$            

Fund Balance
Beginning of year 143,115          

End of year 131,705$        

109          

Variance with 
Final Budget - 
Over (Under)

Budgeted Amounts



 

110 

(THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY)



 

111 

STATISTICAL SECTION 



 

112 

City of Mora 
Statistical Section 

 
 
This part of the City of Mora's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information to 
assist the reader in understanding the preceding financial statements and reports in the context of the 
City's overall financial health. The statistical section is designed to complement the comprehensive 
annual financial report by providing an historical analysis of financial indicators.  
 
CONTENTS 
 
Financial Trend Data 
 

These schedules contain trend information to illustrate how the City of Mora's financial 
performance has changed over time. They include an analysis of revenues and expenses and 
changes in net position for governmental activities and business-type activities.  

 
Table 1 Net Position by Component 
Table 2 Changes in Net Position 
Table 3 Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 
Table 4 Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 

 
Revenue Capacity Data 
 

These schedules contain historical information about the City of Mora's most significant local 
revenue source, property taxes. Information contained within these schedules includes an 
illustration of how the City's tax capacity and tax rates have changed over time. Also included is 
a more comprehensive look at how tax rates of overlapping governments have changed over 
time. 

 
Table 5 Taxable Assessed Value of Taxable Property 
Table 6 Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates 
Table 7 Principal Property Taxpayers  
Table 8 Property Tax Levies and Collections 

 
Debt Capacity Data 
 

These schedules present information designed to help the reader assess the affordability of the 
City of Mora's current level of outstanding debt and the City's ability to issue additional debt in 
the future. 

 
 

Table 9 Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type 
Table 10 Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding 
Table 11 Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt 
Table 12 Legal Debt Margin Information 
Table 13 Pledged Revenue Coverage 



 

113 

City of Mora 
Statistical Section 

 
 
CONTENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Demographic and Economic Information 
 

These schedules provide demographic and economic indicators to illustrate the overall 
environment in which the City of Mora's financial activities take place. 

 
Table 14 Demographic and Economic Statistics 
Table 15 Principal Employers 

 
Operating Indicators 
 

These schedules contain information about City services and capital assets to assist the reader in 
understanding how the information contained within the City of Mora's comprehensive annual 
financial report relates to the services the City provides and the activities it performs. 

 
Table 16 Full-Time City Government Employees by Function 
Table 17 Operating Indicators by Function 
Table 18 Capital Asset Statistics by Function 

 
 



2011 2012 2013 2014
Governmental Activities

Net investment in capital assets 9,077,983$      9,920,486$      9,531,383$      9,888,253$      
Restricted 746,871           1,123,326        605,922           927,431           
Unrestricted 213,740           (1,307,923)      (495,696)         (227,352)         

Total governmental activities net position 10,038,594$    9,735,889$      9,641,609$      10,588,332$    

Business-Type Activities
Net investment in capital assets 7,569,240$      8,657,456$      8,335,737$      8,458,679$      
Restricted 2,067,870        664,161           660,481           661,206           
Unrestricted 6,156,251        6,845,866        7,692,579        7,593,374        

Total business-type activities net position 15,793,361$    16,167,483$    16,688,797$    16,713,259$    

Primary Government
Net investment in capital assets 16,647,223$    18,577,942$    17,867,120$    18,346,932$    
Restricted 2,814,741        1,787,487        1,266,403        1,588,637        
Unrestricted 6,369,991        5,537,943        7,196,883        7,366,022        

Total primary government net position 25,831,955$    25,903,372$    26,330,406$    27,301,591$    

Note:  In 2012, the City implemented GASB Statement No. 63, which retitled Net Assets as Net Position.

Source:  City of Mora, audited financial statements. 114

City of Mora
Net Position by Component

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
Unaudited



Table 1 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

10,344,435$    10,710,096$    11,556,594$    11,611,079$    11,730,600$    11,678,848$    
1,038,255        589,285           764,168           841,797           1,456,706        1,472,905        
(883,484)         (841,935)         (650,772)         (243,619)         1,991,400        2,552,123        

10,499,206$    10,457,446$    11,669,990$    12,209,257$    15,178,706$    15,703,876$    

11,359,753$    12,050,343$    11,515,650$    11,589,424$    10,855,383$    10,527,549$    
661,968           36,812             1,356,930        1,357,082        -                      -                      

7,336,418        9,142,290        8,953,874        8,827,765        11,601,659      13,016,566      

19,358,139$    21,229,445$    21,826,454$    21,774,271$    22,457,042$    23,544,115$    

21,704,188$    22,760,439$    23,072,244$    23,200,503$    22,585,983$    22,206,397$    
1,700,223        626,097           2,121,098        2,198,879        1,456,706        1,472,905        
6,452,934        8,300,355        8,303,102        8,584,146        13,593,059      15,568,689      

29,857,345$    31,686,891$    33,496,444$    33,983,528$    37,635,748$    39,247,991$    

115



2011 2012 2013 2014
Expenses

Governmental activities
General government 514,691$         477,547$         572,569$         666,550$         
Public safety 1,340,101        531,449           1,053,981        963,669           
Public works 899,165           864,140           853,953           897,477           
Culture and recreation 327,637           262,476           261,623           321,358           
Economic development (56,110)            (482,493)          131,300           125,539           
Cemetery 58,501             46,395             50,104             72,779             
Capital projects 111,995           462,702           173,267           136,302           
Interest and fiscal charges 827,341           853,015           89,537             80,859             

Total governmental activities expenses 4,023,321        3,015,231        3,186,334        3,264,533        

Business-type activities
Liquor 2,475,319        2,598,991        2,542,384        2,603,292        
Electric 5,166,409        5,147,945        5,177,296        5,110,192        
Water 606,161           619,188           582,613           659,693           
Wastewater 807,184           738,245           732,007           730,607           
Storm water -                       -                       -                       -                       

Total business-type activities expenses 9,055,073        9,104,369        9,034,300        9,103,784        

Total primary government expenses 13,078,394$    12,119,600$    12,220,634$    12,368,317$    

Program Revenues
Governmental activities

Charges for services
General government 673,684$         169,056$         434,079$         456,628$         
Public safety 64,149             28,626             45,266             178,886           
Public works -                       37,230             62,077             48,019             
Culture and recreation -                       109,367           112,515           155,458           
Economic development -                       -                       -                       -                       
Cemetery -                       45,260             39,500             44,175             
Capital projects -                       

Operating grants and contributions 1,305,081        1,115,154        1,051,443        1,057,562        
Capital grants and contributions -                       -                       -                       -                       

Total government activities
  program revenues 2,042,914        1,504,693        1,744,880        1,940,728        

Business-type activities
Charges for services

Liquor 2,645,500        2,853,810        2,805,744        2,883,872        
Electric 5,267,408        4,764,417        5,416,970        5,381,694        
Water 547,318           555,809           581,412           625,425           
Wastewater 757,228           734,175           912,171           829,454           
Storm water -                       -                       -                       -                       

Operating grants and contributions -                       -                       -                       -                       
Capital grants and contributions -                       -                       -                       -                       

Total business-type activities
  program revenues 9,217,454        8,908,211        9,716,297        9,720,445        

Total primary government
  program revenues 11,260,368$    10,412,904$    11,461,177$    11,661,173$    

116          

City of Mora
Changes in Net Position
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Unaudited



Table 2 (Continued)

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

636,825$         524,732$         549,250$         573,960$         474,247$         627,901$         
992,749           990,412           679,097           868,520           1,006,076        1,151,488        
832,453           899,069           647,172           1,218,149        1,295,146        1,188,951        
322,420           410,756           364,861           325,858           407,854           280,603           
117,556           676,903           500,669           267,417           96,951             162,786           

73,064             70,931             39,845             47,538             27,885             54,796             
375,513           83,907             811,872           449,426           -                       -                       

84,388             83,034             115,890           112,847           98,063             89,676             
3,434,968        3,739,744        3,708,656        3,863,715        3,406,222        3,556,201        

2,751,495        2,845,219        2,848,151        3,098,021        3,052,355        3,845,195        
5,139,160        5,233,142        5,380,104        5,730,054        5,144,174        4,954,573        

591,704           594,067           610,671           749,392           726,154           712,296           
860,989           732,519           979,108           1,139,110        1,145,180        1,056,454        

-                       -                       -                       -                       82,242             52,031             
9,343,348        9,404,947        9,818,034        10,716,577      10,150,105      10,620,549      

12,778,316$    13,144,691$    13,526,690$    14,580,292$    13,556,327$    14,176,750$    

492,582$         353,641$         328,958$         329,748$         38,153$           29,695$           
239,819           239,448           326,855           246,978           244,073           189,778           

47,941             112,263           120,301           145,707           75,568             61,936             
167,364           157,762           147,141           154,861           145,745           1,277               

-                       -                       -                       -                       1,144               1,144               
45,335             62,600             48,510             56,655             71,315             54,750             
10,400             8,400               910                  -                       -                       -                       

1,125,972        1,285,474        1,557,087        1,276,675        208,793           538,192           
161,878           150,209           805,216           34,024             1,262,210        519,032           

2,291,291        2,369,797        3,334,978        2,244,648        2,047,001        1,395,804        

3,072,768        3,197,563        3,193,135        3,283,903        3,407,656        4,446,608        
5,469,025        5,618,004        5,480,407        5,719,120        5,850,513        5,333,279        

669,507           680,043           734,543           768,010           742,756           782,430           
3,337,175        1,993,661        1,144,778        1,101,131        1,028,004        1,032,854        

-                       -                       -                       -                       99,496             101,910           
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
-                       -                       -                       -                       324,452           53,461             

12,548,475      11,489,271      10,552,863      10,872,164      11,452,877      11,750,542      

14,839,766$    13,859,068$    13,887,841$    13,116,812$    13,499,878$    13,146,346$    

117                           



2011 2012 2013 2014
Program Revenues

Net (expense)/revenue
Governmental activities (1,980,407)$     (1,510,538)$     (1,441,454)$     (1,323,805)$     
Business-type activities 162,381           (196,158)          681,997           616,661           

Total primary government net expense (1,818,026)$     (1,706,696)$     (759,457)$        (707,144)$        

General Revenues and Other
  Changes in Net Position

Governmental activities
General revenues

Property taxes 576,629$         615,824$         605,942$         625,105$         
Special assessments 163,858           12,695             780                  -                       
Tax increment 174,918           131,818           121,599           131,854           
Unrestricted state aid -                       -                       -                       -                       
Unrestricted investment earnings 41,750             73,077             82,746             53,802             
Other general revenue 667,798           104,419           266,107           738,566           
Gain on sale of assets -                       -                       -                       1,200               
Transfers 270,000           270,000           270,000           720,001           

Total governmental activities 1,894,953        1,207,833        1,347,174        2,270,528        

Business-type activities
General revenues

Unrestricted investment earnings 196,135$         840,280$         109,317$         137,802$         
Gain on sale of assets -                       -                       -                       -                       
Transfers (270,000)          (270,000)          (270,000)          (730,001)          

Total business-type activities (73,865)            570,280           (160,683)          (592,199)          

Total primary government 1,821,088$      1,778,113$      1,186,491$      1,678,329$      

Change in net position
Governmental activities (85,454)$          (302,705)$        (94,280)$          946,723$         
Business-type activities 88,516             374,122           521,314           24,462             

Total primary government 3,062$             71,417$           427,034$         971,185$         

Note:  In 2012, the City implemented GASB Statement No. 63, which retitled Net Assets as Net Position.

Source:  City of Mora, audited financial statements. 118          

Changes in Net Position
Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Unaudited

City of Mora



Table 2 (Concluded)

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

(1,143,677)$     (1,369,947)$     (373,678)$        (1,619,067)$     (1,359,221)$     (2,160,397)$     
3,205,127        2,084,324        734,829           155,587           1,302,772        1,129,993        

2,061,450$      714,377$         361,151$         (1,463,480)$     (56,449)$          (1,030,404)$     

623,338$         653,211$         697,963$         815,950$         830,963$         892,255$         
198,346           121,236           376,534           144,541           -                       -                       
123,271           118,742           112,999           114,454           107,743           134,395           

-                       -                       -                       -                       930,998           994,224           
36,900             53,105             30,113             31,411             79,453             63,594             

421,101           20,259             65,963             737,668           308,721           304,777           
-                       68,002             71,964             9,500               6,212               10,000             

694,440           293,633           230,686           304,810           352,755           286,322           
2,097,396        1,328,188        1,586,222        2,158,334        2,616,845        2,685,567        

134,193$         150,528$         137,745$         146,893$         299,301$         242,902$         
-                       -                       -                       -                       911                  500                  

(694,440)          (363,546)          (275,565)          (354,663)          (352,755)          (286,322)          
(560,247)          (213,018)          (137,820)          (207,770)          (52,543)            (42,920)            

1,537,149$      1,115,170$      1,448,402$      1,950,564$      2,564,302$      2,642,647$      

953,719$         (41,759)$          1,212,544$      539,267$         1,257,624$      525,170$         
2,644,880        1,871,306        597,009           (52,183)            1,250,229        1,087,073        

3,598,599$      1,829,547$      1,809,553$      487,084$         2,507,853$      1,612,243$      

119                           



2011 2012 2013 2014
General Fund

Nonspendable 48,911$           48,547$           31,684$           37,227$           
Unassigned 1,006,954        1,065,516        1,144,303        1,115,324        

Total general fund 1,055,865$      1,114,063$      1,175,987$      1,152,551$      

All Other Governmental Funds
Nonspendable 778$                796$                10,366$           10,226$           
Restricted 652,354           712,259           380,947           671,315           
Committed -                       -                       -                       -                       
Assigned 94,517             109,329           304,790           46,890             
Unassigned, reported in

Special revenue funds (981,685)          (2,007,356)       (1,715,355)       (1,184,176)       
Capital projects funds -                       -                       -                       -                       

Total all other governmental funds (234,036)$        (1,184,972)$     (1,019,252)$     (455,745)$        

Note:  The City implemented GASB Statement No. 54 in 2011, resulting in a change in fund  balance classifications.
 

Source:  City of Mora, audited financial statements. 120          

Fiscal Year

City of Mora
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years
Unaudited 



Table 3

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

361,186$         -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     29,279$           
1,290,128        1,158,986        1,115,118        1,126,538        1,525,168        1,866,866        

1,651,314$      1,158,986$      1,115,118$      1,126,538$      1,525,168$      1,896,145$      

9,827$             -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     123,519$         
330,233           390,319           640,136           717,266           1,027,509        933,740           

-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       14,296             
123,519           123,636           124,032           124,531           1,216,610        1,248,182        

(446,334)          (721,800)          (744,068)          (176,064)          (214,889)          (189,550)          
-                       -                       -                       (558,096)          (1,312,720)       (1,107,755)       

17,245$           (207,845)$        20,100$           107,637$         716,510$         1,022,432$      

121

Fiscal Year



2011 2012 2013 2014
Revenues

Property taxes 561,906$         615,824$         605,942$         625,105$         
Tax increments 174,919           131,818           121,599           131,854           
Licenses and permits 42,635             39,180             40,788             31,748             
Special assessments 16,850             3,997               (12,939)            45,594             
Intergovernmental 1,334,430        1,115,154        1,051,443        1,056,661        
Charges for services 333,956           346,362           693,437           664,426           
Fines and forfeits 21,514             23,080             23,208             18,488             
Interest income 101,245           73,077             38,246             53,802             
Contributions and donations -                       -                       -                       -                       
Miscellaneous revenue 412,403           384,284           215,830           162,255           

Total revenues 2,999,858        2,732,776        2,777,554        2,789,933        

Expenditures
General government 551,344           638,779           439,181           484,267           
Public safety 1,280,949        923,748           942,906           859,463           
Public works 597,855           433,104           450,577           519,045           
Culture and recreation 291,450           284,573           244,085           315,873           
Housing and economic development 184,188           115,732           119,608           114,571           
Cemetery 53,437             40,549             44,258             56,325             
Capital outlay 359,507           422,030           173,267           136,302           
Miscellaneous -                       159,185           192,447           
Debt service

Principal 200,500           910,500           195,500           259,475           
Interest 118,461           126,499           95,843             32,095             

Total expenditures 3,637,691        3,895,514        2,864,410        2,969,863        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
  over (under) expenditures (637,833)          (1,162,738)       (86,856)            (179,930)          

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                       -                       -                       -                       
Transfers in 1,275,208        1,197,121        489,275           1,372,153        
Transfers out (1,005,208)       (927,121)          (219,275)          (652,152)          
Insurance recoveries -                       -                       -                       -                       
Miscellaenous -                       -                       -                       -                       
Bond issuance and bond premium/discount 667,798           -                       44,500             -                       

Total other financing sources (uses) 937,798           270,000           314,500           720,001           

Net change in fund balances 299,965$         (892,738)$        227,644$         540,071$         

Debt service as a percentage of
  noncapital expenditures 9.7% 29.9% 10.8% 10.3%

Source:  City of Mora, audited financial statements. 122          

Fiscal Year

City of Mora
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
Unaudited 



Table 4

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

623,338$         663,581$         710,951$         828,075$         811,165$         890,337$         
123,271           108,372           101,010           102,328           107,743           134,395           

70,300             100,290           160,333           143,624           110,729           60,021             
198,346           103,157           376,520           75,527             124,675           115,581           

1,283,162        1,651,715        2,287,145        1,226,965        1,808,464        1,771,595        
753,030           688,885           665,774           713,216           655,525           464,606           

21,227             18,452             16,535             15,121             15,798             12,285             
36,900             69,535             23,711             18,748             79,453             63,594             

-                       -                       -                       9,500               105,752           141,264           
584,673           284,210           310,194           252,684           123,712           153,424           

3,694,247        3,688,197        4,652,173        3,385,788        3,943,016        3,807,102        

489,714           499,528           580,989           530,517           483,499           578,190           
879,060           890,992           965,431           939,538           962,396           965,140           
419,584           494,872           1,039,319        1,058,502        824,458           681,864           
316,436           344,588           300,443           319,069           357,429           218,929           
105,590           676,903           500,669           154,570           99,444             162,319           

55,113             65,416             33,833             27,172             27,685             48,794             
2,238,898        667,486           2,259,304        224,871           349,625           457,715           

261,536           448,210           66,556             5,798               -                       -                       

1,944,504        192,500           231,000           211,000           229,990           259,525           
34,583             93,753             84,579             120,604           103,925           95,999             

6,745,018        4,374,248        6,062,123        3,591,641        3,438,451        3,468,475        

(3,050,771)       (686,051)          (1,409,950)       (205,853)          504,565           338,627           

-                       -                       -                       -                       6,212               10,000             
1,593,712        1,022,822        1,124,511        743,432           853,157           778,378           
(899,272)          (729,189)          (893,825)          (438,622)          (500,402)          (492,056)          

-                       -                       -                       -                       77,604             41,950             
-                       -                       38,341             79,439             -                       -                       

3,003,084        -                       1,325,000        -                       -                       -                       
3,697,524        293,633           1,594,027        384,249           436,571           338,272           

646,753$         (392,418)$        184,077$         178,396$         941,136$         676,899$         

43.9% 7.7% 8.3% 9.8% 10.8% 11.8%

123

Fiscal Year



Fiscal Year
Residential 

Property
Commercial 

Property
Industrial 
Property

Other Taxable 
Property

Total Estimated 
Market Value

2011 133,890,500$    31,354,500$      7,891,100$        4,617,000$        177,753,100$    
2012 120,843,900      31,643,500        7,883,700          4,353,100          164,724,200      
2013 110,442,700      31,430,600        8,247,400          4,777,000          154,897,700      
2014 105,824,200      31,227,500        8,648,600          4,288,341          149,988,641      
2015 119,502,400      30,956,300        8,506,000          3,187,129          162,151,829      
2016 119,776,300      29,256,300        7,564,000          3,082,045          159,678,645      
2017 130,143,700      33,107,700        7,690,000          2,168,100          173,109,500      
2018 148,086,300      36,936,600        7,860,300          1,581,600          194,464,800      
2019 160,337,000      40,951,800        9,234,700          1,512,800          212,036,300      
2020 166,160,000      51,219,500        10,892,400        1,451,100          229,723,000      

Figures from Kanabec County Assessor - PRISM 2: County Mini Summary Report

124

City of Mora, MN
Taxable Assessed Value of Taxable Property

Last Ten Fiscal Years



Table 5

Total Tax 
Capacity of 

Taxable Property

Total Direct Tax 
Rate as a Per 
Cent of Tax 

Capacity

1,974,492$        29.465
1,734,974          35.987
1,551,770          38.459
1,572,709          39.054
1,704,137          40.268
1,666,106          40.049
1,843,056          42.344
2,104,139          42.727
2,337,141          39.351
2,664,948          39.304

125



Fiscal Year General Fund Debt Service
Total City Tax 

Rate School County
Region 

(ECRDC)

2011 17.107 12.358 29.465 17.347 80.318 0.175
2012 18.564 17.423 35.987 16.500 97.876 0.216
2013 20.560 17.899 38.459 19.410 103.078 0.226
2014 23.861 15.193 39.054 19.697 111.355 0.257
2015 22.216 18.052 40.268 7.216 104.869 0.235
2016 20.619 19.430 40.049 26.106 100.155 0.229
2017 20.927 21.417 42.344 27.979 100.815 0.234
2018 24.781 17.946 42.727 28.106 96.536 0.218
2019 25.164 14.187 39.351 27.060 93.131 0.212
2020 25.981 13.323 39.304 25.464 92.419 0.201

Figures from Kanabec County Auditor 126

City of Mora, MN
Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates

as a Percentage of Net Tax Capacity
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Direct City Rates Overlapping Rates



Total Direct 
and 

Overlapping 
Rates

Region 
(KCEDA) Total Tax Rate

127.305
150.579
161.173
170.363
152.588
166.539

1.661 173.033
1.496 169.083
1.386 161.140
1.361 158.749

127

Table 6



Taxpayer
Net Taxable Tax 

Capacity Rank

Percentage of 
Total Net City 
Tax Capacity

Engineered Polymers Corp. 74,866$           1 2.81%
Recovering Hope Treatment Center (RHTC LLC) 61,676             2 2.31%
First Citizens Bank (FKA Kanabec State Bank) 43,672             3 1.64%
Coborn's Inc. 40,567             4 1.52%
Birchwood Investment Prop LLC (FKA Gorham Housing Partners LLP) 38,344             5 1.44%
Minmor, LLC (FKA Fingerhut) 37,970             6 1.42%
Spire Credit Union (FKA Greater MN Credit Union) 31,418             7 1.18%
Daniel G Kamin Mora LLC (Shopko) 21,216             8 0.80%
Eldris, LLC 20,010             9 0.75%
Living Services Foundation 19,518             10 0.73%
Kanabec County
Living Solutions II

Total 389,257           14.61%

Total Net Taxable Tax Capacity 2,664,948$      

Source: Data from the Kanabec County Assessor 128

City of Mora, MN
Principal Property Tax Payers

Current Year and Nine Years Ago

2020



Table 7

Net Taxable Tax 
Capacity Rank

Percentage of 
Total Net City 
Tax Capacity

58,240$           1 2.95%

44,982             3 2.28%
32,522             8 1.65%
41,124             5 2.08%
33,488             6 1.70%
32,982             7 1.67%
16,484             9 0.83%

48,563             2 2.46%
43,418             4 2.20%
15,794             10 0.80%

367,597           18.62%

1,974,492$      

129

2011



Fiscal Year
General Fund 

Levy
Debt Service 

Levy
Taxes Levied 

for Fiscal Year Amount
Percentage of 

Levy

Collections in 
Subsequent 

Years

2011 337,780$       244,007$       581,787$       543,800$       93.47% 37,836$         
2012 308,033         289,098         597,131         576,120         96.48% 20,877           
2013 319,051         277,752         596,803         573,151         96.04% 23,355           
2014 298,775         287,802         586,577         575,120         98.05% 10,914           
2015 339,794         276,112         615,906         609,110         98.90% 6,186             
2016 322,514         338,000         660,514         645,242         97.69% 14,783           
2017 336,815         344,722         681,537         668,219         98.05% 13,042           
2018 442,988         320,801         763,789         754,367         98.77% 4,953             
2019 517,063         291,522         808,585         797,797         98.67% 6,034             
2020 587,933         301,509         889,442         878,018         98.72% (0)                  

Source: Kanabec County Auditor/Treasurer, Tax Levy Book Report

*Mobile home taxes not included, because MH taxes are not levied. 130

Collected within the Fiscal Year 
of the Levy

City of Mora, MN
Property Tax Levies and Collections*

Last Ten Fiscal Years



Table 8

Amount
Percentage of 

Levy

Outstanding 
Delinquent 

Taxes

581,636$       99.97% 151$              
596,997         99.98% 134                
596,506         99.95% 297                
586,034         99.91% 543                
615,297         99.90% 609                
660,025         99.93% 489                
681,261         99.96% 276                
759,321         99.41% 4,468             
803,831         99.41% 4,754             
878,018         98.72% 11,424           

131

Total Collections to Date



Fiscal Year

General 
Obligation 

Bonds

Special 
Assessment 

Bonds
Equipment 
Certificates Electric Bonds

Storm Water 
Bonds Water Bonds

2011 1,695,000$     2,470,000$     -$                    -$                    -$                    1,561,000$     
2012 875,000          1,710,995       -                      -                      -                      1,774,688       
2013 770,000          2,220,000       -                      -                      -                      1,361,000       
2014 665,000          2,085,000       -                      -                      -                      1,292,000       
2015 1,945,000       1,770,000       -                      -                      -                      1,222,000       
2016 1,850,000       1,710,000       -                      -                      -                      1,151,000       
2017 1,715,000       2,900,000       -                      -                      -                      1,078,000       
2018 1,590,000       2,770,000       -                      -                      -                      1,004,000       
2019 1,180,000       1,944,760       -                      -                      567,735          1,129,854       
2020 1,069,247       1,841,587       -                      -                      544,321          1,033,198       

* Personal Income figures are not available. 
NA = not available

132

City of Mora, MN
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type

Last Ten Fiscal Years



Table 9

Total Primary 
Government

Percentage of 
Personal 
Income* Per Capita

6,466,500$     NA 1,811$            
4,649,920       NA 1,302              
4,351,000       NA 1,218              
4,042,000       NA 1,132              
7,141,366       NA 2,000              
7,822,367       NA 2,191              
8,749,957       NA 2,450              
8,259,958       NA 2,313              
7,720,958       NA 2,162              
7,220,961       NA 2,022              

133



Fiscal Year

General 
Obligation 

Bonds

LESS: Amounts 
Available in 
Debt Service  

Funds
Net General 

Bonded Debt
Taxable Market 

Value

GO Bond 
Percentage of 

Taxable Market 
Value

2011 1,695,000$        169,406$           1,525,594$        177,753,100$    0.86%
2012 875,000             229,920             645,080             164,724,200      0.39%
2013 770,000             186,627             583,373             154,897,700      0.38%
2014 665,000             156,038             508,962             149,988,641      0.34%
2015 1,945,000          146,833             1,798,167          162,151,829      1.11%
2016 1,850,000          179,425             1,670,575          159,678,645      1.05%
2017 1,715,000          204,294             1,510,706          169,004,825      0.89%
2018 1,590,000          212,121             1,377,879          190,046,055      0.73%
2019 1,460,000          219,942             1,240,058          207,264,615      0.60%
2020 1,060,000          224,535             835,465             225,249,310      0.37%

134

City of Mora, MN
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding

Last Ten Fiscal Years



Table 10

Population Per Capita

3,571                 427$                  
3,571                 181                    
3,528                 165                    
3,523                 144                    
3,518                 511                    
3,518                 475                    
3,504                 431                    
3,507                 393                    
3,598                 345                    
3,615                 231                    

135



Governmental Unit

Direct Debt 
Outstanding 

(not including 
business-type 

activities)

Overlapping 
Debt 

Outstanding

Direct and 
Overlapping 

Debt
Taxable Net 
Tax Capacity

Kanabec County -$                    6,450,000$     6,450,000$     14,157,357$   
Independent School District 332 -                      79,605,000     79,605,000     9,504,996       

Subtotal 86,055,000     86,055,000     23,662,353     

City of Mora 2,910,834       -                      2,910,834       2,664,948       
Grand Total 2,910,834       86,055,000     88,965,834     

Figures from Kanabec County Auditor & Assessor

136

City of Mora
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt

NOTE: Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographic boundaries of the city.  The City of Mora 
lies wholly within the geographic boundaries of Kanabec County and ISD #332.  This schedule estimates the portion of the outstanding 
debt of those overlapping governments that is borne by the residents and businesses of Mora.  This process recognizes that, when 
considering the city's ability to issue and repay long-term debt, the entire debt burden borne by the residents and businesses should be 
considered.

* For debt repaid with property taxes, the percentage of overlapping debt applicable is estimated using taxable net tax capacities.  
Applicable percentages were estimated by determining the portion of another governmental unit's NTC that is within the city's boundaries 
and dividing that amount by each unit's NTC.



Table 11

Taxable Net 
Tax Capacity 

Within the 
City's 

Boundaries

Percentage of 
Direct and 

Overlapping 
Debt  

Applicable to 
the City*

City's 
Estimated 

Share of Debt

2,664,948$     18.82% 1,214,133$     
2,664,948       28.04% 22,319,124     
5,329,896       22.52% 23,533,257     

2,664,948       100.00% 2,910,834       
26,444,091     

137



Fiscal Year
Taxable Market 

Value
Debt Limit 

3.00%
Debt Applicable 

to Limit
Legal Debt 

Margin
Debt Percentage 

of Limit

2011 177,753,100$   5,332,593$       1,695,000$       3,637,593$       31.79%
2012 164,724,200     4,941,726         875,000            4,066,726         17.71%
2013 154,897,700     4,646,931         770,000            3,876,931         16.57%
2014 149,988,641     4,499,659         665,000            3,834,659         14.78%
2015 162,151,829     4,864,555         1,945,000         2,919,555         39.98%
2016 160,962,100     4,828,863         1,850,000         2,978,863         38.31%
2017 169,004,825     5,070,145         1,715,000         3,355,145         33.83%
2018 190,046,055     5,701,382         1,590,000         4,111,382         27.89%
2019 207,264,615     6,217,938         1,460,000         4,757,938         23.48%
2020 225,249,310     6,757,479         1,060,000         5,697,479         15.69%

138

Legal Debt Margin Information
Last Ten Fiscal Years

City of Mora, MN

Table 12



Table 13

Fiscal Year
Utility 

Revenues Less: Expenses
Net Available 

Revenue Principal Interest Coverage

2011 571,820$        606,162$        -$                    846,326$        65,117$          0%
2012 580,054          619,187          -                      149,606          41,522            0%
2013 585,937          582,613          3,324              87,446            39,709            3%
2014 626,049          659,693          -                      88,186            38,536            0%
2015 670,645          773,259          -                      89,846            36,983            0%
2016 682,339          594,661          87,678            90,846            37,295            68%
2017 745,307          611,606          133,700          93,506            18,205            120%
2018 773,714          651,246          122,469          97,822            26,837            98%
2019 822,238          744,947          77,291            97,182            24,818            63%
2020 827,414          728,535          98,879            98,182            24,378            81%

Fiscal Year
Utility 

Revenues Less: Expenses
Net Available 

Revenue Principal Interest Coverage

2011 780,801$        807,184$        -$                    291,974$        45,850$          0%
2012 782,258          738,246          44,012            756,474          19,812            6%
2013 923,213          732,007          191,206          15,974            11,630            693%
2014 836,366          730,607          105,759          16,814            11,268            377%
2015 3,345,883       1,035,318       2,310,564       17,654            10,857            8104%
2016 2,003,611       733,112          1,270,499       58,011            30,788            1431%
2017 1,224,070       980,043          244,028          178,494          37,138            113%
2018 1,110,230       982,930          127,300          181,178          36,167            59%
2019 1,208,536       1,171,633       36,903            179,818          34,063            17%
2020 1,136,779       1,070,370       66,410            176,234          34,149            32%

Fiscal Year
Utility 

Revenues Less: Expenses
Net Available 

Revenue Principal Interest Coverage

2011 -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -                      
2012 -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
2013 -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
2014 -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
2015 -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
2016 -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
2017 -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
2018 -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
2019 230,075          84,655            145,420          32,009            16,509            300%
2020 104,372          56,582            47,790            32,475            16,205            98%

139

Storm Water Revenue Bonds

City of Mora
Pledged-Revenue Coverage

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Water Revenue Bonds

Sewer Revenue Bonds



Year Population (1)
Total Personal 

Income

Per Capita 
Personal Income 

(1) Median Age (1)

Per Cent HS 
Degree or 
Higher (1)

Per Cent BA 
Degree or 
Higher (1)

2011 3,557                NA NA NA NA NA
2012 3,518                NA NA NA NA NA
2013 3,528                NA NA NA NA NA
2014 3,523                NA NA NA NA NA
2015 3,518                NA NA NA NA NA
2016 3,518                NA NA NA NA NA
2017 3,504                NA NA NA NA NA
2018 3,507                NA NA NA NA NA
2019 3,598                NA NA NA NA NA
2020 3,615                NA NA NA NA NA

NA-not available
(1) MN State Demographer, except 2010 data from US Census
(2) Data from Mora Public Schools
(3) Data from MN Department of Employment and Economic Development

140

City of Mora, MN
Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Calendar Years



Table 14

School 
Enrollment (2)

Unemployment 
Rate-December 

(3)

1,777                10.80%
1,761                11.00%
1,755                9.80%
1,651                7.70%
1,645                8.10%
1,719                8.10%
1,602                7.30%
1,621                6.90%
1,593                8.80%
1,580                7.60%

141



Employer Employees Rank

Welia Health (formerly FirstLight Health System) 525                 1
Mora Public Schools 320                 2
Kanabec County 217                 3
Commercial Plastics (formerly Imperial Plastics, formerly EPC) 133                 4
Coborns, Inc. 132                 5
St. Clare Living Community (formerly Villa Health Care Center) 129                 6
Lakes & Pines Community Action Council 97                   7
RJ Mechanical 82                   8
OlymPak 71                   9
Recovering Hope Treatment Center 69                   10
City of Mora * -                      -             

Total 1,775              

Source: City Survey of Employers, completed annually in April

* City of Mora was eliminated from the 2020 survey, due to loss of seasonal employees

142

City of Mora, MN
Principal Employers

Current Year and Four Years Ago

2020



Table 15
2020

Percent of Total Employees Rank Percent of Total

29.6% 373                 1 20.2%
18.0% 327                 2 17.7%
12.2% 214                 4 11.6%
7.5% 221                 3 12.0%
7.4% 163                 5 8.8%
7.3% 160                 6 8.7%
5.5% 109                 7 5.9%
4.6% 80                   10 4.3%
4.0% 112                 7 6.1%
3.9% -                      - 0.0%
0.0% 87                   9 4.7%

100.0% 1,846              100.0%

143

2011



Function/Program 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
General Government

Management Services 3 2 3 3 2 2
Finance** 5 5 4 4 4 3
Planning 1 1 1 1 1 1
Building 1 1 1 1 1 1

Streets & Parks** 4 4 5 5 4 5
Aquatic Center 0 3 1 1 2 2
Electric 3 3 3 3 3 3
Water/Wastewater** 4 4 4 4 3 5
Liquor Store 2 2 2 2 2 2

Total 23 25 24 24 22 24

*Data from city payroll records
** Information different in this table than was previously recorded. Adjustments were first published with the 2013 annual report, 

144

City of Mora, MN
Full-time Equivalent Employees by Function/Program

Full-time Equivalent Employees as of June 30*



Table 16

2014 2013 2012 2011

2 2 2 2
3 3 3 3
1 1 1 1
1 1 1 1
6 6 7 7
1 1 1 1
3 3 3 3
5 5 5 6
2 2 2 2

24 24 25 26

145

Full-time Equivalent Employees as of June 30*



Function/Program 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Police-contracted with the sheriff starting March 1, 2010
Physical arrests 27            92            76            69            75            
Parking violations 151          200          186          6              21            
Traffic violations 454          1,487       1,678       1,969       2,061       

Fire
Emergency responses 92            113          102          103          90            
Fires extinguished 64            51            41            44            15            
Inspections 7              10            16            -          10            

Public Works
Street resurfacing (miles) 1.25         0.75         1.00         0.75         2.75         
Potholes repaired 720          630          405          220          410          

Library
Visits 6,324       29,856     31,983     37,603     39,517     
Items in collection 17,677     16,403     12,460     20,984     21,523     
Total items borrowed 19,563     42,194     47,282     51,147     52,460     
Computer Use 10,890     25,781     9,540       6,592       6,471       

Water
Total connections 1,229       1,219       1,173       1,165       1,158       
Water-main breaks 2 1 3 3 3

NA-not available
Data from City of Mora department managers

146

City of Mora, MN
Operating Indicators by Function/Program

Last Ten Fiscal Years



Table 17
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

59            54            1,252       745          908          
356          287          165          165          158          

1,391       1,303       1,293       913          1,359       

109          70            54            92            75            
39            29            36            56            43            

-              9              13            8              7              

-              -              -              0.25         0.49         
305          270          297          135          167          

39,999     37,693     41,619     47,117     49,403     
22,490     38,814     32,000     30,000     30,000     
54,768     56,153     58,486     67,313     87,000     

6,576       6,699       5,866       6,170       8,614       

1,155       1,168       1,172       1,173       1,179       
2 4 -              -              -              

147



2020 2019 2018 2017
Function/Program
Law Enforcement-Contracted with Sheriff's Dept Starting in 2010

Stations 1                 1                 1                 1                 
Patrol Units 5                 5                 5                 5                 

Fire Stations 1                 1                 1                 1                 
Other Public Works

Streets (miles) 24               24               24               24               
Street lights 699             695             693             690             

Parks and recreation
Acreage 28               28               28               28               
Playgrounds 4                 4                 4                 4                 
Baseball/softball fields 3                 3                 3                 3                 
Walking/biking trails (miles) 5                 5                 5                 5                 

Water
Water mains (miles) 18.00          18.00          18.00          18.00          
Fire hydrants 281             281             281             281             
Storage capacity (gallons) 700,000      700,000      700,000      700,000      

Wastewater
Sanitary sewers (miles) 16.00          16.00          16.00          16.00          
Storm sewers (miles) 7.00            7.00            7.00            6.87            
Treatment capacity (gallons/day) 825,000      825,000      800,000      800,000      

Data from City of Mora department managers 148

City of Mora, MN
Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program

Last Ten Fiscal Years



Table 18
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

1                 1                 1                 1                 1 1                 
5                 5                 5                 5                 5 5                 
1                 1                 1                 1                 1 1                 

24               24               24               24               24.16          24.16          
690             458             458             458             458             458             

28               28               28               28               28.44          28.44          
4                 4                 4                 4                 4                 4                 
3                 3                 3                 3                 3                 3                 
5                 5                 5                 5                 4.80            4.80            

18.00          18.00          18.00          18.00          18.00          18.00          
281             281             281             281             281             281             

700,000      700,000      700,000      700,000      700,000      700,000      

16.00          16.00          16.00          16.00          16.00          16.00          
6.87            6.87            6.87            6.87            6.87            6.87            

800,000      800,000      800,000      800,000      800,000      800,000      

149



 

 

City of Mora 

Kanabec County, Minnesota 

 

Communications Letter 

 

December 31, 2020 
 

 



 

 

City of Mora 

Table of Contents 

 

 

Report on Matters Identified as a Result of 

  the Audit of the Financial Statements 1 

 

Material Weakness 3 

 

Other Deficiency 4  

 

Required Communication 5 

 

Financial Analysis 9 

 

Emerging Issue 23 

 



 

1 

 
 

Report on Matters Identified as a Result of  
the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 
 
Honorable Mayor, Members 
  of the City Council and Management  
City of Mora 
Mora, Minnesota  
 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the governmental activities, 
business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City of Mora as of and for the year ended December, 31, 2020, in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States, we considered the City's internal control over financial reporting (internal 
control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the 
purpose of expressing our opinion on the basic financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control over financial reporting.  
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that 
have not been identified. In addition, because of inherent limitations in internal control, including the 
possibility of management override of controls, misstatements due to error, or fraud may occur and not 
be detected by such controls. However, as discussed below, we identified a deficiency in internal control 
that we consider to be a material weakness. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the City's financial statements will not be prevented, or 
detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A reasonable possibility exists when the likelihood of an event 
occurring is either reasonably possible or probable as defined as follows: 
 

 Reasonably possible. The chance of the future event or events occurring is more than remote but 
less than likely. 

 
 Probable. The future event or events are likely to occur. 

 
The material weakness identified is stated within this letter.  
 



 

2 

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 

severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 

governance.  

 

During our audit, we also became aware of a deficiency in internal control other than significant 

deficiencies or material weaknesses, and other matters that is an opportunity for strengthening internal 

controls and operating efficiency. The item is described in the accompany letter under Other Deficiency.  

 

The accompanying memorandum also includes financial analysis provided as a basis for discussion. The 

matters discussed herein were considered by us during our audit and they do not modify the opinion 

expressed in our Independent Auditor's Report dated March 23, 2021, on such statements.  

 

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, the City Council, 

others within the City and state oversight agencies and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by 

anyone other than these specified parties. 

 

 
St. Cloud, Minnesota 

March 23, 2021 

 

 



 

3 

City of Mora 

Material Weakness 

 

 

Lack of Segregation of Accounting Duties 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the City had a lack of segregation of accounting duties due 

to a limited number of office employees. The lack of adequate segregation of accounting duties could 

adversely affect the Company's ability to initiate, record, process and report financial data consistent 

with the assertions of management in the financial statements.  

 

The lack of segregation of accounting duties can be demonstrated in the following areas, which is not 

intended to be an all-inclusive list: 

- Bank reconciliations are not reviewed 

 - Payroll is not reviewed prior to payment 

 - One staff has access to add employees, change pay rates, and process payroll 

 - The accountant has full access to the general ledger 

 - The accountant maintains the capital asset records without any review 

 - Any finance department staff can receipt cash and record deposits in the system 

 

Management and the City Council are aware of this condition and have taken certain steps to 

compensate for the lack of segregation. However, due to the small staff needed to handle all of the 

accounting duties, the costs of obtaining desirable segregation of accounting duties can often exceed 

benefits which could be derived. However, management, along with the City Council must remain 

aware of this situation and should continually monitor the accounting system, including changes that 

occur. 



 

4 

City of Mora 

Other Deficiency 

 

 

Adopt a Fund Balance Policy in Accordance with GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance 

  Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions 

GASB Statement No. 54 was enacted to enhance the usefulness of fund balance information by 

providing clearer fund balance classifications that can be more consistently applied and by clarifying the 

existing governmental fund type definitions. The initial distinction that is made in the reporting fund 

balance information is identifying amounts that are considered nonspendable, such as fund balance 

associated with inventories or prepaid expenses. This Statement also provides for additional 

classification as restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned based on the relative strength of the 

constraints that control how specific amounts can be spent. 

 

The restricted fund balance category includes amounts that can be spent only for the specific purposes 

stipulated by constitution, external resource providers or through enabling legislation. The committed 

fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes determined 

by a formal action of the government's highest level of decision-making authority. Amounts in the 

assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the government for specific purposes but 

do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. In governmental funds other than the 

general fund, assigned fund balance represents the remaining amount that is not restricted or committed, 

unless that is a negative balance. Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the 

government's general fund and includes all spendable amounts not contained in the other classifications. 

In other funds, the unassigned classification should be used only to report a deficit balance resulting 

from overspending for specific purposes for which amounts have been restricted, committed, or 

assigned.  

 

Governments are allowed to have stabilization amounts which are formally set aside for use in 

emergency situations or when revenue shortages or budgetary imbalances arise. These funds must be 

restricted or committed for a specific purpose and cannot occur routinely. 

 

Governments are required to have a fund balance policy which addresses a reasonable minimum level of 

unrestricted fund balance to be maintained, how the unrestricted fund balance can be used or spent down 

and how that fund balance will be replenished if it falls below the minimum level.  

 

 

 



 

5 

City of Mora 

Required Communication 

 

 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities, each 

major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City for the year ended December 31, 

2020. Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters related to our audit. 

 

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit 

As communicated in our engagement letter, our responsibility, as described by professional standards, is 

to form and express opinions about whether the financial statements prepared by management with your 

oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of these statements do not relieve you or 

management of its respective responsibilities.  

 

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain 

reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether these statements are free of material 

misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial 

reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control over financial 

reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the City solely for the 

purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal 

control. 

 

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our 

professional judgement, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. 

However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to 

communicate to you. 

 

Generally accepted accounting principles provide for certain Required Supplementary Information (RSI) 

to supplement the basic financial statements. Our responsibility with respect to the RSI, which 

supplements the basic audit financial statements, is to apply certain limited procedures in accordance 

with generally accepted auditing standards. However, the RSI was not audited and, because the limited 

procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance, 

we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 

 

Our responsibility for the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, as 

described by professional standards, is to evaluate the presentation of the supplementary information in 

relation to the financial statements as a whole and to report on whether the supplementary information is 

fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

 

Our responsibility with respect to the introductory and statistical sections of the audit report does not 

extend beyond the financial information identified in the report. We have no responsibility for 

determining whether this other information is properly stated. This other information was not audited 

and we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it. 



 

6 

City of Mora 

Required Communication 

 

 

Our Responsibility in Relation to Government Auditing Standards  

As communicated in our engagement letter, part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the 

financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of the City's compliance with 

certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which 

could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, 

the objective of our tests was not to provide an opinion on compliance with such provisions.  

 

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to 

you. 

 

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and our network firms have complied 

with all relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.  

 

Qualitative Aspects of Significant Accounting Practices 

 

Significant Accounting Policies  

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the 

significant accounting policies adopted by the City is included in the notes to financial statements. There 

have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes to significant accounting policies or 

their application during 2020. No matters have come to our attention that would require us, under 

professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account for significant unusual 

transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for 

which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 

 

Significant Accounting Estimates 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 

based on management's current judgements. Those judgements are normally based on knowledge and 

experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting 

estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because 

of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from management's current 

judgements. The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were: 

 

Depreciation – The City is currently depreciating its capital assets over their estimated useful lives, 

as determined by management, using the straight-line method. 

 

Total Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB) Liability, Deferred Outflows of Resources Related 

to OPEB and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB – These balances are based on an 

actuarial study using the estimates of future obligations of the City for post employment benefits.  

 

Net Pension Liability, Deferred Outflows of Resources Relating to Pensions, and Deferred Inflows 

of Resources relating to Pensions – These balances are based on an allocation by the pension plans 

using estimates based on contributions. 



 

7 

City of Mora 

Required Communication 

 

 

Qualitative Aspects of Significant Accounting Practices (Continued) 

 

Significant Accounting Estimates (Continued) 

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the accounting estimates and determined 

that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole and in relation to the 

applicable opinion units.  

 

Financial Statement Disclosures 

Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive 

because of their significance to financial statement users. The financial statement disclosures are neutral, 

consistent, and clear. 

 

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of 

the audit. 

 

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements 

For the purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known 

and likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and 

communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require 

us to also communicate the effects of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the 

relevant classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements taken 

as a whole and each applicable opinion unit. Management did not identify and we did not notify 

them of any uncorrected financial statement misstatements.  

 

In addition, professional standards require us to communicate to you all material, corrected 

misstatements that were brought to the attention of management as a result of our audit procedures. 

None of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by management were 

material, either individually or in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole 

 

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a 

matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or 

auditing matter, which could be significant to the City's financial statements or the auditor's report. 

No such disagreements arose during the course of our audit.  

 

Representations Requested from Management 

We have requested certain written representations from management, which are included in the 

management representation letter. 

 

Management's Consultations with Other Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 

accounting matters. Management has informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no 

consultations with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters. 



 

8 

City of Mora 

Required Communication 

 

 

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues 

In the normal course of our professional association with the City, we generally discuss a variety of 

matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, operating and 

regulatory conditions affecting the City, and operating plans and strategies that may affect the risks of 

material misstatement. None of the matters discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as the City's 

auditor.  

 
Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements 
We applied certain limited procedures to the RSI that supplements the basic financial statements. Our 
procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 
 

With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, we made certain 

inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content and methods of preparing the information to 

determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information 

is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and 

reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the 

financial statements or to the financial statements themselves.  

 

We were not engaged to report on the other information accompanying the financial statements but are 

not RSI. Such information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 

basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.  

 



City of Mora 
Financial Analysis 

 
 

9 

The following pages provide graphic representations of select data pertaining to the financial position 

and operations of the City. Our analysis of each graph is presented to provide a basis for discussion of 

past performance and how implementing certain changes may enhance future performance. We suggest 

you view each graph and document if our analysis is consistent with yours. A subsequent discussion of 

this information should be useful for planning purposes. 

 

General Fund – Budget to Actual 

Actual 

Amounts

Revenues

Taxes 589,933$     589,631$    (302)$               

Tax increments 12,000         8,691          (3,309)              

Special assessments -                  557             557                   

Licenses and permits 90,100         60,021        (30,079)            

Intergovernmental 1,221,182    1,617,399   396,217            

Charges for services 524,233       376,198      (148,035)          

Fines and forfeitures 16,000         12,285        (3,715)              

Miscellaenous 49,362         70,900        21,538              

Total revenues 2,502,810    2,735,682   232,872            

Expenditures

General government 548,900       578,190      29,290              

Public safety 817,760       790,137      (27,623)            

Public works 808,921       681,864      (127,057)          

Culture and recreation 444,766       218,929      (225,837)          

Capital outlay 384,240       372,561      (11,679)            

Total expenditures 3,004,587    2,641,681   (362,906)          

Excess of revenues over      

  (under) expenditures (501,777)     94,001        595,778            

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Insurance recoveries -                  41,950        41,950              

Net transfers 413,622       235,026      (178,596)          

Total other financing sources (uses) 413,622       276,976      (136,646)          

Net change in fund balances (88,155)$     370,977$    459,132$          

Variance with 

Final Budget - 

Over (Under)

Original and 

Final Budget

General fund revenues were over budget by $232,872, or 9.3%. The largest variance was in 

intergovernmental revenue, which was $396,217 over budget. This was due to receiving Coronavirus 

Relief Funds not originally included in the budget. Charges for services was under budget $148,035 as a 

result of the aquatic center closure due to COVID-19. 

 

Expenditures were under budget by $362,906, or 12.1%. The largest variance was in culture and 

recreation as a result of the aquatics center being closed due to COVID-19. Public Works was under 

budget, due to conservative budgeting and black-topping projects not completed due to COVID-19. 



City of Mora 
Financial Analysis 

 
 

10 

General Fund – Revenues  

For the year ended December 31, 2020, revenues for the City's General Fund totaled $2,735,682. This 

represents a decrease of $335,088, or 10.9%, compared to 2019. General Fund revenues allocated by 

source for 2020 and 2019 are depicted in the following pie charts. 

 

The City's largest source of revenue, intergovernmental revenues, remained fairly consistent with the 

prior year. Charges for services decreased as a result of the aquatic center closure due to COVID-19. 

Tax revenues increased from the prior year from 17.4% in 2019 to 21.9% in 2020 primarily due to a 

decrease in the charges for services percentage. The City's main revenue streams are taxes and 

intergovernmental revenues. Combined, these sources total 81.0% of revenue in 2020, compared to 

75.9% in 2019. The other categories remained a consistent percentage of total revenues compared the 

prior year. 

 

Taxes

22%

Intergovernmental

59%

Licenses and 

Permits

2%

Charges for 

Services

14%

Other

3%

2020 General Fund Revenues

 

Taxes

17%

Intergovernmental

58%

Licenses and 

Permits

4%

Charges for 

Services

18%

Other

3%

2019 General Fund Revenues

 



City of Mora 
Financial Analysis 

 
 

11 

General Fund – Expenditures  

For the year ended December 31, 2020, expenditures for the City's General Fund totaled $2,641,681. 

This represents a decrease of $159,591, or 5.7%, compared to 2019. General Fund expenditures 

allocated by department for 2020 and 2019 are depicted in the following pie charts. 

 

Public works expenditures decreased due to higher costs in 2019 related to a sidewalk project, truck 

purchase, and airport master plan update. Culture and recreation decreased from 12.8% in 2019 to 8.3% 

due to aquatic center closure in 2020 related to COVID-19. Capital outlay expenditures increased from 

12.2% in 2019 to 14.1% in 2020 again due to the decrease in culture and recreation. The other categories 

remained a consistent percentage of total revenues compared to the prior year. 

 

General 

Government

22%

Public Safety

30%

Public Works

26%

Culture and 

Recreation

8%

Capital Outlay

14%

2020 General Fund Expenditures 

 

General 

Government

17%

Public Safety

28%Public Works

30%

Culture and 

Recreation

13%

Capital Outlay

12%

2019 General Fund Expenditures

 



City of Mora 
Financial Analysis 

 
 

12 

General Fund Operations 

As illustrated in the following graph, revenues exceeded expenditures before taking into consideration 

other financing sources/uses by $94,001 in 2020. After taking into consideration transfers, and insurance 

recoveries, fund balance increased $370,977 or 24.3% from 2019 to 2020.  

 

The General Fund's unassigned fund balance of $1,866,866 as of December 31, 2020, represents 82.3% 

of the year's expenditures, excluding capital outlay. This was an increase in unassigned fund balance of 

$341,698 from 2019. The State Auditor's Statement of Position recommends cities maintain an 

unreserved fund balance of at least 35% to 50% of fund operating revenues, or five months of operating 

expenditures. However, given the City's heavy reliance on property taxes that are not received until half-

way through the year, a larger fund balance may be warranted. The City's policy outlines a minimum of 

40-50% of the annual operating expenditures. 

 

The bar chart below highlights General Fund results for the 2019 and 2020.  

 

2019 2020

Fund Balance 1,525,168 1,896,145

Total Revenue $3,070,770 $2,735,682

Total Expenditures 2,801,272 2,641,681

Total Fund Balance as a Percentage of

Expenditures, excluding capital outlay
62.0% 83.6%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

 $-

 $1,000,000

 $2,000,000

 $3,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $5,000,000

 $6,000,000

 $7,000,000

General Fund Operations

 
 

 



City of Mora 
Financial Analysis 

 
 

13 

Liquor Enterprise Fund 

The graph below illustrates the operations of the Liquor Fund for the past two years.  

 

The Liquor Fund had positive operations again in 2020. Gross profit increased from 2019 by $281,232 

bringing the total to $1,179,407. Gross profit percentage in 2020 was 26.6%, which was consistent with 

2019, at 26.4%. Both sales and cost of sales increased significantly in 2020. This was the result of 

increased sales with the closure of bars and restaurants for most of the year. Sales increased by 

$1,036,754, or 30.5% while cost of sales increased by $755,522 or 30.2%. This resulted in operating 

income of $626,112, which was an increase of $240,664 from 2019. The fund saw an increase in net 

position of $307,188 from prior year after transfers to other funds of $298,488.  

 

2019 2020

Sales $3,402,053 $4,438,807

Cost of Sales 2,503,878 3,259,400

Gross Profit 898,175 1,179,407

Operating Expenses 512,727 553,295

Operating Income 385,448 626,112

 $(200,000)

 $300,000

 $800,000

 $1,300,000

 $1,800,000

 $2,300,000

 $2,800,000

 $3,300,000

 $3,800,000

 $4,300,000

 $4,800,000

Municipal Liquor Fund

 

 



City of Mora 
Financial Analysis 

 
 

14 

Liquor Enterprise Fund (Continued) 

 

2019 2020

Cash and Investments (net of advances) $94,378 $416,394

Unrestricted Net Position (618,810) (256,488)

 $(700,000)

 $(500,000)

 $(300,000)

 $(100,000)

 $100,000

 $300,000

 $500,000

Liquor Fund Cash and Unrestricted Net Position

The above graph shows the cash and investments (net of advances) and unrestricted net position 

balances as for the last two years. As indicated, the fund unrestricted net position is negative at year end 

again in 2020, due to a significant net investment in capital assets of $1,219,237. Even though 

unrestricted net position is negative at year end, it did increase from 2019 by $362,322. 

 

 



City of Mora 
Financial Analysis 

 
 

15 

Water Enterprise Fund 

The graph below illustrates the operations of the Water Fund for the past two years.  

 

The City's Water Fund had operating income of $73,433 in 2020, with depreciation. When factoring out 

depreciation the Water Fund had operating income of $399,047. Charges for services increased by 7.7%, 

or $54,145, as a result of increased usage. Operating expenses decreased from the prior year by 2.1% or 

$15,019. This was due to a new on-call process that reduced overtime costs. Adding nonoperating 

revenues and expenses, and transfers, the Water Fund experienced an increase in net position of 

$108,364.  

 

2019 2020

Operating Revenues $707,206 $761,351

Operating Expenses 702,937 687,918

Operating Income (Loss) 4,269 73,433

Operating Income without Depreciation 323,502 399,047

 $-

 $100,000

 $200,000

 $300,000

 $400,000

 $500,000

 $600,000

 $700,000

 $800,000

Water Fund

 



City of Mora 
Financial Analysis 

 
 

16 

 

Water Enterprise Fund (Continued) 

 

2019 2020

Cash and Investments (net of

advances)
$890,340 $1,139,158

Unrestricted Net Position 966,070 1,222,085

 $-

 $200,000

 $400,000

 $600,000

 $800,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,200,000

Water Fund Cash and Unrestricted Net Position

 
 

The above graph shows the cash and investments (net of advances) and unrestricted net position 

balances as of December 31, 2020, for the water fund. Both cash and investments (net of advances) and 

unrestricted net position increased from 2019.  

 



City of Mora 
Financial Analysis 

 
 

17 

Wastewater Enterprise Fund 

The graph below illustrates the operations of the Wastewater Fund for the past two years.  

 

The Wastewater Fund had negative operations again in 2020, however showed a decrease in operating 

loss of $111,329, which includes depreciation expense. This was primarily due to a decrease in 

operating expenses. Adding nonoperating revenues and expenses, and transfers, the Wastewater Fund 

experienced an increase in net position of $73,572.  

 

2019 2020

Operating Revenues $998,859 $1,019,247

Operating Expenses 1,113,246 1,022,305

Operating Income (loss) (114,387) (3,058)

Operating Income without Depreciation 358,612 472,396

 $(300,000)

 $(100,000)

 $100,000

 $300,000

 $500,000

 $700,000

 $900,000

 $1,100,000

 $1,300,000

Wastewater Fund

 

 



City of Mora 
Financial Analysis 

 
 

18 

 

Wastewater Enterprise Fund (Continued) 

 

2019 2020

Cash and Investments (net of advances) $2,521,825 $2,929,324

Unrestricted Net Position 2,507,557 2,826,896

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

 $3,000,000

Wastewater Fund Cash and Unrestricted Net Position

 
 

The above graph shows the cash and investments (net of advances) and unrestricted net position for the 

last two years, for the Wastewater fund.  

 



City of Mora 
Financial Analysis 

 
 

19 

Electric Enterprise Fund 

The graph below illustrates the operations of the Electric Fund for the past two years.  

 

The Electric Fund had positive operations again in 2020, however showed a decrease in operating 

income to $379,080, which includes depreciation expense. This was primarily due to a decrease in 

charges for services due to decreased usage. Adding nonoperating revenues and expenses, and transfers, 

the Electric Fund experienced an increase in total net position of $548,093 compared to 2019.  

 

2019 2020

Operating Revenues $5,849,127 $5,333,279

Operating Expenses 5,143,410 4,954,199

Operating Income 705,717 379,080

Operating Income without Depreciation 871,198 552,957

 $-

 $1,000,000

 $2,000,000

 $3,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $5,000,000

 $6,000,000

Electric Fund

 

 



City of Mora 
Financial Analysis 

 
 

20 

 

Electric Enterprise Fund (Continued) 

 

2019 2020

Cash and Investments (net of
advances)

$6,377,523 $7,177,369

Unrestricted Net Position 8,723,672 9,170,666

 $-

 $1,000,000

 $2,000,000

 $3,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $5,000,000

 $6,000,000

 $7,000,000

 $8,000,000

 $9,000,000

 $10,000,000

Electric Fund Cash and Unrestricted Net Position

 

The above graph shows the cash and investments (net of advances) and unrestricted net position for the 

last two years, for the Electric Utility Fund.  

 



City of Mora 
Financial Analysis 

 
 

21 

Storm Water Enterprise Fund 

The graph below illustrates the operations of the Storm Water Fund for the past two years.  

 

The Storm Water Fund operating revenue stayed consistent, increasing only $2,414 from 2019. 

Operating expenses decreased $29,907, or 45.5%, from 2019 to 2020. This decrease was due, in part, to 

a drainage study that was completed in 2019. Adding nonoperating revenues and expenses, and 

transfers, the Storm Water Fund experienced an increase in net position of $49,856.  

 

2019 2020

Operating Revenues $99,496 $101,910

Operating Expenses 65,733 35,826

Operating Income 33,763 66,084

Operating Income without Depreciation 47,213 79,534

 $(10,000)

 $10,000

 $30,000

 $50,000

 $70,000

 $90,000

 $110,000

Storm Water Fund

 



City of Mora 
Financial Analysis 

 
 

22 

Storm Water Enterprise Fund (Continued) 

 

2019 2020

Cash and Investments (net of due to other funds) $29,681 $57,467

Unrestricted Net Position 23,170 53,407

 $-

 $10,000

 $20,000

 $30,000

 $40,000

 $50,000

 $60,000

Storm Water Fund Cash and Unrestricted Net Position

 
 

The above graph shows the cash and investments (net of advances) and unrestricted net position for the 

last two years, for the last Storm Water Fund.  



City of Mora 
Emerging Issue 

 
 

23 

Executive Summary 

The following is an executive summary of financial and business related updates to assist you in staying 

current on emerging issues in accounting and finance. This summary will give you a preview of the new 

standards that have been recently issued and what is on the horizon for the near future. The most recent 

and significant update includes: 

 

• Accounting Standard Update – GASB Statement No. 87 – Leases – GASB has issued GASB 

Statement No. 87 relating to accounting and financial reporting for leases. This new statement 

establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the principle that leases are financing of the 

right to use an underlying asset.  

 

The following is an extensive summary of the current update. As your continued business partner, we 

are committed to keeping you informed of new and emerging issues. We are happy to discuss these 

issues with you further and their applicability to your city.  

 

Accounting Standard Update – GASB Statement No. 87 – Leases  

The objective of this statement is to better meet the information needs of financial statement users by 

improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by governments. This statement increases the 

usefulness of governments' financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and 

liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of 

resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a 

single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the 

right to use an underlying asset. Under this statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability 

and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a 

deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about 

governments' leasing activities.  

 

A lease is defined as a contract that conveys control of the right to use another entity's nonfinancial asset 

(the underlying asset) as specified in the contract for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like 

transaction. Examples of nonfinancial assets include buildings, land, vehicles, and equipment. Any 

contract that meets this definition should be accounted for under the leases guidance, unless specifically 

excluded in this Statement.  

 

A short-term lease is defined as a lease that, at the commencement of the lease term, has a maximum 

possible term under the lease contract of 12 months (or less), including any options to extend, regardless 

of their probability of being exercised. Lessees and lessors should recognize short-term lease payments 

as outflows of resources or inflows of resources, respectively, based on the payment provisions of the 

lease contract.  

 

 



City of Mora 
Emerging Issue 

 
 

24 

Accounting Standard Update – GASB Statement No. 87 – Leases (Continued) 

A lessee should recognize a lease liability and a lease asset at the commencement of the lease term, 

unless the lease is a short-term lease or it transfers ownership of the underlying asset. The lease liability 

should be measured at the present value of payments expected to be made during the lease term (less any 

lease incentives). The lease asset should be measured at the amount of the initial measurement of the 

lease liability, plus any payments made to the lessor at or before the commencement of the lease term 

and certain direct costs. A lessee should reduce the lease liability as payments are made and recognize 

an outflow of resources (for example, expense) for interest on the liability. The lessee should amortize 

the lease asset in a systematic and rational manner over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of 

the underlying asset. The notes to financial statements should include a description of leasing 

arrangements, the amount of lease assets recognized, and a schedule of future lease payments to be 

made. 

 

A lessor should recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources at the commencement of 

the lease term, with certain exceptions for leases of assets held as investments, certain regulated leases, 

short-term leases, and leases that transfer ownership of the underlying asset. A lessor should not 

derecognize the asset underlying the lease. The lease receivable should be measured at the present value 

of lease payments expected to be received during the lease term. The deferred inflow of resources 

should be measured at the value of the lease receivable plus any payments received at or before the 

commencement of the lease term that relate to future periods. A lessor should recognize interest revenue 

on the lease receivable and an inflow of resources (for example, revenue) from the deferred inflows of 

resources in a systematic and rational manner over the term of the lease. The notes to financial 

statements should include a description of leasing arrangements and the total amount of inflows of 

resources recognized from leases.  

 

GASB Statement No. 87 is effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2021. Earlier 

application is encouraged.  

 

Information provided above was obtained from www.gasb.org. 

 

 



 

 

City of Mora 

Kanabec County, Minnesota 

 

Independent 

Auditor's Reports 

 

December 31, 2020 
 



 

 

City of Mora 

Table of Contents 

 

 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and 

  Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 

  Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 1 

 

Minnesota Legal Compliance 3 

 

Schedule of Findings and Responses on Internal Control and Legal Compliance 4 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  1 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of 

Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards 

 

 

Independent Auditor's Report 

 

 

Honorable Mayor and Members  

  of the City Council 

City of Mora 

Mora, Minnesota 

 

 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 

activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, the discretely presented component unit, and the 

aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Mora, Minnesota as of and for the year ended 

December 31, 2020, and the related notes to financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's 

basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated March 23, 2021. 

 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal 

control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. 

Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control.  

 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 

management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 

detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 

combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 

misstatement of the City's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 

timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 

that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 

with governance. 

 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 

section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 

weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 

may exist that were not identified. We did identify a certain deficiency in internal control, described in 

the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Responses on Internal Control and Legal Compliance that 

we consider to be a material weakness. Audit Finding 2020-001. 



 

  2 

Compliance and Other Matters  

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free from 

material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 

contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on 

the financial statement. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 

objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 

disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 

Government Auditing Standards. 

 

City's Response to Findings 

The City's responses to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying Schedule 

of Findings and Responses on Internal Control and Legal Compliance. The City's responses were not 

subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we 

express no opinion on them.  

 

Purpose of this Report  

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 

compliance and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's 

internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance 

with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City's internal control and compliance. 

Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

 
St. Cloud, Minnesota 

March 23, 2021 

 



 

  3 

Minnesota Legal Compliance 

 

Independent Auditor's Report 

 

 

Honorable Mayor and Members  

  of the City Council 

City of Mora 

Mora, Minnesota 

 

 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America, and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 

activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, the discretely presented component unit, and the 

aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Mora, Minnesota as of and for the year ended 

December 31, 2020, and the related notes to financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's 

basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated March 23, 2021. 

 

In connection with our audit, we noted that the City failed to comply with provisions of the deposits and 

investments and miscellaneous provisions of the Minnesota Legal Compliance Audit Guide for Cities, 

promulgated by the State Auditor pursuant to Minn. Stat. § 6.65, insofar as they relate to accounting 

matters as described in the Schedule of Findings and Responses on Internal Control and Legal 

Compliance as items 2020-002 and 2020-003.  Also, in connection with our audit, nothing came to our 

attention that caused us to believe that the City failed to comply with the provisions of the contracting 

and bidding, conflicts of interest, public indebtedness, claims and disbursements, and tax increment 

financing sections of the Minnesota Legal Compliance Audit Guide for Cities, insofar as they relate to 

accounting matters. 

 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of compliance and the results of 

that testing, and not to provide an opinion on compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 

suitable for any other purpose. 

 

 
St. Cloud, Minnesota 

March 23, 2021 



City of Mora 

Schedule of Findings and Responses on  

Internal Control and Legal Compliance 

 

 

4 

CURRENT YEAR INTERNAL CONTROL FINDINGS 

 

Material Weakness: 

 

Audit Finding 2020-001 – Lack of Segregation of Accounting Duties 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the City had a lack of segregation of accounting duties due 

to a limited number of office employees. The lack of adequate segregation of accounting duties could 

adversely affect the City's ability to initiate, record, process, and report financial data consistent with the 

assertions of management in the financial statements.  

 

The lack of segregation of accounting duties can be demonstrated in the following areas, which is not 

intended to be an all-inclusive list:  

 - Bank reconciliations are not reviewed 

 - Payroll is not reviewed prior to payment 

 - One staff has access to add employees, change pay rates, and process payroll 

 - The accountant has full access to the general ledger 

 - The accountant maintains the capital asset records without any review 

 - Any finance department staff can receipt cash and record deposits in the system 

 

Management and the City Council are aware of this condition and have taken certain steps to 

compensate for the lack of segregation. However, due to the small staff needed to handle all of the 

accounting duties, the costs of obtaining desirable segregation of accounting duties can often exceed 

benefits which could be derived. However, management, along with the City Council must remain 

aware of this situation and should continually monitor the accounting system, including changes that 

occur. We recommend the City implement a second review on bank reconciliations, journal entries, 

capital assets, and payroll prior to being paid.  

 

City's Response: 

The City has weighed the costs and benefits of additional staff to eliminate this risk and has determined 

it to be cost prohibitive to entirely eliminate the risk. The City will continue to review staff processes 

and the risks associated with a limited staff and the associated segregation of duties issues that result. 

The City will consider implementing a secondary review for bank reconciliations, journal entries, 

payroll prior to it being paid, and capital asset records. 

 



City of Mora 

Schedule of Findings and Responses on  

Internal Control and Legal Compliance 

 

 

  5 

CURRENT AND PRIOR YEAR LEGAL COMPLIANCE FINDINGS 

 

Audit Finding 2020-002 – Update Collateral Assignment Agreement 

Minnesota Statutes § 118A.03, subd. 4, requires the City's written collateral assignment shall recite that, 

upon default, the financial institution shall release to the government entity on demand, free of exchange 

or any other charges, the collateral pledged. This verbiage was absent from the City's written collateral 

assignments.  

 

Audit Finding 2020-003 – Out of State Travel Policy  

The City does not have a written policy regarding travel outside the State of Minnesota. Minnesota 

Statutes § 471.661 states all cities must have an approved policy that controls travel outside the State of 

Minnesota and specifies when out of state travel is appropriate, the expense limits of out of state travel, 

and procedures for approval of the travel. 

 

PRIOR YEAR LEGAL COMPLIANCE FINDINGS 

 

Obtain Sufficient Collateral 

The depositories of public funds and public investment laws of Minnesota Statutes § 118A.01 and 

118A.03 require that all deposits with financial institutions must be collateralized in an amount equal to 

110% of deposits in excess of Federal Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance. The City's 

deposits were fully collateralized at December 31, 2020.  

 



Item No. 6c 

1 

 M E M O R A N D U M 
Date: April 20, 2021 
To: Mayor and City Council 
From: Lindy Crawford, City Administrator  
RE: “Tootsie Roll Weekend” Proclamation 

 
SUMMARY 
The Mora Chapter of the Knights of Columbus has respectfully requested the Mayor proclaim the weekend of 
April 23 and 24, 2021 to be “Tootsie Roll Weekend” to raise awareness of the annual state-wide fundraising 
program for individuals with special needs.  
 
The mayor will read the attached proclamation and proclaim the weekend of April 23 and 24, 2021 to be 
“Tootsie Roll Weekend”.   
 
 
Attachments 
“Tootsie Roll Weekend” Proclamation 





PROCLAMATION 
 “Tootsie Roll Weekend” – Knights of Columbus 

 
Office of the Mayor 

City of Mora, Kanabec County, State of Minnesota 
 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Mora and surrounding area has individuals with special needs, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Knights of Columbus, Minnesota Council has an Annual state wide fund raising 
program for some of these needs, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mora Chapter of the Knights of Columbus, Father Herman Schmitz Council 
participates in this fundraising program with past grants to, but not limited to: 
 
              1.  Mora Special Athletes For Youth (Special Olympics) 
              2.  Mora branch of Industries Incorporated 
              3.  Camp New Hope at McGregor 
              4.  Camp Confidence at Brainerd 
 
WHEREAS: We find that businesses and citizens in the City of Mora benefit from such Volunteer 
efforts of such programs, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that I, Alan Skramstad, hereby proclaim the weekend of 
April 23 and 24 to be “Tootsie Roll Weekend” in and about Mora, Minnesota and request the 
support of its Citizens. 
 
 

Proclaimed this 20th day of April, 2021. 
 
 

___________________________      
Alan Skramstad, Mayor 





Item No. 8a 
 

1 
 

 M E M O R A N D U M 
Date: April 20, 2021 
To: Mayor and City Council 
From: Beth Thorp, Community Development Director 
RE: Conditional Use Permit to Allow a School and School Related Facilities in R-1 District 

 
SUMMARY 
The City Council will consider a request for Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to allow a School and school related 
facilities to be located in the R-1 Single Family Residential District. 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
ICS, applicant, and Mora Public Schools, property owner, have applied for a CUP in order to construct a new 
high school and related facilities at the school district’s 9th Street campus which is located in the R-1 Single 
Family Residential District. The project includes the construction of a 136,000 square foot (footprint) school 
building, off-street parking lots, athletic fields, and stormwater management ponds. For more detail about the 
project, refer to the attached staff report prepared for the Planning Commission’s April 12th meeting. The 
attached staff report includes information first presented to the commission on March 8th along with updates 
shown in blue italics for the April 12th meeting.  
 
Key aspects of the project include: 
• Construction of a 136,000 square foot high school facility to accommodate grades 7 - 12. Approval of the 

CUP and corresponding civil plans will allow for the construction of four additional classrooms (shown as 
an alternate option) if and when the school district needs the additional space. 

• Construction of various athletic fields, including a track / football field, ball fields, and practice fields. 
• Construction of off-street parking lots to accommodate students, staff, athletic fields, and the wellness 

center. Students, staff, and visitors may utilize any parking lot but each use is required to have a minimum 
number of parking spaces. The civil plans show that an adequate number of spaces will be provided. 

• Construction of two drainage ponds adjacent to 9th Street.  
• The applicant submitted a Drainage and Hydrologic Report for the proposed project. The report has been 

reviewed by the City Engineer and County Engineer. 
• Construction of a private east-west access road at Grove Street N. and Pine Ridge Road S.  
• Vacation of an existing public roadway easement located on the school district’s property. The applicant 

has already submitted a petition for the vacation and the required public hearing will be conducted by the 
City Council on May 18, 2021. 

• Relocation of the city-owned multi-use trail at the school district’s expense. The school district will be 
required to provide the city with a trail easement and enter into a maintenance agreement for the newly 
constructed trail.  

• The school district will be required to provide the city with all necessary easements needed for utility 
purposes, such as underground electric. 



Memorandum 

4/16/2021  2 
 

• The applicant provided a landscape plan for the proposed project. The zoning code does not provide 
specific landscaping requirements for non-residential uses in residential districts above and beyond top 
soil and sod or seed; however, the landscape plan shows the installation of a variety of deciduous, 
ornamental and evergreen trees, as well as shrubs and ornamental grasses. Staff is satisfied with the 
proposed landscape plan and the applicant will work with the Public Utilities General Manager to avoid 
underground utilities and maintain desired clearances. 

• There will be no change to bus traffic. 
• The applicant provided a traffic study for the proposed project. The study was reviewed by city staff, the 

City Engineer, the County Engineer, the Kanabec County Sheriff, and MnDOT. The study provided several 
recommendations which have been incorporated into the project: 

o Three drop-off lanes at the main entrance of the high school to prevent stacking on 9th Street. 
o A continuous center turn lane on 9th Street between Wood Street N. and Sunset Lane. This will 

require that current striping be ground off and restriped at the school district’s expense. The City 
Administrator strongly recommends that the center turn lane be extended from Wood Street N. 
to Highway 65. 

o A new crosswalk at 9th Street and Village Green Place. The new crosswalk will be installed in the 
same manner as the existing crosswalk at Village Green Lane at the school district’s expense. 

o The school district will install a northbound right turn lane on Grove Street N. at the private access 
road. 

• The applicant has coordinated all sanitary sewer and water work with the City Engineer and has 
incorporated all of the City Engineer’s recommended conditions into the plans. 

• The applicant has incorporated all of the Fire Chief’s recommended conditions into the plans. 
 
The Planning Commission conducted a public hearing on March 8th and, after much discussion, tabled the 
request until April 12th in order for the applicant to provide additional information. The commission ultimately 
recommended approval of the CUP on April 12th with several conditions. The commission identified one 
outstanding issue related to drainage that needed to be resolved by the applicant prior to the request for CUP 
being presented to the City Council. The City Engineer and County Engineer had expressed concern that 
drainage from the unnamed ponds on the school district’s property flowed to Lake Mora rather than the 
Snake River as the report suggested. The applicant provided additional information for review by the City 
Engineer and County Engineer, and both are generally satisfied with the new information with the caveat that 
the applicant provide survey information to confirm the observations and the high-water mark cited by the 
project engineer. This recommendation has been incorporated into the proposed resolution. 
 
Much of the Planning Commission’s discussion focused on the traffic study. There was much concern that the 
study was completed at a time that didn’t allow for an accurate depiction of school-related traffic and the 
impacts it would have on city, county, and state roadways. The applicant has incorporated several 
recommendations from the study into the plans (including those listed above); however, the City Council may 
wish to discuss if these recommendations are sufficient and what, if anything, the city will need to do / plan for 
in response to the project. One such item might be the applicant’s proposal to create a center turn lane on 9th 
Street between Wood Street N. and Sunset Lane. The council may wish to discuss if the proposed center turn 
lane is adequate or if it should extend from Wood Street N. to Highway 65 to help reduce stacking on 9th Street 
at peak periods. The proposed resolution includes a condition requiring that the center turn lane extend from 
Wood Street N. to Highway 65 at the property owner’s expense. 
 
If the request for the CUP is approved, the applicant stated that the 26-month project will start in early or mid-
May and wrap up in summer 2023. 
 



Memorandum 

4/16/2021  3 
 

Representatives of ICS and Mora Public Schools will attend the City Council meeting to provide more 
information about the request and answer questions of the council. 
 
OPTIONS & IMPACTS 
1. Approve the request for a Conditional Use Permit with conditions as presented or amended. The Planning 

Commission recommended approval of the Conditional Use Permit with several conditions, all of which 
are included in the proposed resolution. Approval will allow the applicant to begin the construction 
project in May 2021. 
 

2. Deny the request for a Conditional Use Permit, including specific reasons for denial for the written record. 
Denial will prohibit Mora Public Schools from relocating Mora High School from its current location to the 
9th Street campus. Impacts of denial are significant and likely undetermined at this time. 

 
3. Table the request for a Conditional Use Permit. The extended review period for this request expires on 

June 1, 2021. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
Motion to approve Resolution No. 2021-423 approving a Conditional Use Permit to allow a School and school 
related facilities to be located in the R-1 Single Family Residential District as requested by ICS and Mora Public 
Schools. 
The City Council has full authority to amend and/or add conditions of approval, if deemed necessary. 
 
 
Attachments 
Staff report prepared for April 12, 2021 Planning Commission meeting 
City Engineer’s comments dated March 2, 2021 and revised April 6, 2021 
County Engineer / Public Works Director’s comments dated February 26, 2021 
Kanabec County Sheriff’s comments dated April 9, 2021 
Traffic Study dated March 22, 2021 
Illustrations of exterior construction materials 
Resolution No. 2021-423 
Civil Plans signed and dated March 11, 2021 (select sheets) 
Landscape Plan signed and dated March 11, 2021 (select sheets) 
 
 



 M E M O R A N D U M 
TO: Planning Commission 
FROM: Beth Thorp, Community Development Director 
SUBJECT: Tabled from March 8, 2021 Meeting – Conditional Use Permit to allow a School 

and related school facilities to be located in the R-1 Single Family Residential 
District 

DATE: April 12, 2021 

SUMMARY 
The Planning Commission will continue its review of a request for Conditional Use Permit to allow Mora 
High School and related facilities to be located in the R-1 Single Family Residential District. 

SITE & APPLICATION INFORMATION 
Applicant: ICS 
Property Owner: Mora Public School District (ISD 332) 
Location: 200 9th Street East 
Current Zoning:  R-1 Single Family Residential District
Adjacent Zoning: North: Arthur Township

South: R-1 Single Family Residential District
East: R-1 Single Family Residential District
West: R-1 Single Family Residential District

Comp. Plan Designation: Public / Semi-Public / Institutional
Date Application Received: January 20, 2021
Date Application Complete: February 1, 2021
Public Hearing Conducted: March 8, 2021
Extended Review Period: June 1, 2021

DISCUSSION 
ICS and ISD 332 submitted a request for Conditional Use Permit to allow a School and school related 
facilities to be located in the R-1 Single Family Residential District. The Planning Commission conducted 
a public hearing at its March 8, 2021 meeting and ultimately tabled the request so that the applicant 
could provide information necessary to complete a thorough review. Since the March 8th meeting, the 
applicant has provided several items, including: revised civil plans, a landscape plan, a final traffic study, 
a drainage and hydrologic report, information on the 66’ public roadway easement located in the area 
of the proposed east-west private access road and city owned trail, and easement exhibits for a new 
turn lane on Grove Street N. and the city-owned trail. The commission will now continue its review of 
the proposed high school and related facilities. 

The information below was provided in the March 8th staff report with new information since the March 
meeting added in italics. City and utility staff, the City Engineer, the County Engineer / Public Works 
Director, and MnDOT have all reviewed the new information provided by the applicant and their 
comments have been incorporated into the staff report and draft resolution. 



2 

• Construction Materials. The applicant has provided illustrations of exterior materials proposed for
the high school facility, which include precast concrete, metal panels (two colors), and brick (see
attached). Although this is a new facility, it will be connected to the existing Welia Health Wellness
Center and Mora Elementary facilities and it’s important to evaluate the overall appearance and
cohesiveness. The proposed precast concrete panels appear to be the same product used for the
Wellness Center, and the proposed brick and metal panels mirror and complement materials used
for Mora Elementary (although the colors appear to vary slightly between the facilities). Staff has no
concerns about the proposed construction materials.

No additional information requested or provided.

• Landscaping. The Zoning Code requires that all exposed ground areas on a lot or parcel surrounding
a principal or accessory structure that are not devoted to drives, sidewalks, or parking lots be
covered with a minimum of four inches of topsoil and be covered with sod, seed, or other
landscaping materials as approved by the city. Non-residential uses, such as this project, may be
subject to additional landscaping as determined by the Planning Commission and City Council.

The applicant has stated that a basic landscaping approach is currently planned with an option for
ISD 332 to add a more enhanced landscaping package at a later date. The basic landscaping
approach includes topsoil, seed, and a variety of native trees and shrubs planted throughout the site
with emphasis around major traffic areas and the main entrance. A landscaping plan has not been
provided; however, the applicant informed staff that one is currently being prepared. Being that the
subject site is located in a well-established residential area and landscaping can play a major role
in aesthetics and buffering, staff recommends that the landscaping plan be submitted to the
Planning Commission for review prior to the request for Conditional Use Permit being forwarded
to the City Council for final consideration. However, the applicant’s basic landscaping approach
does meet the R-1 District’s minimum requirements and the Planning Commission can recommend
approval of this plan without reviewing a formal landscaping plan, if desired.

The applicant has provided a landscape plan (attached) for the Planning Commission’s consideration.
The plan shows the installation of a variety of deciduous, ornamental and evergreen trees, as well as
shrubs and ornamental grasses. Being that there will be underground electric service, the applicant
has stated that tree plantings will be field verified at the time of installation to avoid underground
utilities and allow the desired clearances.

• Off-Street Parking.
o Number of Off-Street Parking Spaces. In reference to this particular project, the Zoning Code

provides varying off-street parking requirements for the existing elementary school, the existing
wellness center, the proposed high school, and the proposed athletic fields. Further, Conditional
Use Permits granted in the past for the elementary school and wellness center provide specific
off-street parking requirements that must be maintained unless otherwise authorized through
this Conditional Use Permit process.

 Mora Elementary was allowed by a Conditional Use Permit granted in April 2016 (when
the former Fairview Elementary relocated to the subject site). Off-street parking
requirements for elementary schools are based on the number of classrooms. In 2016 it
was determined that the elementary school was required to have a minimum of 96 off-
street parking spaces; and, the approved plans show a total of 196 spaces provided.
There are currently no proposed changes to off-street parking at Mora Elementary. Off-



3 

street parking requirements for the elementary school exceed the minimum 
requirement. 

No additional information requested or provided. 

 Welia Health Wellness Center was allowed by a Conditional Use Permit granted in April
2017. Off-street parking requirements were established by the Planning Commission
and City Council in 2017 being that the Zoning Code doesn’t provide a clear formula for
this particular use. The wellness center was required to have a minimum of 40 off-street
parking spaces; and, the approved plans show a total of 40 spaces provided. The civil
plans for the high school project show that the existing parking area for the wellness
center will be removed and relocated with a total of 34 new off-street parking spaces
provided. Because the 2017 Conditional Use Permit requires 40 off-street parking
spaces for this particular use, the parking area dedicated for the wellness center must
be expanded to provide the required number of parking spaces. The Planning
Commission and City Council do have the authority to reduce the number of required
spaces from 40 to 34 if it’s specifically added as a condition of approval; however, staff
recommends that the off-street parking requirement remain at 40 spaces. (Note: A
reduction wouldn’t require a Variance as the number of off-street parking spaces was
determined by the Planning Commission and City Council.)

The revised civil plans (attached) show that 40 off-street parking spaces are now
provided for the wellness center.

 Off-street parking requirements for the high school are based on the number of staff
members present on the largest shift and the student population. Mora Public Schools
Superintendent Dan Voce stated that there are currently 125 staff members at the high
school and 775 students (grades 7 – 12), which requires a total of 280 off-street parking
spaces (125 spaces for staff and 155 spaces for students). The civil plans show that 338
spaces are proposed which exceeds the minimum requirement.

The revised civil plans (attached) show the four alternate classrooms discussed at the
March 8th meeting. Based on the addition of classrooms and related staff members and
new information provided by the applicant pertaining to building capacity rather than
current student population, staff has recalculated the number of off-street parking
spaces required for the high school.

The high school, at capacity without the alternate classrooms, is projected to
accommodate 952 students and 125 staff members, which will require a total of 315 off-
street parking spaces (190 spaces for students and 125 spaces for staff). The civil plans
show that 338 spaces are proposed which exceeds the minimum requirement IF the high
school is constructed without the alternate classrooms.

The high school, at capacity with the alternate classrooms, is projected to accommodate
1,095 students and 130 staff members, which will require a total of 349 off-street
parking spaces (219 spaces for students and 130 spaces for staff). Because the proposed
parking lot does not have enough off-street parking to accommodate the minimum
required parking, staff recommends that the school be required to provide additional off-



4 

street parking, such as the parking area shown as Alternate #8, if and when the 
alternate classrooms are added. 

 The Zoning Code also includes off-street parking requirements for “play fields” (aka
athletic fields) such as the track / football field and ball fields. More specifically, the
Zoning Code requires 40 off-street parking spaces for each play field. The civil plans
show two ball fields located on the north side of the project along with 52 off-street
parking spaces, as well as one track / football field with 78 adjacent off-street parking
spaces. There are three play fields in total which requires a total of 120 off-street
parking spaces, and 130 off-street parking spaces are proposed in total. While not all
proposed parking is located immediately adjacent to the play field it may serve (i.e. the
ball fields require 80 spaces and 52 are proposed immediately adjacent to the fields)
and the parking adjacent to the track / football field is also identified as being for staff
and ALC students, it’s staff’s opinion that the aggregate number and location of off-
street parking spaces satisfies the requirement.

No additional information requested; however, the applicant has commented that the
staff parking lot, which is close to the ball fields, could be utilized for athletic events
outside of school hours.

o Size of Off-Street Parking Spaces and Drive Aisles. The Zoning Code requires that off-street
parking spaces be a minimum of 9’ x 19’ and drive aisles be a minimum of 26’ wide. The civil
plans show that all new off-street parking spaces will be 9’ x 18’ and the drive aisles located
within the parking areas will be 24’ wide. In taking a closer look at the existing parking areas for
Mora Elementary and Welia Health Wellness Center, it was discovered that all existing parking
spaces are 9’ x 18’ with 24’ wide drive aisles. While there are no known issues relating to the
slightly smaller parking spaces and drive aisles, the city cannot approve the reduced sizes
through the Conditional Use Permit process. Instead, the applicant must either amend the civil
plans for the high school project to reflect minimum sizes required per the Zoning Code or
request a Variance to the Zoning Code requirements.

The revised civil plans (attached) show that all proposed off-street parking spaces and drive
aisles have been adjusted to meet the city's minimum size requirements.

o Accessible Off-Street Parking Spaces. The Building Official has commented that the proposed
parking must comply with the Minnesota 2020 Accessibility Code. Accessible parking spaces
shall be provided in compliance with Table 1106.1, except as required by Sections 1106.2-
1106.4. Per Accessibility Code Section 1106.5, for every six or fraction of six accessible parking
spaces at least one shall be a van-accessible parking space.

The applicant has commented that all accessible parking spaces are designed to be van-
accessible parking spaces.

• Bus Traffic. The applicant has reported that bus traffic and flow will remain the same as it has been
in the recent past, utilizing the existing bus parking area. Staff has no concerns about bus traffic.

No additional information requested or provided.



5 

• Traffic. The applicant provided a traffic study dated January 19, 2021 for the proposed project
(attached). Because the subject site abuts a county road and the project impacts Highway 65, the
traffic study was reviewed by the County Engineer / Public Works Director and MnDOT in addition to
city staff and the City Engineer.

 The city was provided with what appears to be a preliminary traffic study. A final traffic
study should be submitted.

The applicant has provided a final traffic study dated March 22, 2021 (attached). While
the study generally includes the same information, there are some changes and
additions to the Findings and Conclusions section.

 The City Engineer and County Engineer / Public Works Director have provided several
comments pertaining to traffic (see attached).

Sheriff Smith has reviewed the final traffic study and provided comments (see attached).

 MnDOT’s Development Review Committee has reviewed and discussed the project at
length and, while there are no immediate improvements required at the intersection of
Highway 65 and 9th Street, MnDOT believes that the increase in traffic at this
intersection may warrant safety improvements. MnDOT would like to be involved in
discussions with the city, the Sheriff’s Office, and ISD 332 when considering possible
safety improvements. Possible safety improvements suggested by MnDOT include:
increased and updated intersection lighting; removing the existing bypass lane on
Highway 65 at 9th Street and using that space for a north-bound left turn lane; or,
installing a roundabout. Staff will continue this discussion with MnDOT and other stake
holders.

MnDOT received the final traffic study but did not provide any additional comments. The
applicant has commented that they’re interested in being involved in conversations with
MnDOT, the city and the Kanabec County Sheriff’s Office regarding safety improvements
at the intersection of Highway 65 and 9th Street.

 The study was based on traffic counts collected within a single day during a pandemic
on an early release day. The City Administrator is concerned that this was not an optimal
time to complete a traffic study and that the duration of the study was too short.

The applicant has commented that traffic studies are based on both assumptions and
observations to create a model of likely scenarios. Since the high school is a new facility,
there are no actual numbers to count, so estimations and assumptions are paired with
growth factors to produce likely scenarios of traffic projections.

 The vehicle storage area from the drop off lane in front of the high school to the 9th

Street entrance is 1,000 feet, with estimated vehicle storage needs being 1,050 – 1,250
feet. Not providing sufficient storage area may lead to stacking on 9th Street, which is
concerning. To address this issue, staff recommends that ISD 332 install internal
signage directing drivers to use the parking lot if the drop off lane is full. If stacking on
9th Street becomes an issue despite the signage, ISD 332 would need to consider
adjusting traffic flow internally to alleviate this issue.



6 

The applicant has clarified that the civil plans show three 1,000 foot drop off lanes, not 
just one single 1,000 foot drop off lane. 

 The study recommends the installation of a continuous 2-way center turn lane on 9th

Street. This would require restriping of 9th Street and it would utilize the entire roadway
surface of 9th Street. If a center turn lane is installed staff recommends that ISD 332 be
responsible for all expenses related to restriping 9th Street.

The applicant has clarified that they intend to grind off the existing pavement markings
on 9th Street, between Wood Street N. and Sunset Lane, and repaint with a shared center
left turn lane. The City Administrator strongly recommends restriping 9th Street to the
intersection of 9th and Hwy 65.

 A new crosswalk is recommended at the intersection of 9th Street and Village Green
Place, in addition to the crosswalk at the intersection of 9th Street and Village Green
Lane. The proposed crosswalk would create a direct access from 9th Street to the main
entrance of the high school. If a new crosswalk is installed staff recommends that the
new crosswalk be installed in the same manner – the same signage, pavement
markings, and pedestrian activated flasher – as the existing crosswalk and at ISD 332’s
expense.

The applicant has commented that they plan to include a new crosswalk at Village Green
Place with both pavement markings and signage that match the existing crosswalk at
Village Green Lane.

 The County Engineer / Public Works Director recommends that the pedestrian crossing
at 7th Street be analyzed for adequacy with increased traffic.

The applicant has commented that this area is outside of the project area. The County
Engineer has stated that he’ll recommend that the county install a stop sign on Grove
Street N. at 7th Street to increase pedestrian safety at the intersection.

 The County Engineer / Public Works Director recommends that the city consider the
safety benefits of a right turn lane at 7th Street, improved shoulders on Grove Street N.,
and the extension of 9th Street to Grove Street N, with the suggestion that expanding
the scope of the traffic study would be beneficial to this discussion. The city’s Public
Works Director also expressed concern about Grove Street N., explaining that it’s a
narrow road and improved shoulders or a turn lane should be considered.

The applicant is proposing and has provided an easement exhibit for the addition of a
northbound right turn lane on Grove Street N. at the private access road. The County
Engineer has given preliminary verbal approval for the turn lane.

• City-Owned Multi-Use Trail and Proposed Grove Street N. Access Road. The City Engineer has
pointed out in his comments (see attached) that the existing city-owned multi-use trail located from
Grove Street N. to Highway 65, shown between the proposed ball fields and track / football field, is
located within an existing public roadway easement. The applicant is proposing to relocate the trail
in conjunction with the proposed construction of the access road. The proposed private access road



7 

is also believed to be located in the public roadway easement. Because the civil plans do not show 
the public roadway easement, staff has requested a survey from the applicant to verify the exact 
location of the easement and the locations of the existing trail and proposed access road in relation 
to the easement.  

If the city-owned multi-use trail is relocated, this will need to be coordinated with the city and, if the 
trail is to be located outside of the existing public roadway easement, ISD 332 will need to provide a 
new easement to the city for the trail. Further, if the trail is relocated, the city and ISD 332 will need 
to update the existing maintenance agreement to address the new improvements. The trail system 
is a vital asset to the community and must be protected. 

The City Engineer has commented that the private access road, in its proposed location, will require 
that the existing public roadway easement be adjusted. 

Staff recommends that resolving these issues be included as conditions of approval and that the 
issues be resolved prior to the request for Conditional Use Permit being forwarded to the City 
Council for final consideration. 

The applicant has provided a survey showing the 66’ public roadway easement and intends to submit 
a petition to the City Council for the vacation of the entire easement. It was initially believed that the 
south 33’ was dedicated to the city and the north 33’ was dedicated to the township and both 
jurisdictions would need to vacate their respective portion; however, the City Attorney has confirmed 
that the city was granted full road authority when the property was annexed into the city in 2012. 
The applicant has also provided a survey for the dedication of a new trail easement to the city and is 
agreeable to updating the maintenance agreement to address the new improvements (or to create 
an agreement if one does not already exist). 

The applicant will be required to obtain an access permit from the County Engineer for the private 
access road off of Grove Street N. 

• Drainage. The applicant has not yet provided a final drainage study or drainage plan for the subject
site. Staff recommends that a final drainage plan be submitted for review and approval by the City
Engineer and County Engineer / Public Works Director prior to the request for Conditional Use
Permit being forwarded to the City Council for final consideration.

The applicant submitted a final drainage and hydrologic report dated revised April 1, 2021 for review
by the City Engineer and County Engineer. While the County Engineer doesn’t have any concerns with
the drainage to Grove Street N., he is concerned about drainage from the unnamed ponds going to
Lake Mora rather than the Snake River and has requested that this be verified. This information and
request has been shared with the applicant. The City Engineer reviewed the report and is generally
satisfied that it meets all requirements; however, he shares the County Engineer’s concern and has
also requested that the applicant verify the information.

• Utilities.
o It appears that there may be some impacts to the buried electric lines along the north side of 9th

Street at the location of the proposed stormwater management ponds, and the lines will either
need to be moved toward the street or lowered underground. The City Engineer believes that
the electric lines are located within a utility easement behind the 9th Street right-of-way. The



8 

applicant will need to coordinate any utility changes with the City Administrator / Public 
Utilities General Manager.  

The applicant has commented that the grading limits of the ponds have been adjusted to avoid 
utilities. The applicant is already in discussions with the City Administrator / Public Utilities 
General Manager regarding underground electric service and issues related to installation of 
other utility infrastructure.  

o The new high school will require the replacement of the existing sanitary sewer connection to
the city main in 9th Street. The City Engineer has provided several recommended conditions of
approval for this work (see attached). These same conditions would apply if there is a new or
replaced water service connection in 9th Street.

The applicant has commented that they have no issues with the City Engineer’s recommended
conditions of approval and they’ve already been incorporated into the plans.

• Fire. The city’s Fire Chief has reviewed the civil plans and provided the following comments /
recommended conditions of approval:
o Place at least one Knox Box at the main entry of the high school. The Knox Rapid Access

Solutions system will provide the Fire Department with one master key for the entire facility for
immediate access in case of emergency.

The applicant has commented that a Knox Box will be placed at the main entrance of the school.

o The number and placement of fire hydrants is sufficient for this project.

o Place “No Parking Fire Lane” signs along the designated fire lane(s). The number and
placement of signs should be coordinated with the Fire Chief.

o All fire lanes must be a minimum of 20’ wide.

o There does not appear to be adequate access for the fire department along the west side of the
proposed high school facility (between the track and the high school). The Fire Chief
recommends that the applicant provide a fire lane, or other acceptable option, to serve the
west side of the high school.

The revised civil plans (attached) show that the 6’ wide sidewalk has been replaced with a 20’
wide bituminous fire lane on the west side of the high school.

• Signs. The subject site, being a non-residential use located in a residential zoning district, is currently
at or near maximum allowable signage capacity. With the proposed addition of another facility, the
school district is exploring options for additional signage. Staff has advised that the only two options
available include a request for Variance or Text Amendment. A Variance, if approved, would be
specific to the subject site, whereas a Text Amendment, if approved, would likely apply to all non-
residential uses in the R-1 Single Family Residential District or various residential districts. This issue
will be further discussed and considered by the Planning Commission in the future, but is not a
discussion item related to the current request for Conditional Use Permit.

No additional information requested or provided.



9 

Staff did not receive any comments from the public regarding this request following the March 8th 
meeting. 

Note: Representatives of the applicant and property owner will be present at the April 12th meeting to 
provide information about the project and answer questions from the Planning Commission.  

OPTIONS 
1. Table the request for further consideration. The extended review period for this request expires on

June 1, 2021.
2. Recommend approval of the request with conditions presented or amended.
3. Recommend denial of the request, providing specific reasons for the recommendation of denial for

the written record.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends approval with conditions presented in Resolution No. PC2021-401. 

ACTION REQUESTED 
Motion to approve Resolution No. PC2021-401 as presented or amended. 

ATTACHMENTS 

No attachments included for April 20, 2021 City Council meeting.



Engineers  |  Architects  |  Planners  |  Scientists 

Short Elliott Hendrickson Inc., 3535 Vadnais Center Drive, St. Paul, MN 55110-3507 
651.490.2000  |  800.325.2055  |  888.908.8166 fax  |  sehinc.com 

SEH is 100% employee-owned  |  Affirmative Action–Equal Opportunity Employer 

 MEMORANDUM 

TO: Beth Thorp, Community Development Director 
 
FROM: Greg Anderson, PE - City Engineer (Lic. MN) 
 
DATE: March 2, 2021 | Revised April 6, 2021 
 
RE: Mora Public School District – CUP application for new high school 
 SEH No. MORA0 145879  14.00 
 
 
 
Per you request we have reviewed the Conditional Use Permit (CUP) application submitted by the school 
district for their new high school to be located off 9th Street.  The plans that accompanied the application 
were prepared by Northland Consulting engineers and received on February 5th.   Also included in our 
review is the Mora High School Traffic Study prepared by SEH and dated January 19, 2021.  Our 
comments are as follows: 
 
TRAFFIC 
1. It appears a new crosswalk on 9th Street is intended or should be planned at the intersection of 9th 

Street at Village Green Place.  The school plans show a new sidewalk from the main entrance doors 
of the new high school out to 9th Street at this location.  This new sidewalk will encourage pedestrian 
traffic to cross 9th Street at this location for access to the high school rather than use the marked and 
signed crosswalk at Village Green Lane & 9th Street.  A new crosswalk should have the same 
signage, pavement markings and pedestrian activated flasher as the current crosswalk at 9th Street & 
Village Green Lane.  Since the high school construction is causing this need for this new crosswalk, 
it’s our opinion that these costs should be a school district expense.  The City paid for the existing 
crosswalk markings, signing and flasher currently at the 9th Street & Village Green Lane intersection. 
The applicant has indicated they will pay for and install the required crosswalk improvements 
at Village Green Place to match the existing cross walk at 9th Street and Village Green Lane.  

2. The traffic study recommends expanding the center left turn lane pavement markings on 9th Street to 
assist with traffic peaks during school hours and turning movements into the new high school 
entrance.  I agree with their suggestion of expanding the center left turn lanes on 9th Street.  Like the 
new crosswalk discussed in item #1, the pavement marking costs should be a school district expense 
as the new high school entrance is causing the need for the change. The applicant has indicated 
they will pay for and install the required pavement markings to create the shared center left 
turn lane recommended. 

3. The traffic study results based on the models for when the high school is built found all studied 
intersections to still be operating at acceptable traffic levels.  The only potential areas of concern may 
be the new high school entrance off 9th Street and the 9th Street at TH 65 intersection. 

a. High School entrance – The site plan provides approximately 1,000 feet of vehicle storage from 
the drop off lane in front of the high school doors to the entrance at 9th Street.  This is on the low 
end of what’s typically seen for schools this size.  If arrival/departure traffic does start to stack on 
to 9th Street, the school has options to adjust traffic flow internally to alleviate this.  If traffic does 



Memorandum 
March 2, 2021 | Revised April 6, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 

start to stack on 9th Street, the City should require the school to adjust their internal traffic 
movements.  The applicant has noted that traffic should not stack on 9th Street with three 
incoming traffic lanes. 

b. 9th Street & TH 65 - Left turning movements from 9th Street to TH 65 and vice versa will operate 
at a level of service C, which is acceptable.  The City should monitor traffic at this intersection and 
any accidents while continuing the discussion with MnDOT about future geometric or speed 
improvements on TH 65.   

4. The existing city bike trail along the north side of the school athletic fields from Grove Street to TH 65 
resides in an existing roadway easement.  Will/does the school need to adjust that easement for their 
new entrance road off Grove Street and the relocation of the bike trail?  If the school builds a private 
road in a public roadway easement, the easement will need to be adjusted.  Similarly, if the new bike 
trail on the north side of the new school road is outside the current easement, a new easement 
should be recorded to cover the relocated bike trail. The applicant is working to vacate the old 
easement and dedicate new easement(s) to fit the proposed improvements. 

5. Similar to the easement for the bike trail/new school road, the maintenance agreement between the 
City of Mora and the school district for the bike trial should also be updated to cover the new 
improvements. The applicant is working to vacate old easement and dedicate new easement(s) 
to fit the proposed improvements. 

 
DRAINAGE  
1. The final drainage plan and drainage study have yet to be received for our review and approval.  

2. We have had ongoing discussions about stormwater on and from the site with Northland Consulting 
Engineers and I believe we are on the same page as to what the overall intent for drainage on and off 
the site should entail.  The City should include drainage plan review & approval in either their CUP or 
building permit approvals to ensure this step is completed. 
 
The final drainage plan and report has been received and reviewed.  We have no further 
comments or revisions as it meets the requirements. 

 
UTILITIES 
1. The new high school will require replacement of the existing sanitary sewer connection to the City 

main in 9th Street.  They plan to reinstall the existing pipe at a lower elevation into the existing 
sanitary manhole in the intersection of 9th Street and Village Green Place.  That connection should 
include the following: 

a. A watertight, boot type connection in the existing manhole for the revised connection. 

b. City of Mora public works staff should witness and approve the connection to the existing 
manhole and backfilling of the sewer trench in the ROW of 9th Street. 

c. The bituminous patch in 9th Street for the sewer line replacement should be replaced at a 1.5:1 
slope based on the depth of the trench. 

d. The sewer trench shall be backfilled in lifts not greater than 1-foot and the school shall provide a 
material testing firm to verify compaction meets or exceeds 100% in the top 3-feet of the trench 
and 95% below 3-feet depth for the sewer trench in 9th Street. 

Items a through d have been incorporated into the final plans. 



Memorandum 
March 2, 2021 | Revised April 6, 2021 
Page 3 
 
 
2. I am not aware of a new or replaced water service connection in 9th Street, but if there is one, the 

above conditions apply with respect to city inspection, bituminous patching, and trench backfilling 
densities.   The existing water service will be used for the new high school, no additional water 
connections into 9th Street are needed. 

3. Has the fire chief reviewed the hydrant locations on the new water line around the high school?  The 
fire chief has approved the number and placement of the proposed fire hydrants around the 
new high school. 

 
ah/GFA 
 
s:\ko\m\mora0\145879\2020\new high school\new high school memo 2021 04 06.docx 



February 26, 2021 

Beth Thorp 
Community Development Director 
City of Mora 

Re:  Mora Public School District CUP 

Dear Ms. Thorp, 

I have received a preliminary site plan for the proposed Mora high school and associated site 
improvements.  My review consists of the proposed projects impacts to N. Grove St.  My comments 
are as follows: 

1. The site plan is preliminary in nature and could not be thoroughly reviewed as would be
necessary for approval.  A final site plan signed by a professional engineer should submitted.

2. No drainage information was submitted for review.  A complete drainage plan signed by a
professional engineer should be submitted.

3. A preliminary traffic study was submitted to me by the project team.  This study should be
finalized and signed by a professional engineer.  The study recommends a turn lane at the Pine
Ridge entrance.  I recommend the planning commission consider the safety benefits of a right
turn lane at 7th St., improved shoulders on Grove St., and the extension of 9th St. to Grove St.  An
expanded scope of the traffic study analysis may be beneficial to help with these decisions.

4. The pedestrian crossing at 7th St. should be analyzed for adequacy with the increased traffic
count.

I recommend the following conditions at a minimum: 
1. County Engineer approval of site plans, and
2. County Engineer approval of drainage plan.

I will forward my comments on additional review as I receive updated submittals. 

Sincerely, 

Chad T. Gramentz, PE 
Kanabec County Engineer 

KANABEC COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 
Chad T. Gramentz, PE, Public Works Director 
903 Forest Avenue East, Mora, MN 55051 

320-679-6300 

chadg
Signature







 

 

 

Mora High School Traffic Study 
ISD #332 - Mora Public Schools 
Mora, Minnesota 
 

March 22, 2021 
 



 

 

Mora High School Traffic Study 
Independent School District #332 

Mora Public Schools 

Mora, Minnesota 

 
March 22, 2021 

I hereby certify that this report was prepared by me or under my direct supervision, and 
that I am a duly Licensed Professional Engineer under the laws of the State of 
Minnesota. 

  Date:   March 22, 2021 License No.:   19254  

Short Elliott Hendrickson Inc. 

10901 Red Circle Drive; Suite 300 

Minnetonka, MN 55343 



 

 

Engineers   |   Architects   |   Planners   |   Scientists 

Short Elliott Hendrickson Inc., 10901 Red Circle Drive, Suite 300, Minnetonka, MN 55343-9302 

SEH is 100% employee-owned   |   sehinc.com   |   952.912.2600   |   800.734.6757   |   888.908.8166 fax 

 FINAL TRAFFIC STUDY MEMORANDUM 

TO: Chris Ziemer, Project Manager 
 ICS Consulting 
 
FROM: Mike Kotila, PE (MN) 
 Leo Johnson, EIT 

  
DATE: March 22, 2021 
 
RE: Mora High School Traffic Study 
 SEH No. ICSCO 157520 
 
INTRODUCTION 
This technical memorandum provides study findings related to the planned new high school expansion adjacent 
to the existing Trailview Elementary School in the City of Mora. The new high school, planned for opening in the 
fall of 2023, will serve grades 7-12 with a projected future enrollment of 800.  The existing elementary school 
serves grades kindergarten through 6 with an enrollment of 771 students.  In addition, the existing site 
accommodates a pre-kindergarten enrollment of 90 students as well as a community wellness facility. 
 
This study examines traffic operations at study area intersections for existing land uses in the study area plus 
future land uses that include the high school and additional residential land uses that are assumed to be 
developed within the study area. 
 
The study area is bounded by Grove Street (Kanabec County Road 70) on the west and State Highway 65 on the 
east. 9th Street serves as an eastbound/westbound collector roadway through the study area and primary access 
roadway for both school sites. The intersection of Grove Street and Pine Ridge Road is the northern boundary of 
the study area and 7th Street intersections with Grove Street and Wood Street form the southern boundary of the 
study area.  
 

Figure 1 shows the study area, locations of the planned high school, the existing elementary school, areas of 
assumed residential development, and the study intersections and associated intersection numbers that correlate 
to the map. 
  



9th St

Wo
od

 St

Sunset Ln

Gro
ve 

St

7th St

1239

123=

1

2 3

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13

Study Area Figure
1Mora High School Traffic Study

Mora, Minnesota

Project: ICSCO 157520

User Name: ljohnson
Projection: NAD 1983 HARN MN Kanabec
Source: ESRI Online

Print Date: 1/18/2021

?àA@

Townhome
Development

Single Family Home
Development

Trailview Elementary
School

Mora High
School

Welia 
Community 

Wellness 
Center

123|123|
123=

1238

Study IntersectionsX
Project Location

Private Developments

* *

*20 MPH when children present
1238

SÅ



Mora High School Traffic Study 
March 22, 2021 
Page 3 
 
 
EXISTING CONDITIONS 
The proposed high school is planned for construction in the space currently occupied by baseball fields on the 
elementary school campus. 9th Street provides access to both the elementary school and the proposed high 
school along the south side of the project site. 9th Street is a 2-lane roadway with eastbound left turn lanes at the 
existing accesses to the elementary school and on its eastbound approach to Highway 65. 9th Street operates 
with a posted speed limit of 35-mph and a school speed zone reducing to a 20-mph limit when children are 
present.  
 
Highway 65 is a 2-lane highway with a speed limit of 55-mph. Wood Street and 7th Street are 2-lane city streets 
with statutory speed limits of 30 mph. Grove Street is a 2-lane county road (Kanabec CR 70)  that operates at 30-
mph within the developed area of the city but increases to a statutory 55-mph limit north of 7th Street. 
 
Trails are in place along the south side of 9th Street, the east side of Wood Street and the north side of 7th Street. 
A marked school crosswalk and pedestrian activated warning flasher system is in place to serve students 
crossing 9th Street at its intersection with Village Green Lane. The crossing is staffed by an adult crossing guard 
to assist students.   
 
Existing intersection traffic control at all study intersections is a stop sign on the minor street (or driveway) 
approaches. 

Looking westerly along 9th Street at the Sunset Lane intersection and entrance to the elementary school.  
The trail on the south side and the eastbound left turn lane to the school are apparent. The pedestrian 
crossing at Village Green Lane is visible in the distance. 
 
 
 
 



Mora High School Traffic Study 
March 22, 2021 
Page 4 
 
 
EXISTING TRAFFIC COUNTS 
On October 6th, 2020 traffic cameras were used to collect video data at eight intersections in the study area. From 
the videos, traffic movements were counted for passenger vehicles, heavy vehicles, buses, pedestrians, and 
bicycles at each intersection.  
 
Traffic video was recorded at the following locations that serve existing school traffic movements: 
 

 #1 - Grove Street at Pine Ridge Road 

 #2 - Grove Street at 7th Street  

 #3 - Wood Street at 7th Street 

 #4 - 9th Street at Existing Bus Only Driveway  

 #5 - 9th Street at Village Green Place 

 #6 - 9th Street at Village Green Lane 

 #7 - 9th Street at Sunset Lane West 

 #13 - Highway 65 at 9th Street 

 
Traffic counts were performed from the video during the morning peak period (7-9 am) and afternoon peak period 
(1-6 pm). The elementary school was in session on the day the video was collected however the programmed 
dismissal time was earlier than normal due to schedule adjustments made during the Covid-19 pandemic. The 
peak traffic hours were found to be 7:15-8:15 am which overlaps school arrival.  In the afternoon, classes 
dismissed at 2 pm, followed by an optional after-school program which lasted until 3:15 pm. This resulted in 
dismissal traffic to be spread over a longer period and the peak hour of traffic to be from 2:45-3:45 pm.  The 2020 
existing turning movement counts are included as attachments to this memorandum. 
 
Observations of the elementary school entrance intersection during peak periods indicate that parent pick-up and 
drop off queues do not exceed on-site storage capacity and do not back out to the street intersection. 
 
Figure 2 shows the existing intersection lane configurations and existing traffic demands for the AM School 
Arrival peak hour and PM School Dismissal peak hour for each study intersection. Existing traffic volumes for 
study intersections #8, #9, #10, #11, and #12 have been estimated based upon trip generation rates for the land 
uses served by each intersecting street. 
 
Figure 3 shows the peak hour traffic volumes in 2023 with additional trips due to residential growth but without 
the high school.   
 
Figure 4 depicts the proposed site plan for the high school. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



9th St

Wo
od

 St

Sunset Ln

Gro
ve 

St

7th St

1

2 3

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13

Existing Peak Hour Traffic Volumes Figure
2Mora High School Traffic Study

Mora, Minnesota

Project: ICSCO 157520

User Name: ljohnson
Projection: NAD 1983 HARN MN Kanabec
Source: ESRI Online

Print Date: 1/18/2021

?àA@

Study IntersectionsX

OP Intersection Geometrics

!"$ Minor Street Stop Control

XX / (XX)
School Arrival Peak Hour Volume 7:15-8:15 AM
School Dismissal Peak Hour Volume 2:45-3:45 PM

O
9th St

TH
 65

13

12 / (21)
80 / (75)

115
 / (

58)
130

 / (
310

)

29 
/ (1

1)
190

 / (
264

)

!"$ ³³

=

>
=

O=

9th St

Su
nse

t Ln
 W

7

106 / (35)
39 / (27)
0 / (5)

1 / 
(0)

0 / 
(0)

2 / 
(3)

30 
/ (3

3)
0 / 

(0)
53 

/ (5
1)

54 / (23)
32 / (41)

2 / (1)
OP

OP

!"$>
P

Ele
me

nta
ry A

cce
ss

O
Pine Ridge Rd

Gro
ve 

St

1

0 / (0)
5 / (8)

4 / 
(2)

2 / 
(9)

1 / 
(0)

14 
/ (8

)

!"$=>

P O

7th St

Gro
ve 

St

2

1 / (3)
6 / (19)

5 / 
(8)

35 
/ (1

5)

13 
/ (1

5)
6 / 

(3)

!"$

=>

P
7th St

Wo
od 

St

3

0 / (1)
0 / (2)
3 / (9)

0 / 
(0)

44 
/ (2

2)
4 / 

(8)

7 / 
(20

)
27 

/ (3
7)

1 / 
(2)

33 / (12)
6 / (5)
2 / (0)

OP

OP

OP

OP

!"$
9th St

Bu
s E

xit

4

9 / (3)
65 / (39)

15 / (2)
40 / (57)0 / 

(6)
8 / 

(8)

!"$

P

O

=>

9th St

Vill
age

 Gr
een

 Pl

5

!"$

52 / (59)
7 / (4)

1 / 
(0)

5 / 
(7)74 / (43)

1 / (0)
=>P

O

9th St

Vill
age

 Gr
een

 Ln

6

8 / (3)
59 / (53)
5 / (5)

0 / 
(2)

0 / 
(0)

4 / 
(8)

1 / 
(7)

0 / 
(0)

16 
/ (9

)

10 / (2)
69 / (45)

0 / (0)

OP

OP

OP

!"$>
P

Bu
s E

ntr
anc

e

9th St

Su
nse

t Ln
 E

8

!"$

144 / (66)
1 / (3)

1 / 
(1)

2 / 
(1)86 / (94)

1 / (1)
=>P

O

9th St

No
rdic

 Ce
nte

r D
r

9

1 / (1)
87 / (94)

1 / (3)
143 / (68)2 / 

(1)
3 / 

(2)

!"$

P

O

=>

9th St

Tow
nho

me
 Ac

ces
s W

10

!"$

142 / (71)
1 / (2)

2 / 
(0)

1 / 
(2)89 / (95)

1 / (1)
=>P

O

9th St

Tow
nho

me
 Ac

ces
s E

11

!"$

142 / (73)
1 / (3)

1 / 
(0)

2 / 
(3)89 / (97)

1 / (0)
=>P

O

9th St

Old
 Fa

rm
 Rd

12

0 / (0)
91 / (100)

1 / (0)
143 / (76)0 / 

(0)
1 / 

(1)

!"$

P

O

=>

SÅ



9th St

Wo
od

 St

Sunset Ln

Gro
ve 

St

7th St

1

2 3

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 1314 15

2023 No Build Peak Hour Traffic Volumes Figure
3Mora High School Traffic Study

Mora, Minnesota

Project: ICSCO 157520

User Name: ljohnson
Projection: NAD 1983 HARN MN Kanabec
Source: ESRI Online

Print Date: 1/18/2021

9th St

Ne
w T

ow
nho

me
s W

14

!"$

195 / (94)
2 / (5)

1 / 
(1)

5 / 
(3)129 / (124)

0 / (0)
=>P

O

9th St

Ne
w T

ow
nho

me
s E

15

!"$

197 / (99)
2 / (8)

0 / 
(0)

7 / 
(4)134 / (127)

0 / (0)
=>P

O

9th St

Tow
nho

me
 Ac

ces
s W

10

!"$

197 / (107)
1 / (2)

2 / 
(0)

1 / 
(2)140 / (130)

1 / (1)
=>P

O

9th St

Tow
nho

me
 Ac

ces
s E

11

!"$

197 / (109)
1 / (3)

1 / 
(0)

2 / 
(3)140 / (132)

1 / (0)
=>P

O

9th St

Old
 Fa

rm
 Rd

12

0 / (0)
143 / (135)

1 / (4)
198 / (112)0 / 

(0)
5 / 

(4)

!"$

P

O

=>

O
9th St

TH
 65

13

20 / (27)
128 / (107)

159
 / (

92)
130

 / (
310

)

40 
/ (1

7)
190

 / (
264

)

!"$ ³³

=

9th St

Su
nse

t Ln
 W

7

143 / (47)
54 / (39)
0 / (5)

1 / 
(0)

0 / 
(0)

2 / 
(3)

47 
/ (4

2)
0 / 

(0)
84 

/ (6
4)

73 / (30)
40 / (55)

2 / (1)
OP

OP

!"$>
P

Ele
me

nta
ry A

cce
ss

9th St

Su
nse

t Ln
 E

8

!"$

196 / (90)
1 / (3)

1 / 
(1)

2 / 
(1)125 / (121)

1 / (1)
=>P

O

9th St

No
rdic

 Ce
nte

r D
r

9

1 / (1)
126 / (122)

1 / (3)
195 / (92)2 / 

(1)
3 / 

(2)

!"$

P

O

=>

9th St

Bu
s E

xit

4

9 / (3)
91 / (54)

15 / (2)
63 / (74)0 / 

(6)
8 / 

(8)

!"$

P

O

=>

9th St

Vill
age

 Gr
een

 Pl

5

!"$

75 / (76)
7 / (4)

1 / 
(0)

5 / 
(7)100 / (58)

1 / (0)
=>P

O

9th St

Vill
age

 Gr
een

 Ln

6

22 / (14)
77 / (63)
5 / (5)

0 / 
(2)

0 / 
(0)

4 / 
(8)

6 / 
(16

)
0 / 

(0)
24 

/ (2
3)

17 / (10)
88 / (52)

0 / (0)

OP

OP

OP

!"$>
P

Bu
s E

ntr
anc

e

7th St

Wo
od 

St

3

0 / (1)
0 / (2)
3 / (9)

0 / 
(0)

60 
/ (3

0)
4 / 

(8)

11 
/ (2

6)
46 

/ (4
8)

1 / 
(2)

43 / (18)
6 / (5)
2 / (0)

OP

OP

OP

OP

!"$

O
Pine Ridge Rd

Gro
ve 

St

1

0 / (0)
5 / (8)

4 / 
(2)

2 / 
(9)

1 / 
(0)

14 
/ (8

)

!"$=>

P

O

7th St

Gro
ve 

St

2

1 / (3)
10 / (23)

5 / 
(8)

45 
/ (2

1)

13 
/ (1

5)
6 / 

(3)

!"$

=>

P ?àA@

>
=

O=

Townhome
Development

Single Family Home
Development

Study IntersectionsX

OP Intersection Geometrics

!"$ Minor Street Stop Control

XX / (XX)
School Arrival Peak Hour Volume 7:15-8:15 AM
School Dismissal Peak Hour Volume 2:45-3:45 PM

Private Developments

SÅ



Mora High School Traffic Study 
March 22, 2021 
Page 7 
 
 

 
Figure 4 – Proposed High School Site Plan

  
 

TRAFFIC VOLUME ASSUMPTIONS / COVID-19 Adjustments 
Based on review of pre-pandemic traffic volumes it has been found that COVID-19 has contributed to an average 
reduction of approximately 15% in regional traffic demand. Volumes at the local level are dependent upon on-site 
specific conditions. Therefore, for the purposes of this study, traffic volumes on Highway 65 were increased to 
account for the effect of the pandemic. Traffic volumes turning to and from 9th Street were not adjusted because 
the elementary school was providing in-person learning and was operating close to normally. The Welia 
community wellness center was closed due to COVID-19, therefore, estimated trips to and from Welia were 
added to the analysis scenarios for future conditions. No adjustments were made to estimated traffic volumes 
generated by existing or future single-family homes. 
 
TRIP GENERATION AND DISTRIBUTION 
The proposed high school is projected to have an enrollment of 800 students in 2023. To be conservative, 
enrollment at the elementary school was assumed to grow by a similar proportion as the high school to 822 
students. The private townhome development was assumed to be 16 duplexes for a total of 32 dwelling units and 
is assumed to be completed in 2023. Additionally, seven single-family homes were assumed to be constructed on 
the north side of 9th Street through 2023. 



Mora High School Traffic Study 
March 22, 2021 
Page 8 
 
 
 
Table 1 shows the projected growth of the Elementary School and the sizes of the expected new developments. 
 

Table 1 – Assumed Development Sizes  

for Trip Generation Estimates 

Land Use  Size  Units 

Elementary School Growth  51  Students 

High School  800  Students 

Recreational Community Center  50  KSF 

Multifamily Housing (Low‐rise)  32  Units 

Single Family Housing  7  Units 

 
Trip generation estimates for the High School, Welia community wellness center, townhome development, and 
single-family home development were performed based upon the Institute of Transportation Engineers’ (ITE) Trip 
Generation Manual, 10th Edition.  
 
Table 2 shows the trip generation rates (i.e., the number of 1-way vehicle trips generated per student (or unit) and 
proportion of trips entering and exiting the site from the new High School and from the increased enrollment at the 
Elementary School.  
 

Table 2 – Trip Generation Rates and Distributions 

Land Use 
ITE 
Code 

Units 
AM/School Arrival  PM/School Dismissal 

Rate  Enter  Exit  Rate  Enter  Exit 

Elementary School  520  Students  0.67  0.54  0.46  0.34  0.45  0.55 

High School  530  Students  0.55  0.68  0.32  0.33  0.32  0.68 

Multifamily Housing (Low‐rise)  220  Units  0.46  0.23  0.77  0.56  0.63  0.37 

Single Family Housing  210  Units  0.74  0.25  0.75  0.99  0.63  0.37 

Welia Community Center  Volumes estimated based on proportions of daily rates 
 
 
Trip Generation Assumptions 
The AM peak hour of adjacent traffic and the school arrival peak hour occur at approximately the same. The 
school dismissal peak occurs prior to the PM peak hour for other traffic. The multi-family housing and single family 
homes will have the highest trip generation during the normal AM and PM peak hours, so using the PM peak hour 
in place of the school dismissal peak hour (which is not available) is conservative.  
 
For the Welia community wellness center the total expected daily trips was calculated; then, using ITE’s 24-hour 
distribution of trips for the recreational community center land use, the school arrival hour and school dismissal 
hour trip generation percentages of daily traffic numbers were found and the number of entering and exiting trips 
were calculated. A 50% reduction was applied to account for internal trips for parents or staff that use the center 
before or after school, and to account for the use of the wellness center’s facilities by students during physical 
education. 
 
No reduction in trips was assumed for parent trips that may pick-up or drop off students for both schools at the 
same location (conservative assumption). The elementary school and high school share a bus lot and students 
from both schools will ride the same buses.  
 



Mora High School Traffic Study 
March 22, 2021 
Page 9 
 
 
Table 3 shows the AM/school arrival, and PM/school dismissal peak hour trips generated by both the proposed 
high school, small increase at the elementary school, community center, and growth from nearby residential land 
uses.  
 

Table 3 – Trip Generation 

Land Use 
School Arrival Peak Hour  School Dismissal Peak Hour 

Enter  Exit  Total  Enter  Exit  Total 

Elementary School growth  18  15  33  8  9  17 

High School  299  141  440  84  180  264 

Recreational Community Center  21  13  34  19  23  42 

Multifamily Housing (Low‐rise)  4  13  17  13  7  20 

Single Family Housing  1  4  5  4  3  7 

Total  325  171  496  120  213  333 

 
Trips generated by the new high school were directionally distributed based on the existing traffic distribution 
patterns to and from the existing elementary school. The generated and distributed trips were then added to the 
existing trips to determine the 2023 Build Volumes, shown in Figure 5. 
 
Figure 6 depicts peak hour traffic volumes for 2023 Build conditions for a Sensitivity Test.  Traffic volume 
adjustments (additions) have been made to the baseline volumes to better represent what maximum traffic 
demand conditions with all programmed activities on site operating at normal schedule and capacity. This was 
done as a sensitivity test to identify if any findings would change with higher traffic volumes that would be present. 
 
 
 





9th St

Wo
od

 St

Sunset Ln

Gro
ve 

St

7th St

1

2 3

4A 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 1314 15

2023 Build Peak Hour Traffic Volumes Figure
5Mora High School Traffic Study

Mora, Minnesota

Project: ICSCO 157520

User Name: ljohnson
Projection: NAD 1983 HARN MN Kanabec
Source: ESRI Online

Print Date: 1/18/2021

9th St

Ne
w T

ow
nho

me
s W

14

!"$

380 / (124)
2 / (5)

1 / 
(1)

5 / 
(3)191 / (221)

0 / (0)
=>P

O

9th St

Ne
w T

ow
nho

me
s E

15

!"$

382 / (129)
2 / (8)

0 / 
(0)

7 / 
(4)196 / (224)

0 / (0)
=>P

O

9th St

Su
nse

t Ln
 W

7

146 / (50)
236 / (66)
0 / (5)

1 / 
(0)

0 / 
(0)

2 / 
(3)

47 
/ (4

3)
0 / 

(0)
87 

/ (6
5)

74 / (32)
99 / (151)

2 / (1)
OP

OP

!"$>
P

Ele
me

nta
ry A

cce
ss

9th St

Su
nse

t Ln
 E

8

!"$

381 / (120)
1 / (3)

1 / 
(1)

2 / 
(1)187 / (218)

1 / (1)
=>P

O

9th St

No
rdic

 Ce
nte

r D
r

9

1 / (1)
188 / (219)

1 / (3)
380 / (122)2 / 

(1)
3 / 

(2)

!"$

P

O

=>

O
9th St

TH
 65

13

27 / (43)
183 / (188)

307
 / (

117
)

130
 / (

310
)

76 
/ (2

3)
190

 / (
264

)

!"$ ³³

=

9th St

Old
 Fa

rm
 Rd

12

0 / (0)
205 / (232)

1 / (4)
383 / (142)0 / 

(0)
5 / 

(4)

!"$

P

O

=>

9th St

Tow
nho

me
 Ac

ces
s W

10

!"$

382 / (137)
1 / (2)

2 / 
(0)

1 / 
(2)202 / (227)

1 / (1)
=>P

O

9th St

Tow
nho

me
 Ac

ces
s E

11

!"$

382 / (139)
1 / (3)

1 / 
(0)

2 / 
(3)202 / (229)

1 / (0)
=>P

O

9th St

Vill
age

 Gr
een

 Pl

5

!"$

283 / (113)
7 / (4)

1 / 
(0)

5 / 
(7)

179 / (160)
1 / (0)

9th St

HS
 Pa

rkin
g L

ot

4

75 / (36)
87 / (46)

212 / (52)
74 / (70)

46 
/ (4

4)
91 

/ (1
18)

!"$

P

O

=>

9th St

Vill
age

 Gr
een

 Ln

6

7 / (1)
274 / (105)
5 / (5)

0 / 
(2)

0 / 
(0)

4 / 
(8)

17 
/ (9

)
0 / 

(0)
0 / 

(9)

12 / (0)
172 / (164)

0 / (0)

OP

OP

OP

!"$>
P

Bu
s L

ot

>
=

O=

OP

Pine Ridge Rd
Gro

ve 
St

1

0 / (0)
0 / (0)
5 / (8) 4 / 

(2)
18 

/ (9
)

28 
/ (0

)

1 / 
(0)

14 
/ (8

)
6 / 

(1)
!"$

OP
OP

OP 2 / (5)
0 / (0)
0 / (27)

O

7th St

Gro
ve 

St

2

17 / (3)
19 / (34)

33 
/ (8

)
70 

/ (3
5)

13 
/ (4

2)
6 / 

(3)

!"$

=>

P

7th St

Wo
od 

St

3

0 / (1)
0 / (2)
3 / (9)

0 / 
(0)

96 
/ (4

3)
4 / 

(8)

36 
/ (3

8)
79 

/ (7
0)

1 / 
(2)

68 / (32)
6 / (5)
2 / (0)

OP

OP

OP

OP

!"$

?àA@

P

=>

O

SÅ

Townhome
Development

Single Family Home
Development

Study IntersectionsX

OP Intersection Geometrics

!"$ Minor Street Stop Control

XX / (XX)
School Arrival Peak Hour Volume 7:15-8:15 AM
School Dismissal Peak Hour Volume 2:45-3:45 PM

Private Developments



9th St

Wo
od

 St

Sunset Ln

Gro
ve 

St

7th St

1

2 3

4A 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 1314 15

2023 Build Peak Hour Traffic Volumes, Sensitivity Test Figure
6Mora High School Traffic Study

Mora, Minnesota

Project: ICSCO 157520

User Name: ljohnson
Projection: NAD 1983 HARN MN Kanabec
Source: ESRI Online

Print Date: 1/18/2021

9th St

Ne
w T

ow
nho

me
s W

14

!"$

380 / (165)
2 / (5)

1 / 
(1)

5 / 
(3)191 / (275)

0 / (0)
=>P

O

9th St

Ne
w T

ow
nho

me
s E

15

!"$

382 / (170)
2 / (8)

0 / 
(0)

7 / 
(4)196 / (278)

0 / (0)
=>P

O

9th St

Su
nse

t Ln
 W

7

146 / (91)
236 / (66)
0 / (5)

1 / 
(0)

0 / 
(0)

2 / 
(3)

47 
/ (7

6)
0 / 

(0)
87 

/ (1
16)

74 / (60)
99 / (151)

2 / (1)
OP

OP

!"$>
P

Ele
me

nta
ry A

cce
ss

9th St

Su
nse

t Ln
 E

8

!"$

381 / (161)
1 / (3)

1 / 
(1)

2 / 
(1)187 / (269)

1 / (1)
=>P

O

9th St

No
rdic

 Ce
nte

r D
r

9

1 / (1)
188 / (273)

1 / (3)
380 / (163)2 / 

(1)
3 / 

(2)

!"$

P

O

=>

O
9th St

TH
 65

13

27 / (50)
183 / (234)

307
 / (

154
)

130
 / (

310
)

76 
/ (2

7)
190

 / (
264

)

!"$ ³³

=

9th St

Old
 Fa

rm
 Rd

12

0 / (0)
205 / (286)

1 / (4)
383 / (183)0 / 

(0)
5 / 

(4)

!"$

P

O

=>

9th St

Tow
nho

me
 Ac

ces
s W

10

!"$

382 / (178)
1 / (2)

2 / 
(0)

1 / 
(2)202 / (281)

1 / (1)
=>P

O

9th St

Tow
nho

me
 Ac

ces
s E

11

!"$

382 / (180)
1 / (3)

1 / 
(0)

2 / 
(3)202 / (283)

1 / (0)
=>P

O

9th St

Vill
age

 Gr
een

 Pl

5

!"$

283 / (146)
7 / (4)

1 / 
(0)

5 / 
(7)

179 / (188)
1 / (0)

9th St

HS
 Pa

rkin
g L

ot

4

75 / (36)
87 / (74)

212 / (52)
74 / (103)

46 
/ (4

4)
91 

/ (1
18)

!"$

P

O

=>

9th St

Vill
age

 Gr
een

 Ln

6

7 / (1)
274 / (138)
5 / (5)

0 / 
(2)

0 / 
(0)

4 / 
(8)

17 
/ (9

)
0 / 

(0)
0 / 

(9)

12 / (0)
172 / (192)

0 / (0)

OP

OP

OP

!"$>
P

Bu
s L

ot

>
=

O=

OP

Pine Ridge Rd
Gro

ve 
St

1

0 / (0)
0 / (0)
5 / (8) 4 / 

(2)
18 

/ (9
)

28 
/ (0

)

1 / 
(0)

14 
/ (8

)
6 / 

(1)
!"$

OP
OP

OP 2 / (5)
0 / (0)
0 / (27)

O

7th St

Gro
ve 

St

2

17 / (3)
19 / (44)

33 
/ (8

)
70 

/ (4
6)

13 
/ (4

2)
6 / 

(3)

!"$

=>

P

7th St

Wo
od 

St

3

0 / (1)
0 / (2)
3 / (9)

0 / 
(0)

96 
/ (5

8)
4 / 

(8)

36 
/ (4

8)
79 

/ (9
3)

1 / 
(2)

68 / (44)
6 / (5)
2 / (0)

OP

OP

OP

OP

!"$

?àA@

P

=>

O

SÅ

Townhome
Development

Single Family Home
Development

Study IntersectionsX

OP Intersection Geometrics

!"$ Minor Street Stop Control

XX / (XX)
School Arrival Peak Hour Volume 7:15-8:15 AM
School Dismissal Peak Hour Volume 2:45-3:45 PM

Private Developments



Mora High School Traffic Study 
March 22, 2021 
Page 12 
 
 
 
 
 

OPERATIONAL ANALYSIS 
Traffic operations analyses were conducted to determine if improvements to the existing roadway network will be 
needed when the proposed high school is opened in 2023 based on delay, level of service (LOS), and anticipated 
traffic queue lengths. The new high school parking lot access to 9th Street was modeled with two southbound 
lanes of approach as shown in the site plan. Similarly, the bus driveway and the elementary school were modeled 
consistently with the site plan, each with two lanes of approach. 
 
The traffic analysis was performed using Synchro/SimTraffic software (version 11). The results reported are 
based on an average of 10 runs in SimTraffic. Detailed SimTraffic operations tables are attached. 
 
Intersection LOS, as defined in the 2010 Highway Capacity Manual, is a qualitative performance measure that 
represents quality of service indicating how well an intersection is operating based upon average delay 
experienced. Intersection performance is ranked from LOS A through LOS F. The LOS results are based on 
average delay per vehicle, which corresponds to the delay threshold values shown in Table 4.  
 

Table 4 – Level of Service Criteria for Signalized and Unsignalized Intersections 

LOS Designation 
Signalized Intersection 

Average Delay/Vehicle (seconds) 
Unsignalized Intersection Average 

Delay/Vehicle (seconds) 

A ≤ 10 ≤ 10 
B > 10 – 20 > 10 – 15 
C > 20 – 35 > 15 – 25 
D > 35 – 55 > 25 – 35 
E > 55 – 80 > 35 – 50 
F > 80 > 50 

 
LOS A indicates the best traffic operation and LOS F indicates an intersection where demand exceeds capacity. 
For this study, LOS D or better is considered acceptable for each intersection movement; and, LOS C or better is 
considered acceptable for each approach and each intersection as a whole.  
 
2023 NO BUILD OPERATIONS 
Based on analysis results for the 2023 No Build scenario with the existing intersection control and lane 
configurations, all of the study intersections are expected to operate acceptably with each movement operating at 
LOS B or better and with each approach and intersection operating at LOS A. Under these conditions, there will 
likely be some longer queues and delays during the highest 5-10 minute peak of school traffic, however, these 
delays and maximum queue lengths are expected to be manageable within the existing site and local street 
system and each overall intersection will operate acceptably.  Table 6 shows the 2023 No Build Operations 
during the School Arrival, and School Dismissal peak hours. 
 
2023 BUILD OPERATIONS 
Based on analysis results for the 2023 Build scenario with the existing intersection control and lane 
configurations, all the study intersections are expected to operate acceptably with each movement operating at 
LOS C or better and with each approach and intersection operating at LOS A. As with the 2023 No Build scenario, 
there will likely be some longer queues and delays during the highest 5-10 minute peak of school traffic, however, 
these delays and maximum queue lengths are expected to be manageable within the existing and planned site 
and local street system and each overall intersection will operate acceptably. Table 7 shows the 2023 Build 
Operations during the AM, School Dismissal, and PM peak hours. 
 



Mora High School Traffic Study 
March 22, 2021 
Page 13 
 
 
Some traffic movements that if not well served, or experience long delays, could cause issues for other on-site or 
on-street operations.  A few notable movements of interest include: 
 

 The eastbound left turn from 9th Street to northbound Highway 65 and 9th St operates at LOS C in the 
school arrival hour with an average delay of 15.9 seconds (maximum queue = 54 ft); This delay will be 
experienced by a relatively low number of vehicles. If longer delays occur, drivers destined for northbound 
Highway 65 leaving the school sites may choose to utilize northbound Grove Avenue to 220th Street to 
access Highway 65. 
 

 The southbound left turn movement out of the elementary school parking lot will experience greater 
delays than it does under existing conditions because of the addition of high school traffic on 9th Street.  
Also, if the southbound left experiences long delays or queuing, it could disrupt the efficiency of student 
loading in front of the school.  Operational results show that the am arrival peak hour operates at LOS A 
with an average delay of 8.9 seconds and a maximum queue of 73 feet.  So, based on modeling, this is 
not anticipated to become a problem for other on-site operations. 
 

 The location of the high school driveway on 9th Street should be located such that it is sufficiently 
separated from the 90 degree turn of Wood Street onto 9th Street to allow buses to turn the corner and 
continue in the through lane without conflicting with vehicles waiting to turn left from 9th Street into the 
high school parking lot.  The high school parking lot should be served by an eastbound left turn lane with 
a minimum of 120 feet of storage length. 

 
This study was performed during pandemic conditions. The Mora School District’s COVID-19 operational plan in 
October 2020 included a 1-hour early dismissal for the elementary school at 2 pm. Free childcare was provided 
for 1st responders after school until 3:15 PM, with possible paid childcare for other parents. This is different than 
normal operations when all students get released at 3 pm creating a dual peak hour in the afternoon. To estimate 
the normal school dismissal hour, a sensitivity test was performed assuming the 2 pm traffic was increased to 
represent what would be the normal 3 pm demands. The 2 pm peak hour volumes had 70% of the 3pm peak hour 
traffic into and out of the school added to it via trip generation. 
 
2023 BUILD OPERATIONS – SENSITIVITY TEST 
Based on analysis results for the 2023 Build – Sensitivity Test scenario with the existing intersection control and 
lane configurations, all the study intersections are expected to operate acceptably with each movement operating 
at LOS C or better and with each approach and intersection operating at LOS A. As with the 2023 No Build and 
2023 Build scenarios, there will likely be some longer queues and delays during the highest 5–10-minute peak of 
school traffic, however, these delays and maximum queue lengths are expected to be manageable within the 
existing and planned site and local street system and each overall intersection will operate acceptably. Table 8 
shows the 2023 Build – Sensitivity Test Operations during the AM, School Dismissal, and PM peak hours. 
 
 
  



Mora High School Traffic Study 
March 22, 2021 
Page 14 
 
 

Table 5 – 2020 Existing Operations 

Intersection Approach 

School Arrival / AM  
Peak Hour 

School Dismissal / PM 
Peak Hour 

Approach 
Delay/LOS 

Intersection 
Delay/LOS 

Approach 
Delay/LOS 

Intersection 
Delay/LOS 

Grove St at Pine 
Ridge Rd 

NB 1 / A 

0.8 / A 

0.6 / A 

1.0 / A 
SB 0.0 / A 0.0 / A 

EB 2.5 / A 2.6 / A 

WB 0.0 / A 0.0 / A 

Grove St at 7th St 

NB 0.2 / A 

0.7 / A 

0.2 / A 

1.7 / A 
SB 0.6 / A 0.4 / A 

EB 0.0 / A 0.0 / A 

WB 4.0 / A 4.5 / A 

Wood St at 7th St 

NB 6.4 / A 

4.2 / A 

5.5 / A 

4.0 / A 
SB 4.9 / A 4.7 / A 

EB 1.5 / A 1.2 / A 

WB 1.3 / A 1.3 / A 

9th St at New 
Parking Access 

NB 0.0 / A 

0.5 / A 

0.0 / A 

0.6 / A 
SB 4.6 / A 3.7 / A 

EB 0.3 / A 0.2 / A 

WB 0.2 / A 0.1 / A 

9th St at Village 
Green Pl 

NB 3.2 / A 

0.4 / A 

2.7 / A 

0.4 / A 
SB 0.0 / A 0.0 / A 

EB 0.2 / A 0.2 / A 

WB 0.4 / A 0.4 / A 

9th St at Village 
Green Ln 

NB 3.0 / A 

1.1 / A 

2.8 / A 

1.0 / A 
SB 5.9 / A 4.1 / A 

EB 0.4 / A 0.2 / A 

WB 0.6 / A 0.4 / A 

9th St at Sunset Ln 
W 

NB 2.8 / A 

2.1 / A 

2.5 / A 

2.0 / A 
SB 5.1 / A 4.2 / A 

EB 1.7 / A 0.9 / A 

WB 0.6 / A 0.3 / A 

Hwy 65 at 9th St 

NB 0.8 / A 

1.2 / A 

0.4 / A 

1.0 / A 
SB 0.6 / A 0.6 / A 

EB 3.4 / A 3.7 / A 

WB 0.0 / A 0.0 / A 
Note: Minor street stop control intersection Level of Service (LOS) is typically defined as the worst approach 
LOS. The overall intersection delay and LOS is shown.  Delay and LOS by movement is available in the 
attachments. 



Mora High School Traffic Study 
March 22, 2021 
Page 15 
 
 

Table 6 – 2023 No Build Operations 

Intersection Approach 

School Arrival / AM  
Peak Hour 

School Dismissal / PM 
Peak Hour 

Approach 
Delay/LOS 

Intersection 
Delay/LOS 

Approach 
Delay/LOS 

Intersection 
Delay/LOS 

Grove St at Pine 
Ridge Rd 

NB 1.1 / A 

0.7 / A 

0.4 / A 

0.9 / A 
SB 0.0 / A 0.0 / A 

EB 2.5 / A 2.3 / A 

WB 0.0 / A 0.0 / A 

Grove St at 7th St 

NB 0.2 / A 

0.8 / A 

0.1 / A 

1.5 / A 
SB 0.6 / A 0.6 / A 

EB 0.0 / A 0.0 / A 

WB 4.8 / A 3.7 / A 

Wood St at 7th St 

NB 6.8 / A 

4.6 / A 

5.9 / A 

4.2 / A 
SB 5.0 / A 4.8 / A 

EB 1.6 / A 1.4 / A 

WB 1.6 / A 1.4 / A 

9th St at New 
Parking Access 

NB 0.0 / A 

0.4 / A 

0.0 / A 

0.5 / A 
SB 5.6 / A 3.7 / A 

EB 0.3 / A 0.2 / A 

WB 0.2 / A 0.1 / A 

9th St at Village 
Green Pl 

NB 3.4 / A 

0.4 / A 

2.6 / A 

0.4 / A 
SB 0.0 / A 0.0 / A 

EB 0.2 / A 0.2 / A 

WB 0.4 / A 0.4 / A 

9th St at Village 
Green Ln 

NB 2.7 / A 

1.4 / A 

2.9 / A 

1.5 / A 
SB 6.3 / A 4.5 / A 

EB 0.5 / A 0.4 / A 

WB 0.7 / A 0.5 / A 

9th St at Sunset Ln 
W 

NB 2.6 / A 

2.4 / A 

3.1 / A 

2.1 / A 
SB 5.8 / A 4.6 / A 

EB 1.9 / A 1.1 / A 

WB 0.7 / A 0.5 / A 

Hwy 65 at 9th St 

NB 1.1 / A 

1.7 / A 

0.6 / A 

1.3 / A 
SB 0.8 / A 0.8 / A 

EB 4.1 / A 4.2 / A 

WB 0.0 / A 0.0 / A 
Note: Minor street stop control intersection Level of Service (LOS) is typically defined as the worst approach 
LOS. The overall intersection delay and LOS is shown.  Delay and LOS by movement is available in the 
attachments. 



Mora High School Traffic Study 
March 22, 2021 
Page 16 
 
 

Table 7 – 2023 Build Operations 

Intersection Approach 

School Arrival / AM  
Peak Hour 

School Dismissal / PM 
Peak Hour 

Approach 
Delay/LOS 

Intersection 
Delay/LOS 

Approach 
Delay/LOS 

Intersection 
Delay/LOS 

Grove St at Pine 
Ridge Rd 

NB 0.7 / A 

0.8 / A 

0.5 / A 

2.8 / A 
SB 0.5 / A 0.3 / A 

EB 2.5 / A 2.9 / A 

WB 2.4 / A 4.2 / A 

Grove St at 7th St 

NB 0.4 / A 

1.3 / A 

0.2 / A 

1.6 / A 
SB 0.8 / A 0.7 / A 

EB 0.0 / A 0.0 / A 

WB 4.0 / A 4.1 / A 

Wood St at 7th St 

NB 7.2 / A 

5.2 / A 

6.3 / A 

4.5 / A 
SB 5.7 / A 5.0 / A 

EB 1.8 / A 1.4 / A 

WB 2.3 / A 1.5 / A 

9th St at New High 
School Parking Lot 

Access 

NB 0.0 / A 

2.2 / A 

0.0 / A 

2.9 / A 
SB 5.6 / A 5.8 / A 

EB 1.1 / A 0.9 / A 

WB 1.2 / A 0.5 / A 

9th St at Village 
Green Pl 

NB 3.2 / A 

0.4 / A 

2.8 / A 

0.5 / A 
SB 0.0 / A 0.0 / A 

EB 0.5 / A 0.6 / A 

WB 0.3 / A 0.2 / A 

9th St at Village 
Green Ln 

NB 2.6 / A 

0.7 / A 

4.1 / A 

0.6 / A 
SB 3.8 / A 4.8 / A 

EB 0.3 / A 0.1 / A 

WB 0.8 / A 0.5 / A 

9th St at Sunset Ln 
W 

NB 5.0 / A 

2.4 / A 

3.5 / A 

1.9 / A 
SB 6.9 / A 5.2 / A 

EB 1.6 / A 0.7 / A 

WB 1.2 / A 0.6 / A 

Hwy 65 at 9th St 

NB 3.1 / A 

2.9 / A 

1.2 / A 

2.3 / A 
SB 1.0 / A 1.1 / A 

EB 5.0 / A 5.5 / A 

WB 0.0 / A 0.0 / A 
Note: Minor street stop control intersection Level of Service (LOS) is typically defined as the worst approach 
LOS. The overall intersection delay and LOS is shown.  Delay and LOS by movement is available in the 
attachments. 



Mora High School Traffic Study 
March 22, 2021 
Page 17 
 
 

Table 8 – 2023 Build Sensitivity Test Operations 

Intersection Approach 

School Arrival / AM  
Peak Hour 

School Dismissal / PM 
Peak Hour 

Approach 
Delay/LOS 

Intersection 
Delay/LOS 

Approach 
Delay/LOS 

Intersection 
Delay/LOS 

Grove St at Pine 
Ridge Rd 

NB 0.7 / A 

0.8 / A 

0.5 / A 

2.7 / A 
SB 0.5 / A 0.2 / A 

EB 2.5 / A 2.6 / A 

WB 2.4 / A 4.2 / A 

Grove St at 7th St 

NB 0.4 / A 

1.3 / A 

0.2 / A 

1.6 / A 
SB 0.8 / A 0.6 / A 

EB 0.0 / A 0.0 / A 

WB 4.0 / A 4.0 / A 

Wood St at 7th St 

NB 7.2 / A 

5.2 / A 

6.8 / A 

5.1 / A 
SB 5.7 / A 5.8 / A 

EB 1.8 / A 1.7 / A 

WB 2.3 / A 1.3 / A 

9th St at New 
Parking Access 

NB 0.0 / A 

2.2 / A 

0.0 / A 

2.9 / A 
SB 5.6 / A 6.5 / A 

EB 1.1 / A 0.9 / A 

WB 1.2 / A 0.6 / A 

9th St at Village 
Green Pl 

NB 3.2 / A 

0.4 / A 

3.0 / A 

0.5 / A 
SB 0.0 / A 0.0 / A 

EB 0.5 / A 0.6 / A 

WB 0.3 / A 0.2 / A 

9th St at Village 
Green Ln 

NB 2.6 / A 

0.7 / A 

4.5 / A 

0.6 / A 
SB 3.8 / A 5.1 / A 

EB 0.3 / A 0.1 / A 

WB 0.8 / A 0.5 / A 

9th St at Sunset Ln 
W 

NB 5.0 / A 

2.4 / A 

3.7 / A 

3.0 / A 
SB 6.9 / A 7.0 / A 

EB 1.6 / A 1.0 / A 

WB 1.2 / A 0.8 / A 

Hwy 65 at 9th St 

NB 3.1 / A 

2.9 / A 

1.7 / A 

3.3 / A 
SB 1.0 / A 1.5 / A 

EB 5.0 / A 7.5 / A 

WB 0.0 / A 0.0 / A 
Note: Minor street stop control intersection Level of Service (LOS) is typically defined as the worst approach 
LOS. The overall intersection delay and LOS is shown.  Delay and LOS by movement is available in the 
attachments. 



Mora High School Traffic Study 
March 22, 2021 
Page 18 
 
 
OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
Access to staff parking lots 
Staff parking lots are located on the north side of the high school, near the tennis courts plus custodial and food 
service parking areas adjacent to the building. The traffic analysis assumed that most of the staff will arrive and 
depart via Highway 65 and 9th Street to use the new high school driveway and internal north-south access road 
circulating within the site to travel to and from these parking areas.  
 
If the internal north-south access road was closed for athletic events on campus, staff would enter or exit via the 
Pine Ridge Road and Grove Street intersection increasing demand along Grove Street. There is nominal 
competing traffic demand at Grove Street intersections (as evidenced by operational results at LOS A), so it is not 
expected that any significant delay or queuing issue will occur.  
 
Event Traffic 
The analysis results reported in this study were based on real and assumed conditions representing morning 
arrival and afternoon dismissal traffic demands on a typical school day. It is acknowledged that school events 
including athletics, performance arts, or parent-teacher conferences will generate demands differently than those 
analyzed. However, it is expected that event traffic will not typically occur at the same time the peak periods for 
other school and/or neighborhood traffic. Therefore, no explicit evaluation of event traffic has been performed. 
 

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 
Traffic demands anticipated to be generated by the proposed new Mora High School have been estimated in its 
year of opening, 2023. In addition, several adjustments were made to existing traffic volumes to estimate traffic 
demands that would be in place without the influence of the current COVID-19 pandemic.  For instance, in the 
build scenarios, traffic demands on Highway 65 were increased to represent pre-pandemic levels, and on the 
school site, traffic demands for the hour of dismissal for the elementary school were re-aligned with that of the 
high school. The build condition also assumes normal operation of the wellness center and restoration of the Pre-
K program to normal levels.  Further, this study assumes that residential development will continue in the 9th 
Street corridor adding traffic demands through the study intersections. In addition, a sensitivity test was conducted 
that included further inflation of assumed traffic volumes to identify any analysis results that may be nearing 
threshold levels of concern. The sensitivity analysis did not result in intersection performance or LOS issues that 
require mitigation.  
 
The following findings are evident from this evaluation: 
 
9th Street – Left Turn Lanes 

 Each of the intersections to the school site from 9th Street is recommended to have an eastbound left turn 
lane. It would be advantageous to restripe all of 9th Street to include a continuous 2-way center left turn 
lane to also provide safety benefit to traffic turning left from westbound 9th Street to neighborhood streets. 
The continuous turn lane would provide the opportunity for left turning traffic in either direction to 
decelerate and wait for an opposing gap in traffic to complete their left turn maneuver without blocking the 
through lane. 
 

Trailview Elementary School – Parking Lot Driveway on 9th Street 
 Entering Traffic  

o Should be served by an eastbound left turn lane. 
o Parent pick-up and drop-off queues are expected to be manageable on site and are not expected 

to interfere with operation of 9th Street.   
o Given the low speed conditions on 9th Street (normally 35 mph; reduced to 25 mph when children 

are present) the need for a right turn lane is not anticipated. 
 Exiting Traffic 



Mora High School Traffic Study 
March 22, 2021 
Page 19 
 
 

o The existing driveway configuration with a southbound through-left lane and an exclusive right 
turn lane should be perpetuated. 

o Exiting traffic will experience increased delay compared to existing conditions due to increase in 
high school traffic through the intersection along 9th Street; however, delays will be at an 
acceptable level of service. 

o Parent queues are not expected to interfere with loading zone operation near the school door. 
 

School Bus Driveway 
 Entering traffic 

o Should be served by an eastbound left turn lane. 
o Right turns can be made from the westbound through lane. 

 Exiting Traffic 
o The existing driveway configuration with a southbound through-left lane and an exclusive right 

turn lane should be perpetuated. 
o Exiting traffic will experience an increase in delay compared to existing conditions due to the 

increase in high school traffic through the intersection along 9th Street; however, delays will be at 
an acceptable level of service. 

 
High School Driveway 

 Entering Traffic  
o Should be served be an eastbound left turn lane. The turn lane should be adequately separated 

from the 90-degree turn from northbound Wood Street to eastbound 9th Street to allow school 
buses to complete the turn into the eastbound lane without encroaching into the eastbound left 
turn lane to the high school driveway. 

o The site plan provides approximately 1000 feet of vehicle storage length from the front of the 
drop-off lane to the entrance from 9th Street.  Based upon observed arrival and departures rates 
from other schools the range of storage needed is estimated to be from 1050 - 1250 feet. To 
optimize the use of the waiting lane during peaks, staff may need to instruct parents to pull to the 
front of the parking lane beyond the entrance door to maximize space for other drivers entering 
the site.  If the lane is full, drivers entering from 9th Street will have the option of using the second 
entrance lane to access the parking lot rather than wait in a long pick-up / drop-off queue. 
Instructional signage should be considered to direct drivers to use the parking lot if the drop off 
lane is full.   

o Given the low-speed conditions on 9th Street (normally 35 mph; reduced to 20 mph when children 
are present) a right turn lane is not needed based on speed differentials.  Further, if the drop off 
lane is effectively managed at the front end, and drivers are instructed to use the parking lot when 
the drop off lane is full, the need for a right turn lane on 9th Street is not anticipated for the 
purpose of storing waiting vehicles. 

 Exiting Traffic 
o The driveway configuration shown in the site plan with a southbound through-left lane and an 

exclusive right turn lane will adequately serve demands. 
o Exiting traffic delays will be at an acceptable level of service. 
o Exiting traffic queues are not expected to interfere with other on-site operations or loading zone 

operations near the school door. 
 
9th Street Intersections with Local Residential Streets 

 There will be increased school traffic on 9th Street, but no delay or level of service issues are expected on 
local street approaches to 9th Street.  As previously described, there would be a safety benefit for local 
street traffic if a continuous two-way left turn lane were installed with the school project. 

 
 
 



Mora High School Traffic Study 
March 22, 2021 
Page 20 
 
 
9th Street at Highway 65 

 Traffic movements from Highway 65 to 9th Street 
o Southbound right turns from Highway 65 to 9th Street can occur from an existing right turn lane. 

Drivers making this movement will have the right of way over other conflicting movements and will 
operate efficiently without delay or queueing issues. 

o Northbound left turns from Highway 65 to 9th Street will occur from the northbound through lane. 
There is a northbound left turn bypass lane that allows through traffic to avoid vehicles waiting for 
a gap to complete their left turn maneuver. During peak periods, a left turn queue is expected to 
form, but based on modeling, the maximum queue would be about 100 feet in length which does 
not exceed the length of the bypass lane. 

o Highway 65 is a high-speed corridor (55 mph). Speed differentials between turning traffic and 
through traffic can be a significant contributor to vehicular conflict and crashes. Therefore, 
operating and safety conditions on Highway 65 should be monitored. 

o Possible improvements to mitigate safety issues related to speed differentials on Highway 65 
could include: 

 A school speed zone to require a lower operating speed when school related traffic is 
present. 

 Speed reduction warning systems (flashers) to inform drivers of lower speed limit and of 
potential conflicts. 

 Dynamic Speed Display signs to provide real time feedback to drivers entering the school 
speed zone. 

o Possible improvements on Highway 65: 
 An exclusive northbound left turn lane: this would require widening on Highway 65 further 

to the south than the existing bypass lane currently extends.  Changes would extend to 
the proximity of the next intersection on Highway 65 with Industrial Boulevard, which 
could lead to a larger and more complex project to implement. 

 Improved intersection lighting. 
 A roundabout has been suggested as a potential safety improvement to be considered in 

the future. To be considered, an Intersection Control Evaluation (ICE) study would need 
to be conducted to evaluate pros and cons of various intersection control types to 
address operational and safety needs should they develop beyond conditions identified in 
this school traffic impact study. 
 

 Traffic movements from 9th Street to Highway 65 
o After leaving the school site approximately 60% of all school traffic will be destined for 

southbound Highway 65.  Eastbound right turns from 9th Street will operate efficiently and 
experience minimal delay. 

o After leaving the school site about 10% of all school traffic will be destined for northbound 
Highway 65 making a left turn from 9th Street.  Left turns will need to yield to all other conflicting 
traffic movements so there will be some delay and queuing issues that occur during daily peak 
periods.  In the school arrival peak period, modeling indicates average delays for eastbound left 
turns to Highway 65 will be at LOS C in the am and pm peaks with maximum queues of about 85 
feet which will not exceed the length of the existing eastbound left turn lane.  If actual delays are 
longer, drivers may begin to choose alternative routes; in this case drivers may choose to leave 
the school site on northbound Grove Street and access Highway 65 from 220th Avenue. 

 
Wood Street – Maple Avenue to 7th Street 

 Traffic volumes on Wood Street south of 7th Street are expected to increase due to high school traffic.  
Currently school related trips on Wood Street are estimated to be about 70 in the am peak hour which is 
the highest hour of the day. This is estimated to increase to about 175 in the am peak hour with high 
school traffic included. 

 



Mora High School Traffic Study 
March 22, 2021 
Page 21 
 
 
 
Grove Street at Pine Ridge Road South 

 This intersection will serve access to the staff parking lot, loading docks and north athletic fields. During 
daily arrival and dismissal peak periods, only a small portion of traffic that arrives and departs during peak 
periods will utilize this intersection.   

 Staff parking lots are located on the north side of the elementary and high school sites. Most staff are 
expected to arrive via Highway 65 and westbound 9th Street and would use the new high school driveway 
and internal north-south access road circulating within the site to gain access to parking areas. If internal 
circulation is for some reason not available, more staff would utilize Grove Street to enter the campus 
from the Pine Ridge Road intersection. Grove Street intersections including Pine Ridge Road South have 
adequate capacity to serve the demand. 

 County Road 70 is a high-speed rural roadway.  A northbound right turn lane is recommended to reduce 
vehicular conflicts and lessen the negative effect of speed differentials. 

 
Grove Street at 7th Street 

 School traffic patterns will increase use of this intersection. No operational / delay issues are anticipated. 
 Grove Street and 7th Street are low speed roadways and westbound 7th Street is controlled with a stop 

sign. Under low-speed operating conditions with no anticipated capacity/LOS issue, addition of a 
westbound right turn lane or southbound left turn lane is not warranted. 

 An existing crosswalk is in place crossing Grove Street at 7th Street. Traffic increases through the 
intersection due to school site improvements will not change the type of pedestrian crossing amenities or 
traffic warning devices that are appropriate at this location.  

 
Grove Street - Maple Avenue to Pine Ridge Road South 

 Traffic volumes on Grove Street south of 7th Street are expected to increase due to high school traffic.  
Currently school related trips on Grove Street are estimated to be about 40 in the am peak hour which is 
the highest hour of the day. This is estimated to increase to about 90 in the am peak hour with high 
school traffic included. 

 Grove Street from Central Avenue to Street is a two-lane roadway with a wide paved shoulder/2-way bike 
lane on the west side, but a narrow shoulder on the east side. Shoulder widening is often a worthy safety 
improvement and could be considered based upon needs that are unrelated to school traffic increases. 
However, the added traffic demands from the school will not create the need. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
2020 Existing Turning Movement Counts 
SimTraffic Results Tables 
 

x:\fj\i\icsco\157520\8-planning\87-rpt-stud\final mora high school tis memo 032221.docx 



Location:
Count Date:
Counted By:

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total
6:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:00 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 4
7:15 0 6 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10
7:30 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 6
7:45 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 4 0 10
8:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0
8:15 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 1 0 7
8:30 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 1 0 0 1 0 7
8:45 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 8
9:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
13:00 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 2 0 0 2 0 5
13:15 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 6
13:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 1 0 0 0 5
13:45 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 4 0 9

14:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 1 0 0 3 0 9

14:15 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 5
14:30 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 4
14:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

15:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 4
15:15 0 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 3
15:30 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 12 0 0 1 0 6
15:45 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 4 0 0 1 0 10
16:00 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 3 0 1 0 0 1 0 8
16:15 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 1 10 1 0 1 0 9
16:30 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
16:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 6 0 0 0 0 4 0 13
17:00 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 3 0 0 1 0 5
17:15 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 3 0 9
17:30 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 3 1 0 0 0 7
17:45 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 4 0 0 0 0 1 0 9
18:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0 57 5 3 0 0 0 1 33 51 1 44 3 0 37 0 187

Cars+ 0 56 4 1 0 0 0 0 27 48 0 38 2 0 31 0 168
Trucks 0 1 1 2 0 0 0 1 6 3 1 6 1 0 6 0 19

0.0 1.8 20.0 66.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 100.0 18.2 5.9 100.0 13.6 33.3 0.0 16.2 0.0
% Trucks

Grove St at Pine Ridge Rd
10/6/2020
LJJ

TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT DATA

Grove St N/A Grove St Pine Ridge Rd
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

All Vehicles

10.23.2 0.0 11.8 17.5



Location:
Count Date:
Counted By:

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total
6:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:00 2 3 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 15
7:15 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 10 0 0 0 0 0 17
7:30 3 4 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 11 0 0 0 0 0 20
7:45 2 6 0 0 3 0 1 0 0 1 10 0 0 0 0 0 23
8:00 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 6
8:15 0 2 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 4 3 0 0 0 0 0 11
8:30 1 2 0 2 1 0 1 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 8
8:45 0 4 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 9
9:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
13:00 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 8
13:15 0 4 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 6
13:30 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 8
13:45 0 5 0 0 4 0 1 0 0 2 7 0 0 0 0 0 19

14:00 2 4 0 0 5 0 0 1 0 6 2 1 0 0 0 0 19

14:15 1 3 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 13
14:30 0 3 0 0 7 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12
14:45 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 4 5 0 0 0 0 0 10

15:00 2 2 0 1 12 0 1 0 0 2 5 0 0 0 0 0 24
15:15 0 3 0 0 10 0 1 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 24
15:30 1 2 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 4 5 0 0 0 0 0 15
15:45 1 6 0 1 6 0 1 0 0 3 4 1 0 0 0 0 21
16:00 1 1 0 0 9 0 1 0 0 6 2 0 0 0 0 0 20
16:15 0 5 0 0 6 0 1 0 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 18
16:30 0 1 0 0 9 0 0 1 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 14
16:45 0 3 0 1 6 0 1 2 0 8 5 2 0 0 0 0 23
17:00 2 3 0 1 5 0 2 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 16
17:15 1 6 0 0 3 0 1 0 0 1 3 1 0 0 0 0 15
17:30 0 2 0 1 8 0 2 0 0 2 6 0 0 0 0 0 20
17:45 1 2 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 10
18:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 21 81 0 9 113 0 23 4 0 68 118 6 0 0 0 0 424

Cars+ 18 76 0 7 106 0 20 3 0 63 114 4 0 0 0 0 397
Trucks 3 5 0 2 7 0 3 1 0 5 4 2 0 0 0 0 27

14.3 6.2 0.0 22.2 6.2 0.0 13.0 25.0 0.0 7.4 3.4 33.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
% Trucks

Grove St at 7th St
10/6/2020
LJJ

TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT DATA

Grove St 7th St Grove St N/A
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

All Vehicles

6.47.8 7.4 4.8 0.0



Location:
Count Date:
Counted By:

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total
6:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:00 0 1 0 0 1 3 0 2 0 5 0 0 6 1 1 0 18
7:15 1 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 5 1 0 8 2 2 0 22
7:30 0 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 11 2 0 0 30
7:45 0 14 4 0 1 0 0 3 0 13 2 0 10 2 0 0 46
8:00 0 7 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 14 1 0 4 0 0 0 29
8:15 0 3 1 0 2 0 0 1 1 3 1 1 0 2 1 0 14
8:30 0 4 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 1 0 1 2 12
8:45 0 4 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 3 3 0 1 0 0 0 14
9:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
13:00 0 2 1 0 4 0 0 0 0 5 4 0 1 0 0 0 17
13:15 1 4 0 1 0 0 0 20 1 5 0 0 1 0 0 0 12
13:30 1 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 21 0 0 2 0 0 0 31
13:45 0 16 5 0 1 0 0 0 0 7 3 0 4 2 0 0 38

14:00 1 9 5 1 2 0 0 5 0 5 0 0 3 1 0 0 26

14:15 1 3 2 0 4 1 1 4 0 7 4 0 5 2 0 0 30
14:30 0 9 8 0 2 1 0 1 0 3 1 1 0 0 0 0 24
14:45 0 6 2 0 1 1 0 0 0 6 1 1 4 1 0 0 22

15:00 0 10 9 0 1 1 0 0 1 25 3 1 6 0 1 1 57
15:15 1 9 8 0 3 3 0 2 0 13 2 0 9 1 0 0 49
15:30 0 6 2 0 3 1 0 0 1 12 6 0 6 0 0 0 37
15:45 0 2 4 1 0 1 0 16 2 4 2 1 4 1 0 0 20
16:00 0 4 6 0 1 1 0 2 1 4 2 1 2 0 1 0 22
16:15 0 7 5 0 3 1 0 7 1 4 3 1 1 1 2 0 28
16:30 1 8 8 2 1 1 1 8 0 6 2 1 1 0 0 2 29
16:45 0 9 6 1 0 0 1 1 1 4 5 1 4 1 0 5 31
17:00 0 8 6 0 1 0 0 0 1 6 3 1 1 2 1 0 29
17:15 1 1 2 0 4 0 0 0 2 9 4 0 3 1 0 0 27
17:30 0 7 7 1 4 1 0 2 2 6 7 0 4 1 0 0 39
17:45 0 2 0 0 2 1 0 1 2 2 1 0 1 0 1 0 12
18:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 8 165 97 8 44 17 3 75 20 211 63 10 103 23 11 10 765

Cars+ 7 158 88 7 44 17 3 61 18 176 60 4 97 22 11 8 701
Trucks 1 7 9 1 0 0 0 14 2 35 3 6 6 1 0 2 64

12.5 4.2 9.3 12.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 18.7 10.0 16.6 4.8 60.0 5.8 4.3 0.0 20.0
% Trucks

Wood St at 7th St
10/6/2020
LJJ

TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT DATA

Wood St 7th St Wood St 7th St
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

All Vehicles

8.46.3 0.0 13.6 5.1



Location:
Count Date:
Counted By:

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total
6:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:00 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 7 0 1 14
7:15 1 0 0 0 0 3 4 0 0 0 0 0 2 10 0 0 20
7:30 0 0 0 0 0 9 7 0 0 0 0 0 4 16 0 0 36
7:45 4 0 0 0 0 20 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 22 0 0 51
8:00 3 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 17 0 0 30
8:15 1 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 10
8:30 1 0 1 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 8
8:45 0 0 2 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 1 12
9:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
13:00 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 6 0 0 10
13:15 2 0 0 0 0 6 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 3 0 3 14
13:30 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 15 0 0 24
13:45 2 0 4 0 0 17 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 16 0 0 42

14:00 4 0 1 0 0 17 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 32

14:15 2 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 9 0 0 20
14:30 0 0 1 0 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 3 21
14:45 3 0 2 0 0 5 4 0 0 0 0 0 3 6 0 0 23

15:00 6 0 4 0 0 15 13 0 0 0 0 0 12 19 0 0 69
15:15 12 0 4 1 0 13 9 0 0 0 0 0 17 7 0 1 62
15:30 2 0 1 0 0 7 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 12 0 0 28
15:45 1 0 0 0 0 8 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 8 0 0 20
16:00 2 0 1 0 0 9 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 9 0 0 25
16:15 5 0 5 0 0 7 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 5 0 0 26
16:30 6 0 15 0 0 4 7 0 0 0 0 0 5 4 0 1 41
16:45 9 0 8 0 0 6 7 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 39
17:00 13 0 10 0 0 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 5 0 0 37
17:15 2 0 1 0 0 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 7 0 0 18
17:30 9 0 7 0 0 6 5 0 0 0 0 0 4 8 0 0 39
17:45 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 8
18:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 93 0 70 1 0 213 78 0 0 0 0 0 85 240 0 10 779

Cars+ 86 0 66 0 0 201 74 0 0 0 0 0 78 206 0 4 711
Trucks 7 0 4 1 0 12 4 0 0 0 0 0 7 34 0 6 68

7.5 0.0 5.7 100.0 0.0 5.6 5.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.2 14.2 0.0 60.0
% Trucks

9th St at New Parking Access(Current bus Exit)
10/6/2020
LJJ

TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT DATA

Parking Access 9th St N/A 9th St
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

All Vehicles

8.76.7 5.5 0.0 12.6



Location:
Count Date:
Counted By:

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total
6:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:00 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 9 0 0 14
7:15 0 0 0 0 1 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 18
7:30 0 0 0 0 1 16 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 18 0 0 38
7:45 0 0 0 0 4 23 0 0 0 0 2 3 0 25 1 0 55
8:00 0 0 0 0 1 8 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 19 0 0 29
8:15 0 0 0 0 1 4 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 4 0 0 10
8:30 0 0 0 0 1 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 11
8:45 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 3 1 0 7
9:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
13:00 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 4 1 0 9
13:15 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 6 0 0 13
13:30 0 0 0 0 1 6 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 18 0 0 26
13:45 0 0 0 0 1 21 0 0 0 0 1 7 0 14 0 0 37

14:00 0 0 0 0 1 16 0 0 0 0 2 7 0 14 0 0 33

14:15 0 0 0 0 2 7 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 12 0 0 22
14:30 0 0 0 0 0 15 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 0 0 21
14:45 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 1 0 3 0 0 10 0 0 23

15:00 0 0 0 0 1 28 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 26 0 0 59
15:15 0 0 0 0 0 24 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 18 1 0 45
15:30 0 0 0 0 2 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 0 0 22
15:45 0 0 0 0 1 9 0 0 1 0 4 4 0 8 0 0 23
16:00 0 0 0 0 1 12 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 11 0 0 26
16:15 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 10 0 0 21
16:30 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 10 0 0 22
16:45 0 0 0 0 3 13 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 11 0 0 28
17:00 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 1 0 2 1 0 16 0 0 26
17:15 0 0 0 0 1 5 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 10 0 0 18
17:30 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 16 0 0 25
17:45 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 4 0 0 8
18:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0 0 0 0 25 286 0 0 6 0 39 30 0 329 4 0 689

Cars+ 0 0 0 0 23 271 0 0 5 0 37 24 0 288 4 0 628
Trucks 0 0 0 0 2 15 0 0 1 0 2 6 0 41 0 0 61

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.0 5.2 0.0 0.0 16.7 0.0 5.1 20.0 0.0 12.5 0.0 0.0
% Trucks

9th St at Village Green Pl
10/6/2020
LJJ

TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT DATA

N/A 9th St Village Green Pl 9th St
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

All Vehicles

8.90.0 5.5 6.7 12.3



Location:
Count Date:
Counted By:

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total
6:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:00 3 0 0 0 0 3 2 0 0 0 1 1 1 10 0 0 20
7:15 2 0 0 0 1 6 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 12 0 0 24
7:30 1 0 0 0 0 18 2 3 0 0 2 0 4 16 0 0 43
7:45 12 0 1 0 1 26 4 7 0 0 1 6 4 24 0 0 73
8:00 1 0 0 0 3 9 0 1 0 0 0 4 2 17 0 0 32
8:15 0 0 1 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 9
8:30 0 0 0 0 1 6 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 4 0 0 13
8:45 1 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 3 0 0 8
9:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
13:00 1 0 0 0 3 3 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 5 0 0 16
13:15 0 1 0 0 1 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 14
13:30 0 0 0 0 1 8 0 1 0 0 1 0 14 8 0 0 32
13:45 0 0 0 0 0 21 0 15 2 0 1 8 0 12 0 0 36

14:00 8 0 6 0 1 9 0 6 0 0 3 7 0 16 0 1 43

14:15 0 0 1 0 1 10 2 0 0 0 3 0 2 11 0 0 30
14:30 1 0 0 0 3 13 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 6 0 0 25
14:45 3 0 4 0 4 6 6 0 0 0 3 0 4 10 0 0 40

15:00 12 1 13 0 2 15 8 0 1 1 6 0 14 15 0 0 88
15:15 4 0 1 0 3 22 6 0 0 0 3 0 1 16 2 0 58
15:30 1 0 3 0 1 7 3 0 0 0 3 0 4 9 1 0 32
15:45 2 0 0 0 2 8 1 2 0 0 2 2 2 11 0 2 28
16:00 3 0 3 0 2 9 2 0 0 0 1 1 1 11 0 1 32
16:15 1 0 1 0 1 11 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 9 1 0 27
16:30 1 0 0 0 1 9 1 0 0 0 2 0 1 11 0 0 26
16:45 0 0 0 0 2 14 2 0 0 0 1 5 0 11 0 0 30
17:00 0 0 0 1 1 7 2 1 0 0 4 1 1 14 3 1 32
17:15 13 0 4 0 1 4 5 0 0 0 2 0 8 3 0 0 40
17:30 11 1 3 0 1 4 5 0 0 1 1 2 4 11 1 1 43
17:45 2 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 5 0 0 12
18:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 83 3 41 1 38 263 56 36 4 2 50 38 67 291 8 6 906

Cars+ 56 3 31 1 37 257 50 33 2 2 48 32 36 279 8 4 809
Trucks 27 0 10 0 1 6 6 3 2 0 2 6 31 12 0 2 97

32.5 0.0 24.4 0.0 2.6 2.3 10.7 8.3 50.0 0.0 4.0 15.8 46.3 4.1 0.0 33.3
10.729.1 3.6 7.1 11.7

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

All Vehicles

% Trucks

9th St at Village Green Ln
10/6/2020
LJJ

TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT DATA

School Access 9th St Village Green Pl 9th St



Location:
Count Date:
Counted By:

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total
6:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:00 0 0 0 0 0 5 16 0 0 0 0 0 4 10 0 0 35
7:15 0 0 0 0 0 9 24 0 0 0 1 0 9 4 1 0 48
7:30 3 0 2 0 0 18 26 0 0 0 0 0 12 3 0 0 64
7:45 36 0 21 0 0 9 46 0 0 0 0 0 21 19 0 0 152
8:00 14 0 7 0 0 3 10 0 1 0 1 0 12 6 1 0 55
8:15 14 0 3 0 0 1 7 0 0 0 0 3 2 3 1 0 31
8:30 9 0 2 0 0 3 5 0 1 0 1 0 0 4 0 0 25
8:45 4 0 1 0 0 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 14
9:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
13:00 1 0 0 0 0 7 5 0 0 0 0 0 2 5 1 0 21
13:15 8 0 1 0 0 5 6 0 1 0 0 0 2 5 0 0 28
13:30 2 0 2 0 2 6 13 0 1 0 0 0 2 2 1 0 31
13:45 28 0 13 0 2 6 14 0 0 0 1 1 11 7 0 0 82

14:00 9 0 7 0 2 4 7 0 0 0 1 1 5 20 0 0 55

14:15 4 0 2 0 0 9 11 0 0 0 1 0 5 8 1 0 41
14:30 10 0 11 0 1 8 3 0 0 0 0 0 2 6 0 0 41
14:45 4 0 3 0 0 13 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 12 0 0 36

15:00 12 0 3 0 1 21 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 30 1 0 71
15:15 20 0 8 0 1 22 1 0 1 0 0 0 2 21 0 0 76
15:30 11 0 5 0 0 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 11 3 0 39
15:45 4 0 2 0 1 9 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 12 1 0 31
16:00 7 0 5 0 0 7 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 13 3 0 37
16:15 7 0 4 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 29
16:30 2 0 3 0 2 10 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 13 0 0 31
16:45 2 1 1 0 0 15 0 0 1 0 0 2 1 12 0 0 33
17:00 1 0 0 0 0 10 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 19 0 0 31
17:15 0 0 0 0 1 10 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 16 1 0 29
17:30 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 23 0 0 34
17:45 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 7 0 0 11
18:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 212 1 106 0 13 239 204 2 8 0 10 12 98 304 16 0 1211

Cars+ 208 1 106 0 13 227 203 2 8 0 10 10 96 268 16 0 1156
Trucks 4 0 0 0 0 12 1 0 0 0 0 2 2 36 0 0 55

1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 16.7 2.0 11.8 0.0 0.0
% Trucks

9th St at Sunset Ln
10/6/2020
LJJ

TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT DATA

Elementary Access 9th St Sunset Ln 9th St
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

All Vehicles

4.51.3 2.9 0.0 9.1



Location:
Count Date:
Counted By:

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total
6:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:00 0 34 3 0 0 0 0 0 19 24 0 0 2 0 11 0 93
7:15 0 31 7 0 0 0 0 0 30 29 0 0 0 0 5 0 102
7:30 0 49 7 0 0 0 0 0 35 23 0 0 0 0 8 0 122
7:45 0 47 14 0 0 0 0 0 37 24 0 0 9 0 44 0 175
8:00 0 35 1 0 0 0 0 0 13 35 0 0 3 0 23 0 110
8:15 0 52 2 0 0 0 0 0 5 34 0 0 1 0 16 0 110
8:30 0 45 7 0 0 0 0 0 3 27 0 0 4 0 13 0 99
8:45 0 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 37 0 0 0 0 7 0 99
9:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
13:00 0 46 3 0 0 0 0 0 9 44 0 0 2 0 5 0 109
13:15 0 42 2 0 0 0 0 0 8 45 0 0 2 0 13 0 112
13:30 0 44 7 0 0 0 0 0 15 49 0 0 0 0 8 0 123
13:45 0 60 2 0 0 0 0 0 21 37 0 0 5 0 26 0 151

14:00 0 50 1 0 0 0 0 0 13 37 0 0 7 0 30 0 138

14:15 0 38 4 0 0 0 0 0 19 57 0 0 2 0 10 0 130
14:30 0 56 4 0 0 0 0 0 5 46 0 0 7 0 9 0 127
14:45 0 58 5 0 0 0 0 0 13 62 0 0 2 0 12 0 152

15:00 0 57 3 0 0 0 0 0 22 73 0 0 5 0 41 0 201
15:15 0 52 4 0 0 0 0 0 18 49 0 0 5 0 37 0 165
15:30 0 58 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 79 0 0 0 0 26 0 176
15:45 0 56 1 0 0 0 0 0 8 52 0 0 4 0 14 0 135
16:00 0 43 3 0 0 0 0 0 9 65 0 0 3 0 17 1 140
16:15 0 45 2 0 0 0 0 0 9 63 0 0 4 0 18 0 141
16:30 0 47 1 0 0 0 0 0 12 80 0 0 2 0 16 0 158
16:45 0 44 1 0 0 0 0 0 16 52 0 0 2 0 12 0 127
17:00 0 46 2 0 0 0 0 0 10 64 0 0 2 0 18 0 142
17:15 0 49 3 0 0 0 0 0 10 55 0 0 6 0 15 0 138
17:30 0 31 2 0 0 0 0 0 9 50 0 0 7 0 16 0 115
17:45 0 29 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 42 0 0 4 0 2 0 81
18:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0 1295 93 0 0 0 0 0 387 1334 0 0 90 0 472 1 3671

Cars+ 0 1214 90 0 0 0 0 0 377 1262 0 0 81 0 437 1 3461
Trucks 0 81 3 0 0 0 0 0 10 72 0 0 9 0 35 0 210

0.0 6.3 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.6 5.4 0.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 7.4 0.0
% Trucks

Hwy 65 at 9th St
10/6/2020
LJJ

TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT DATA

TH 65 N/A TH 65 9th St
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

All Vehicles

5.76.1 0.0 4.8 7.8



Table C1
Mora High School Traffic Study
2020 Existing (COVID-19 Adjusted) Conditions (Elementary School Hours 8:00AM - 3:00PM)
School Arrival (7:15 AM) / School Dismissal (2:45 PM)

L T R Total L LOS T LOS R LOS
Delay

(S/Veh)
LOS

Delay
(S/Veh)

LOS
Storage

(feet) 3

Avg.
Queue

(feet) 1

Max
Queue

(feet) 1

% Block

Thru (2)

---->

% Block

Left (2)

<----

Link 
Length
(feet)

Avg.
Queue

(feet) 1

Max
Queue

(feet) 1

% Block

Right (2)

---->

% Block

Thru (2)

<----

Storage

(feet) 3

Avg.
Queue

(feet) 1

Max
Queue

(feet) 1

NB 4 2 0 6 2.2 A 0.1 A 0.0 0 1.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 1972 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 14 1 15 0.0 0 0.0 A 0.0 A 0.0 A 0.8 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 0 5 5 0.0  0.0 0 2.5 A 2.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 587 20 36 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 5 35 40 0.0 0 0.5 A 0.2 A 0.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 6 13 0 19 1.9 A 0.1 A 0.0 0 0.6 A 0.7 A 0 0 0 0 0 1972 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 6 0 1 7 4.6 A 0.0 0 2.5 A 4.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 471 20 31 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 44 4 48 0.0 0 6.9 A 1.9 A 6.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 800 30 71 0 0 0 0 0

SB 1 27 7 35 0.0 A 5.5 A 2.2 A 4.9 A 4.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 611 20 42 0 0 0 0 0

EB 33 6 2 41 2.0 A 0.3 A 0.2 A 1.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 471 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

WB 3 0 0 3 1.3 A 0.0 0 0.0 0 1.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 8 0 0 8 4.6 A 0.0 0 0.0 0 4.6 A 0.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 501 20 58 0 0 0 0 0

EB 9 65 0 74 1.9 A 0.1 A 0.0 0 0.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 664 20 20 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 40 15 55 0.0 0 0.2 A 0.1 A 0.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 1 0 5 6 4.1 A 0.0 0 3.0 A 3.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 449 20 47 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 74 1 75 0.0 0 0.2 A 0.1 A 0.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 7 52 0 59 1.9 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 0.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 246 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 4 4 0.0 0 0.0 0 3.0 A 3.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 462 20 25 0 0 0 0 0

SB 16 0 1 17 6.1 A 0.0 0 3.0 A 5.9 A 1.1 A 0 0 0 0 0 242 20 88 0 0 0 0 0

EB 10 69 0 79 2.0 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 0.4 A 180 20 32 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 5 59 8 72 1.8 A 0.5 A 0.5 A 0.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 310 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 1 0 2 3 4.5 A 0.0 0 1.9 A 2.8 A 0 0 0 0 0 424 20 30 0 0 0 0 0

SB 53 0 30 83 6.5 A 0.0 0 2.9 A 5.1 A 2.1 A 0 0 0 0 0 455 20 60 0 0 230 20 48

EB 54 32 2 88 2.3 A 0.8 A 0.1 A 1.7 A 180 20 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 39 106 145 0.0 0 1.0 A 0.4 A 0.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 259 20 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 115 130 0 245 1.4 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 0.8 A 160 20 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 190 29 219 0.0 0 0.7 A 0.0 A 0.6 A 1.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 12 0 80 92 8.1 A 0.4 A 3.3 A 3.4 A 250 20 72 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 130 25 86
WB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 2 9 0 11 1.7 A 0.4 A 0.0 0 0.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 8 0 8 0.0 0 0.0 A 0.0 0 0.0 A 1.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 0 8 8 0.0 0 0.0 0 2.6 A 2.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 587 20 57 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 8 15 23 0.0 0 0.3 A 0.1 A 0.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 3 15 0 18 2.3 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 0.4 A 1.7 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 19 0 3 22 4.6 A 0.0 A 3.4 A 4.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 471 20 64 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 22 8 30 0.0 0 6.6 A 2.2 A 5.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 800 20 50 0 0 0 0 0

SB 2 37 20 59 5.0 A 5.8 A 2.1 A 4.7 A 4.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 611 35 70 0 0 0 0 0

EB 12 5 0 17 1.8 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 1.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 9 2 1 12 1.7 A 0.1 A 0.1 A 1.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 493 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 8 0 6 14 4.8 A 0.0 0 2.4 A 3.7 A 0.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 501 20 64 0 0 0 0 0

EB 3 39 0 42 1.9 A 0.1 A 0.0 0 0.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 664 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 57 2 59 0.0 0 0.1 A 0.0 A 0.1 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 7 7 0.0 0 0.0 0 2.7 A 2.7 A 0 0 0 0 0 449 20 48 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 43 0 43 0.0 0 0.2 A 0.0 0 0.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 4 59 0 63 1.6 A 0.3 A 0.0 0 0.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 246 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 2 0 8 10 4.6 A 0.0 0 2.4 A 2.8 A 0 0 0 0 0 462 20 65 0 0 0 0 0

SB 9 0 7 16 4.7 A 0.0 0 3.2 A 4.1 A 1.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 242 20 91 0 0 0 0 0

EB 2 45 0 47 1.7 A 0.1 A 0.0 0 0.2 A 180 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 5 53 3 61 1.7 A 0.3 A 0.2 A 0.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 310 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 3 3 0.0 0 0.0 0 2.5 A 2.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 424 20 30 0 0 0 0 0

SB 51 0 33 84 5.3 A 0.0 0 2.5 A 4.2 A 2.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 455 24 61 0 0 230 20 47

EB 23 41 1 65 1.7 A 0.6 A 0.0 A 0.9 A 180 20 26 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 5 27 35 67 1.7 A 0.4 A 0.1 A 0.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 259 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 58 310 0 368 1.5 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 0.4 A 160 20 46 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 264 11 275 0.0 0 0.6 A 0.0 A 0.6 A 1.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 21 0 75 96 8.7 A 0.3 A 3.1 A 3.7 A 250 20 62 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 130 27 76

WB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NOTES: NOTES 1. If the reported queue is greater than zero (0), but less than 20 ft, a minimum of 20 ft is reported.

2. Block Percentage is proportion of analysis time (1 hour) the storage lane or through lane is blocked or blocking.

3. Multiple storage lanes of different length are averaged together to show the "Effective Storage Length" per lane.

S
ch

o
o

l 
D

is
m

is
sa

l

Hwy 65 at 9th 
St

9th St at New 
Parking Access

9th St at Village 
Green Pl

9th St at Village 
Green Ln

S
ch

o
o

l 
A

rr
iv

al
 P

ea
k 

H
o

u
r

Grove St at 7th 
St

Wood St at 7th 
St

Grove St at 
Pine Ridge Rd

Grove St at 
Pine Ridge Rd

Wood St at 7th 
St

Grove St at 7th 
St

9th St at Sunset 
Ln W

9th St at Village 
Green Pl

9th St at New 
Parking Access

9th St at Sunset 
Ln W

9th St at Village 
Green Ln

Hwy 65 at 9th 
St

Vehicle Queing Information (feet)

Right Turn LaneThrough Lane (s)Delay (s/veh)
LOS By

Approach
LOS By

Intersection
Left Turn Lane

Intersection Approach

Demand Volumes



Table C2
Mora High School Traffic Study
2023 No Build Conditions (Elementary School Hours 8:00AM - 3:00PM)
School Arrival (7:15 AM) / School Dismissal (2:45 PM)

L T R Total L LOS T LOS R LOS
Delay

(S/Veh)
LOS

Delay
(S/Veh)

LOS
Storage

(feet) 3

Avg.
Queue

(feet) 1

Max
Queue

(feet) 1

% Block

Thru (2)

---->

% Block

Left (2)

<----

Link 
Length
(feet)

Avg.
Queue

(feet) 1

Max
Queue

(feet) 1

% Block

Right (2)

---->

% Block

Thru (2)

<----

Storage

(feet) 3

Avg.
Queue

(feet) 1

Max
Queue

(feet) 1

NB 4 2 0 6 1.8 A 0.0 A 0.0 0 1.1 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 14 1 15 0.0 0 0.0 A 0.0 A 0.0 A 0.7 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 0 5 5 0.0  0.0 0 2.5 A 2.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 587 20 42 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 5 45 50 0.0 0 0.3 A 0.2 A 0.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 6 13 0 19 1.8 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 0.6 A 0.8 A 0 0 0 0 0 1972 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 10 0 1 11 4.8 A 0.0 0 0.0 A 4.8 A 0 0 0 0 0 471 20 31 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 60 4 64 0.0 0 7.2 A 2.5 A 6.8 A 0 0 0 0 0 800 34 77 0 0 0 0 0

SB 1 46 11 58 4.7 A 5.6 A 2.2 A 5.0 A 4.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 611 22 47 0 0 0 0 0

EB 43 6 2 51 2.0 A 0.2 A 0.4 A 1.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 471 20 20 0 0 0 0 0

WB 3 0 0 3 1.6 A 0.0 0 0.0 0 1.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 493 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 8 0 0 8 5.6 A 0.0 0 0.0 0 5.6 A 0.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 501 20 54 0 0 0 0 0

EB 9 91 0 100 1.9 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 0.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 664 20 22 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 63 15 78 0.0 0 0.3 A 0.0 A 0.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 1 0 5 6 5.7 A 0.0 0 2.6 A 3.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 449 20 45 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 100 1 101 0.0 0 0.2 A 0.1 A 0.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 7 75 0 82 1.8 A 0.3 A 0.0 0 0.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 246 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 4 4 0.0 0 0.0 0 2.7 A 2.7 A 0 0 0 0 0 462 20 30 0 0 0 0 0

SB 24 0 6 30 7.0 A 0.0 0 3.7 A 6.3 A 1.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 242 32 103 0 0 0 0 0

EB 17 88 0 105 2.3 A 0.1 A 0.0 0 0.5 A 180 20 53 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 5 77 22 104 1.6 A 0.7 A 0.5 A 0.7 A 0 0 0 0 0 310 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 1 0 2 3 3.4 A 0.0 0 2.2 A 2.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 424 20 28 0 0 0 0 0

SB 84 0 47 131 7.3 A 0.0 0 2.9 A 5.8 A 2.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 455 24 78 0 0 230 20 46

EB 73 40 2 115 2.7 A 1.0 A 0.1 A 1.9 A 180 20 37 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 54 143 197 0.0 0 1.2 A 0.4 A 0.7 A 0 0 0 0 0 259 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 159 130 0 289 1.8 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 1.1 A 160 21 68 0 0 301 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 190 40 230 0.0 0 0.9 A 0.1 A 0.8 A 1.7 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 260 0 20

EB 20 0 128 148 10.6 B 0.7 A 3.8 A 4.1 A 250 20 76 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 130 31 102
WB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 2 9 0 11 2.5 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 0.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 8 0 8 0.0 0 0.0 A 0.0 0 0.0 A 0.9 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 0 8 8 0.0 0 0.0 0 2.3 A 2.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 587 20 67 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 8 21 29 0.0 0 0.1 A 0.1 A 0.1 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 3 15 0 18 2.6 A 0.3 A 0.0 0 0.6 A 1.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 1972 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 23 0 3 26 4.3 A 0.3 A 2.9 A 3.7 A 0 0 0 0 0 471 20 61 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 30 8 38 0.0 0 6.8 A 2.4 A 5.9 A 0 0 0 0 0 800 22 52 0 0 0 0 0

SB 2 48 26 76 5.4 A 5.9 A 2.3 A 4.8 A 4.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 611 34 78 0 0 0 0 0

EB 18 5 0 23 1.9 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 1.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 471 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

WB 9 2 1 12 1.8 A 0.2 A 0.3 A 1.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 493 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 8 0 6 14 4.5 A 0.0 0 2.6 A 3.7 A 0.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 501 20 65 0 0 0 0 0

EB 3 54 0 57 1.9 A 0.1 A 0.0 0 0.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 664 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 74 2 76 0.0 0 0.1 A 0.0 A 0.1 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 7 7 0.0 0 0.0 0 2.6 A 2.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 449 20 54 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 58 0 58 0.0 0 0.2 A 0.0 0 0.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 4 76 0 80 1.5 A 0.3 A 0.0 0 0.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 246 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 2 0 8 10 3.9 A 0.0 0 2.6 A 2.9 A 0 0 0 0 0 462 20 60 0 0 0 0 0

SB 23 0 16 39 5.4 A 0.0 0 3.3 A 4.5 A 1.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 242 42 98 0 0 0 0 0

EB 10 52 0 62 1.8 A 0.1 A 0.0 0 0.4 A 180 20 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 5 63 14 82 1.9 A 0.5 A 0.3 A 0.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 310 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 3 3 0.0 0 0.0 0 3.1 A 3.1 A 0 0 0 0 0 424 20 28 0 0 0 0 0

SB 64 0 42 106 5.8 A 0.0 0 2.8 A 4.6 A 2.1 A 0 0 0 0 0 455 25 62 0 0 230 21 56

EB 30 55 1 86 1.9 A 0.8 A 0.0 A 1.1 A 180 20 24 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 5 39 47 91 1.8 A 0.7 A 0.1 A 0.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 259 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 92 310 0 402 1.6 A 0.3 A 0.0 0 0.6 A 160 20 54 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 264 17 281 0.0 0 0.8 A 0.0 A 0.8 A 1.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 27 0 107 134 10.5 B 0.5 A 3.4 A 4.2 A 250 20 63 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 130 32 82

WB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NOTES: NOTES 1. If the reported queue is greater than zero (0), but less than 20 ft, a minimum of 20 ft is reported.

2. Block Percentage is proportion of analysis time (1 hour) the storage lane or through lane is blocked or blocking.

3. Multiple storage lanes of different length are averaged together to show the "Effective Storage Length" per lane.

S
ch

o
o

l 
D

is
m

is
sa

l

Hwy 65 at 9th 
St

9th St at New 
Parking Access

9th St at Village 
Green Pl

9th St at Village 
Green Ln

S
ch

o
o

l 
A

rr
iv

al
 P

ea
k 

H
o

u
r

Grove St at 7th 
St

Wood St at 7th 
St

Grove St at 
Pine Ridge Rd

Grove St at 
Pine Ridge Rd

Wood St at 7th 
St

Grove St at 7th 
St

9th St at Sunset 
Ln W

9th St at Village 
Green Pl

9th St at New 
Parking Access

9th St at Sunset 
Ln W

9th St at Village 
Green Ln

Hwy 65 at 9th 
St

Vehicle Queing Information (feet)

Right Turn LaneThrough Lane (s)Delay (s/veh)
LOS By

Approach
LOS By

Intersection
Left Turn Lane

Intersection Approach

Demand Volumes



Table C3
Mora High School Traffic Study
2023 Build Conditions (High School and Elementary School Hours: 8:00AM - 3:00PM)
School Arrival (7:15 AM) / School Dismissal (2:45 PM)

L T R Total L LOS T LOS R LOS
Delay

(S/Veh)
LOS

Delay
(S/Veh)

LOS
Storage

(feet) 3

Avg.
Queue

(feet) 1

Max
Queue

(feet) 1

% Block

Thru (2)

---->

% Block

Left (2)

<----

Link 
Length
(feet)

Avg.
Queue

(feet) 1

Max
Queue

(feet) 1

% Block

Right (2)

---->

% Block

Thru (2)

<----

Storage

(feet) 3

Avg.
Queue

(feet) 1

Max
Queue

(feet) 1

NB 4 18 28 50 3.2 A 0.9 A 0.4 A 0.7 A 0 0 0 0 0 1966 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

SB 6 14 1 21 1.7 A 0.0 A 0.0 A 0.5 A 0.8 A 0 0 0 0 0 568 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 0 5 5 0.0  0.0 0 2.5 A 2.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 587 20 42 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 0 2 2 0.0 0 0.0 0 2.4 A 2.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 339 20 30 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 33 70 103 0.0 0 0.7 A 0.3 A 0.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 6 13 0 19 2.7 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 0.8 A 1.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 1966 20 20 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 19 0 17 36 4.7 A 0.0 0 3.3 A 4.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 471 31 73 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 96 4 100 0.0 0 7.4 A 3.0 A 7.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 800 38 74 0 0 0 0 0

SB 1 79 36 116 0.0 A 7.0 A 2.7 A 5.7 A 5.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 604 44 81 0 0 0 0 0

EB 68 6 2 76 2.0 A 0.5 A 0.2 A 1.8 A 0 0 0 0 0 471 20 25 0 0 0 0 0

WB 3 0 0 3 2.3 A 0.0 0 0.0 0 2.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 493 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 91 0 46 137 7.1 A 0.0 0 2.9 A 5.6 A 2.2 A 520 36 77 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 260 25 54

EB 75 87 0 162 2.2 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 1.1 A 120 20 48 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 74 212 286 0.0 0 2.2 A 0.8 A 1.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 1 0 5 6 4.7 A 0.0 0 3.0 A 3.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 449 20 50 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 179 1 180 0.0 0 0.5 A 0.7 A 0.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 7 283 0 290 2.1 A 0.3 A 0.0 0 0.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 240 20 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 4 4 0.0 0 0.0 0 2.6 A 2.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 462 20 30 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 0 17 17 0.0 0 0.0 0 3.8 A 3.8 A 0.7 A 0 0 0 0 0 242 26 80 0 0 0 0 0

EB 12 172 0 184 3.0 A 0.1 A 0.0 0 0.3 A 180 20 58 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 5 274 7 286 2.2 A 0.8 A 0.5 A 0.8 A 0 0 0 0 0 310 20 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 1 0 2 3 6.5 A 0.0 0 4.2 A 5.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 424 20 25 0 0 0 0 0

SB 87 0 47 134 8.9 A 0.0 0 3.5 A 6.9 A 2.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 455 35 73 0 0 230 26 50

EB 74 99 2 175 3.6 A 0.2 A 0.0 A 1.6 A 180 20 49 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 236 146 382 0.0 0 1.6 A 0.5 A 1.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 259 20 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 307 130 0 437 4.0 A 1.1 A 0.0 0 3.1 A 160 42 93 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 190 76 266 0.0 0 1.3 A 0.2 A 1.0 A 2.9 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 260 20 22

EB 27 0 183 210 15.9 C 0.6 A 3.4 A 5.0 A 250 20 54 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 130 33 84
WB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 2 9 0 11 1.6 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 0.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 1 8 0 9 1.5 A 0.1 A 0.0 0 0.3 A 2.8 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 0 8 8 0.0 0 0.0 0 2.9 A 2.9 A 0 0 0 0 0 587 20 70 0 0 0 0 0

WB 27 0 5 32 4.4 A 0.0 0 2.9 A 4.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 495 20 38 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 8 35 43 0.0 0 0.4 A 0.1 A 0.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 3 42 0 45 3.0 A 0.6 A 0.0 0 0.7 A 1.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 1966 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 34 0 3 37 4.7 A 0.3 A 2.4 A 4.1 A 0 0 0 0 0 471 24 56 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 43 8 51 0.0 0 7.0 A 2.6 A 6.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 800 27 60 0 0 0 0 0

SB 2 70 38 110 3.8 A 6.3 A 2.6 A 5.0 A 4.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 604 35 71 0 0 0 0 0

EB 32 5 0 37 1.9 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 1.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 471 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

WB 9 2 1 12 1.9 A 0.2 A 0.0 A 1.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 493 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 118 0 44 162 6.8 A 0.0 0 3.0 A 5.8 A 2.9 A 520 39 89 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 260 23 57

EB 36 46 0 82 1.8 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 0.9 A 120 20 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 70 52 122 0.0 0 0.7 A 0.2 A 0.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 7 7 0.0 0 0.0 0 2.8 A 2.8 A 0 0 0 0 0 449 20 41 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 160 0 160 0.0 0 0.6 A 0.0 0 0.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 4 113 0 117 1.9 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 0.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 240 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 2 0 8 10 8.7 A 0.0 0 3.3 A 4.1 A 0 0 0 0 0 462 20 57 0 0 0 0 0

SB 9 0 9 18 7.1 A 0.0 0 3.2 A 4.8 A 0.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 242 21 91 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 164 0 164 0.0 0 0.1 A 0.0 0 0.1 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 5 105 1 111 1.8 A 0.4 A 0.1 A 0.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 310 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 3 3 0.0 0 0.0 0 3.5 A 3.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 424 20 31 0 0 0 0 0

SB 65 0 43 108 6.7 A 0.0 0 2.7 A 5.2 A 1.9 A 0 0 0 0 0 455 30 62 0 0 230 23 58

EB 32 151 1 184 2.0 A 0.4 A 0.0 A 0.7 A 180 20 31 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 5 66 50 121 2.3 A 0.7 A 0.2 A 0.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 259 20 29 0 0 0 0 0

NB 117 310 0 427 2.5 A 0.7 A 0.0 0 1.2 A 160 22 63 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 264 23 287 0.0 0 1.2 A 0.0 A 1.1 A 2.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 43 0 188 231 11.2 B 1.1 A 4.8 A 5.5 A 250 21 60 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 130 41 99

WB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NOTES: NOTES 1. If the reported queue is greater than zero (0), but less than 20 ft, a minimum of 20 ft is reported.

2. Block Percentage is proportion of analysis time (1 hour) the storage lane or through lane is blocked or blocking.

3. Multiple storage lanes of different length are averaged together to show the "Effective Storage Length" per lane.

S
ch

o
o

l 
D

is
m

is
sa

l

Hwy 65 at 9th 
St

9th St at New 
Parking Access

9th St at Village 
Green Pl

9th St at Village 
Green Ln

S
ch

o
o

l 
A

rr
iv

al
 P

ea
k 

H
o

u
r

Grove St at 7th 
St

Wood St at 7th 
St

Grove St at 
Pine Ridge Rd

Grove St at 
Pine Ridge Rd

Wood St at 7th 
St

Grove St at 7th 
St

9th St at Sunset 
Ln W

9th St at Village 
Green Pl

9th St at New 
Parking Access

9th St at Sunset 
Ln W

9th St at Village 
Green Ln

Hwy 65 at 9th 
St

Vehicle Queing Information (feet)

Right Turn LaneThrough Lane (s)Delay (s/veh)
LOS By

Approach
LOS By

Intersection
Left Turn Lane

Intersection Approach

Demand Volumes



Table C4
Mora High School Traffic Study
2023 Build Conditions (High School and Elementary School Hours: 8:00AM - 3:00PM)
School Arrival (7:15 AM) / School Dismissal (2:45 PM)

L T R Total L LOS T LOS R LOS
Delay

(S/Veh)
LOS

Delay
(S/Veh)

LOS
Storage

(feet) 3

Avg.
Queue

(feet) 1

Max
Queue

(feet) 1

% Block

Thru (2)

---->

% Block

Left (2)

<----

Link 
Length
(feet)

Avg.
Queue

(feet) 1

Max
Queue

(feet) 1

% Block

Right (2)

---->

% Block

Thru (2)

<----

Storage

(feet) 3

Avg.
Queue

(feet) 1

Max
Queue

(feet) 1

NB 4 18 28 50 3.2 A 0.9 A 0.4 A 0.7 A 0 0 0 0 0 1966 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

SB 6 14 1 21 1.7 A 0.0 A 0.0 A 0.5 A 0.8 A 0 0 0 0 0 568 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 0 5 5 0.0  0.0 0 2.5 A 2.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 587 20 42 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 0 2 2 0.0 0 0.0 0 2.4 A 2.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 339 20 30 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 33 70 103 0.0 0 0.7 A 0.3 A 0.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 6 13 0 19 2.7 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 0.8 A 1.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 1966 20 20 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 19 0 17 36 4.7 A 0.0 0 3.3 A 4.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 471 31 73 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 96 4 100 0.0 0 7.4 A 3.0 A 7.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 800 38 74 0 0 0 0 0

SB 1 79 36 116 0.0 A 7.0 A 2.7 A 5.7 A 5.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 604 44 81 0 0 0 0 0

EB 68 6 2 76 2.0 A 0.5 A 0.2 A 1.8 A 0 0 0 0 0 471 20 25 0 0 0 0 0

WB 3 0 0 3 2.3 A 0.0 0 0.0 0 2.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 493 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 91 0 46 137 7.1 A 0.0 0 2.9 A 5.6 A 2.2 A 520 36 77 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 260 25 54

EB 75 87 0 162 2.2 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 1.1 A 120 20 48 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 74 212 286 0.0 0 2.2 A 0.8 A 1.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 1 0 5 6 4.7 A 0.0 0 3.0 A 3.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 449 20 50 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 179 1 180 0.0 0 0.5 A 0.7 A 0.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 7 283 0 290 2.1 A 0.3 A 0.0 0 0.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 240 20 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 4 4 0.0 0 0.0 0 2.6 A 2.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 462 20 30 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 0 17 17 0.0 0 0.0 0 3.8 A 3.8 A 0.7 A 0 0 0 0 0 242 26 80 0 0 0 0 0

EB 12 172 0 184 3.0 A 0.1 A 0.0 0 0.3 A 180 20 58 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 5 274 7 286 2.2 A 0.8 A 0.5 A 0.8 A 0 0 0 0 0 310 20 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 1 0 2 3 6.5 A 0.0 0 4.2 A 5.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 424 20 25 0 0 0 0 0

SB 87 0 47 134 8.9 A 0.0 0 3.5 A 6.9 A 2.4 A 0 0 0 0 0 455 35 73 0 0 230 26 50

EB 74 99 2 175 3.6 A 0.2 A 0.0 A 1.6 A 180 20 49 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 236 146 382 0.0 0 1.6 A 0.5 A 1.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 259 20 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 307 130 0 437 4.0 A 1.1 A 0.0 0 3.1 A 160 42 93 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 190 76 266 0.0 0 1.3 A 0.2 A 1.0 A 2.9 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 260 20 22

EB 27 0 183 210 15.9 C 0.6 A 3.4 A 5.0 A 250 20 54 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 130 33 84
WB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 2 9 0 11 2.3 A 0.1 A 0.0 0 0.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 1 8 0 9 1.5 A 0.0 A 0.0 0 0.2 A 2.7 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 0 8 8 0.0 0 0.0 0 2.6 A 2.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 587 20 63 0 0 0 0 0

WB 27 0 5 32 4.4 A 0.0 0 2.8 A 4.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 495 20 44 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 8 46 54 0.0 0 0.3 A 0.2 A 0.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 3 42 0 45 2.6 A 0.5 A 0.0 0 0.6 A 1.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 1966 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 44 0 3 47 4.5 A 0.3 A 2.4 A 4.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 471 27 71 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 58 8 66 0.0 0 7.3 A 3.1 A 6.8 A 0 0 0 0 0 800 29 62 0 0 0 0 0

SB 2 93 48 143 7.1 A 7.1 A 3.2 A 5.8 A 5.1 A 0 0 0 0 0 604 42 84 0 0 0 0 0

EB 44 5 0 49 2.0 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 1.7 A 0 0 0 0 0 471 20 20 0 0 0 0 0

WB 9 2 1 12 1.7 A 0.3 A 0.0 A 1.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 493 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 118 0 44 162 7.7 A 0.0 0 3.3 A 6.5 A 2.9 A 520 41 97 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 260 24 58

EB 36 74 0 110 2.2 A 0.3 A 0.0 0 0.9 A 120 20 35 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 0 103 52 155 0.0 0 0.8 A 0.3 A 0.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 7 7 0.0 0 0.0 0 3.0 A 3.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 449 20 54 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 188 0 188 0.0 0 0.6 A 0.0 0 0.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 4 146 0 150 2.0 A 0.2 A 0.0 0 0.2 A 0 0 0 0 0 240 20 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 2 0 8 10 9.4 A 0.0 0 3.3 A 4.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 462 20 55 0 0 0 0 0

SB 9 0 9 18 7.6 A 0.0 0 3.0 A 5.1 A 0.6 A 0 0 0 0 0 242 20 82 0 0 0 0 0

EB 0 192 0 192 0.0 0 0.1 A 0.0 0 0.1 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 5 138 1 144 2.0 A 0.5 A 0.3 A 0.5 A 0 0 0 0 0 310 0 20 0 0 0 0 0

NB 0 0 3 3 0.0 0 0.0 0 3.7 A 3.7 A 0 0 0 0 0 424 20 28 0 0 0 0 0

SB 116 0 76 192 9.6 A 0.0 0 3.1 A 7.0 A 3.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 455 44 115 0 0 230 31 60

EB 60 151 1 212 2.3 A 0.5 A 0.0 A 1.0 A 180 20 35 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB 5 66 91 162 2.8 A 1.1 A 0.4 A 0.8 A 0 0 0 0 0 259 20 34 0 0 0 0 0

NB 154 310 0 464 3.5 A 0.8 A 0.0 0 1.7 A 160 29 82 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SB 0 264 27 291 0.0 0 1.6 A 0.1 A 1.5 A 3.3 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 260 0 20

EB 50 0 234 284 16.7 C 1.4 A 6.0 A 7.5 A 250 28 85 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 130 49 127

WB 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NOTES: NOTES 1. If the reported queue is greater than zero (0), but less than 20 ft, a minimum of 20 ft is reported.

2. Block Percentage is proportion of analysis time (1 hour) the storage lane or through lane is blocked or blocking.

3. Multiple storage lanes of different length are averaged together to show the "Effective Storage Length" per lane.

Left Turn Lane

Intersection Approach

Demand Volumes Delay (s/veh)
LOS By

Approach
LOS By

Intersection

Hwy 65 at 9th 
St

Vehicle Queing Information (feet)

Right Turn LaneThrough Lane (s)

9th St at Sunset 
Ln W

9th St at Village 
Green Pl

9th St at New 
Parking Access

9th St at Sunset 
Ln W

9th St at Village 
Green Ln

S
ch

o
o

l 
D

is
m

is
sa

l

Hwy 65 at 9th 
St

9th St at New 
Parking Access

9th St at Village 
Green Pl

9th St at Village 
Green Ln

S
ch

o
o

l 
A

rr
iv

al
 P

ea
k 

H
o

u
r

Grove St at 7th 
St

Wood St at 7th 
St

Grove St at 
Pine Ridge Rd

Grove St at 
Pine Ridge Rd

Wood St at 7th 
St

Grove St at 7th 
St



 

Sustainable buildings, sound infrastructure, safe transportation systems, clean water,  

renewable energy and a balanced environment. Building a Better World for All of Us communicates  

a company-wide commitment to act in the best interests of our clients and the world around us. 

We’re confident in our ability to balance these requirements. 

 

 

 













Page 1 of 5 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-423 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MORA, MINNESOTA, APPROVING A 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT TO ALLOW A SCHOOL AND SCHOOL RELATED FACILITIES TO BE LOCATED IN 

THE R-1 SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT AS REQUESTED BY ICS AND MORA PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 

WHEREAS, ICS, applicant, and Mora Public Schools, property owner, submitted an application dated 
received January 20, 2021 and considered complete on February 1, 2021 for a Conditional Use Permit to 
allow a School and school related facilities to be located in the R-1 Single Family Residential District; and 
 
WHEREAS, the property upon which the request is being made is located at 200 9th Street E. and is 
legally described as: 

PID 22.00290.50 
E ½ of NE ¼ of NW ¼ and NW ¼ of NE ¼, Ex S 80’ of N 503’ of E 12’ thereof 

Section 11 Township 039 Range 024 
Kanabec County, Minnesota 

 
PID 22.00290.10 

The North 579.00 feet of the West Half of the Northeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter of 
Section 11, Township 039 North, Range 024 West of the Fourth Principal Meridian, 

Kanabec County, Minnesota 
 

AND 
 

PID 22.00004.10 
SE ¼ of SW ¼ and SW ¼ of SE ¼ 

Section 02 Township 039 Range 024 
Kanabec County, Minnesota; and  

 
WHEREAS, notice was provided and on March 8, 2021, the Planning Commission conducted a public 
hearing regarding the request, at which it heard from the Community Development Director and invited 
members of the public to comment; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission recommended approval of the request for Conditional Use Permit 
at its April 12, 2021 meeting; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council considered the request and the Planning Commission’s recommendation at 
its April 20, 2021 meeting and has made the following findings as required by Zoning Code §150.036 
Conditional Uses, Subd. E Standards: 
 
Criteria #1 The use is consistent with the purposes and intent of the Zoning Code and the purposes 

and intent of the zoning district in which the applicant intends to locate the proposed 
use. 

Finding #1 The Zoning Code identifies the proposed use of School as a Conditional Use in the R-1 
District, and the proposed use is consistent with the intent of the Zoning Code. 

 
Criteria #2 The use is in keeping with the Comprehensive Plan and the policies thereof. 
Finding #2 The Comprehensive Plan Land Use Map identifies the subject site as Public / Semi-Public 

/ Institutional. Further, the Comprehensive Plan identifies a Public Services and Facilities 



Page 2 of 5 
 

policy stating, “Realize that certain public costs, such as education and pollution control, 
represent an essential investment in the future and should be supported.” The city finds 
that the proposed use and Conditional Use Permit comply with the Comprehensive Plan 
designation and policies.  

 
Criteria #3 The use will not cause undue traffic congestion or hazards. 
Finding #3 The applicant has provided a traffic study which was reviewed by the city, county, and 

MnDOT. The applicant and property owner will coordinate street and subject site 
improvements with the city, county, and potentially MnDOT in order to address traffic 
congestion or hazard concerns.   

 
Criteria #4 The use will be adequately served by public utilities and all other necessary public 

facilities and services. 
Finding #4 The site / use is currently served by public utilities and other necessary public facilities 

and services, and any necessary municipal utility improvements will be coordinated with 
the City of Mora and Mora Municipal Utilities. 

 
Criteria #5 The structure and the site shall have an appearance that will not have an adverse effect 

upon adjacent properties. 
Finding #5 The applicant intends to use an assortment of building materials for the proposed facility 

to mirror and complement the materials used for the existing facilities located on the 
subject site. There is no evidence to suggest that the proposed structure will have an 
adverse impact upon adjacent properties. 

 
Criteria #6 The use will be sufficiently compatible by distance or screened from adjacent 

residentially zoned or used land so that existing homes will not be depreciated in value 
and there will be no deterrence to development of vacant land. 

Finding #6 The proposed use (high school) is an expansion of existing and related uses (elementary 
school and wellness center), and there is no evidence to suggest that the existing or 
proposed uses have had or will have a negative impact on the adjacent residential land.       

 
Criteria #7 The use will not jeopardize the public’s health, safety or general welfare. 
Finding #7 There is no evidence to suggest that the proposed use will jeopardize the public’s health, 

safety or general welfare.   
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Mora, Minnesota hereby approves 
the Conditional Use Permit subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. Development of the subject site shall be consistent with the civil plans signed and dated March 11, 

2021 by David G. Bolf P.E. (shown revised on March 29, 2021 per Addendum 3), except as 
specifically noted below. Any significant changes, as determined by city staff and except as allowed 
by this resolution, shall require further review and approval by the Planning Commission and City 
Council. The civil plans are attached as Exhibit 1. 
 

2. Landscaping shall be installed in accordance with the Landscape Plan signed and dated March 11, 
2021 by Luke W. Sydow. The Landscape Plan is attached as Exhibit 2. The applicant shall field verify 
all tree plantings at the time of installation to avoid underground utilities and to allow for desired 
clearances as determined by the Public Utilities General Manager. 

 



Page 3 of 5 
 

3. Approval of the request and preliminary civil plans may impact the Conditional Use Permits granted 
by Resolution No. 2016-412 (elementary school) and Resolution No. 2017-421 (wellness center). 
Approval of this Conditional Use Permit does not invalidate the 2016 or 2017 Conditional Use 
Permits or the conditions contained within, unless specifically noted below. 

 
4. The proposed exterior construction materials, including precast concrete panels, metal panels of 

two colors, and brick, are approved. Any changes to the exterior construction materials requires 
prior approval from the City Council. 
 

5. In compliance with Resolution No. 2016-412, the property owner shall provide a minimum of 96 off-
street parking spaces for Mora Elementary. Any future expansion of the facility may require 
additional parking.  

 
6. In compliance with Resolution No. 2017-421, the property owner shall provide a minimum of 40 off-

street parking spaces for Welia Health Wellness Center. Any future expansion of the facility may 
require additional parking.  

 
7. Based on a building capacity of 952 students and 125 staff members (information provided by the 

applicant and property owner), the property owner shall provide a minimum of 315 off-street 
parking spaces for the proposed high school facility. Based on a building capacity of 1,095 students 
and 130 staff members (information provided by the applicant and property owner, with 
construction of alternate classrooms), the property owner shall provide a minimum of 349 off-street 
parking spaces. The construction of the parking lot shown as Alternate #8 on the civil plans can be 
used to accommodate this off-street parking requirement. Any future expansion of the facility, not 
illustrated on the civil plans, may require additional parking.  

 
8. The property owner shall provide a minimum of 120 off-street parking spaces, in aggregate, for the 

athletic fields. Any future expansion or addition of athletic fields may require additional parking.  
 
9. All new off-street parking spaces shall be a minimum of 9’ x 19’ in size and all new drive aisles shall 

be a minimum of 26’ wide. 
 

10. The city acknowledges that the existing off-street parking spaces at Mora Elementary are 9’ x 18’ in 
size and that drive aisles are 24’ in width. If at any time the property owner improves the parking 
lot, parking spaces and drive aisles shall be brought into compliance with the zoning code. Further, if 
the property owner ever expands the parking lot, all new parking spaces and drive aisles will be 
required to meet current requirements of the zoning code. 

 
11. The proposed parking areas must comply with the Minnesota 2020 Accessibility Code. Accessible 

off-street parking spaces shall be provided in compliance with Table 1106.1, except as required by 
Sections 1106.2-1106.4. Per Accessibility Code Section 1106.5, for every six or fraction of six 
accessible parking spaces at least one shall be a van-accessible parking space. 

 
12. The project does not include any proposed changes to bus traffic, flow, or parking. If bus traffic, 

flow, or parking does change, either before the project is complete or at any point in time that the 
Conditional Use Permit is actively utilized for School purposes, it shall require further review and 
approval by the Planning Commission and City Council. 

 



Page 4 of 5 
 

13. In reference to vehicle storage in front of the main entrance, if the three drop off lanes do not 
adequately accommodate vehicles and the city determines that stacking on 9th Street E. becomes a 
safety hazard, the City Council has the authority to require that the property owner adjust traffic 
flow internally to alleviate the hazard. 

 
14. The city authorizes the property owner to install a continuous two-way center turn lane on 9th Street 

E. and requires that the turn lane extend from Wood Street N. to Highway 65. The property owner 
shall be responsible for all expenses related to the restriping of 9th Street E. and work shall be 
coordinated with the City Administrator. 
 

15. The city authorizes the property owner to install a pedestrian crossing at the intersection of 9th 
Street E. and Village Green Place. The pedestrian crossing shall be installed in the same manner as 
the existing pedestrian crossing located at the intersection of 9th Street E. and Village Green Lane, 
including the same signage, pavement markings, and pedestrian activated flasher. The property 
owner shall be responsible for all expenses related to installing the pedestrian crossing and work 
shall be coordinated with the City Administrator. 

 
16. The applicant shall install a northbound right turn lane on Grove Street N. at the location of the 

access road. All improvements made on or adjacent to Grove Street N. shall require prior 
authorization from Kanabec County. 

 
17. The access road extending east from Grove Street N. shall not be constructed until such time that 

the City Council has vacated the 66’ public roadway easement. 
 
18. The city acknowledges that the construction of the access road extending east from Grove Street N., 

in its proposed location, requires the relocation of the city-owned multi-use trail. Relocation of the 
trail will require coordination with the City Administrator, a new trail easement provided by the 
property owner to the City of Mora, and approval of an updated or new maintenance agreement 
between the City of Mora and Mora Public Schools.  

 
19. Any change to municipal utility services and/or infrastructure shall be coordinated with and 

approved by the Public Utilities General Manager. 
 

20. The property owner shall provide the City of Mora any and all permanent easements necessary for 
trail and utility purposes.  

 
21. The new school facility will require replacement of the existing sanitary sewer connection to the city 

main in 9th Street E. That connection shall include: 
a. A watertight, boot type connection in the existing manhole for the revised connection. 
b. City of Mora public works staff shall witness and approve the connection to the existing 

manhole and backfilling of the sewer trench in the 9th Street E. right-of-way. 
c. The bituminous patch in 9th Street E. for the sewer line replacement should be replaced at a 

1.5:1 slope based on the depth of the trench. 
d. The sewer trench shall be backfilled in lifts not greater than one foot and the property 

owner shall provide a material testing firm to verify compaction meets or exceeds 100% in 
the top three feet of the trench and 95% below the three foot depth. 
 



Page 5 of 5 
 

22. If the new school facility requires a new or replaced water service connection in 9th Street E., the 
work shall be subject to the same city inspection, bituminous patching, and trench backfilling 
density requirements listed above in condition 21. 
 

23. The city accepts the Drainage and Hydrologic Report submitted by the applicant dated revised April 
1, 2021 and additional comments from Northland Consulting Engineers dated received April 14, 
2021 regarding the flow patterns of the northern unnamed ponds on the subject property. 
However, the applicant shall provide the city with survey information to confirm/verify the 
observations in the April 14, 2021 correspondence concerning the Nordic Center ski trail acting as a 
dam, and verification of Northland Consulting Engineers’ estimate for the high-water mark for water 
being discharged to the east into the wetland complex that contributes to the Eldris pond system 
and ultimately to Lake Mora. The additional information is required to be submitted to the city for 
review and approval no later than May 10, 2021. 
 

24. The property owner shall install a Knox Box at the main entrance of the high school. Specifications 
and placement shall be coordinated with the Fire Chief. 

 
25. The property owner shall install “No Parking Fire Lane” signs along the designated fire lane(s). The 

number and placement of signs shall be coordinated with the Fire Chief. 
 
26. All fire lanes must be a minimum of 20’ wide. 
 
27. The approval of this Conditional Use Permit does not authorize the installation or relocation of any 

signage. Any new or relocated signage must be incompliance with zoning code §§150.210-150.227, 
unless authorized by Variance, and must be approved by issuance of a sign permit. 

 
28. Given that the project involves permitting from multiple jurisdictions and is proposed to be a multi-

year project, the city acknowledges that the applicant may require additional time to complete the 
project. The Conditional Use Permit shall be utilized and all conditions shall be met within three 
years of the date this resolution (by or before April 20, 2024) or the Conditional Use Permit shall 
become null and void. 

 
The foregoing resolution was introduced and moved for adoption by Council Member ___________ and 
seconded by Council Member ____________. 
 

Voting for the resolution: .......................  
Voting against the resolution:.................  
Abstained from voting: ...........................  
Absent: ....................................................  

 
Motion carried and resolution adopted this 20th day of April, 2021. 
 
 
 
________________________________   ATTEST: ______________________________ 
Alan Skramstad, Mayor      Lindy Crawford, City Administrator  





N

S

W E

FFE=1006.50

REMOVALS LEGEND



N
O

R
TH

 G
R

O
VE

 S
TR

EE
T

NORTH 9TH STREET

UNNAMED POND

VI
LL

AG
E 

G
R

EE
N

 P
LA

C
E

VI
LL

AG
E 

G
R

EE
N

 L
AN

E

SU
N

SE
T 

LA
N

E

SU
N

SE
T 

LA
N

E

UNNAMED POND

NORTH 9TH STREET

FIR
E LA

NE / D
ROP O

FF AREA

FIR
E LA

NE / D
ROP O

FF AREA

NO PARKIN
G

NO PARKIN
G

NO PARKIN
G

NO PARKIN
G

NO PARKIN
G

N
O

 P
AR

KI
N

G
N

O
 P

AR
KI

N
G

N
O

 P
AR

KI
N

G

D
R

O
P O

FF AR
EA

D
R

O
P O

FF AR
EA

FIRE LANE / DROP OFF AREA FIRE LANE / DROP OFF AREA

N
O

 PAR
KIN

G
N

O
 PAR

KIN
G

N
O

 PAR
KIN

G

NO PARKING

N
O

 PAR
KIN

G
N

O
 PAR

KIN
G

N
O

 PAR
KIN

G

NO PARKING NO PARKING

NO PARKING

NO PARKING

NO PARKING

NO PARKING

N
O

 PAR
KIN

G

N

S

W E

AREA "A"
SHEETS C-5.0 AND C-6.0

AREA "B"
SHEETS C-5.1 AND C-6.1

AREA "C"
SHEETS C-5.2 AND C-6.2

AREA "D"
SHEETS C-5.3 AND C-6.3

INSET 'A'
SHEETS C-5.3 AND C-6.3

TWO-WAY LEFT TURN LANE

SHEET REISSUED IN ENTIRETY



NORTH 9TH STREET

FIRE LANE / DROP OFF AREA FIRE LANE / DROP OFF AREA

NO PARKING NO PARKING

NO PARKING

NO PARKING

NO PARKING

NO PARKING

N
O

 PAR
KIN

G

SITE LEGEND AND NOTES
REF DESCRIPTION SYMBOL

N

S

W E

SEE SHEETS C2.3 AND C6.4
FOR TRACK AND FIELD

DETAILS AND SITE & GRADING

HIGH SCHOOL
UPPER LEVEL: 1014.50
LOWER LEVEL: 1006.50

SHEET REISSUED IN ENTIRETY

FI
R

E
 L

A
N

E



N
O

R
TH

 G
R

O
VE

 S
TR

EE
T

D
R

O
P O

FF AR
EA

D
R

O
P O

FF AR
EA

FIRE LANE / DROP OFF AREA FIRE LANE / DROP OFF AREA

N
O

 PAR
KIN

G
N

O
 PAR

KIN
G

N
O

 PAR
KIN

G

NO PARKING

SITE LEGEND AND NOTES
REF DESCRIPTION SYMBOL

N

S

W E

SEE SHEETS C2.3 AND C6.4 FOR POLE
VAULT/LONG JUMP/TRIPLE JUMP

DETAILS AND SITE & GRADING

SEE SHEET C2.3 FOR DISCUS
AND SHOTPUT DETAILS.

SEE SHEETS C2.3 AND C6.4
FOR TRACK AND FIELD

DETAILS AND SITE & GRADING

SHEET REISSUED IN ENTIRETY

FI
R

E
 L

A
N

E



D
R

O
P O

FF AR
EA

N

S

W E

SITE LEGEND AND NOTES
REF DESCRIPTION SYMBOL

SHEET REISSUED IN ENTIRETY



N
O

 P
AR

KI
N

G
N

O
 P

AR
KI

N
G

N
O

 P
AR

KI
N

G

FIRE LANE / DROP OFF AREA

N
O

 PAR
KIN

G
N

O
 PAR

KIN
G

N
O

 PAR
KIN

G

SITE LEGEND AND NOTES
REF DESCRIPTION SYMBOL

N

S

W E

HIGH SCHOOL
UPPER LEVEL: 1014.50
LOWER LEVEL: 1006.50

INSET 'A'

INSET 'A'

LAYDOWN AREA

SHEET REISSUED IN ENTIRETY

FI
R

E
 L

A
N

E



D
R

O
P

 O
F

F
 A

R
E

A
D

R
O

P
 O

F
F

 A
R

E
A

FIRE LANE / DROP OFF AREA FIRE LANE / DROP OFF AREA

N
O

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

N
O

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

N
O

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

NO PARKING

N
O

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

N
O

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

N
O

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

NO PARKING
NO PARKING

NO PARKING

NO PARKING

NO PARKING

NO PARKING

N
O

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

A
R

K
IN

K
IN

NORTH 9TH STREET

N
O

R
T

H
 G

R
O

V
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

NORTH 9TH STREET

LS SCALE: 1" = 60'-0"

OVERALL LANDSCAPE PLAN

1

1

1

1

1

1

111111111
1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

111
111

1

11

1

1

1



D
R

O
P

 O
F

F
 A

R
E

A
D

R
O

P
 O

F
F

 A
R

E
A

N
O

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

N
P

A
R

N
G

N
O

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

N
O

 
A

R
K

G
N

O
 P

A
R

K
I

O
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
K

IN

NO PARKINGNO RK G

A
R

K
IIN

N
O

R
T

H
 G

R
O

V
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

A SCALE: 1" = 30'-0"

TREE PLANTING  & MULCH PLAN 'A' 

NOTES:

1. SEE SHEET L-2.0 FOR PLANTING
SCHEDULE, NOTES AND DETAILS.

1

1

1

1



FIRE LANE / DROP OFF AREADROP OFF AREADROP OFF AREA FIRE LANE / DROP OFF AREAROP OFFROP OFF REAREA

NO PARKINGNO AR NG
NO PARKING
NO AR NG

NO PARKING

NO PAR NG

NO PARKING

NO
AR

NG

NO PARKING

O P
RKI

NO PARKING

O P
RKI

N
O

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

NN
O

N
A

R
N

G

NORTH 9TH STREET

B SCALE: 1" = 30'-0"

TREE PLANTING  & MULCH PLAN 'B' 

NOTES:

1. SEE SHEET L-2.0 FOR PLANTING
SCHEDULE, NOTES AND DETAILS.

1

1

111 11111

111

111

1 1 1

1

1111

11
1

1

1
1

11111111

1

1



N
O

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

N
P

A
K

IN
N

O
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
N

P
A

K
IN

N
O

 P
A

N
P

A
R

K
IN

G
N

P
A

K
IN

N
O

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

N
P

A
K

IN
A

R
K

IN
G

K
IN

3 SCALE: 1" = 20'-0"

PLANTING BED PLAN 3

C SCALE: 1" = 30'-0"

TREE PLANTING  & MULCH PLAN 'C' 

1 SCALE: 1" = 20'-0"

PLANTING BED PLAN 1 2 SCALE: 1" = 20'-0"

PLANTING BED PLAN 2

A

NOTES:

1. SEE SHEET L-2.0 FOR PLANTING
SCHEDULE, NOTES AND DETAILS.

1

1111





SYMBOL COMMON NAME SCIENTIFIC NAME QUANTITY SIZE ROOT COMMENTS



     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     



     

      

     

     



     

     

     

     



     

     

     

     

     



     

     

     

  

ANTNTNNNANAUAUANTNNANNAAAUA

1 SCALE: NOT TO SCALE

SHRUB PLANTING DETAIL

3 SCALE: NOT TO SCALE

STEEL EDGER DETAIL 4 SCALE: NOT TO SCALE

TREE GUYING DETAIL

+/- 45°

+/- 90°

+/- 60°

2 SCALE: NOT TO SCALE

TREE PLANTING DETAIL

SET ROOT FLAIR 1" ABOVE
FINISHED GRADE.

PLACE 3" MULCH OVER GEOTEXTILE
WEED BARRIER MATERIAL. PULL MULCH
BACK FROM STEMS OF SHRUBS.

REMOVE ALL CONTAINERS,
BASKETS, BURLAP, ETC., FROM
ROOT BALL. SLIGHTLY OPEN ROOT
BALL TO FREE ENCIRCLING ROOTS.

PLANTING SOIL BACK FILL AT
PLANT ONLY.

UNDISTURBED SOIL, OR COMPACTED
SUBGRADE BENEATH ROOT BALL

TREE STRAPS - 18" LONG, 1" WIDE POLYPROPYLENE

10-GAUGE GUY WIRE. ATTACH TO POST 12" FROM TOP.
WHITE PLASTIC FLAGGING

WHITE POST CAP (ON T-BAR POST STAKE)

HOT-ROLLED STEEL FENCE POST
OR 2" HARDWOOD POST STAKE.

WHITE PVC TREE GUARD FROM GRADE TO BOTTOM
OF FIRST BRANCH OF DECIDUOUS TREES.
SET ROOT FLAIR 1.5" ABOVE FINISHED GRADE
SEE NOTES FOR WIRE CAGE AND SOIL BALL
WRAPPING REMOVAL

PLACE 4" SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH.
PULL MUCH BACK 3" MIN, 6" MAX FROM TRUNK.
IF ROCK MULCH IS SPECIFIED, INSTALL WEED
BARRIER MATERIAL BENEATH MULCH.

PLANTING SOIL BACK FILL.  SEE NOTES & SPECIFICATIONS.

UNDISTURBED OR COMPACTED SUBGRADE BELOW ROOT BALL.

DRIVE STAKE POSTS (STEEL OR WOOD) 3' BELOW GRADE
BETWEEN 3' MINIMUM - 5' MAXIMUM FROM CENTER OF TREE.

SCARIFY SIDES OF PLANTING PIT

20 GAL. SELF-WATERING BAG
(IF IRRIGATION NOT PROVIDED)

12-GAUGE GUY WIRE

MULCH / SOD EDGE
MUST FORM A

CIRCLE CENTERED
ON TREE TRUNK.

2"X2"X36" WOODEN STAKE,
DRIVEN 24" INTO THE

GROUND FOR ANCHORING
GUY WIRE.

4" HARDWOOD OR ROCK MULCH, SEE
PLAN FOR LOCATION. TOP OF MULCH
SHALL BE EVEN WITH TOP OF EDGER.

SEED OR SOD, FERTILIZER
AND TOPSOIL PER SPEC.

SEE PLANS FOR LOCATION.

1/4" X 5" STEEL LANDSCAPE
EDGING 1" ABOVE FINISHED

SOD SURFACE.

STEEL STAKE INSTALLED AS PER
MANUFACTURER'S INSTRUCTION

GEOTEXTILE WEED
BARRIER FABRIC

STEEL T-BAR POST STAKE (2 OR 3 REQUIRED.
INSTALL 3 STAKES AT 120° (SHOWN), 2 STAKES AT
180°). INSTALL STAKES IN GROUND OUTSIDE OF
PLANTING PIT EXCAVATION AREA.

12 GAUGE GAL. WIRE

WHITE PLASTIC FLAGGING

TREE STRAPS

MULCH / SOD EDGE
MUST FORM A CIRCLE

CENTERED ON TREE
TRUNK.

1





Item No. 8b 

1 

 M E M O R A N D U M 
Date: April 20, 2021 
To: Mayor and City Council 
From: Caleb Christenson, Building Official 
RE: Council Hearing to Abate a Public Nuisance and Unsafe Structures – 18497 McCarty Ct. 
 
 
SUMMARY 
The City Council will consider moving forward to abate the nuisance of accumulative debris and secure the 
unsafe structures at 18497 McCarty Ct.  
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
Staff received a complaint in August of 2020 that property located at 18497 McCarty Ct. had a large amount of 
debris scattered around the yard. Notice was sent to the property owner to abate the nuisance. Staff 
conducted a re-inspection after the time granted expired and found that the nuisance still existed. All 
documentations were submitted to court for legal action, and a court date was set for January 26, 2021. Due 
to the property owner’s failure to appear in court, the court has issued a warrant for the arrest of the property 
owner. 
 
Staff was informed that people were living in the garage at 18497 McCarty Ct. in November of 2020. Staff then 
requested an escort by a Kanabec County Sheriff’s Deputy and the manufactured home and garage were 
posted as “No Occupancy Allowed” due to lack of utilities and sanitation. For a while there was limited activity 
at the property and the Sheriff’s Office would conduct check-ins at random to ensure the unsafe structures 
were unoccupied, but after a while there were occupants in the garage again. On February 8, 2021 a code 
violation letter was sent to the property owner at the last known address via certified mail stating the 
manufactured home must be brought into compliance in order for people to stay on the property or the 
structures must be secured. The certified letter was returned undeliverable with no forwarding address. On 
March 16, 2021 the notice of council hearing was mailed to the property owner’s last known address and 
posted on both structures at 18497 McCarty Ct. 
 
Staff determined the structures are unsafe per Minnesota Building Code §1300.0180 Unsafe Buildings or 
Structures and the garbage and debris to be a public nuisance per City Code §131.02 (D) Accumulations of 
refuse or other debris and §131.04 (J) Accumulations on public or private property of discarded or disused 
machinery, household appliances, furniture, automobile bodies, wood, or other material, which constitute a 
public eye sore, devalue neighboring properties, or promote the harboring of rats, mice, snakes or vermin; or 
which constitute fire, health or safety hazards, or promote the rank growth of vegetation among the items so 
accumulated. 
 
Staff asks that Council motions to proceed with abatement, per City Code § 131.07 Abatement, and direct staff 
to publish the notice of motion for summary enforcement in the newspaper for four weeks, and if the 
nuisance is not resolved after the fourth week of publication, direct staff to abate the nuisance and secure the 
structures. 



  2 

  
City Code § 131.07 Abatement 

 (A)   Notice.  Written notice of violation; notice of the time, date, place and subject of any hearing 
before the Council; notice of Council order; and notice of motion for summary enforcement hearing 
shall be given as set forth in this section. 
      (1)   Notice of violation.  Written notice of violation shall be served by the enforcing officer upon 
the owner of record or occupant of the premises either in person or by certified or registered mail. If 
the premises are not occupied, the owner of record is unknown, or the owner of record or occupant 
refuses to accept notice of violation, notice of violation shall be served by posting it on the premises. 
      (2)   Notice of Council hearing.  Written notice of any Council hearing to determine or abate 
nuisance shall be served on the owner of record and occupant of the premises either in person or by 
certified or registered mail.  If the premises are not occupied, the owner of record is unknown, or 
the owner of record or occupant refuses to accept notice of Council hearing, notice of Council 
hearing shall be served by posting it on the premises. 
      (3)   Notice of Council order.  Except for those cases determined by the city to require summary 
enforcement, written notice of any Council order shall be made as provided in M.S. § 463.17 
(Hazardous and Substandard Building Act), as it may be amended from time to time. 
      (4)   Notice of motion for summary enforcement.  Written notice of any motion for summary 
enforcement shall be made as provided for in M.S. § 463.17. 
   (B)   Procedure.  Whenever the officer charged with enforcement determines that a public 
nuisance is being maintained or exists on premises in the city, the officer shall notify in writing the 
owner of record or occupant of the premises of this fact and order that the nuisance be terminated 
or abated.  If the notice of violation is not complied with within the time specified, the enforcing 
officer shall report that fact immediately to the Council.  Thereafter, the Council may, after notice to 
the owner or occupant and an opportunity to be heard, determine that the condition identified in 
the notice of violation is a nuisance and further order that if the nuisance is not abated within the 
time prescribed by the Council, the city may seek injunctive relief by serving a copy of the Council 
order and notice of motion for summary enforcement. 

 
OPTIONS & IMPACTS 

1. Determine that a public nuisance and unsafe structures exist and motion for summary enforcement. If 
the issues are not resolved by the property owner, the City shall abate the nuisance and the property 
owner shall be personally liable for any costs accrued during the abatement process. Unpaid charges 
shall be assessed to the property taxes. 
 

2. Determine that a public nuisance and unsafe structures do not exist and take no action. Failure to 
move forward will allow the debris to remain a public eyesore, devalue neighboring properties, 
and/or promote the harboring of rats, mice, snakes or vermin, create fire, health or safety hazards, 
and promote the rank growth of vegetation among the items so accumulated.  

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
Determine that a public nuisance and unsafe structures exist at 18497 McCarty Ct. and motion to publish the 
Council order and notice of motion for summary enforcement per Minnesota Statute §463.17, and if the 
nuisance is not resolved after the fourth week of publication, direct staff to abate the nuisance and secure the 
structures. 
 
 
 



  3 

Attachments 
Notice of Council Hearing 
Pictures of Public Nuisance and Unsafe Structures 











CITY OF MORA 
MORA MUNICIPAL UTILITIES 

 
101 Lake Street South 
Mora, MN  55051-1588  

 

ci.mora.mn.us 

320.679.1511      Fax 320.679.3862          320.679.1451 

 

The City of Mora is an Equal Opportunity Provider/Employer 
For TDD, call 711 

NOTICE OF 

COUNCIL HEARING 
 
Notice is hereby given that the City Council of the City of Mora, Minnesota, will conduct a 

hearing at 6:30 pm on April 20, 2021 at Mora City Hall, located at 101 Lake Street S, 

Mora, MN 55051. The purpose of this hearing is to discuss the abatement of public 

nuisance and the securing of unsafe structures identified on property located at 18497 

McCarty Court, Mora, MN 55051. 

 

The unsafe structures and accumulation of debris at 18497 McCarty Court is a violation of the 

Minnesota Building Code §1300.0180 Unsafe Buildings or Structures and City Code §131.02 

Public Nuisances Affecting Health (D) Accumulations of refuse or other debris. 

 

The property owner, Nancy Foss, has been given ample opportunity to bring the property into 

compliance with Minnesota Building Code §1300.0180 and City Code §131.02 and has failed to 

do so. At the April 20, 2021 hearing the City Council will consider the unsafe structures and public 

nuisance and discuss abatement of said violations. 

  

Per City Code §131.08 Personal Liability and §131.09 Assessment, the property owner shall be 

personally liable for the cost of the work to abate the public nuisances. Unpaid charges may 

assessed to the subject property. 

 

For the City of Mora City Council 

 

Caleb Christenson 

Building Official 

City of Mora  

 

 

Date Posted: March 16, 2021 



Item No. 8c 

 M E M O R A N D U M 
Date: April 20, 2021 
To: Mayor and City Council 
From: Jeff Krie, Activities & Recreation Coordinator 
RE: Music in the Park ECRAC Grant 

 
SUMMARY 
The City has received a grant award from the East Central Regional Arts Council (ECRAC) for the City’s ninth 
summer concert series, known as Mora’s Music in the Park. The City Council will consider accepting the grant, 
as well as entering into a license agreement with the American Society of Composers, Authors and Publishers 
(ASCAP), and the Society of European Stage Authors and Composers (SESAC). 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 

The Park Board and staff have begun preparations for the upcoming season of Mora’s Music in the Park, which 
will include 11 Thursday evening concerts beginning in June through August, and one special event concert 
(part of Fall Fest on September 25) in Library Park. The twelve music performances will represent a wide 
variety of genres, will be appropriate for all ages, and will be open to the public free of charge. With a 
proposed project budget of $11,185, staff prepared and submitted a grant proposal to ECRAC in January for 
$8,677. The City recently received notice that the grant request was approved. 

 
The proposed project budget includes a local grant match of $2,508. This amount includes $1,308 of in-kind 
support and $1,200 from community contributions (aka, sponsors). If the City Council accepts the grant award, 
staff will begin work to secure all necessary contributions. 

 
If the City Council accepts the grant, staff is once again recommending that the City Council obtain permission to 
publicly perform copyrighted music via a license through ASCAP and SESAC. The ASCAP 2021 license fee is $373, 
the SESAC license fee is $282, and both have been included in the Music in the Park project budget.  

 
We will of course follow any COVID-19 County, MN Department of Health and CDC recommendations to 
provide safety for the performers and attendees. 
 
OPTIONS & IMPACTS 

1. Accept an $8,677 grant from ECRAC for the Mora’s Music in the Park summer concert series. 
Further, grant authorization to enter into a license agreement with ASCAP for the period of June 1, 2021 
to December 31, 2021 and submit the necessary license fee of $373. Also, to enter a license agreement 
with SESAC for the period of June 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021 and submit the necessary license fee 
of$282. 

 
2. Decline an $8,677 grant from ECRAC for the Mora’s Music in the Park summer concert series. By doing 

this the City would not have the funds necessary to secure artists and would not be able to move 
forward with the concert series this year. 

 
3. Take no action at this time. By doing this the City would forfeit an $8,677 grant from ECRAC, which may 

jeopardize future grant requests. 



 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
Motion to accept an $8,677 grant from ECRAC for the Mora’s Music in the Park summer concert series and 
to grant authorization to enter into a license agreement with ASCAP for $373 license fee and to SESAC for 
$282 license fee. 

 
 

Attachments 
None 



Item No. 8d 

1 

 M E M O R A N D U M 
Date: April 20, 2021 
To: Mayor and City Council 
From: Jeff Krie, Activities & Recreation Coordinator 
RE: Park Board Resignation and Vacancy 

SUMMARY 
The City Council will accept a resignation from the Park Board and declare a vacancy. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
The City Council appointed Cody Knox to the Park Board in last month to fill a vacancy. Knox submitted his 
notice of resignation from the Park Board on April 9, 2021. The council is being asked to declare a vacancy and 
direct staff to advertise for the remainder of term expiring December 31, 2023. 

OPTIONS & IMPACTS 
Accept Knox’s resignation from the Park Board, declare a vacancy and direct staff to advertise the vacancy 
immediately. Staff recommends that applications be due on Friday, May 14th in order for the council to 
consider applications at its May 18th meeting. 

RECOMMENDATION 
Motion to accept Knox’s resignation from the Park Board and direct staff to advertise the vacancy 
immediately.  

Attachments 
None 





Item No. 8e 

 M E M O R A N D U M 
Date: April 20, 2021 
To: Mayor and City Council 
From: Lindy Crawford, City Administrator 
RE: SMMPA Economic Development Credit Program 
 
 
SUMMARY 
The City Council will consider implementing an economic development incentive developed by Southern 
Minnesota Municipal Power Agency (SMMPA). 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
In October 2018, the SMMPA Board approved a wholesale economic development credit program 
aimed at providing incentives to attract new business customers to SMMPA member communities, like 
Mora, encourage existing business customers to expand, and help ensure businesses do not leave our 
community. SMMPA’s goal is to help every business be as energy efficient as possible and help them be 
more competitive, thereby helping those businesses grow and prosper in the member communities. The 
economic development credit program is in no way intended to diminish SMMPA’s commitment to 
energy efficiency.  
 
Strategic load growth can be beneficial for all Mora Municipal Utilities (MMU) electric utility customers. 
To the extent that it does not require investment in major new generating facilities, the ability to spread 
fixed costs over more units of energy puts downward pressure on retail rates. By working with SMMPA 
and offering this incentive, the city would be using an economic development incentive at the wholesale 
level to help promote this type of strategic load growth at the retail level. 
 
What Type of Electric Utility Customer will Qualify? 
• New business customers with a load of 250 kW or greater, or with load that exceeds the demand of 

the MMU’s tenth largest current retail customer. 
• Existing business customers adding new incremental connected load of 250 kW or greater, or adding 

load that exceeds the demand of the MMU’s tenth largest current retail customer. 
• Existing business customers in economic distress that have legitimate opportunities to move 

operations out of the MMU’s service territory and have a total load of 1,000 kW or that are one of 
the member’s ten largest customers. 

 
What are the Incentives? 
• SMMPA will calculate an economic development credit to be paid to MMU based on the energy 

usage of the qualifying business in the member community. 
• For incremental load, the credit only applies to the additional energy associated with the business 

expansion. 
Year 1 - $0.0192 per kWh 
Year 2 - $0.0096 per kWh 



 

Year 3 - $0.0048 per kWh 
Year 4 - $0.0024 per kWh 
Year 5 - $0.0012 per kWh 
Year 6 - No credit beginning in Year 6 

 
What Other Conditions Must Electric Utility Customers Meet? 
• The business must have received no less than $25,000 in local, county, State of Minnesota and/or 

federal financial assistance for economic development or economic stimulus. 
o Business customers facing economic distress must have received at least $50,000 in economic 

development assistance within the 24 months prior to applying for this rate. 
• The business must meet all conditions set forth by the member city for local economic development 

(refer to City of Mora Business Subsidy Policy). 
• Businesses cannot be transferring load from a different SMMPA member. 
• The business must review the energy efficiency program opportunities available from MMU. 
 
How Could Wholesale Credit from SMMPA be Passed on to Qualifying MMU Customers? 
If implemented, the credit program could mirror the SMMPA wholesale program as follows: 
• 100% of the SMMPA Economic Development Credit will flow through to Mora’s participating 

business customers. 
• The full amount of the credit must flow through to the participating businesses under economic 

distress. 
 
The Mora EDA and PUC reviewed the proposed economic development incentive at their February 2, 
2021 and February 16, 2021 respective meetings and both boards were unanimously supportive of the 
city council implementing the program, believing that it complements the city’s economic development 
efforts. Both boards and staff encourage the City Council to also support the program.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Motion to utilize the SMMPA economic development credit program as a tool in the City EDA and 
MMU’s economic development toolkit.  
 
 
Attachments 
SMMPA Economic Development Credit Program Description  
 



 
SOUTHERN MINNESOTA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY 

Attachment 10 to Schedule B 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CREDIT 
 
Objective. 
The Economic Development Credit is available to all SMMPA members with a qualifying retail 
customer based on retail load served by, or to be served by, a SMMPA member.  SMMPA will 
provide the credit for the term of this agreement or the remaining term of the participating 
member’s Power Sales Contract, whichever is less. 
 
1. Qualifying Load. 

Member load that qualifies for the wholesale credit from SMMPA includes: 
a) New retail customers with a load of 250 kW or greater, or with load that exceeds the 

demand of the member’s fifth largest current retail customer.  Fifth largest customer is 
determined by peak annual demand of the fifth largest customer based on total annual 
energy sales. 

b) Existing retail customers with at least twelve months of billing history adding new 
incremental connected load of 250 kW or greater, or adding load that exceeds the demand 
of the member’s fifth largest current retail customer.  Fifth largest customer is determined 
by peak annual demand of the fifth largest customer based on total annual energy sales 

c) With the prior approval of the SMMPA Board, load retention for existing retail customers 
in economic distress that have legitimate opportunities to move operations out of the 
member’s service territory. Member retail customers must have a total load for that retail 
customer across all facilities located within the member service territory of 1,000 kW or 
be one of the member’s five largest customers to be considered for load retention.  Fifth 
largest customer is determined by peak annual demand of the fifth largest customer based 
on total annual energy sales 

d) Load qualification requirements are irrespective of CROD.  
 

Eligible member retail customers must have received no less than $50,000 in local, county, 
State of Minnesota and/or federal financial assistance for economic development or 
economic stimulus. For load retention, the customer must have received that economic 
development assistance within the 24 months prior to applying for this rate.  A list of 
qualifying economic development programs is shown in Appendix A. 
 
The retail customer must meet all conditions set forth by the member city for local economic 
development. 
 
No credit is available to retail customers or potential retail customers transferring load from a 
different SMMPA member. 
 
Member retail load that is located in member service territory for which there is a lost 
revenue agreement in place and the member is receiving SMMPA Load Acquisition Credits 
is not eligible for the Economic Development Credit until such time as the lost revenue 
agreement has expired.  However, the member can exclude such load from receiving the 



Load Acquisition Credit and instead make that load eligible for the Economic Development 
Credit.  Load cannot receive both credits simultaneously.     
 
Member retail load may not simultaneously participate in the Economic Development Credit 
and in any of SMMPA's Large Power Rates (Attachments 1, 2, and 3 to Schedule B), or the 
Negotiated Electric Service Tariff (Attachment 6 to Schedule B.) 
 
For new customers, all electric load from the customer’s new facilities served by the member 
qualifies as new load.  
 
For incremental load, the base level of load is the customer’s peak demand and energy 
consumption for the twelve months prior to adding the new load. If the customer’s energy 
consumption for a month in the current year exceeds the customer’s energy consumption for 
the same month of the base year, the additional kilowatt-hours are incremental load that 
qualifies for the credit. The customer need not have incremental energy use every month of 
the year, but at the end of each 12-month period the customer’s entire twelve month energy 
use must exceed the base level and the customer must meet the minimum incremental peak 
demand requirements in at least one hour of the first twelve month period. If the retail 
customer fails to meet the peak demand requirements within the first twelve months, the 
customer will no longer qualify for any further credits within the five-year term. 
 
For load retention, the SMMPA Board will make a determination as to how much load 
qualifies for the credit when it reviews the facts and circumstances related to that customer.  
If a qualifying customer falls below the specified demand and/or energy consumption level 
approved by the SMMPA board, the customer will no longer qualify for any further credits 
within the five-year term. 
 
For member retail customers seeking a credit for new facilities or incremental load, they 
must sign an affidavit attesting to the fact that “but for” the rate credits, either on their own or 
in combination with a package of economic development or job creation incentives from 
local, county, State of Minnesota, and/or federal programs the customer would not have 
located operations or added load within the member’s service territory.  A sample affidavit is 
shown in Appendix B.  
 
For member retail customers seeking a credit for load retention, they must sign an affidavit 
attesting to the fact that “but for” the rate credits, either on their own or in combination with 
a package of economic development or job creation incentives from local, county, State of 
Minnesota, and/or federal programs, the customer would be significantly reducing its energy 
consumption or shutting down its facilities in the member’s service territory. A sample 
affidavit is shown in Appendix B. 
 
Members seeking to qualify for the Economic Development Credit must submit an 
application for each retail customer that qualifies for the credit.  The application form is 
shown in Appendix C. 

  



 
2. Credit. 

The credit for all qualifying new, incremental or retained load taken under SMMPA’s 
Schedule B Rate for energy shall be: 
• 40% of all qualifying energy charges in year one 
• 20% of all qualifying energy charges in year two 
• 10% of all qualifying energy charges in year three 
• 5% of all qualifying energy charges in year four 
• 2.5% of qualifying energy charges in year five 
• No credit beginning in year six 

 
The credit is not applied to SMMPA’s transmission or demand charges.  For incremental 
load, the credit only applies to qualifying additional energy as described above.  Energy that 
is sold to participating retail customers in the hours where the member is above CROD is not 
eligible for the credit.  Where it is impractical to determine the specific retail customer’s 
hourly energy consumption for the purposes of determining below-CROD energy sales, a 
ratio of the member’s prior year system energy sales during below-CROD hours divided by 
the member’s prior year total system energy sales during all hours will be multiplied by the 
new, incremental or retained energy served to qualifying retail customer to calculate the 
amount of the credit. 
 
For new customers, the credits will begin on the first day of the first full month at the time a 
participating new customer begins taking service and meets the demand requirements. 
 
For incremental load, the credits will begin on the first day of the first full month at the time 
when the equipment driving incremental load is installed and meets the minimum 
incremental demand requirements. 
 
For retained load, the credits will begin on the date specified by the SMMPA Board. 
 

3. Application of wholesale credit to retail customers. 
The structure of the wholesale SMMPA Economic Development Credit is described in this 
document.  The member has discretion in developing a retail economic development rate or 
credit applicable to its own retail customers.  Regardless of the structure of the member’s 
retail rate structure, at least 50%, and as much as 100% of the SMMPA Economic 
Development Credit must flow through to the member’s participating retail customer for new 
or incremental load.  The full amount of the credit must flow through to the participating 
retail customer for load retention.  
 

4. Term. 
The SMMPA Economic Development Credit can be discontinued or revised at any time by 
the SMMPA Board.  The discontinuation or revisions will not apply to any approved 
applications for the program. 

  



 
5. Energy Efficiency and Demand Side Management Requirements. 

In order to be eligible for the credit, the member’s qualifying retail customer must meet with 
the member or SMMPA to review the energy efficiency program opportunities available 
from the member/SMMPA prior to approval of the application for the credit.  

 
6. Metering and reporting. 

Metering of participating retail customer demand and energy is the responsibility of the 
member.  Members have the discretion to impose a charge on participating retail customers 
for any new and/or additional metering required to measure qualifying load and energy.  On 
or before the 5th calendar day of each month, the member will provide SMMPA with a report 
for each participating customer that includes the demand and energy usage that qualifies for 
the credit for the month. For incremental load, this will include a comparison of the load and 
energy in the current month compared to the same month in the base year. Subject to review 
and approval by SMMPA, SMMPA will remit the total amount of all credits for the 
member’s participating retail customer load for the month by the 25th calendar day of each 
month.  
 
Alternatively, members may submit reports requesting credits for qualifying retail customers 
on a different schedule provided the schedule is mutually acceptable to the member and 
SMMPA and is described in the SMMPA Economic Development Credit contract with the 
member. 
 
SMMPA members will have the option to allow SMMPA to access the relevant meter data 
via telemetry systems compatible with SMMPA’s billing system.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Effective: ____________ 

 
Approved:  _____________ Issued by: ___________________ 

 

 

 

 
     



Appendix A - Qualifying Economic Development Programs: 
 
STATE OF MINNESOTA PROGRAMS 

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
Export and Trade Counseling and Assistance 
Location and Expansion Assistance  
Made in Minnesota Directory 
Minnesota Business First Stop 
Minnesota Marketing Partnership 
Small Business Assistance 
Small Business Development Centers 
 

BUSINESS FINANCING 
Angel Loan Fund Program  
Emerging Entrepreneurs Loan Program 
 Indian Business Loan Program  
Innovation Voucher Program 
Minnesota Investment Fund 
Minnesota Job Creation Fund  
Minnesota Minerals 21st Century Fund  
Minnesota Reservist and Veteran Business Loan Program 
STEP Grant Program: Export Assistance 
Tourism Business Septic Tank Replacement 
 

TAX CREDITS + BENEFITS  
Border Cities Enterprise Zone Program  
Data Centers 
Foreign Trade Zones (FTZs)  
Greater Minnesota Job Expansion Program 
Research and Development Tax Credit 
Single Sales Factor Apportionment; Throwback; Greater Minnesota Internship Tax Credit 
Program  
Tax Increment Financing; Tax Abatement; Personal Property Exemption; Capital Equipment 
Exemption COMMUNITY FINANCING 
Border-to-Border Broadband Development Grant Program 
Cleanup Revolving Loan Program 
Contamination Cleanup and Investigation Grant Program 
Demolition Loan Program 
Greater Minnesota Business Development Infrastructure Grant Program 
Redevelopment Grant Program 
Shovel-Ready Site Certification  
Small Cities Development Program 
Transportation Economic Development Infrastructure Program (TEDI) 
  

TRAINING  
Dual Training Competency Grants 
Export and Trade Classes and Training 
Job Training Incentive Program 
Minnesota Job Skills Partnership 
Minnesota WorkForce Centers 
SciTechsperience Internship Program 

 
  



 
LOCAL OR COUNTY PROGRAMS 

Financial assistance from a local Revolving Loan Fund 
Establishment of or location in a Tax Increment Financing District 
Direct loan from a unit of local government 
Construction of public facilities – roads, sewer, water – to serve a project 
Site acquisition and clearance 
Building renovation assistance 

 
FEDERAL PROGRAMS 

Loan Guarantees 
Grants 
Investment Tax Credits 
Income Tax Credits tied to New Hiring 
Low-Interest Loans 
Other, subject to SMMPA Board Approval 

  



Appendix B – Customer Affidavit for Economic Development Credit: 
 

AFFIDAVIT 
STATE OF MINNESOTA  ) 
COUNTY OF ____________________) ss 
 
COMES NOW being first duly sworn, under oath, and states that the following information is within personal 
knowledge and belief: 
 
______________________ is a retail customer (Customer) of a Southern Minnesota Municipal Power Agency 
(SMMPA) member utility who is locating, adding, or retains load in the service territory of [SMMPA member 
utility name] hereby certifies and declares under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Minnesota 
that the statements in the following paragraphs are true and correct. 
 

1. But for receipt of the economic development credit, either on its own, or in combination with 
Qualifying Economic Development Program as defined in Appendix A of SMMPA’s Economic 
Development Credit program , the Customer’s load would not have been located, added, or retained 
within [SMMPA member utility name]’s service territory. 

 
2. The new, incremental or retained load represents kilowatt-hours (kWh) that either (i) do not already 

exist in any SMMPA member utilities’ service territory, or (ii) the Customer would be significantly 
reducing its energy consumption or shutting down its facilities in [SMMPA member utility name]’s 
service territory. 

 
3. The Customer has discussed with SMMPA and/or [SMMPA member utility name] cost-effective 

energy efficiency and load management measures the Customer may take to reduce their electric bills 
and the load they place on SMMPA and [SMMPA member utility name]’s system. 

 
 
___________________________________________ 
Customer Name 
 
___________________________________________ 
Name of Authorized Representative 
 
 
 
____________________________________________ 
Signature 
 
 
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me this _____ day of ___________, 20___, by 
 
______________________________. 
NOTARY PUBLIC FOR MINNESOTA 
 
My Commission Expires: _________________________ 
  



Appendix C – Application for Economic Development Credit 
 
SMMPA Member Utility Name: _______________________________ 
 
Retail Customer Information 
 
Customer Name:  __________________________________________ 
Customer Street Address:__________________________________________ 
Customer City, State, ZIP __________________________________________ 
 
Please attach Customer Affidavit for Economic Development Credit. 
 
Have you discussed energy efficiency and load management programs with the customer? 
 
YES_______ NO______ 
 
New Load 
Estimated demand (kW):  ___________________________________________ 
Estimated annual energy (kWh): ___________________________________________ 
Estimated in-service date:  ___________________________________________ 
Estimated full load date:  ___________________________________________ 
Projected load factor:   ___________________________________________ 
 
Please attach a summary description of the customer and its business.  If new load is less than 250 kW, please 
include documentation that this load would be within the utilities top five customers based on total kWh sales. 
 
Incremental Load  
Prior year’s demand (kW):  ___________________________________________ 
Estimated additional demand (kW): ___________________________________________ 
Prior year annual energy (kWh): ___________________________________________ 
Estimated additional energy (kWh): ___________________________________________ 
Estimated in-service date:  ___________________________________________ 
Estimated full load date:  ___________________________________________ 
Projected load factor:   ___________________________________________ 
 
Please attach a summary description of the customer, its business, documentation of prior year demand and 
energy and what is causing the additional load. If incremental load is less than 250 kW, please include 
documentation that this load would be within the utilities top five customers based on total kWh sales. 
 
Load Retention 
Prior year’s demand (kW):  ___________________________________________ 
Estimated demand reduction (kW): ___________________________________________ 
Prior year’s annual energy (kWh): ___________________________________________ 
Estimated energy reduction (kWh): ___________________________________________ 
Estimated effective date:  ___________________________________________ 
Projected load factor:   ___________________________________________ 
 
Please attach a summary description of the customer and its business, documentation of prior year demand and 
energy and what is causing the business to potentially leave the service territory. If retained load is less than 
1,000 kW, please include documentation that this load would be within the utilities top five customers based 
on total kWh sales. 
Date submitted by member: ________________________ 
 



SMMPA Approval 
 
This application for the Economic Development Credit is: 
 
Approved_____  Denied______ 
 
 
BY: 
 
_________________________________________ 
Name 
 
_________________________________________ 
Title 
 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Signature 
 
_________________________________________ 
Date 





 
 

 
Mora Area Fire Department Monthly Update 
 
 

March 2021 

The Mora Area Fire Department was involved with the following fire calls, training and 
education, maintenance, and miscellaneous in the past month. 

Fire Calls (Paid) 

 3-1-21 trailer house fire  
 3-14-21 chimney fire 
 3-16-21 brush pile 
 3-18-21 fire alarm 
 3-20-21 grass fire 
 3-28-21 grass fire 
 3-30-21 Coborn’s alarm  
 3-30-21 power pole on fire  

Training and Education (Paid) 

  3-1-21 MAFD training / drill night 
 3-15-21 MAFD meeting night  

Maintenance (not paid) 

 All trucks done twice  

Training, Education, and Miscellaneous (not Paid) 

 3-8-21 Mora Fire added 2 new members Derek Graves and Sergei 
Zimmerman brining our total membership up to 30. 

  

 

 





[Type text] 
 

 
March 2021 

 
During the month of March, 2021 Kanabec County Sheriff’s Office contract cars responded to 402 calls for 
service within the City of Mora. The most frequent calls for service were Medical Emergencies (67), Traffic 
complaints/violations (48), and suspicious persons/occurrences (44) 
 
 
 
Contract deputies received continuing education/training in the following areas: 
 

- Use of Force: Law and Principles 
- Use of Force: Readiness 
- Emotional Wellness in Law Enforcement 
 

 
 

Sheriffs Reserves assisted with parking and traffic control weekly at the Covid vaccine clinic located in the 
wellness center on 9th St. 
 
 
 
 
 
The Kanabec County Sheriff’s Office continues to proudly serve the citizens of Mora within Kanabec County. 
The Sheriff’s Office encourages any and all community members to contact our office with any questions, 
comments, or concerns. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Sergeant Dylan VanGorden  #3104 
 
 





Kanabec County Sheriff's Office

03/21 Total

911 Hang-ups-Abandoned-Open 
Line

19 19

Agency Assist 13 13

Alarms All (Home, Business, Bank, 
misc)

18 18

All Lost calls including animals, and 
property

1 1

Assault 3 3

Civil Assist 9 9

Crim Sex 2 2

Disorderly Conduct 5 5

Domestic Disturbance/Assaults 5 5

Drug calls - All 2 2

DTP 2 2

Escorts-Funerals, Races, etc 2 2

Fire- Mora Area Fire Calls 2 2

Foot Patrol 4 4

Found - animals, property, etc 4 4

Fraud 7 7

Garbage Dumping complaints 1 1

Harassing communications calls 6 6

Health and Safety 1 1

Hospice Deaths 2 2

Information and misc calls 17 17

Juvenile calls excluding tobacco, 
drugs, alcohol

4 4

Maltreatment 9 9

Medical - Drug Overdoses 2 2

Medical Emergency 67 67

Missing Person(s) 2 2

Mora Ordinance Violations 1 1

Motorist Assist calls 1 1

ProPhoenix rev. 05/09/2018 ** Confidential - Unauthorized Use Prohibited ** 1 of 2

Printed On: 04/08/21 13:13CAD Summary Report



03/21 Total

Noise - including loud music, parties, 
etc

2 2

Parking Violations 2 2

Public assist calls 6 6

Records checks 2 2

Road Hazards 1 1

Scams 5 5

Secure Helipad 11 11

Snowbird Parking 3 3

Stop arm violations 2 2

Sudden Deaths and Bodies found 1 1

Suicide threats-attempts 3 3

Suspicious- persons, vehicles, and 
occurrences

44 44

Theft-not vehicle 14 14

Threats 2 2

Traffic / Driving complaints 10 10

Traffic Accident 6 6

Traffic Violation 48 48

Transport - Inmates 1 1

Trespassing complaints 1 1

Unwanted person 8 8

Vehicle Theft 1 1

Violation of Court Order 2 2

Warrant Entry and Arrests 5 5

Welfare Check 11 11

Total 402 402

ProPhoenix rev. 05/09/2018 ** Confidential - Unauthorized Use Prohibited ** 2 of 2

Printed On: 04/08/21 13:13CAD Summary Report



 

Planning Commission - 04/12/2021  Page 1 of 4 

City of Mora, MN 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

Meeting Minutes 
 

April 12, 2021 
 

Present: Carmen Finn, Chad Gramentz, Jake Mathison, Todd Sjoberg and Sara Treiber 
Absent: None 
Staff Present: Community Development Director Beth Thorp and City Administrator Lindy 

Crawford 
Also Present: Evan Johnson, Sean Lewis, David Bolf, Dan Voce, Craig Schultz and Scott Moe 
 
1. Call to Order. Chair Sjoberg called the meeting to order at 5:30 pm. 

 
2. Roll Call. 

Finn – Present  
Gramentz – Present 
Mathison – Present 
Sjoberg – Present 
Treiber – Present 

 
3. Adopt Agenda. Motion by Treiber, second by Gramentz to adopt the April 12, 2021 agenda as 

presented. All present voted aye, motion carried. 
 

4. Approval of Minutes. Motion by Finn, second by Mathison to approve the March 8, 2021 meeting 
minutes as presented. All present voted aye, motion carried. 

 
5. Public Hearings.  

None. 
 

6. Open Forum. No members of the public were present for open forum. 
 

7. New Business. 
None. 
 

8. Old Business.  
a. Tabled from March 8, 2021 Meeting – Conditional Use Permit to Allow a School and School 

Related Facilities to be Located in the R-1 Single Family Residential District. Sjoberg thanked 
city staff for their work on the proposed Conditional Use Permit. Thorp reviewed her staff 
report, providing the following updates since the commission’s March 8th meeting: 

 The applicant provided several new and updated documents since March 8th including 
revised civil plans, a landscape plan, a final traffic study and a final drainage report. 

 The applicant submitted a landscape plan and worked with city and utility staff to 
ensure that plantings did not interfere with underground utilities. Thorp added that staff 
is satisfied with the proposed landscaping. 

 The revised civil plans showed 40 off-street parking spaces for the wellness center as 
required by the 2017 Conditional Use Permit. 



 

Planning Commission - 04/12/2021  Page 2 of 4 

 All proposed parking spaces and drive aisles were shown meeting the city’s minimum 
size requirements. 

 With the addition of four alternate high school classrooms to the civil plans and 
additional information provided by the applicant in regard to building capacity, off-
street parking requirements were recalculated by staff. Staff determined that without 
the four alternate classrooms the property owner would be required to provide 315 off-
street parking spaces; and, with the four alternate classrooms the property owner 
would be required to provide 349 off-street parking spaces. Because the proposed 
parking lot included 338 parking spaces, Thorp added that construction of the proposed 
parking lot – shown as Alternate 8 – would be acceptable to meet off-street parking 
requirements if and when the alternate classrooms were constructed. Thorp stated that 
the parking lot shown as Alternate 8 would provide an additional 63 parking spaces. 

  All accessible parking spaces were proposed to be van accessible. 

 The final traffic study included some changes and additions to the Findings and 
Conclusions section.  

 Thorp stated that the final study had been reviewed by city staff, the City Engineer, 
County Engineer, Sheriff Smith, and MnDOT. Sheriff Smith’s comments were shared 
with the commission. 

 Thorp shared that, in response to the City Administrator’s concern that the traffic study 
was completed in a single day during the pandemic on an early release day, the 
applicant commented that traffic studies are based on both assumptions and 
observations to create a model of likely scenarios. 

 In regard to concerns about a 1,000 foot drop-off lane at the high school and possible 
stacking on 9th Street, the applicant clarified that the civil plans showed three 1,000 foot 
drop-off lanes rather than a single lane. Thorp added that the proposed resolution 
included a condition which authorized the city to require that the school district adjust 
traffic flow if stacking became an issue. 

 The applicant clarified that they intended to grind off existing pavement markings on 9th 
Street between Wood Street N. and Sunset Lane and repaint with a shared center turn 
lane. Thorp added that the City Administrator recommended restriping 9th Street to the 
intersection of Highway 65 and that this would be an issue discussed by the City Council. 

 The applicant confirmed that the proposed crosswalk at Village Green Place would be 
installed in the same manner as the crosswalk at Village Green Lane. 

 In regard to concerns about pedestrian safety at 7th Street and Grove Street N., the 
applicant had responded that the area was outside of the project area. Thorp added 
that the County Engineer would recommend that the county install a stop sign on Grove 
Street N. and 7th Street to increase pedestrian safety. 

 In response to concerns about traffic on Grove Street N., the applicant proposed the 
construction of a northbound right turn lane on Grove Street N. at the access road. 
Thorp shared that the County Engineer had already provided preliminary verbal 
approval for the turn lane. 

 In response to concerns about the construction of an access road in a public roadway 
easement and the relocation of the city-owned trail from the easement, Thorp shared 
that the applicant had already started the process to vacate the easement and provide 
the city with a new trail easement. 

 The final drainage and hydrologic report had been reviewed by the City Engineer and 
County Engineer and both had expressed concerns about drainage from the unnamed 



 

Planning Commission - 04/12/2021  Page 3 of 4 

ponds flowing to Lake Mora rather than the Snake River. Thorp requested that the 
applicant provide additional information on this issue prior to the request being 
considered by the City Council. 

 Thorp stated that the applicant and property owner were working closely with the city 
and utility to address utility related concerns, including underground electric service. 

 The revised civil plans showed the addition of a fire lane on the west side of the high 
school as required by the Fire Chief. 

Thorp commented that staff was satisfied that all major concerns discussed at the 
commission’s March meeting had been addressed and staff was recommending approval of 
the Conditional Use Permit with several conditions. Sjoberg invited the applicant to address 
the Planning Commission. Sean Lewis, ICS, provided the following comments: 

 The applicant and property owner were interested in working with the city, county and 
state on traffic related concerns. 

 Lewis explained that preliminary investigations showed that drainage from the 
unnamed ponds would flow to the Snake River as shown in the drainage report but the 
applicant would provide additional information as requested. 

 In regard to Sheriff Smith’s concerns about event parking at the school property and the 
possibility of overflow parking on 9th Street, Lewis stated there would be approximately 
1,000 off-street parking spaces available on the school property and parking on 9th 
Street would be unlikely. 

Mathison asked if the school district had made a decision on whether the high school would 
be a closed or open campus; Lewis shared that the high school would be a closed campus. 
Sjoberg commented that the property owner would need to provide trail and utility 
easements and asked if there were any concerns or issues with those easements; Thorp 
shared that the applicant and property owner were in agreement with the easements and 
had already provided survey work for those easements. Gramentz inquired about the 
proposed construction schedule; Lewis stated that it was anticipated to be a 26-month 
project with a goal of starting in May 2021 and finishing construction in summer 2023. Lewis 
added that utility work would begin in 2021, parking lot construction would occur in 2022, 
and the project would wrap up in 2023. Commissioners and Lewis discussed the current cost 
of construction materials and potential impact on the project. Treiber inquired about 
construction of the high school facility in relation to the elementary school; Lewis stated 
that most of the construction would be away from the elementary school including 
construction traffic utilizing the north access road to allow for normal operations at the 
elementary school. Lewis added that construction of the high school facility was anticipated 
to begin in June 2021 and finish in early summer 2023. Thorp commented that the proposed 
resolution did not adequately address easements needed for the project and recommended 
the addition of a condition requiring that the property owner provide the city with any and 
all easements necessary for trail and utility purposes. Motion by Mathison, second by 
Treiber to approve Resolution No. PC2021-401, a resolution recommending approval of a 
Conditional Use Permit to allow a School and school related facilities to be located in the R-1 
Single Family Residential District, as presented and with the added condition that the 
property owner provide any and all easements necessary for trail and utility purposes. All 
present voted aye, motion carried. 
 

9. Reports. Thorp shared that she anticipated the Planning Commission would be conducting two 
public hearings in May to consider requests for Conditional Use Permits to allow solar energy 



 

Planning Commission - 04/12/2021  Page 4 of 4 

systems. Thorp added that these would be the first two requests for solar energy systems since the 
city adopted regulations in 2018. 

 
10. Adjournment. Motion by Mathison, second by Gramentz to adjourn.  All present voted aye, motion 

carried and the meeting was adjourned at 6:02 pm. 
 
 
 
 
____________________________   ATTEST: ______________________________ 
Todd Sjoberg       Beth Thorp 
Chair        Community Development Director 
  



 

Airport Board – 04/13/2021  Page 1 of 2 

City of Mora, MN 
AIRPORT BOARD 
Meeting Minutes 

 
April 13, 2021 

 
Present:  Jody Anderson, Karla Kastenbauer, Stefan Salmonson and Nick Stafford 
Absent:   Ryan Martens 
Staff Present:  Joe Kohlgraf and Beth Thorp 
Others Present:  None 
 
1. Call to Order. Stafford called the meeting to order at 5:03 pm. 

 
2. Roll Call. 

Anderson – Present 
Kastenbauer – Present 
Martens – Absent (excused) 
Salmonson – Present 
Stafford – Present 

 
3. Adopt Agenda. Motion by Kastenbauer, second by Anderson to adopt the April 13, 2021 meeting 

agenda as presented. All present voted aye, motion carried. 
 
4. Minutes. Motion by Anderson, second by Kastenbauer to approve the March 9, 2021 meeting 

minutes as presented. All present voted aye, motion carried. 
 

5. Hangar Land Lease Agreement. The board continued its review, which began at the January 12, 2021 
meeting, of the Hangar Land Lease Agreement approved by the City Council in August 2020. Thorp 
provided board members with a copy of the agreement showing all suggested changes discussed at 
the January, February and March board meetings, and she requested that the board review 
proposed language as follows: 

 Section 7. Construction of Private Buildings on Premises. 
o Thorp stated that in addition to the board’s suggestion of limiting the construction 

material requirement to new construction, she recommended that the requirement 
also apply if the Tenant was replacing entire exterior components such as the roof, 
trim or walls. The general consensus of the board was that the added language was 
appropriate. 

 Section 16. Transferring and Selling. 
o Thorp stated that the section heading had been expanded to “Transferring, Selling 

and Subletting” to address the board’s desire to create a distinction between selling 
a hangar and subletting space within a hangar. Thorp explained that Section 16a. 
pertained to transferring or selling and Section 16b. pertained to subletting. Thorp 
stated that per Section 16a. the Tenant and new owner would be required to notify 
the city within 10 days of the hangar selling or transferring and the new owner 
would be required to enter into a lease agreement with the city, and failure to do so 
could result in termination of the lease. Thorp further stated that the proposed 
subletting language in Section 16b. was taken from a past (2018) hangar land lease 
agreement used by the city. In response to the board’s March request for 
information about the process for obtaining permission from the city in order to sell 
a private hangar, Kohlgraf and Thorp explained that it was an administrative process 
involving the gathering of information for preparation and execution of a new lease 



 

Airport Board – 04/13/2021  Page 2 of 2 

agreement. Thorp added that the staff member responsible for lease agreements 
had reviewed the proposed language and was satisfied that it met the needs of the 
city.  

Board members individually reviewed the draft hangar land lease agreement; there were no further 
comments or suggested changes. Thorp explained that the agreement would be reviewed by the 
City Administrator and City Attorney before being presented to the City Council for consideration. 
Motion by Kastenbauer, second by Salmonson to recommend that the draft hangar land lease 
agreement be forwarded to the City Council, as presented and following review by the City 
Administrator and City Attorney, for consideration. 
 

6. 2021 Fly-In. Thorp shared that she had begun requesting donations for the September 18th fly-in. 
Salmonson inquired if a paper airplane contest was again planned; Thorp responded that the 2020 
contest was a low-budget activity for young children and could again be included. Kastenbauer 
inquired about purchasing keychains as giveaway items; Anderson responded that she had not yet 
prepared a sample for the board’s consideration. Anderson donated 24 certificates for free ice 
cream for paper airplane contest prizes. Stafford shared that he would not have any sanitation 
trailers available for the event; Kohlgraf commented that he would arrange for porta potties.  

 

7. Reports.  
a. 2021 Taxilane and Wind Cone Project. Kohlgraf reported that the project was scheduled to 

bid on April 28th. Stafford inquired about the possibility of having space adjacent to his 
hangar paved at his expense during the project; Kohlgraf responded that he would look into 
the possibility, noting that additional pavement would make snow plowing easier for city 
staff. 

b. Kohlgraf provided the following updates: 
o Crack filling on the main runway and taxilane was being corrected pending weather 

conditions.  
o Staff would be rolling the crosswind runway in April to push rocks down. 
o The 5010 inspection completed in October 2020 showed that more trees needed to 

be removed on the northwest end of the runway. 
c. Salmonson requested the purchase and installation of a microwave and small beverage 

refrigerator in the AD Building; Kohlgraf stated that he would check into the request. 
d. Anderson inquired, in response to the 2020 City of Mora Community Survey showing that a 

large segment of respondents weren’t familiar with the Mora Municipal Airport, if the 
airport could have its own Facebook page separate from the City of Mora Facebook page; 
Thorp responded that she would need to discuss the idea with City Administrator Crawford 
and review the city’s social media policy. Thorp commented that if a separate page was not 
allowed, the airport could be promoted better on the city’s existing Facebook page. Thorp 
further commented that benefits of a single Facebook page were having one person 
responsible for adding content and having consistent messaging. Thorp suggested that 
another option for creating awareness about the airport was to include articles in the city’s 
quarterly newsletter. Board members discussed ideas for newsletter articles; Anderson 
suggested including brief articles explaining benefits of having an airport. 
 

8. Adjournment. Motion by Kastenbauer, second by Salmonson to adjourn the meeting. All present 
voted aye and the meeting adjourned at 5:30 pm. 

 
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Nick Stafford, Chair     Beth Thorp, Secretary 



DRAFT

Park Board – 04/13/2021  Page 1 of 2 

City of Mora, MN 
PARK BOARD 

Meeting Minutes 
 

April 13, 2021 
 

Present: Jenna Fore, Mickey Kringstad and Kyle Sheppard 
Absent:  Candice Brockner, Cody Knox 
Staff Present: Joe Kohlgraf, Jeff Krie 
Others Present: None  
 
1. Call to Order.  Vice Chair Kringstad called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.  
 
2. Roll Call.  Candice Brockner – absent 
                         Jenna Fore – present 
                         Cody Knox – sent email regarding resignation of Park Board prior to meeting. 

           Mickey Kringstad – present 
           Kyle Sheppard – present 
 

3. Adopt Agenda.  Motion by Sheppard, second by Fore to adopt the April 13, 2021 meeting 
agenda as presented.  All present voted aye.  Motion carried. 

 
4. Minutes.  Motion by Shepard, second by Fore to approve the March 9, 2021 meeting minutes as 

presented.  All present voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 

5. Dog Park.  Krie presented the board with four bids for a one-acre dog park fenced in area from 
three different vendors.  Century Fencing had two bids, one that was given prior with a small 
dog park area inside the large dog area.  They rebid as cost of materials went up and presented 
Krie with a one acre open fenced in area for all dogs.  The other bids are from A & W Landscape 
Specialist and the other is from Borderline Fencing.  All bids requested are for one-acre 5ft high 
fenced in area for dogs that consist of top rails and the bottom consist of tension wires, have a 
double gated entry, and a ten-foot gate for large equipment to enter.  Krie also let board know 
he reached out to six different vendors to get a fence bid and these are the three that replied.  
Krie presented to the board a draft of a map of the dog park with amenities and parking.  Also 
included was a set of rules and regulations to post at the dog park.  Krie asked the board to 
recommend one bid out of the three, see if any other amenities are needed and to see if the 
placement of the amenities would work and to discuss the dog park rules.  A good discussion 
was had by the board on the park and bids.  Krie shared that staff was in favor of the Century 
bid of $21,461 due to pricing and materials used as far as post size and gate post being concrete 
set compared to other bids.  Concerns are for increased pricing of materials and what issues 
that may cause was discussed and how rest of funds are to be raised.  Kyle made a motion to 
the board when funds are available to accept the bid at the price of $21,461 from Century 
Fence, it was seconded by Kringstad and all present voted Aye.  Amenities were agreed upon 
except that Sheppard and Fore both suggested from personal experience that a picnic table 
should be place inside the fenced in area. Otherwise, what was presented was favored by the 



DRAFT

Park Board – 04/13/2021  Page 2 of 2 

board.  Next the board looked at the rules/regulations presented by staff and were in favor of 
what was presented to be posted at the park.  If needed, more discussion will take place on the 
dog park next month.    
 

6. Park Board Information Sheet.  Krie shared with the Park Board the informational sheet that 
was used at Fall Fest last year.  Krie asked if there was interest in the sheet being updated and 
used going forward on the City Website.  All present agreed that the sheet should be updated as 
it provides good information to the community and continue to post on the City Website.  Krie 
will update sheet and post as soon as possible and will continue to monitor the sheet and 
update as needed.   
 

7. Reports.   
       Kohlgraf reported to the board the following:   

• Continuing trail maintenance, brush cutting is done on trails. 
• Still looking for a contractor to paint/stain Kids Kingdom.  
• Monthly inspections of playgrounds continue, and park cleanup days are now M/W/F.  
• Trash cans will be put down on Kids Kingdom after Parade of Garage sale.  
• Working on establishing more lighting at Kids Kingdom for better safety and reduce 

vandalism.  
 

Krie reported to the board the following: 
• MAC hiring is in process.  No applications yet for an assistant manager or shift supervisor.  

Shortage of certified and qualified Lifeguard applications is a concern.  We have so far 
twelve returning applications and nineteen new applications.  Swim Lessons sign up on the 
15th of April and at this time the MAC plans to open as scheduled.  

• Will be working with Patti on Mora Rocks the Park.  Would still like to have some type of 
activities if we can work it out.   

• Music in the Park is set for sponsors and bands pending Council approval.    
• Krie asked if the board was okay having pictures posted on the Park Board City website.  It 

was suggested to have individual pictures taken in case of changes of board.  Krie will take 
pictures at next Park Board meeting.  

 
 

 
8. Adjournment.  Motion by Shepard, second by Fore to adjourn the meeting.  All present voted 

aye.  Meeting adjourned at 6:40 p.m. 
 
 
____________________________   _____________________________ 
Candice Brockner, Chair                              Jeff Krie, Secretary 


	Agenda 042021
	City of Mora Kanabec County, Minnesota

	Item 4a - Draft CC Minutes 03162021
	6. Special Business:
	a. Dog Park Monetary Donation Presentation: Krie announced John and Brianne Roycraft, who wished to present a monetary donation on behalf of Bath Fitter in the amount of $10,000 towards the construction of a dog park; the donation was formally accepte...
	b. Special Event Permit Request – 2021 Snake River Canoe Race: Krie presented a permit request from the Snake River Canoe Club for its annual canoe race on May 1, 2021 which included use of the vacant city land north of the History Center where food a...
	7. Public Hearings: There were no public hearings.
	8. New Business
	9. Old Business:
	a. Economic Development Authority Appointment: Crawford reported receiving  applications from Lance Strande, Rose Krie, and Jeremy Voss for the vacant EDA seat with a term ending December 31, 2022 and stated there were no residency requirements for me...
	10. Communications: The following communications were reviewed.
	11. Reports

	Item 4b - March 2021 Claims List
	Item 4c - Gambling Permit Kanabec County Ag Soc
	Item 4d - 1 Staff Report - Accept Donations
	Item 4d - 2 Res 2021-421 Accepting Restricted Donations
	Item 4e - 1 Staff Report Committing Fire Funds
	Item 4e - 2 Res 2021-422 Committing Fire Funds
	Item 6a - 1 Vasaloppet 2021 Recap Staff Report
	Item 6b - 1 2020 Financial Audit Staff Report
	Item 6b - 2 Do Not Print - 2020 Annual Report - Mora MN
	Index
	Elected & Appointed Officials
	Organizational Chart
	Transmittal Letter
	Auditors Report
	MD&A
	Basic Financial Statements
	Notes
	Required Supplementary Information
	Supplementary Information
	Statistical Section

	Item 6b - 3 Do Not Print - 2020 City of Mora ComLtr
	Item 6b - 4 Do Not Print - 2020 City of Mora Compliance Report
	Item 6c - 1 Tootsie Roll Weekend Proclamation Staff Report
	Item 6c - 2 2021 Tootsie Roll Weekend Proclamation- Knights of Columbus
	Item 8a - 1 CUP High School in R-1 District Staff Report
	Item 8a - 2 CUP High School Attachments
	Item No 8a - 1 CUP ISD 332 High School_staff report
	SUMMARY
	SITE & APPLICATION INFORMATION
	DISCUSSION

	Item No 8a - 2 City Engineer's Comments_New High School Memo 2021 04 06 (002)
	Item No 8a - 3 County Engineer's Comments_Feb 26, 2021
	Item No 8a - 4 KCSO Comments_Apr 9, 2021
	Item No 8a - 5 Final Traffic Study Report - 032221
	Item No 5a - 3 ISD 332 Construction Materials

	Item 8a - 3 Res No 2021-423 CUP High School
	Item 8a - 4 Res No 2021-423 CUP High School Attachments
	Item No 8a - 7 11x17 Civil Plans_Final 031121
	Item No 8a - 8 11x17 Landscape Plans_Final 031121

	Item 8b - 1 18497 McCarty Court Abatement Staff Report
	Item 8b - 2 18497 McCarty Court Pictures
	Item 8b - 3 18497 McCarty Ct_Notice of Council Hearing
	Item 8c - 1 ECRAC Grant Award MITP Staff Report
	Date: April 20, 2021
	BACKGROUND INFORMATION

	Item 8d - 1 Park Board Resignation Staff Report
	Item 8e - 1 SMMPA ED Incentive Staff Report
	SUMMARY
	The City Council will consider implementing an economic development incentive developed by Southern Minnesota Municipal Power Agency (SMMPA).
	BACKGROUND INFORMATION
	In October 2018, the SMMPA Board approved a wholesale economic development credit program aimed at providing incentives to attract new business customers to SMMPA member communities, like Mora, encourage existing business customers to expand, and help...

	Item 8e - 2 SMMPA ED Credit Program Description
	Item 10a - MAFD Monthly Report - March 2021
	Item 10b - KCSO Monthly Report March 2021
	March report 2021.pdf
	March 2021 Totals.pdf

	Item 10c - Planning Commission Meeting Minutes April 12, 2021
	Item 10d - Airport Board Meeting Minutes April 13, 2021
	Item 10e - Park Board Meeting Minutes April 13, 2021
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



